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AMENDED AND CONSOLIDATED LOAN CONTRACT

THIS AMENDED AND CONSOLIDATED LOAN CONTRACT, dated as of July
16, 2009, is between BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION (together with any successors
and assigns, the “Borrower”), a cooperative corporation organized and existing under the laws of
the Commonwealth of Kentucky, and the UNITED STATES OF AMERICA (the
“Government”), acting by and through the Administrator (together with any person succeeding
to the powers and rights of the Administrator with respect to this Agreement, the
“Administrator”) of the Rural Utilities Service (together with any agency succeeding to the
powers and rights of the Rural Utilities Service with respect to this Agreement, the “RUS”),

RECITALS

WHEREAS, the Borrower previously incurred, pursuant to the Act (as defined in
Atrticle I) and under the Existing Loan Contract (as defined below), certain indebtedness and
other obligations to, or guaranteed by, the Government, acting by and through the Administrator
of the RUS, which indebtedness and other obligations are evidenced by the RUS Notes (as
defined in Article I); and

WHEREAS, in connection with the loans and other obligations evidenced by the RUS
Notes, the Borrower and the Government, acting by and through the Administrator of the RUS,
have entered into that certain New RUS Agreement, dated as of July 15, 1998, (the “Existing
Loan Contract”); and

WHEREAS, to secure the indebtedness and other obligations evidenced by the RUS
Notes and to secure certain other indebtedness, the Borrower entered into that certain Third
Restated Mortgage and Security Agreement, dated as of August 1, 2001 (the “Mortgage”), by
and among the Borrower, as mortgagor, and the Government, acting by and through the
Administrator of the RUS; Ambac Assurance Corporation; Dexia Bank (as successor to Credit
Suisse First Boston); U.S. Bank Trust National Association as trustee; National Rural Utilities
Cooperative Finance Corporation; PBR-1 Statutory Trust; PBR-2 Statutory Trust; PBR-3
Statutory Trust; FBR-1 Statutory Trust; FBR-2 Statutory Trust; and Ambac Credit Products,
LLC, as mortgagees, the (“RUS Mortgage™); and

WHEREAS, simultaneously herewith, the Mortgage is being released and, pursuant to
the Indenture (as defined in Article 1), Borrower has granted a security title to and a security
interest in substantially all of its real and personal property to secure the RUS Notes and the
certain other obligations secured under the Indenture, as more particularly set forth therein; and

WHEREAS, in connection with the release of the Mortgage and the substitution of the
Indenture, the Borrower and the Government intend to amend, restate and consolidate the
Existing Loan Contract as herein set forth; and
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NOW, THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the premises and the mutual covenants
hereinafter contained, the parties hereto amend and consolidate the Existing Loan Contract to
read in its entirety, and agree and bind themselves, as follows:

ARTICLE L
DEFINITIONS

Capitalized terms that are not defined herein shall have the meanings set forth in the
Indenture. The terms defined herein include both the plural and the singular. Unless otherwise
specifically provided, all accounting terms not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings
assigned to them, and all determinations and computations herein provided for shall be made, in
accordance with Accounting Requirements.

“Accounting Requirements” shall mean the requirements of the system of accounts
prescribed by the RUS.

“Act” shall mean the Rural Electrification Act of 1936, as amended.

“Agreement” shall mean this Amended and Consolidated Loan Contract, together with all
schedules and exhibits hereto, and also all subsequent supplements or amendments hereto.

“Business Day” shall mean any day that the RUS is open for business.

“Capital Assets” shall mean all tangible and intangible utility plant, construction in
progress, non-utility property, material supplies and equipment normally used in the Borrower’s
system.

“Credit Rating” shall mean a rating assigned by a Rating Agency (i) to any long-term
indebtedness (that is not subject to Credit Enhancement) (including, without limitation,
indebtedness issued by any governmental authority with respect to which the Borrower is an
obligor) and secured directly or indirectly under the Indenture or (ii) if a Rating Agency has not
assigned a rating to indebtedness of the type described in clause (i) hereof, a “shadow rating” of
the Borrower’s senior, secured long-term indebtedness (that is not subject to Credit

Enhancement).

“Competitive Transition Charges” means amounts that the Company is authorized or
permitted to collect, directly or indirectly, from the ultimate consumers of electric power and
energy under state or federal statutes or regulations enacted or promulgated in connection with
the opening of the electric markets to retail competition, whether or not such consumers are
taking energy supplied directly or indirectly by the Company. It is intended that this definition
be broadly construed in order to take into consideration the changing nature of the electric utility
industry resulting from the implementation of retail competition.

OHS East:160523172.7



“Distributions” shall mean for the Borrower, in any calendar year, to declare or pay any
dividends, or pay or determine to pay any patronage refunds, or retire any patronage capital or
make any other Cash Distributions, to its members, stockholders or consumers; provided,
however, that for the purposes of this Agreement a “Cash Distribution” shall be deemed to
include any general cancellation or abatement of charges for electric energy or services furnished
by the Borrower, including the rebate of an abatement of wholesale power costs previously
incurred pursuant to an order of a state regulatory authority or a wholesale power cost adjustment
clause or similar power pricing agreement between the Borrower and a power supplier, but not
including the repayment of a membership fee upon termination of a membership.

“Equity” shall mean the Borrower’s total margins and equities computed in accordance
with Accounting Requirements but excluding any Regulatory Created Assets.

“Event of Default” shall have the meaning as defined in Article VI of this Agreement.

“Existing Loan Contract” shall have the meaning set forth in the second WHEREAS
clause of this Agreement.

“Fitch” shall mean Fitch IBCA, Inc., and any successor thereto.

“General Manager” shall mean the President and Chief Executive Officer of the
Borrower or the person performing the duties of a chief executive officer if no person holds such
title and, in the event of any dispute between the Borrower and the Government as to who is the
General Manager, the Administrator may designate a person or position that shall be the General
Manager for purposes of this Agreement.

“Indenture” shall mean the Indenture, dated as of May 1, 2009, entered into by the
Borrower and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee, and all amendments and supplements
thereto.

“Interest Expense” shall mean the interest expense of the Borrower computed pursuant to
Accounting Requirements.

“Investment” shall mean any loan or advance to, or any investment in, or purchase or
commitment to purchase any stock, bonds, notes or other securities of, or guaranty, assumption
or other obligation or liability with respect to the obligations of, any other person, firm or
corporation, except investments in securities or deposits issued, guaranteed or fully insured as to
payment by the Government or any agency thereof and except any other investments set forth in
the RUS Regulations (7 C.F.R. § 1717.655) as excluded from computations of the amounts and
types of investments for which RUS approval is required.

“Investment Grade” means a Credit Rating of BBB- (or its then current equivalent) or
higher, if issued by S&P or Fitch; Baa3 (or its then current equivalent) or higher, if issued by
Moody’s; and any comparable investment grade rating if issued by any other Rating Agency.
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“Laws” shall have the meaning as defined in Paragraph (e) of Article II of this
Agreement.

“Loans” shall mean the loans and other obligations described in Article III of this
Agreement.

“Loan Documents” shall mean, collectively, this Agreement, the Indenture, the Lockbox
Agreement and the RUS Notes.

“Material Adverse Effect” shall mean a material adverse effect on the condition, financial
or otherwise, operations, properties or business of the Borrower or on the ability of the Borrower
to perform its obligations under the Loan Documents.

“Moody’s” shall mean Moody’s Investors Service, and any successor thereto.

“Net Utility Plant” shall mean the amount constituting the Total Utility Plant of the
Borrower, less depreciation, computed in accordance with Accounting Requirements.

“Permitted Debt” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 5.25.
“Prior Loan Contracts” shall mean have the meaning as defined in Section 8.16.

“Prudent Utility Practice” shall mean any of the practices, methods and acts engaged in
or approved by a significant portion of the electric utility industry during the relevant time
period, or any of the practices, methods and acts that, in the exercise of reasonable judgment in
light of the facts known at the time the decision was made, could have been expected to
accomplish the desired result at the lowest reasonable cost consistent with good business
practices, reliability, safety and expedition. ‘“Prudent Utility Practice” is not intended to be
limited to the optimum practice, method or act, to the exclusion of all others, but rather to
include a spectrum of possible practices, methods or acts generally in acceptance in light of the
circumstances.

“Rating Agency” shall mean S&P, Moody’s, Fitch or, provided that it is acceptable to the
RUS, any other nationally recognized statistical rating organization (within the meaning of the
rules of the United States Securities and Exchange Commission).

“Regulatory Created Assets” shall mean the sum of any amounts properly recordable as
unrecovered plant and regulatory study costs or as other regulatory assets, computed pursuant to
Accounting Requirements.

“Restricted Rentals” shall mean all rentals required to be paid under finance leases and
charged to income, exclusive of any amounts paid under any such lease (whether or not
designated therein as rental or additional rental) for maintenance or repairs, insurance, taxes,
assessments, water rates or similar charges. For the purpose of this definition the term “finance
lease” shall mean any lease having a rental term (including the term for which such lease may be
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renewed or extended at the option of the lessee) in excess of three years and covering property
having an initial cost of $250,000 other than aircraft, ships, barges, automobiles, trucks, trailers,
rolling stock and vehicles; office, garage and warehouse space; office equipment and computers.
Restricted Rentals shall not include any amounts paid under any of the Facility Leases (as

defined in the Indenture).

“RUS Notes” shall mean the RUS Series A Note and the RUS Series B Note.

“RUS Regulations” shall mean the rules, regulations and bulletins of general applicability
published by the RUS from time to time as such rules, regulations and bulletins exist at the date
of applicability thereof, including but not limited to the rules and regulations set forth at 7 C.F.R.
1700, and, unless the context clearly demonstrates a contrary intent, shall also include any rules
and regulations of other Federal entities which the RUS is required by law to implement.

“RUS Series A Note” shall mean that RUS 2009 Promissory Note Series A, dated July
16, 2009 in the stated principal amount of $602,573,536 executed by the Borrower and delivered

to the Government.

“RUS Series B Note” shall mean that RUS 2009 Promissory Note Series B, dated July
16, 2009 in the stated principal amount of $245,530,257.30 executed by the Borrower and
delivered to the Government.

“Smelter Contracts” and each a “Smelter Contract” shall mean (i) the Wholesale Electric
Service Agreement (Alcan) dated as of July 1, 2009 by and between the Borrower and Kenergy
Corp., (ii) the Wholesale Electric Service Agreement (Century) dated as of July 1, 2009 by and
between the Borrower and Kenergy Corp., (iii) the Retail Electric Service Agreement dated as of
July 1, 2009 by and between Kenergy Corp. and Alcan Primary Products Corporation, (iv) the
Retail Electric Service Agreement dated as of July 1, 2009 by and between Kenergy Corp. and
Century Aluminum of Kentucky General Partnership, (v) the Coordination Agreement dated as
of July 1, 2009 by and between the Borrower and Alcan Primary Products Corporation, and
(vi) the Coordination Agreement dated as of July 1, 2009 by and between the Borrower and
Century Aluminum of Kentucky General Partnership.

“Special Construction Account” shall have the meaning as defined in Section 5.22.

“Subordinated Indebtedness” shall mean secured indebtedness of the Borrower
subordinated to the prior payment of the RUS Notes.

“Subsidiary” shall mean a corporation that is a subsidiary of the Borrower and subject to
the Borrower’s control, as defined by Accounting Requirements.

“S&P” shall mean Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services, a division of The McGraw-Hill
Companies, Inc., and any successor thereto.

“System” shall have the meaning as defined in the Indenture.
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“Total Assets” shall mean an amount constituting the total assets of the Borrower as
computed pursuant Accounting Requirements, but excluding any Regulatory Created Assets.

“Total Utility Plant” shall mean the amount constituting the total utility plant (gross) of
the Borrower computed in accordance with Accounting Requirements.

“Unwind Transaction” shall mean the termination of the contractual relationships and
property interests contemplated by the Transaction Termination Agreement dated as of March
26, 2007 among the Borrower, LG&E Energy Marketing Inc. and Western Kentucky Energy
Corp.

“Wholesale Power Contracts” shall mean, collectively and individually, the wholesale
power contracts in effect between the Borrower and each of its member distribution
cooperatives, which are described in the attached Exhibit D, and all amendments, supplements or
replacements thereto or thereof.

ARTICLE 11
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

Recognizing that the RUS is relying hereon, the Borrower representé and warrants, as of
the date of this Agreement, as follows:

(a) Organization; Power, Etc. The Borrower: (i) is duly organized, validly existing,
and in good standing under the laws of the Commonwealth of Kentucky; (ii) is duly qualified to
do business and is in good standing in each jurisdiction in which the transaction of its business
makes such qualification necessary; (iii) has all requisite corporate and legal power to own and
operate its assets and to carry on its business and to enter into and perform its obligations under
the Loan Documents; and (iv) has duly and lawfully obtained and maintained all licenses,
certificates, permits, authorizations and approvals which are necessary to the conduct of its
business or required by applicable Laws.

(b)  Authority. The execution, delivery and performance by the Borrower of this
Agreement and the other Loan Documents and the performance of the transactions contemplated
hereby and thereby have been duly authorized by all necessary corporate action and do not
violate any provision of law or of the Articles of Incorporation or Bylaws of the Borrower or
result in a breach of, or constitute a default under, any agreement, indenture or other instrument
to which the Borrower is a party or by which it may be bound.

() Consents. No consent, permission, authorization, order or license of any
governmental authority is necessary in connection with the execution, delivery or performance of
the Loan Documents, except such as have been obtained and are in full force and effect.
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(d  Binding Agreement. Each of the Loan Documents, the Wholesale Power
Contracts and the Smelter Contracts is, or when executed and delivered will be, the legal, valid,
and binding obligation of the Borrower, enforceable in accordance with its terms, subject only to
limitations on enforceability imposed in equity or by applicable bankruptcy, insolvency,
reorganization, moratorium or similar laws affecting creditors’ rights generally.

(e) Compliance With Laws. The Borrower is in compliance in all material respects
with all federal, state and local laws, rules, regulations, ordinances, codes and orders
(collectively, “Laws”), the failure to comply with which could reasonably be expected to have a

Material Adverse Effect.

® Litigation. There are no pending legal, arbitration or governmental actions or
proceedings to which the Borrower is a party or to which any of its property is subject which, if
adversely determined, could have a Material Adverse Effect, and to the best of the Borrower’s
knowledge, no such actions or proceedings are threatened or contemplated, except as the
Borrower has disclosed to the RUS in writing,

(g)  Financial Statements, No Material Adverse Change; Etc. The financial
statements, including RUS Form 12, submitted to RUS fairly and fully present the financial
condition of the Borrower and the results of its operations as of December 31, 2008 and were
prepared in accordance with Accounting Requirements consistently applied. Since December
31, 2008, there has been no material adverse change in the financial condition or operations of
the Borrower. The financial statements submitted to the Kentucky Public Service Commission
in connection with Unwind Transaction (Case No. 2007-0045) fairly and fully presented the
financial condition of the Borrower and the results of its operations at the time of their filing
(subject to any final year-end adjustments and footnotes) and any projections filed by the
Borrower in the proceeding of the Kentucky Public Service Commission to approve the Unwind
Transaction were based on assumptions which were commercially reasonable at the time any
such projections were filed.

(h)  Budgets, Projections; Etc. All budgets, projections, feasibility studies, appraisals,
and other documentation submitted by the Borrower to the RUS and any Rating Agency then
assigning a Credit Rating are based on assumptions that are reasonable and realistic, as of the
date hereof, no fact has come to light, and no event or transaction has occurred, which would
cause any assumption made therein not to be reasonable or realistic.

(i) Location of Properties. All property and interests therein of the Borrower are
located in the states and counties identified in the Indenture.

)] Principal Place of Business, Records. The principal place of business and chief
executive office of the Borrower is at the address of the Borrower specified in Section 8.2.

(k) Subsidiaries. The Borrower has no Subsidiaries other than Big Rivers Leasing
LLC, a Delaware limited liability company.
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() Defaults Under Other Agreements. The Borrower is not in default under any
agreement or instrument under which the Borrower is a party or to which any of its property 1s
subject that could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

(m)  Title to Property. As to the property which is included in the description of the
Trust Estate, the Borrower holds good and marketable title to all of its real property and owns all
of its personal property free and clear of any lien or encumbrance other than Permitted
Exceptions and liens permitted by Section 14.6 of the Indenture.

ARTICLE III.
THE LOANS

Section 3.1. The Existing Loans

The Borrower has borrowed funds from the Government, acting by and through the
Administrator of the RUS, evidenced by the RUS Notes, has agreed to reimburse the
Government, acting by and through the Administrator of the RUS, for the amounts borrowed
pursuant to the terms of the RUS Notes.

Section 3.2. No Further Advances

The Borrower acknowledges and agrees that all amounts to be advanced to the Borrower
under the RUS Notes have been advanced and the Government, acting by or through the
Administrator of the RUS, is under no obligation to make any further advances to the Borrower

under the RUS Notes.
Section 3.3. Interest Rates and Payment

(a) Interest Rates. The RUS Notes shall be payable and bear interest, as therein
provided.

(b)  Application of Payments. All payments made to RUS on the Borrower’s behalf or
for the account of the Borrower shall be accepted by the Government and shall be applied as
follows: (i) first, if and only if, at the time of the Government’s receipt of such amounts, any
payments are then due and owing under the RUS Series B Note, then such amounts shall be
applied to the RUS Series B Note to the extent, and only to the extent, of such payments then due
and owing thereunder, (ii) second, to any amounts then due and owing under the RUS Series A
Note, and (ii1) third, as a prepayment of principal on the RUS Series A Note. In the absence of a
written directive from Borrower, no amounts paid to the Government shall be applied as a
prepayment on the RUS Series B Note unless and until the obligations of Borrower under the
RUS Series A Note have been satisfied in full.
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(c) Electronic Funds Transfer. Except as otherwise prescribed by the RUS, the
Borrower shall make all payments on the RUS Notes utilizing electronic funds transfer
procedures as specified by the RUS.

Section 3.4. Prepayment

The Borrower may prepay the RUS Notes in whole or in part in the sole discretion of the
Borrower without penalty or prepayment premium, provided, however, in no event shall such a
voluntary prepayment of the RUS Series B Note be deemed an acceleration or cause an
adjustment to the principal thereof.

ARTICLE 1V,
AFFIRMATIVE COVENANTS

Section 4.1. Generally

Unless otherwise agreed to in writing by the RUS, while this Agreement is in effect, the
Borrower shall duly observe each of the affirmative covenants contained in this Article IV.

Section 4.2. Performance under Loan Documents

The Borrower shall duly observe and perform all of its obligations under each of the
Loan Documents.

Section 4.3. Annual Certification

Within ninety (90) days after the close of each fiscal year (or, if the Borrower has
delivered written notice to the RUS prior to the expiration of such ninety (90) day period that the
Borrower has determined in good faith that an additional thirty (30) days for such delivery is
necessary or advisable, then within one hundred twenty (120) days after the close of the fiscal
year with respect to which such notice has been delivered), the Borrower shall deliver to the
RUS a written statement signed by its General Manager, stating that during such year the
Borrower has fulfilled its obligations under the Loan Documents throughout such year in all
material respects or, if there has been a material default in the fulfillment of such obligations,
specifying each such default known to the General Manager and the nature and status thereof.

Section 4.4. Rates and Margins for Interest Ratios

(a) Prospective Requirement. The Borrower shall design and implement rates for
utility service furnished by it to maintain, on an annual basis, the Margins for Interest Ratio
specified in Section 13.14 of the Indenture.
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(b)  Prospective Notice of Change in Rates. The Borrower shall give the RUS sixty
(60) days’ written notice prior to the effective date of any proposed change in the Borrower’s
general rate structure. :

(c) Routine Reporting of Margins for Interest Ratio. The Borrower shall report to the
RUS, no later than 45 days after December 31 of each year, in such written format as the RUS
may require, the Margins for Interest Ratio that was achieved during the preceding 12-month
period ending on December 31 of such year.

(d)  Reporting Non-achievement of Retrospective Requirement. If the Borrower fails
to achieve the Margins for Interest Ratio specified in Section 13.14 of the Indenture for any
fiscal year, it must promptly notify RUS in writing to that effect.

(e) Corrective Plans. Within thirty (30) days of (i) sending a notice to the RUS under
paragraph (d) above that shows the Margins for Interest Ratio specified by Section 13.14 of the
Indenture was not achieved for any fiscal year, or (ii) being notified by the RUS that the Margins
for Interest Ratio specified by Section 13.14 of the Indenture was not achieved for any fiscal
year, whichever is earlier, the Borrower in consultation with the RUS shall provide a written plan
satisfactory to the RUS setting forth the actions that shall be taken to achieve the specified
Margins for Interest Ratio on a timely basis.

® Noncompliance. Failure to design and implement rates pursuant to paragraph (a)
of this section and failure to develop and implement the plan in accordance with the terms of
paragraph (e) of this section shall constitute an Event of Default under this Agreement in the
event that RUS so notifies the Borrower to that effect under Section 6.1(d) of this Agreement.

Section 4.5. Financial Books

The Borrower shall at all times keep, and safely preserve, proper books, records and
accounts in which full and true entries shall be made of all of the dealings, business and affairs of
the Borrower and its Subsidiaries, if any, in accordance with any applicable Accounting
Requirements.

Section 4.6. Rights of Inspection

The Borrower shall afford the RUS, through its representatives, reasonable opportunity,
at all times during business hours and upon prior notice, to have access to and the right to inspect
the System, any other property encumbered by the Indenture, and any or all books, records,
accounts, invoices, contracts, leases,.payrolls, canceled checks, statements and other documents
and papers of every kind belonging to or in the possession of the Borrower or in any way
pertaining to its property or business, including its Subsidiaries, if any, and to make copies or
extracts therefrom.

- 10 -
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Section 4.7. Real Property Acquisition

In acquiring real property, the Borrower shall comply in all material respects with the
provisions of the Uniform Relocation Assistance and Real Property Acquisition Policies Act of
1970, as amended by the Uniform Relocation Act Amendments of 1987, and 49 C.F.R. part 24,
referenced by 7 C.F.R. part 21, to the extent applicable to such acquisition.

Section 4.8. Financial Reports

Within 120 days of the end of each fiscal year, the Borrower shall cause to be prepared
and furnished to the RUS a full and complete annual report of its financial condition and of its
operations in form and substance satisfactory to the RUS, audited and certified by an
Independent certified public accountant satisfactory to the RUS and accompanied by a report of
such audit in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the RUS. The Borrower shall also
furnish to the RUS from time to time such other reports concerning the financial condition or
operations of the Borrower, including its Subsidiaries, as the RUS may request or RUS
Regulations require.

Section 4.9. Miscellaneous Reports and Notices
The Borrower shall furnish to the RUS:

(a) Notice of Default. Promptly after becoming aware thereof, notice of: (i) the
occurrence of any Event of Default under this Agreement or event which with the giving of
notice or the passage of time, or both, would become an Event of Default; and (ii) the receipt of
any notice given pursuant to the Indenture with respect to the occurrence of any event which
with the giving of notice or the passage of time, or both, could become an “Event of Default”
under the Indenture and (iii) the occurrence of any event under any agreement which with the
giving of notice or the passage of time, or both, could become an “Event of Default” under such
agreement and result in a Material Adverse Effect.

(b)  Notice of Non-Environmental Litigation. Promptly after the commencement
thereof, notice of the commencement of all actions, suits or proceedings before any court,
arbitrator, or governmental department, commission, board, bureau, agency or instrumentality
affecting the Borrower which, could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

©) Notice of Environmental Litigation. Without limiting the provisions of Section
4.9(b) above, promptly after receipt thereof, notice of the receipt of all pleadings, orders,
complaints, indictments, or other communications alleging a condition that may require the
Borrower to undertake or to contribute to a cleanup or other response under laws relating to
environmental protection, or which seek penalties, damages, injunctive relief, or criminal
sanctions related to alleged violations or such laws, or which claim personal injury or property
damage to any person as a result of environmental factors or conditions for which the Borrower
is not fully covered by insurance, or which could reasonably be expected to have a Material
Adverse Effect.

-11 -
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(d)  Notice of Application for Competitive Transition Charges. Promptly, but no later
than 60 days prior to submission to any approval authority, including without limitation, any
regulatory or legislative authority, written notice of an application for authority to collect
Competitive Transition Charges. Without limiting the right of RUS to request other information,
RUS has the right to request the Borrower to provide to RUS a written appraisal or other
financial assessment of the Competitive Transition Charges.

(c) Notice of Change of Place of Business. Promptly in writing, notice of any change
in location of its principal place of business or the office where its records concerning accounts

and contract rights are kept.

(d)  Regulatory and Other Notices. Promptly after receipt thereof, copies of any
notices or other communications received from any governmental authority with respect to any
matter or proceeding which could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

(e) Ratings. Promptly after receipt thereof, copies of Credit Ratings and copies of
any reports with respect to the Borrower or its Credit Rating issued by any Rating Agency.

(f)  Material Adverse Effect. Promptly after becoming aware thereof, notice of any
matter that has had or could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

(g)  Other Information. Such other information regarding the condition, financial or
otherwise, or operations, properties or business of the Borrower as the RUS may, from time to

time, reasonably request.
Section 4.10. Variable Rate Indebtedness

In connection with the furnishing of its annual report to the RUS pursuant to Section 4.8,
the Borrower shall report to the RUS, in such written format as may be acceptable to the RUS,
the specific maturities of all of the Borrower’s outstanding indebtedness and, the interest rates
applicable thereto, including, without limitation, with respect to any indebtedness not bearing a
fixed rate through the maturity of such indebtedness, the method and timing for adjustment and
readjustment of the applicable interest rate.

Section 4.11. Compliance with Laws

The Borrower shall operate and maintain the System and its properties in compliance in
all material respects with all applicable Laws.

Section 4.12. Separate Accounts

The Borrower shall execute and deliver, with a financial institution approved by the RUS,
a lockbox agreement or agreements substantially in the form of Exhibit A attached hereto
(“Lockbox Agreement”) and shall at all times maintain such Lockbox Agreement in full force
and effect. The Borrower shall not, without first complying with the requirements of

-12-
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Section 8.1, amend, supplement or otherwise modify the Lockbox Agreement. In the event:
(a) the Borrower no longer has two Investment Grade credit ratings from at least two Rating
Agencies; (b) the Borrower’s total current and accrued liabilities exceed the Borrower’s total
current and accrued assets; (c) the Administrator determines the System is incapable of providing
reliable service to the members of the Borrower pursuant to the terms of the Wholesale Power
Contracts; (d) the Administrator determines that as a consequence of any change in the
condition, financial or otherwise, operations, properties or business of the Borrower, the
Borrower will be unable to perform its material obligations under (i) this Agreement, (ii) the
Wholesale Power Contracts, (iii) the RUS Notes, or (iv) the Indenture; or (€) there is an Event of
Default under the Indenture, or any event that with the passage of time or giving of notice, or
both, would constitute an Event of Default under the Indenture, the Borrower shall, if so directed
in writing by the Administrator of the RUS, (a) deposit, pursuant to the Lockbox Agreement, all
cash proceeds of the Trust Estate, including, without limitation, checks, money and the like
(other than cash proceeds deposited or required to be deposited with the Trustee pursuant to the
Indenture), which cash proceeds shall include, without limitation, all payments by members of
the Borrower on account of the Wholesale Power Contracts, in separate deposit or other
accounts, segregated from all other monies, revenues and investments of the Borrower, and
(b) take all such other actions as the RUS shall request to continue perfection of the lien of the
Indenture in such proceeds for the benefit of all Holders of the Outstanding Secured Obligations.

Section 4.13. Property Maintenance

The Borrower shall maintain and preserve its System in compliance in all material
respects with the provisions of the Indenture, RUS Regulations, all applicable Laws, and Prudent
Utility Practice.

Section 4.14. Load Forecast

The Borrower shall prepare and use load forecasts with respect to its electric loads and
future energy and capacity requirements in conformance with RUS Regulations.

Section 4.15. Long Range Engineering Plans and Construction Work Plans

The Borrower shall develop, maintain and use up-to-date long-range engineering plans
and construction work plans in conformance with RUS Regulations.

Section 4.16. Design Standards, Construction Standards and List of Materials

The Borrower shall use design standards, construction standards, and lists of acceptable
materials in conformance with RUS Regulations.
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Section 4.17. Plans and Specifications

The Borrower shall submit plans and specifications for construction to RUS for review
and approval, in conformance with RUS Regulations, if the construction will be financed in
whole or in part by a loan made or guaranteed by RUS.

Section 4.18. Standard Forms of Construction Contracts, and Engineering and
Architectural Services Contracts

The Borrower shall use the standard forms of contracts promulgated by the RUS for
construction, procurement, engineering services and architectural services, in conformance with
RUS Regulations, if the construction, procurement, or services will be financed in whole or in
part by a loan made or guaranteed by the RUS.

Section 4.19. Contract Bidding Requirements

The Borrower shall follow the RUS contract bidding procedures in conformance with
RUS Regulations when contracting for construction or procurement, if the construction or
procurement will be financed in whole or in part by a loan made or guaranteed by the RUS.

Section 4.20. Nondiscrimination

(a) Equal Opportunity Provisions in Construction Contracts. The Borrower shall
incorporate or cause to be incorporated into any construction contract, as defined in Executive Order
11246 of September 24, 1965 and implementing regulations, which is paid for in whole or in part
with funds obtained from the RUS or borrowed on the credit of the United States pursuant to a
grant, contract, loan, insurance or guarantee, or undertaken pursuant to any RUS program
involving such grant, contract, loan, insurance or guarantee, the equal opportunity provisions set
forth in Exhibit B attached hereto entitled Equal Opportunity Contract Provisions.

(b)  Equal Opportunity Contract Provisions Also Bind the Borrower. The Borrower
further agrees that it shall be bound by such equal opportunity clause in any federally assisted
construction work which it performs itself other than through the permanent work force directly
employed by an agency of government.

(¢)  Sanctions and Penalties. The Borrower agrees that it shall cooperate actively
with the RUS and the Secretary of Labor in obtaining the compliance of contractors and
subcontractors with the equal opportunity clause and the rules, regulations and relevant orders of
the Secretary of Labor, that it shall furnish the RUS and the Secretary of Labor such information
as they may require for the supervision of such compliance, and that it shall otherwise assist the
administering agency in the discharge of the RUS’s primary responsibility for securing
compliance. The Borrower further agrees that it shall refrain from entering into any contract or
contract modification subject to Executive Order 11246 with a contractor debarred from, or who
has not demonstrated eligibility for, Government contracts and federally assisted construction
contracts pursuant to Part II, Subpart D of Executive Order 11246 and shall carry out such
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sanctions and penalties for violation of the equal opportunity clause as may be imposed upon
contractors and subcontractors by the RUS or the Secretary of Labor pursuant to Part II, Subpart
D of Executive Order 11246. In addition, the Borrower agrees that if it fails or refuses to comply
with these undertakings the RUS may cancel, terminate or suspend in whole or in part this
contract, may refrain from extending any further assistance under any of its programs subject to
Executive Order 11246 until satisfactory assurance of future compliance has been received from
the Borrower, or may refer the case to the Department of Justice for appropriate legal
proceedings.

Section 4.21. “Buy American” Requirements

The Borrower shall use or cause to be used in connection with the expenditures of funds
if such funds were obtained in whole or in part by a loan being made or guaranteed by the RUS
only such unmanufactured articles, materials, and supplies as have been mined or produced in
the United States or any eligible country, and only such manufactured articles, materials, and
supplies as have been manufactured in the United States or any eligible country substantially all
from articles, materials, and supplies mined, produced or manufactured, as the case may be, in
the United States or any eligible country, except to the extent the RUS shall determine that such
use shall be impracticable or that the cost thereof shall be unreasonable. For purposes of this
section, an “eligible country” is any country that has with respect to the United States an
agreement ensuring reciprocal access for United States products and services and United States
suppliers to the markets of that country, as determined by the United States Trade

Representative. '
Section 4.22. Depreciation Plan

The Borrower shall adopt as its depreciation rates only those that have been previously
approved for the Borrower by RUS (through RUS Regulation or by specific approval by RUS).
The Borrower shall not file with or submit for approval of any regulatory bodies depreciation
rates which are inconsistent with those approved for the Borrower by RUS.

Section 4.23. Maintenance of Credit Ratings

(a) Maintenance of Credit Ratings. As long as there remains any RUS Note, the
Borrower shall (i) maintain a Credit Rating from at least two Rating Agencies and
(i1) continuously subscribe with a Rating Agency for the services described in Exhibit C attached
hereto.

(b) Reporting Non-achievement of Investment Grade Credit Rating. If the Borrower
fails to maintain two Credit Ratings of Investment Grade, it must notify RUS in writing to that
effect within five (5) days after becoming aware of such failure.

(c) Corrective Plans. Within thirty (30) days of the date on which the Borrower fails
to maintain two Credit Ratings of Investment Grade, the Borrower in consultation with the RUS
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shall provide a written plan satisfactory to the RUS setting forth the actions that shall be taken
that are reasonably expected to achieve two Credit Ratings of Investment Grade.

(d)  Noncompliance. Failure to implement a corrective plan developed in accordance
with paragraph (c) of this section shall constitute an Event of Default under this Agreement.

ARTICLE V.

NEGATIVE COVENANTS

Section 5.1. General

Unless otherwise agreed to in writing by the RUS, while this Agreement is in effect, the
Borrower shall duly observe each of the negative covenants set forth in this Article V.

Section 5.2. Acquisition of Capital Assets

The Borrower shall not, without first complying with the requirements of Section 8.1,
extend or add to its System by purchasing, constructing, leasing or otherwise acquiring Capital
Assets, including Capital Assets that constitute utility or non-utility plant, with funds from
sources other than loans made or guaranteed by RUS in the case of:

(a) Generating facilities if the total expenditures for the facilities to be built,
procured, or leased, including any future facilities included in the planned project, will
exceed the lesser of $10 million or thirty percent (30%) of the Borrower’s Equity; or

(b) Existing electric facilities or systems in service whose purchase price, or
capitalized value in the case of a lease, exceeds ten percent (10%) of the Borrower’s Net

Utility Plant;

(¢) Any new project to serve an end user whose annual kWh purchases or
maximum annual kW demand is projected to exceed 25 percent of the Borrower’s total
kWh sales or maximum kW demand in the year immediately preceding the start of
construction of facilities; provided, however, this Section 5.2(c) shall not preclude the
Borrower from purchasing constructing, leasing or otherwise acquiring Capital Assets
without complying with the requirements of Section 8.1 for a project intended to facilitate
the providing of service to an end user in accordance with the provisions of a Smelter
Contract, provided, further, however that the Borrower may not purchase, construct, lease
or otherwise acquire Capital Assets pursuant to the preceding provision without first
complying with the requirements of Section 8.1, if the estimated costs of any such project
are estimated to exceed $10,000,000.
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Section 5.3. Disposition or Releases of Capital Assets

The Borrower shall not, without first complying with the requirements of Section 8.1,
voluntarily or involuntarily sell, convey, transfer, lease, as lessor, or otherwise dispose of any
portion of its business or Capital Assets, or request the release of or release any Capital Assets
from the lien of the Indenture or enter into contracts therefor in any calendar year except in
compliance with all applicable RUS Regulations, including without limitation, RUS Bulletin
1717M-2, and any successor regulation. For purposes of measuring the Borrower’s compliance
with the preceding sentence of this Section 5.3, Section 4(a)(1)(a) of RUS Bulletin 1717M-2
shall be deemed to be modified to read as follows: “The Borrower is not in default.”
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the use by Borrower of the proceeds of any such sale,
conveyarce, transfer, lease or other disposition shall be in compliance with the Indenture.

Section 5.4. Limitations on Mergers and Sale, Lease or Transfer of Capital
Assets

The Borrower shall not consolidate or merge with, or sell all or substantially all of its
business or assets, except to the extent it is expressly permitted under the Indenture.

Section 5.5. Limitations on Employment and Retention of General Manager

At any time an Event of Default, or an event which with the passage of time or the giving
of notice, or both, would become an Event of Default, occurs and is continuing, the Borrower
shall not, without the prior written approval of the RUS, enter into an employment relationship
with any person to serve as General Manager of the System. If an Event of Default, or an event
which with the passage of time or the giving of notice, or both, would become an Event of
Default, occurs and is continuing and the RUS requests the Borrower to terminate the
employment of its General Manager, the Borrower shall do so within thirty (30) days after the
date of such request. All contracts in respect of the employment of the General Manager or for
the operation of the Utility System or the Electric System, hereafter entered into shall contain
provisions to permit compliance with this Section 5.5.

Section 5.6. Limitations on Certain Types of Contracts

(a)  Approval of Certain Contracts. The Borrower shall not, without first complying
with the requirements of Section 8.1, enter into any of the following:

(i) Any contract for the management and operation of all or a material portion
of its System;

(11) Any contract for the purchase, exchange or sale of electric power or
energy that has a term exceeding two (2) years;
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(iii) Any contract for the purchase or sale of interconnection, interchange
wheeling, transmission, pooling, ancillary services pooling or similar power supply
arrangements that has a term exceeding two (2) years;

(iv)  Any contract for construction or procurement or for architectural and
engineering services in connection with the Borrower’s System if the project is financed
or will be financed, in whole or in part, by a loan made or guaranteed by the RUS;

) Any amendment or modification to any of the Wholesale Power Contracts,
mcludmg the Schedules thereto, including the Wholesale Power Contracts listed in the
attached Exhibit D, except that the Borrower may amend or modify provisions specifying
delivery points.

(b) Terminations. The Borrower shall not, without first complying with the
requirements of Section 8.1, exercise any option to terminate any contract, including, without
limitation, any Wholesale Power Contract, if such contract, based upon its nature, remaining
term (not taking into account any option of the Borrower to terminate) and size, would be
required to be approved by the RUS pursuant to paragraph (a) of this Section 5.6 if the Borrower
were to have entered into such contract on the proposed termination date. The Borrower further
agrees at the written direction of the RUS to exercise any option to terminate a contract if the
exercise by the Borrower of that option would require compliance with the requirements of
Section 8.1 pursuant to the immediately preceding sentence unless the exercise of such
termination right could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

(c) Determination of Term. For purposes of this Section 5.6, the term of any contract
shall be determined in accordance with this Section 5.6(c). The term of any contract shall be the
period during which performance (other than payment) is to occur and not. the period
commencing when such contract is executed. The term of any contract shall be based upon the
period prior to the first date upon which the Borrower could, at its option, terminate the contract
(taking into account any notice period required for termination).

(d)  Amendments; Extensions. Any amendment or modification to an existing contract
(including an extension thereof) shall be governed by this Section 5.6 only to the extent such
specific amendment or modification (and not the contract as a whole), judged as if it were a
separate contract, would be required to be approved by the RUS pursuant to paragraph (a) of this
Section 5.6.

Section 5.7. Limitations on Loans, Investments and Other Obligations

The Borrower shall not, without first complying with the requirements of Section 8.1,
make any loan or advance to, or make any Investment in, or purchase or make any commitment
to purchase any stock, bonds, notes or other securities of, or guaranty, assume or otherwise
become obligated or liable with respect to the obligations of, any other person, firm or
corporation, except as permitted by the Act and RUS Regulations. In computing any permissible
level of Investments in any person, firm or corporation in accordance with this Section 5.7 and
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the RUS Regulations, the Borrower’s existing capital contribution to Big Rivers Leasing shall
not be included as contributing to the level of aggregate permissible Investments.

Section 5.8. Rate Changes

The Borrower shall not, without first complying with the requirements of Section 8.1,
increase or reduce its rates.

Section 5.9. Indenture Restrictions

, Notwithstanding the provisions of the Indenture, the Borrower shall not, without first
complying with the requirements of Section 8.1:

(a) consolidate or merge with any other corporation or convey or transfer the Trust
Estate under the Indenture substantially as an entirety, or otherwise reorganize its corporate
structure to transfer functions or any substantial part of the Trust Estate to any other Person;

(b) elect pursuant to Section 1.1D of the Indenture to apply Accounting Requirements
in effect as of the date of execution and delivery of the Indenture;

(©) include as Property Additions, under any provision of the Indenture, any property
that would not qualify as Property Additions but for paragraph C of the definition of Property
Additions, or sell, lease or sublease any portion of the Trust Estate pursuant to paragraph H of
Section 6.1 of the Indenture;

(d) submit an Available Margins Certificate under Article V of the Indenture for the
purpose of issuing Additional Obligations unless such Certificate is accompanied by an
Independent Accountant’s Certificate stating in substance that nothing came to the attention of
such Accountant in connection with its unaudited review of the applicable period that would lead
such Accountant to believe that there was any incorrect or inaccurate statement in such

Certificate;

(e) enter into a Supplemental Indenture pursuént to Section 13.1H of the Indenture;

63 enter into a Supplemental Indenture pursuant to Section 13.1B or 13.1C of the
Indenture if (i) the Holders of the Obligations issued under such Supplemental Indenture are
granted greater security rights in and to the Trust Estate than those security rights enjoyed by the
Government in its capacity as a Holder of Obligations under the Indenture, provided, however,
that neither (I) the existence of Credit Enhancement nor (II) the creation and maintenance of debt
service or similar funds for the payment of the principal and interest on Obligations issued under
such Supplemental Indenture (to the extent such debt service or other similar funds are funded
from the proceeds of the issuance of such Obligations or funded in connection with the
refinancing of other debt by such Obligations), shall constitute greater security rights in and to
the Trust Estate requiring the Borrower to comply with the requirements of Section 8.1; (ii) the
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Supplemental Indenture provides for covenants, restrictions, limitations, conditions, events of
defaults or remedies not applicable to all Obligations then Outstanding or not equally available to
all Holders of Obligations then Outstanding, provided, however, that provisions for covenants
and events of default that relate solely to assuring that the interest on such Obligations (or other
indebtedness secured by such Obligations) is excludable from the gross income of the holder
thereof pursuant to the Internal Revenue Code, as amended, shall not constitute the providing of
covenants or events of default requiring the Borrower to comply with the requirements of
Section 8.1; or (iii) the Obligations issued under such Supplemental Indenture, or the
indebtedness secured by such Obligations, can be (a) accelerated or (b) effectively accelerated
through a mandatory purchase or similar mechanism, in either case, as a consequence of a breach
or default by the Borrower under the related loan agreement or similar agreement entered into in
connection with such Obligation or indebtedness, provided, however, that acceleration and
similar rights may be granted to development authorities and trustees without first complying
with the requirements of Section 8.1 in connection with the issuance of Obligations (or other
indebtedness secured by such Obligations) the interest on which is excludable from the gross
income of the holder thereof pursuant to the Internal Revenue Code, as amended, if such
acceleration and similar rights are substantially similar to those currently granted to development
authorities and trustees in connection with the Existing Obligations;

(® create or incur or suffer or permit to be created or incurred or to exist any pledge
of current assets secured under the Indenture to secure current liabilities;

(h) take any of the following actions:

@) provide under the Indenture a Certificate of an Appraiser who is not
Independent if the value of the property or securities to which such certificate applies is
greater than $500,000;

(i)  provide under the Indenture a Certificate of an Engineer who is not a
licensed professional with respect to any project if the cost of such project is greater than
$50,000; or -

(iii)  provide under the Indenture a Certificate of an Engineer who is not
Independent and a licensed professional with respect to the fair value or repair cost of any
project if either (A) the fair value or repair cost of such project is greater than $5,000,000
or (B) RUS has requested in writing such certificate to be provided by an Engineer who is
Independent and a licensed professional;

(1) modify or alter Section 9.7 of the Indenture or the obligation of the Trustee under
the Indenture to hold the Trust Estate for the equal and proportionate benefit and security of the
Holders, without any priority of any Obligation over any other Obligation;

)] certify pursuant to Section 5.3D(1) or 5.3D(2) of the Indenture any retired
Obligation or any principal payment on an Obligation as the basis for taking any action under the
Indenture, if such retirement or payment is pursuant to a regularly scheduled sinking fund or
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principal installment or made at the Stated Maturity of such Obligation; provided, however, that
the Borrower shall not have to comply with the requirements of Section 8.1 before certifying
pursuant to Section 5.3D(1)or 5.3D(2) of the Indenture in connection with the issuance of
Additional Obligations under the Indenture if such Additional Obligations are:

(1) issued to refund Obligations the interest on which is exempt from taxation
under Section 103 of the Internal Revenue Code, or obligations which were issued to

refund such tax-exempt Obligations;

(2) issued to refund Obligations owed to, or guaranteed by, the United States of
America acting through the RUS, or obligations which were issued to refund such
Obligations owed to, or guaranteed by, the United States of America acting through the

RUS; or

(3) Obligations issued to refund Obligations, if the combined term of the refunded
Obligations and the refunding Additional Obligations does not exceed the term for which
the refunded Obligations could have been originally issued under the provisions of this
paragraph (j) or paragraph (k) of this Section 5.9.

(k) issue any Additional Obligations under the Indenture to finance Property
Additions unless the following additional requirements are satisfied in addition to the
requirements set forth in the Indenture for issuing such Additional Obligations:

(1) If the proceeds of such Additional Obligations are being used to finance the
initial cost of the construction or acquisition of identified tangible assets, the weighted
average life of the loan evidenced by such Additional Obligations does not exceed the
weighted average of the expected remaining useful lives of the assets being financed;

(2) The principal of the loan evidenced by such Additional Obligations is
amortized at a rate that shall yield a weighted average life that is not greater than the
weighted average life that would result from level payments of principal and interest; and

(3) The principal of the loan being evidenced by such Additional Obligations has
a maturity of not less than five years.

In determining its compliance with the requirements of clause (2) of this paragraph (k), the
Borrower shall be permitted to make reasonable assumptions as to the interest rate which such
Additional Obligations will bear as the Borrower deems appropriate in light of the prevailing
interest rate environment in which such Additional Obligations are to be issued; or

)] permit any liens in respect of judgments or awards which would be Permitted
Exceptions pursuant to Paragraph F of the definition of “Permitted Exceptions” in the Indenture,
by virtue of the fact that such liens are fully covered by insurance; or
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(m) enter into any leases to and permits for occupancy, which materially impair the
Company’s use of the property in the conduct of its business, by, other Persons which would be
Permitted Exceptions pursuant to Paragraph K of the definition of “Permitted Exceptions” by
virtue of the fact that any such leases and/or permits are for a period of less than ten (10) years.

Section 5.10. Negative Pledge

The Borrower shall not, without first complying with the requirements of
Section 8.1, directly or indirectly create, incur, assume or permit to exist any lien, mortgage,
pledge, security interest, charge or encumbrance of any kind, whether voluntary or involuntary
(including any conditional sale or other title retention agreement, any lease in the nature thereof,
and any other agreement to give any security interest) on or with respect to any of the Excepted
Property except for:

(a) Permitted Exceptions (other than the Permitted Exception described in
paragraph Y of the definition of Permitted Exceptions); -

) as to the Excepted Property described in paragraphs B through E of the Indenture,
inclusive, and paragraph K of the definition of Excepted Property, liens, mortgages, pledges,
security interests, charges and encumbrances in connection with purchase money, construction or
acquisition indebtedness (or renewals or extensions thereof) that encumber only the asset or
assets so purchased, constructed or acquired or property improved through such purchase,
construction or acquisition, and the proceeds upon a sale, transfer or exchange thereof;

(c) liens, mortgages, pledges, security interests, charges and encumbrances (i) for the
benefit of all Holders of the Obligations issued under the Indenture, (ii) in connection with any
bond service or similar fund established by the Borrower with respect to any debt securities, the
interest on which is excludable from gross income of the holder thereof pursuant to the Internal
Revenue Code, as amended, to the extent of amounts deposited in such funds in the ordinary
course to make regularly scheduled payments on such debt securities, or (iii) in connection with
any debt service or similar fund established by the Borrower for the payment of principal or
interest on debt securities, the interest on which is excludable from gross income of the holder
thereof pursuant to the Internal Revenue Code, as amended, if such fund is funded solely from
the proceeds of the issuance of such debt securities (or funded in connection with the refinancing
of other debt by such debt securities);

d) liens, pledges, security interests, charges and encumbrances with respect to
deposit, brokerage, commodity and other similar accounts to the extent such liens, pledges,
security interests, charges and encumbrances do not secure indebtedness for borrowed money
other than indebtedness incurred in connection with acqumng securities or other investments
deposited in any such account; or

(e) liens, pledges, security interests, charges and encumbrances with respect to any
interest, debt or equity, of the Borrower in National Rural Utilities Cooperative Finance
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Corporation or CoBank, ACB, purchased or otherwise acquired by the Borrower in connection
with membership in such entity or any borrowing from such an entity.

Section 5.11. Emissions Allowances

Except for sales initiated by the Government without the prior consent and knowledge of
the Borrower, the Borrower shall not, without first complying with the requirements of Section
8.1, sell, assign or otherwise dispose of (or enter into any agreement therefor) any allowances for
emissions or similar rights granted by any governmental authority except in compliance with all
applicable RUS Regulations, including without limitation, RUS Bulletin 1717M-2, and any
successor regulation. For purposes of measuring the Borrower’s compliance with the preceding
sentence of this Section 5.11, Section 4(a)(1)(a) of RUS Bulletin 1717M-2 shall be deemed to be
modified to read as follows: “The Borrower is not in default.” The proceeds of any such sale,
assignment or other disposition, shall be deposited in the Construction Fund Trustee Account.
For such sales initiated by the Government without the prior consent and knowledge of the
Borrower, the Borrower shall give RUS, promptly upon receipt thereof, written notice of such

sales.
Section 5.12. Renewable Energy Credits

The Borrower shall not, without first complying with the requirements of Section 8.1,
sell, assign or otherwise dispose of (or enter into any agreement therefor) (a) any credits received
from allowances for emissions or (b) similar rights granted by any governmental authority, in
either case which relate to renewable energy, except in compliance with all applicable RUS
Regulations, including without limitation, RUS Bulletin 1717M-2, and any applicable RUS
Regulations, including without limitation, RUS Bulletin 1717M-2, and any successor regulation.
For purposes of measuring the Borrower’s compliance with the preceding sentence of this
Section 5.12, Section 4(a)(1)(a) of RUS Bulletin 1717M-2 shall be deemed to be modified to
read as follows: “The Borrower is not in default.” The proceeds of any such sale, assignment or
other disposition, shall be deposited in the Construction Fund Trustee Account.

Section 5.13. Fiscal Year

The Borrower shall not, without first complying with the requirements of Section 8.1,
change its fiscal year.

Section 5.14. Limits on Variable Rate Indebtedness

During any period in which (a) an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing or (b)
the Borrower has not maintained a Credit Rating of Investment Grade, the Borrower shall not,
without first complying with the requirements of Section 8.1, increase the outstanding principal
amount of indebtedness of the Borrower, the interest rate with respect to which is adjusted or
readjusted at intervals of less than two (2) years, to an amount exceeding the amount thereof
outstanding on the date of such notice from the RUS.
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Section 5.185. Limits on Short-Term Indebtedness

The Borrower shall not, without first complying with the requirements of Section 8.1, on
any date permit Short-Term Indebtedness to exceed fifteen percent (15%) of the Borrower’s
long-term debt and equities (determined in accordance with Accounting Requirements, except
that such determination and calculations shall not be made on a consolidated basis and shall not,
therefore, take into account the Short-Term Indebtedness, long-term debt and equities of the
Borrower’s Affiliates and Subsidiaries) as of the end of the fiscal quarter immediately preceding
such date. As used in this Section 5.15, “Short-Term Indebtedness” means all indebtedness of,
or guaranteed or in effect guaranteed (whether directly or indirectly, contingent or otherwise)
against loss in respect thereof to the holder thereof by, the Borrower (other than trade payables)
which on the date of original issuance thereof is classified as short-term debt under Accounting
Requirements; provided, however, that any indebtedness issued in accordance with a credit
agreement or other arrangement with a maturity or expiration date of greater than one year from
the date of effectiveness of such credit agreement or arrangement shall not be considered Short-
Term Indebtedness at such time as the maturity of expiration of such credit agreements or
arrangements is less than one year.

Section 5.16. Limitations on Changing Principal Place of Business

Without prior written notification to the RUS, the Borrower shall not change its principal
place of business.

Section 5.17. Limitations on RUS Financed Extensions and Additions

The Borrower shall not extend or add to its System either by construction or acquisition
without the prior written approval of RUS if the construction or acquisition is financed or will be
financed, in whole or in part, by a RUS loan or loan guarantee.

Section 5.18. Historic Preservation

Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 3.2, the Borrower shall not, without approval
in writing by the RUS, use any advance to construct any facility which shall involve any district,
site, building, structure or object which is included in, or eligible for inclusion in, the National
Register of Historic Places maintained by the Secretary of the Interior pursuant to the Historic
Sites Act of 1935 and the National Historic Preservation Act of 1966.

Section 5.19. Change of Ratings Agency

At any time that only one Rating Agency has assigned a Credit Rating, the Borrower
shall not, without first complying with the requirements of Section 8.1, change the Rating
Agency then providing the Credit Rating.
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Section 5.20. Competitive Transition Charges

The Borrower shall not, without first complying with the requirements of Section 8.1,
(1) sell, exchange or otherwise dispose of Competitive Transition Charges, (ii) request the release
of Competitive Transition Charges from the lien of the Indenture, or (iii) utilize Competitive
Transition Charges as a basis for issuing Obligations under the Indenture, or as basis for a
securitized financing outside the Indenture, or withdraw Trust Moneys related to Competitive

Transition Charges.
Section 5.21. ‘ Limitation on Release of Agreements

The Borrower shall not, without first complying with the requirements of Section 8.1,
sell, assign or otherwise dispose of, request the release of or release any contract described in
Section 5.6 or any Wholesale Power Contract from the lien of the Indenture.

Section 5.22. Construction Fund Trustee Account

The Borrower shall deposit the proceeds of loans made or guaranteed by RUS promptly
after the receipt thereof in a bank or banks that are insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance
Corporation or other federal agency acceptable to RUS. Any account (hereinafter called
“Construction Fund Trustee Account”) in which any such moneys shall be deposited shall be
insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation or other federal agency acceptable to RUS
and shall be designated by the corporate name of the Borrower followed by the words
“Construction Fund Trustee Account.” Moneys in any Construction Fund Trustee Account shall
be used solely for the construction and operation of the System and may be withdrawn only upon
checks, drafts, or orders signed on behalf of the Borrower and countersigned by an executive

officer thereof.
Séction 5.23. Impairment of Contracts

The Borrower shall not (a) materially breach any obligation to be paid or performed by
the Borrower under, or (b) take any action which is likely to materially impair the value of, any
contract which is subject to the security interest created by the Indenture,

Section 5.24. Limitations on Distributions

Without the prior written approval of RUS, the Borrower shall not in any calendar year
make any Distributions to its members or stockholders except as follows:

(a) Equity above 30%. 1f, after giving effect to any such Distribution, the Equity of the
Borrower shall be greater than or equal to 30% of its Total Assets; or

. (b) Equity above 25%. 1f, after giving effect to any such Distribution, the aggregate of all
Distributions made during the calendar year when added to such Distribution shall be less than or
equal to 25% of the margins for the year to which the Distribution relates.
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Provided however, that in no event shall the Borrower make any Distributions if there is
unpaid when due any installment of principal of (premium, if any) or interest on its Notes, if an
Event of Default has otherwise occurred and is continuing, or, if, after giving effect to any such
Distribution, the Borrower’s current and accrued assets would be less than its current and
accrued liabilities and provided, further, that the limitation on Distributions created by this
Section 5.24 shall not apply to any payments, rebates, refunds or abatement of power costs made
in accordance with a Smelter Contract or made in accordance with any tariff on file with the

Kentucky Public Service Commission.
Section 5.25. Limitations on Additional Indebtedness

The Borrower shall not incur, assume, guarantee or otherwise become liable in respect of
any debt for borrowed money and Restricted Rentals (including Subordinated Indebtedness)

other than the following (“Permitted Debt”):
(a) Additional Obligations issued in compliance with Article V of the Indenture;

(b) Purchase money indebtedness in non-System property, in an amount not exceeding
10% of Net Utility Plant;

(c) Restricted Rentals in an amount not to exceed 5% of Equity during any 12
consecutive calendar month period;

(d) Unsecured lease obligations incurred in the ordinary course of business except
Restricted Rentals;

(e) Unsecured indebtedness for borrowed money, up to an aggregate amount of 15% of
Net Utility Plant, so long as after giving effect to such unsecured indebtedness, the Borrower’s
Equity is more than 20% of its Total Assets;

(f) Debt represented by dividends declared but not paid; and
(g) Subordinated Indebtedness approved by RUS.

The Borrower may incur Permitted Debt without the consent of RUS only so long as
there exists no Event of Default hereunder and there has been no continuing occurrence which
with the passage of time and giving of notice could become an Event of Default hereunder. By
executing this Agreement any consent of RUS that the Borrower would otherwise by required to
obtain under this Section is hereby deemed to be given or waived by RUS by operation of law to
the extent, but only to the extent, that to impose such a requirement of RUS consent would
clearly violate federal laws or RUS Regulations.
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ARTICLE VL
EVENTS OF DEFAULT

The following shall be “Events of Default” under this Agreement:

(@) Representations and Warranties. Any representation or warranty made by the
Borrower in Article II hereof or, in any certificate furnished to the RUS hereunder or in the Loan
Documents or in any filing pursuant to RUS Regulations shall be incorrect in any material
respect at the time made and shall at the time in question be untrue or incorrect in any material

respect and remain uncured,

(b)  Payment. Default shall be made in the payment of or on account of interest on or
principal of any RUS Note when and as the same shall be due and payable, whether by
acceleration or otherwise, which shall remain unsatisfied for five (5) Business Days;

(c) Other Covenants. Default by the Borrower in the observance or performance of
any other covenant or agreement contained in any of the Loan Documents, which shall remain
unremedied for thirty (30) calendar days after written notice thereof shall have been given to the

Borrower by the RUS;

(d) Corporate Existence. The Borrower shall forfeit or otherwise be deprived of its
corporate charter or any franchise, permit, easement, consent or license required to carry on any
material portion of its business;

(e) Other Obligations. Default by the Borrower in the payment of any obligation,
whether direct or contingent, for borrowed money in excess of $1 million or in the performance
or observance of the terms of any instrument pursuant to which such obligation was created or
securing such obligation which default shall have resulted in such obligation becoming or being
declared due and payable prior to the data on which it would otherwise be due and payable;

® Bankruptcy. A court having jurisdiction in the premises shall enter a decree or
order for relief in respect of the Borrower in an involuntary case under any applicable
bankruptcy, insolvency or other similar law now or hereafter in effect, or appointing a receiver,
liquidator, assignee, custodian, trustee, sequestrator or similar official, or ordering the winding
up or liquidation of its affairs, and such decree or order shall remain unstayed and in effect for a
period of ninety (90) consecutive days or the Borrower shall commence a voluntary case under
any applicable bankruptcy, insolvency or other similar law now or hereafter in effect, or under
any such law, or consent to the appointment or taking possession by a receiver, liquidator,
assignee, custodian or trustee, of a substantial part of its property, or make any general
assignment for the benefit of creditors; and

(2) Dissolution or Liquidation. Other than as provided in the immediately preceding
subsection, the dissolution or liquidation of the Borrower, or failure by the Borrower promptly to
forestall or remove any execution, garnishment or attachment of such consequence as shall
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impair its ability to continue its business or fulfill its obligations and such execution,
garnishment or attachment shall not be vacated within thirty (30) days. The term “dissolution or
liquidation of the Borrower,” as used in this paragraph (g), shall not be construed to include the
cessation of the corporate existence of the Borrower resulting either from a mergeror
consolidation of the Borrower into or with another corporation following a transfer of all or
substantially all its assets as an entirety, under the conditions permitting such actions.

(h)  Indenture. Any Event of Default as set forth in Section 9.1 of the Indenture and
any event (as set forth in such Section 9.1) that with the giving of notice or the passage of time,
or both, could become an Event of Default.

ARTICLE VII.
REMEDIES

Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default, then RUS may pursue all rights and
remedies available to RUS that are contemplated by this Agreement in the manner, upon the
conditions, and with the effect provided in this Agreement, including, but not limited to, a suit
for specific performance, injunctive relief or compensatory damages. The RUS is hereby
authorized, to the maximum extent permitted by applicable law, to demand specific performance
of this Agreement at any time when the Borrower shall have failed to comply with any provision
of this Agreement applicable to it. The Borrower hereby itrevocably waives, to the maximum
extent permitted by applicable law, any defense based on the adequacy of a remedy at law that
might be asserted as a bar to such remedy of specific performance. Nothing herein shall limit the
right of the RUS to pursue all rights and remedies available to a creditor at law or in equity
following the occurrence of an Event of Default listed in Article VI hereof, or any right or
remedy available to the RUS as a Holder of an Obligation under the Indenture. Each right,
power and remedy of the RUS shall be cumulative and concurrent, and recourse to one or more
rights or remedies shall not constitute a waiver of any other right, power or remedy.

ARTICLE VIIL
MISCELLANEOUS

Section 8.1. Notice to RUS; Objection of RUS

Before undertaking any transaction described in Article V or the schedules attached
hereto that requires compliance with the requirements of Section 8.1, the Borrower shall give to
the RUS (1) notice in writing describing in reasonable detail the proposed transaction and clearly
stating that the transaction is covered by this Section 8.1 and (ii) drafts of any documents to
effect such transaction. If the RUS delivers to the Borrower written notice that it objects to the
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proposed transaction within sixty (60) days (or such shorter period as the parties shall agree to in
writing), the Borrower shall not complete the transaction without RUS approval.

Section 8.2. Notices

All notices, requests and other communications provided for herein including, without
limitation, any modifications of, or waivers, requests or consents under, this Agreement shall be
given or made in writing (including, without limitation, by telecopy) and delivered to the
intended recipient at the “Address for Notices” specified below; or, as to any party, at such other
address as shall be designated by such party in a notice to each other party. Except as otherwise
provided in this Agreement, all such communications shall be deemed to have been duly given
when transmitted by telecopier or personally delivered or, in the case of a mailed notice, upon
receipt, in each case given or addressed as provided for herein. The Address for Notices of the

respective parties are as follows:
The Government:

Rural Utilities Service

United States Department of Agriculture
Room No. 5135-S )
1400 Independence Avenue, S.W,

Stop 1510

Washington, DC 20250

Fax: (202) 720-9542

Attention: RUS Administrator

With a copy to:

Rural Utilities Service

United States Department of Agriculture
Room No. 0270-S

1400 Independence Avenue, S.W.

Stop: 1568

Washington, DC 20250

Fax: (202) 720-1401

Attention: Power Supply Division

The Borrower:

Big Rivers Electric Corporation

201 Third Street

Henderson, Kentucky 42420

Fax: (270) 827-2558

Attention: President and Chief Executive Officer
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With a copy to:

Sullivan, Mountjoy, Stainback & Miller
100 St. Ann's Building

PO Box 727

Owensboro KY 42302-0727

Fax: (270) 683-6694
Attention: James Miller

Section 8.3. Expenses

To the extent permitted by Law, the Borrower shall pay all costs and expenses of RUS,
including reasonable fees of counsel, incurred in connection with the enforcement of the Loan
Documents or with the preparation for such enforcement if the RUS has reasonable grounds to
believe that such enforcement may be necessary.

Section 8.4. Late Payments

If payment of any amount due hereunder is not received at the United States Treasury in
Washington, D.C., or such other location as RUS may designate to the Borrower, within five (5)
Business Days after the due date thereof or such other time period as RUS may prescribe from
time to time in its policies of general application in connection with any late payment charge
(such unpaid amount being herein called the “delinquent amount,” and the period beginning after
such due date until payment of the delinquent amount being herein called the “late-payment
period), the Borrower shall pay to RUS, in addition to all other amounts due under the terms of
the RUS Notes and this Agreement, any late-payment charge as may be fixed by RUS
Regulations from time to time on the delinquent amount for the late-payment period.

Section 8.5. Filing Fees

To the extent permitted by Law, the Borrower agrees to pay all expenses of RUS
(including the fees and expenses of its counsel) in connection with the filing or recordation of all
financing statements and instruments as may be required by RUS in connection with this
Agreement, including, without limitation, all documentary stamps, recordation and transfer taxes
and other costs and taxes incident to recordation of any document or instrument in connection
herewith. The Borrower agrees to save harmless and indemnify the RUS from and against any
liability resulting from the failure to pay any required documentary stamps, recordation and
transfer taxes, recording costs, or any other expenses incurred by the RUS in connection with
this Agreement. The provisions of this Section 8.5 shall survive the execution and delivery of
this Agreement and the payment of all other amounts due hereunder or due on the RUS Notes.

-30-

OHS East:160523172.7



Section 8.6. No Waiver

No failure on the part of the RUS to exercise, and no delay in exercising, any right
hereunder shall operate as a waiver thereof, nor shall any single or partial exercise by the RUS of
any right hereunder preclude any other or further exercise thereof or the exercise of any other

right.
Section 8.7. Governing Law

EXCEPT TO THE EXTENT GOVERNED BY APPLICABLE FEDERAL LAW, THE
LOAN DOCUMENTS SHALL BE DEEMED TO BE GOVERNED BY, AND CONSTRUED
IN ACCORDANCE WITH, THE LAWS OF THE COMMONWEALTH OF KENTUCKY.

Section 8.8. Holiday Payments

If any payment to be made by the Borrower hereunder shall become due on a day which
is not a Business Day, such payment shall be made on the next succeeding Business Day and
such extension of time shall be included in computing any interest in respect of such payment.

Section 8.9. Successors and Assigns

This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the Borrower and the
RUS and their respective successors and assigns, provided, however, that the Borrower may not
assign or transfer its rights or obligations hereunder without the prior written consent of the RUS.

Section 8.10. Complete Agreement; Amendments

This Agreement and the other Loan Documents are intended by the parties to be a
complete and final expression of their agreement. However, RUS reserves the right to waive its
rights to compliance with any provision of this Agreement and the other Loan Documents. No
amendment, modification, or waiver of any provision hereof or thereof, and no consent to any
departure of the Borrower herefrom or therefrom, shall be effective unless approved in writing
by RUS in the form of either a RUS Regulation or other writing signed by or on behalf of RUS,
and then such waiver or consent shall be effective only in the specific instance and for the
specific purpose for which given.

Section 8.11. Headings

The headings and sub-headings contained in the titling of this Agreement are intended to
be used for convenience only and do not constitute part of this Agreement.

Section 8.12. Severability

If any term, provision or condition, or any part thereof, of this Agreement shall for any
reason be found or held invalid or unenforceable by any governmental agency or court of
competent jurisdiction, such invalidity or unenforceability shall not affect the remainder of such

- -

OHS East:160523172.7



term, provision or condition nor any other term, provision or condition, and this Agreement and
the RUS Notes shall survive and be construed as if such invalid or unenforceable term, provision
or condition had not been contained herein.

Section 8.13. Right of Set off

Upon the occurrence and during the continuance of any Event of Default, the RUS is
hereby authorized at any time and from time to time, without prior notice to the Borrower, to
exercise rights of set off or recoupment and apply any and all amounts held or hereafter held, by
the RUS or owed to the Borrower or for the credit or account of the Borrower against any and all
of the obligations of the Borrower now or hereafter existing hereunder or under the RUS Notes.
The RUS agrees to notify the Borrower promptly after any such set off or recoupment and the
application thereof, provided that the failure to give such notice shall not affect the validity of
such set off, recoupment or application. The rights of the RUS under this Section 8.13 are in
addition to any other rights and remedies (including other rights of set off or recoupment) which
the RUS may have. The Borrower waives all rights of set off, deduction, recoupment or

counterclaim.
Section 8.14. Schedules and Exhibits

Each Schedule and Exhibit attached hereto and referred to herein is each an integral part
of this Agreement.

Section 8.15. Sole Benefit

The rights and benefits set forth in this Agreement are for the sole benefit of the parties
thereto and may be relied upon only by them.

Section 8.16. Prior Loan Contracts

It is understood and agreed that with respect to all loan agreements previously entered
into by and between RUS and the Borrower, including, without limitation, the Existing Loan
Contract, (hereinafter being referred to as “Prior Loan Contracts”) the Borrower shall be
required, as of the date hereof, to meet affirmative and negative covenants as set forth in this
Agreement rather than those set forth in any Prior Loan Contract. As of the date hereof, this
Agreement replaces and supersedes any Prior Loan Contract. In the event of any conflict
between any provision set forth in the Prior Loan Contract and any provision in this Agreement,
the requirements as set forth in this Agreement shall apply.

Section 8.17. Authority of RUS Representatives

In the case of any consent, approval or waiver from the RUS that is required under this
Agreement or any other Loan Document, such consent, approval or waiver must be in writing
and signed by an authorized RUS representative to be effective. As used in this Section 8.17,
“authorized RUS representative” means the Administrator of RUS, and also means a person to
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whom the Administrator has officially delegated specific or general authority to take the action
in question.

Section 8.18. Relation to RUS Regulations

(a) In case of any conflict between the terms of this Agreement and the provisions of
the RUS Regulations, the terms of this Agreement shall control.

(b) The RUS Regulations shall apply to the Borrower to the extent and under the
conditions expressly set forth in this Agreement (other than in Section 4.11). To the extent this
the terms of this Agreement, the Indenture, and the RUS Regulations are silent on an issue
relating to System operation, control, maintenance, and accounting, the Borrower will comply

with Prudent Utility Practice.

(©) The Borrower recognizes that some RUS Regulations implement Federal statutes
or regulatory policies that are not limited to rural electrification but apply to many types of
Federal assistance. Nothing herein is intended to, or shall be deemed to, waive the requirements
of any Federal statute or regulation that is applicable to the Borrower independently of any
requirement made applicable solely by the RUS Regulations.

(d) Subject to paragraphs (b) and (c) above, if on the date of this Agreement, any
RUS Regulation conflicts with the terms of this Agreement or the Indenture pursuant to 7 C.F.R.
1710.113(c)(2) (62 F.R. 7721 & 18037 (1997)), the RUS hereby waives compliance by the
Borrower with such RUS Regulations.

Section 8.19. Term

This Agreement shall remain in effect until one of the following two events has occurred:

(a) The Borrower and the RUS replace this Agreement with another written
agreement; or

(b)  All of the Borrower’s obligations under this Agreement and the RUS Notes have
been discharged and paid.

Section 8.20. Relation to Indenture

The RUS is a party to this Agreement and a Holder of Outstanding Secured Obligations
under the Indenture. Both this Agreement and the Indenture govern the relationship between the
Borrower and the RUS, and the parties intend that the Indenture and this Agreement
independently govern such relationship. Each provision of this Agreement is intended to and
shall be fully operative and enforceable as written whether or not the subject matter of any such
provision is or is not addressed by the Indenture, or, if so addressed, is addressed in a different
way from that set forth in this Agreement.

=33 -

OHS East:160523172.7



(Signatures begin on next page.)
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BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION

By: %% <./ T—%L

Name: Mark A. Bailey

Title: President and CEO

[Amended and Consolidated Loan Contract (RUS))



THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

[Amended and Consolidated Loan Contract (RUS)]



EXHIBIT A

To the Amended and Consolidated Loan Contract, dated as of July 1, 2009
between Big Rivers Electric Corporation, Old National Bank,
U.S. Bank National Association, and the United States of America

LOCKBOX AGREEMENT

This LOCKBOX AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”) is entered into as of [ ],
2009, by and among Big Rivers Electric Corporation, Old National Bank, as Lockbox Bank (the
“Bank”), U.S. Bank National Association, not individually or personally but solely in its capacity
as trustee (the “Trustee”) under the Indenture (defined below) and the United States of America,
acting by and through the Administrator of the Rural Utilities Service (together with any agency
succeeding to the powers and rights of the Rural Utilities Service, the "RUS”).

WHEREAS, the Company, as grantor, and the Trustee have entered into an
Indenture, dated as of July 1, 2009 (such indenture, as from time to time amended, supplemented
or restated, the “Indenture”), whereby, among other things, the Company has granted a security
interest in certain contracts of the Company for the purchase or sale of, and transmission of,
electric power and energy by or on behalf of the Company;

WHEREAS, the Company has entered into wholesale power contracts (the
“Wholesale Power Contracts”) as listed on Exhibit D to the Loan Contract (as hereinafter

defined);

WHEREAS, under the Indenture, the Company has also granted a security
interest in the proceeds of the “Trust Estate” (as defined in the Indenture), including all proceeds

of the Wholesale Power Contract;

WHEREAS, the Company and the RUS, have entered into an Amended and
Consolidated Loan Contract, dated as of July 1, 2009 (such loan contract, as from time to time
amended, supplemented or restated, the “Loan Contract”) in which the Company has agreed,
upon the occurrence of certain conditions and at the request of the RUS, to deposit cash proceeds
of the Trust Estate as provided in the Indenture, the Loan Contract and this Agreement.

NOW, THEREFORE, the parties hereto agree as follows:

Section 1. Definitions. Terms used in this Agreement with initial letters
capitalized that are defined in the Indenture and are not otherwise defined herein have the
meanings assigned to them in the Indenture. In addition, the following terms have the meanings
assigned to them below:

(a) “Applicable Period” shall mean any period commencing on the date the
Company receives notice from the RUS in writing pursuant to Section 4.12 of the Loan Contract,
and ending on the date the Company receives notice from the RUS in writing that such period no
longer exists; and
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(b) “Pledged Revenues” shall mean all cash proceeds (as defined in the
Uniform Commercial Code) of the Trust Estate received or receivable by the Company in which
the Indenture creates a security interest pursuant to the Uniform Commercial Code that are not
deposited or required to be deposited with the Trustee pursuant to the Indenture; provided,
however, to ease administrative burdens of the Company, Pledged Revenues shall not include
cash proceeds (other than cash proceeds from the Wholesale Power Contracts) in an amount
equal to or less than $10,000 from any Person during any one month period.

Section 2. Lockbox Account. There is hereby created and established with the
Bank a special account to be titled the “Big Rivers Electric Corporation Special Cash Account”
(the “Lockbox Account”), account number [ ]. The money deposited into the Lockbox Account,
together with all investments thereof and investment income therefrom, shall be applied solely as

provided in this Agreement.

Section 3. Account Subject to Pledge of the Indenture. Amounts deposited into
the Lockbox Account shall constitute a portion of the Trust Estate pledged pursuant to the
Indenture for the equal and ratable security of all the Outstanding Secured Obligations in
accordance with and as provided by the terms of the Outstanding Secured Obligations and the
Indenture. The Bank shall hold all such amounts deposited in the Lockbox Account pursuant to
this Agreement as agent of the Trustee to perfect the lien of the Indenture therein. Except as
otherwise permitted under Section 12, the Lockbox Account shall not be closed without the
written consent of the RUS.

Section 4. Partial Waiver of Right of Set Off. Except to the extent of any
amounts due to the Bank on account of items credited to the Lockbox Account prior to collection
that are not subsequently collected, the Bank hereby waives, and agrees that it shall not exercise,
any right of set off or any banker’s lien with respect to the Lockbox Account; provided, however,
that nothing in this Agreement shall be deemed to constitute a waiver by the Bank of its right of
set off or any banker’s lien with respect to any other account of the Company.

Section 5. Payments to Be Made to Account. During any Applicable Period, the
Company shall direct each of its members and each other Person obligated to make any payment
to the Company of Pledged Revenues to make such payments to the Bank at the address or in
such other manner as specified in Section 6 for deposit into the Lockbox Account. The Company
agrees not to make, cause or permit to be made any deposits of moneys other than Pledged
Revenues into the Lockbox Account. The Company shall use its best efforts to cause its
members and each other Person obligated to make any payment of Pledged Revenues to make
such payments in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement.

Section 6. Manner of Payment

(a) During any Applicable Period, payments of Pledged Revenues made by
mail shall be mailed to:

[ ]

Reference: Big Rivers Electric Corporation Special Cash Account
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or to such other address as may be specified by the Bank to the Company at least thirty (30) days
before the effective date of such change. During any Applicable Period, electronic payments of
Pledged Revenues shall be made in the following manner:

[ ]

All such payments of Pledged Revenues shall be accompanied by such references or other
instructions to the Bank to deposit such payments in the Lockbox Account. The Bank shall have
no responsibility or liability for failing to deposit any moneys in the Lockbox Account which are
not accompanied by such references or other instructions to deposit such moneys in such

account,

(b) All such payments received by the Bank shall be deposited into the
Lockbox Account and held subject to the provisions hereof. The Bank is hereby authorized,
empowered and directed by the Company to deposit all funds received as described in Section
6(a) into the Lockbox Account and to make all necessary endorsements and to take all other
necessary actions to carry out the purposes of this Agreement. The Company hereby waives
notice of presentment, protest and non-payment of any instrument so endorsed.

(©) During any Applicable Period, the Company shall promptly, and no event
later than the Business Day following the receipt thereof, remit to the Bank in accordance with
Section 6(a) for deposit into the Lockbox Account any Pledged Revenue that is received by the

Company.

Section 7. Accounting. No less frequently than once each month, the Bank shall
deliver by mail a statement to the Company, with copies to the Trustee, the RUS and such other
Persons as may be designated by the Company, which shall identify the date, maker and amount
of each deposit to the Lockbox Account, and the date, payee and amount of each withdrawal or

other debit to the Lockbox Account.

Section 8. Disbursements.

(a) Upon written demand of the Trustee, accompanied by a statement that
there has occurred and is continuing under the Indenture an Event of Default, and continuing
until such demand is rescinded, the Bank shall pay to the Trustee all amounts then or thereafter
on deposit in the Lockbox Account, to be applied by the Trustee as provided under the Indenture.
Such amounts so paid shall be held and administered by the Trustee in accordance with general
terms and conditions set forth in the Indenture.

(b) So long as the Bank shall not have received a written demand from the
Trustee under paragraph (a) above, on the fifth (5th) Business Day preceding the end of each
month during the Applicable Period, the Bank shall withdraw and pay (or deposit in another,
unrestricted account, at the direction of the appropriate party listed below) from the amounts on
deposit in the Lockbox Account the following amounts in the order indicated to the extent funds
are available in the Lockbox Account:

(1) to the Bank, the amount of fees and expenses that are then payable
to the Bank under Section 9;
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) to the Trustee, the amount certified by the Trustee as the amount of
any fees or expenses that are then payable to the Trustee under the Indenture;

3) to the Company, the amount specified in a written request as the
amount of ordinary and necessary payments due from the Company for the
following month, including, without limitations, payments for operations and
regularly scheduled debt service;

4) to the Trustee, the amount certified by the Company as the amount
necessary to provide for the payment of the principal and interest then due or
(based on receipt by the Trustee on a monthly basis of a proportional amount of
principal and accrued interest) becoming due on the Outstanding Secured
Obligations during the following month, for deposit as Trust Moneys under the

Indenture;

&) to the Company, the amount specified in a written request as the
amount of expenditures approved for the following month in accordance with a
capital expenditure budget approved by the RUS;

(6) to the Company, the amount specified in a written request as the
amount of expenditures for the following month approved in writing by the RUS
for other purposes; and

@) to the payment of any amounts due under Obligations to maintain
the value of reserve funds established and maintained in connection with debt
securities (A) secured by a pledge of certain Obligations, (B) issued on behalf of
the Company and (C) with respect to which an opinion was delivered on the date
of the issuance of such securities to the effect that the interest on such securities is
excluded from the gross income of the holder of such securities pursuant to the
Internal Revenue Code, as amended.

(c) Any amounts remaining on deposit in the Lockbox Account on the day
following the end of the month in which (i) an Applicable Period no longer exists (as evidenced
by an Officers’ Certificate and a notice from the RUS to such effect) or (ii) this Agreement
terminates pursuant to Section 13, shall be paid to the Company in accordance with, and upon
receipt of, a written request, to be used for any lawful purpose.

(d) Pending disbursements of the amounts on deposit in the Lockbox
Account, the Bank shall promptly invest and reinvest such amounts in the Defeasance Securities
specified in any Company Order or in a mutual fund consisting of Defeasance Securities, or in
such other investments as may be approved in writing by the RUS.

(e) Any amounts deposited in the Lockbox Account that do not constitute
Pledged Revenues, as identified to the Bank in writing by either of the RUS or the Trustee, shall
be promptly paid to the Company (provided that during any period described in paragraph (a)
above, in which case such amounts so identified shall be paid to the Trustee). The Company
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agrees to promptly notify both of the Trustee and the RUS of any deposits into the Lockbox
Account of any amounts not constituting Pledged Revenues.

® The RUS agrees that, so long as an Applicable Period exists, it shall
promptly respond to any request made by the Company for expenditures pursuant to this Section.
If the RUS has not responded within five (5) days (during which the offices of the RUS are open)
of the receipt by the RUS of a written request for expenditures, such request will be deemed to
have been approved by the RUS. In disbursing any such amounts that are subject to RUS
approval, the Bank shall be able to conclusively rely on the Company’s statement in writing that
the RUS has approved such expenditure in writing or has been deemed to have approved such

expenditure.

Section 9. Fees and Expenses of Bank. The Company agrees

(a) to pay to the Bank from time to time such compensation as may be
specifically agreed upon with the Bank and, absent specific agreement, reasonable compensation
for 0 services rendered by it hereunder (which compensation shall not be limited by any
provision of law in regard to the compensation of a trustee of an express trust);

(b) except as otherwise expressly provided herein, to reimburse the Bank
upon its request for all reasonable expenses, disbursements and advances incurred or made by
the Bank in accordance with any provision of this Agreement (including the reasonable
compensation and the expenses and disbursements of its agents and counsel), except any such
expense, disbursement or advance as may be attributable to the Bank’s negligence or bad faith;

and

(c)  to indemnify the Bank for, and to hold it harmless against, any loss,
liability or expense incurred without negligence or bad faith on its part, arising out of or in
connection with the acceptance or administration of this Agreement, including the costs and
expenses of defending itself against any claim or liability in connection with the exercise or
performance of any of its powers or duties hereunder.

All such payments and reimbursements shall be made with interest at the then prevailing prime
rate of the Bank.

Section 10. Certain Rights of Bank.

(a) The Bank undertakes to perform such duties and only such duties as are
specifically set forth in this Agreement and no implied covenants or obligations shall be read into
this Agreement against the Bank. The Bank makes no representation or warranty as to the
priority of any claim or the status, in the event of any insolvency, bankruptcy or other similar
proceeding affecting the Company, of amounts held in the Lockbox Account or paid therefrom.

(b) In the absence of bad faith on its part, the Bank may conclusively rely, as
to the truth of the statements and the correctness of the opinions expressed therein, upon any
certificates or opinions furnished to the Bank and appearing to conform to the requirements of
this Agreement. The Bank shall have no liability for actions taken pursuant to this Agreement
other than as a result of its gross negligence or willful misconduct.
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(©) The Bank may rely and shall be protected in acting or refraining from
acting upon any resolution, certificate, statement, instrument, opinion, report, notice, request,
direction, consent, order approval or other paper or document believed by it to be genuine and to
have been signed or presented by the proper party or parties and shall not be required to verify
the accuracy of any information or calculations required to be included therein or attached
thereto. Any request or direction of the Company mentioned herein shall be sufficiently
evidenced by a written request and any resolution of the Board of Trustees may be sufficiently

evidenced by a Board Resolution.

(d Whenever in the administration of this Agreement, the Bank shall deem it
desirable that a matter be proved or established prior to taking, suffering or omitting any action
hereunder, the Bank (unless other evidence is herein specifically prescribed) may, in the absence
of bad faith on its part, rely upon an Officers’ Certificate.

(e) The Bank may consult with counsel and the written advice of such counsel
or any Opinion of Counsel shall be full and complete authorization and protection in respect of
any action taken, suffered or omitted by it hereunder in good faith and in reliance thereon.

® The Bank may execute any of the powers hereunder or perform any duties
hereunder either directly or by or through agents or attorneys and shall not be liable for the
negligence or misconduct of such Persons appointed by the Bank with due care hereunder.

(2) The Bank shall not be liable for any errors of judgment made in good faith
by it, unless it shall be proved that the Bank was grossly negligent or reckless in ascertaining the
pertinent facts.

(h) The Bank shall not be required to give any bond or surety in respect of the
execution of the obligations and trusts set forth in this Agreement or otherwise in respect hereof
or of the Lockbox Account.

Section 11. Trustee’s Rights, Obligations, FEtc. The rights, duties,
responsibilities and fees of the Trustee hereunder shall be governed by the provisions of Article
IX of the Indenture relating to the Trustee and the indemnities provided for in the Indenture shall
include all action by the Trustee taken hereunder.

Section 12. Removal, Resignation, Etc. The Bank may resign at any time upon
thirty (30) days written notice to the Company, the Trustee and the RUS. The Company may
remove the Bank, with the written consent of the RUS, upon thirty (30) days written notice to the
Bank, the Trustee and the RUS. The RUS may remove the Bank upon thirty (30) days written
notice to the Bank, the Company and the Trustee. Upon any such resignation or removal, the
Company shall select another financial institution, with the approval of the RUS, with which to
enter into a lockbox agreement substantially upon the terms contained in this Agreement and
otherwise upon such terms as shall be permitted or required by the RUS. In the event the
Company does not select a financial institution approved by the RUS, the RUS shall select such
financial institution.
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Section 13. Amendments with Consent of the RUS. Even though this
Agreement establishes rights for the benefit of Holders of the Outstanding Secured Obligations,
the terms, conditions and requirements of this Agreement are in addition to those found in the
Indenture and have been required solely by the RUS. Accordingly, this Agreement can be
terminated, amended, modified or supplemented in any way by the Company with the consent of
only the RUS and without the consent of the Bank, the Trustee or the Holders of the Outstanding
Secured Obligations; provided however that no amendment, modification or supplement to the
obligations or rights of the Bank or the Trustee, or otherwise adversely affecting the Bank or the
Trustee, shall be effective as to the Bank or the Trustee without the prior written consent of the
Bank or the Trustee, or both, as the case may be. This Agreement shall automatically terminate
on the date on which the RUS is no longer a Holder of any Outstanding Secured Obligation.

Section 14. Exculpation of the RUS. The RUS shall have no obligation or
liability to any party to this Agreement.

Section 15. Benefits of Agreement. Nothing in this Agreement, express or
implied, shall give to any Person, other than the parties hereto, and their successors hereunder
and any separate trustee or co-trustee appointed under Section 9.14 of the Indenture, any benefit
or any legal or equitable right, remedy or claim under this Agreement.

Section 16. Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed
in accordance with the laws of the Commonwealth of Kentucky.

Section 17. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in any number of
counterparts, each of which so executed to be an original, but all such counterparts shall together
constitute but one and the same instrument.

Section 18. Specific Performance. Each of the Trustee and the RUS is hereby, to
the maximum extent permitted by applicable law, to demand specific performance of this
Agreement at any time when the Company shall have failed to comply with any provision of this
Agreement applicable to it. The Company hereby irrevocably waives, to the maximum extent
permitted by applicable law, any defense based on the adequacy of a remedy at law that might be
asserted as a bar to such remedy of specific performance.

Section 19. Waiver. No failure on the part of the Trustee, the Bank or the RUS to
exercise, and no delay in exercising, any right hereunder, under the Indenture or under the Loan
Contract, shall operate as a waiver thereof; nor shall any single or partial exercise of any right
hereunder or thereunder preclude any other or further exercise thereof.. The remedies herein
provided are cumulative and not exclusive of any remedies provided by law.

Section 20. Further Assurances. The Company agrees, at the cost and expense
of the Company, to execute and deliver and file and record such further documents or
instruments as the Trustee, the RUS or the Bank may reasonably request in order to carry out or
confirm the respective rights of the Trustee, the RUS and the Bank under this Agreement.

Section 21. Entire Agreement. This written Agreement represents the final
agreement between the parties and may not be contradicted by evidence of prior,
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contemporaneous, or subsequent oral agreements of the parties. There are no unwritten oral
agreements between parties.

[Signatures on next page.]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be duly
executed as of the day and year first above written.

OLD NATIONAL BANK
as Lockbox Bank

By:
Name:
Title:

BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION

By:
Name:
Title:

U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION
as Trustee under the Indenture identified herein

By:
Name:
Title:

THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

By:
Name:
Title:
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EXHIBIT B

To the Amended and Consolidated Loan Contract dated as of July 1, 2009
between Big Rivers Electric Corporation and United States of America

Equal Opportunity Contract Provisions
During the performance of this contract, the Borrower agrees as follows:

(a)  The Borrower shall not discriminate against any employee or applicant for
employment because of race, color, religion, sex or national origin. The Borrower shall take
affirmative action to ensure that applicants are employed, and that employees are treated during
employment without regard to their race, color, religion, sex, or national origin. Such action
shall include, but not be limited to the following: employment, upgrading, demotion or transfer,
recruitment or recruitment advertising; layoff or termination; rates of pay or other forms of
compensation; and selection for training, including apprenticeship. The Borrower agrees to post
in conspicuous places, available to employees and applicants for employment, notices to be
provided setting forth the provisions of this nondiscrimination clause.

(b)  The Borrower shall, in all solicitations or advertisements for employees
placed by or on behalf of the Borrower, state that all qualified applicants shall receive
consideration for employment without regard to race, color, religion, sex, or national origin.

(c)  The Borrower shall send to each labor union or representative of workers
with which it has a collective bargaining agreement or other contract or understanding, a notice
to be provided advising the said labor union or workers’ representative of the Borrower’s
commitments under this section, and shall post copies of the notice in conspicuous places
available to employees and applicants for employment.

(d)  The Borrower shall comply with all provisions of Executive Order 11246
of September 24, 1965, and of the rules, regulations and relevant orders of the Secretary of

Labor.

(¢)  The Borrower shall furnish all information and reports required by
Executive Order 11246 of September 24, 1965, and by the rules, regulations and orders of the
Secretary of Labor, or pursuant thereto, and shall permit access to its books, records and
accounts by the administering agency and the Secretary of Labor for purposes of investigation to
ascertain compliance with such rules, regulations and orders.

(H In the event of the Borrower's noncompliance with the non-discrimination
clauses of this contract or with any of the said rules, regulations or orders, this contract may be
canceled, terminated or suspended in whole or in part and the contractor may be declared
ineligible for further Government contracts or federally assisted construction contracts in
accordance with procedures authorized in Executive Order 11246 of September 24, 1965, and
such other sanctions may be imposed and remedies invoked as provided in said Executive Order
or by rule, regulation or order of the Secretary of Labor, or as otherwise provided by law.
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(g)  The Borrower shall include the provisions of paragraphs (a) through (g) in
every subcontract or purchase order unless exempted by rules, regulations or orders of the
Secretary of Labor issued pursuant to Section 204 of Executive Order 12246, dated September
24, 1965, so that such provisions shall be binding upon each subcontractor or vendor. The
Borrower shall take such action with respect to any subcontract or purchase order as the
administering agency may direct as a means of enforcing such provisions, including sanctions for
noncompliance: Provided, however, that in the event a contractor becomes involved in, or is
threatened with, litigation with a subcontractor or vendor as a result of such direction by the
agency, the contractor may request the United States to enter into such litigation to protect the
interests of the United States.
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EXHIBIT C

To the Amended and Consolidated Loan Contract dated as of July 1, 2009
between Big Rivers Electric Corporation and United States of America

Description of Rating Agency Services

(a) Comprehensive credit evaluation and assignment of an initial long term
credit rating;

(b) Ongoing surveillance of Big Rivers Electric Corporation’s (“BR’s”)
rating, including an annual meeting with senior ratings agency analysts, and a full credit report

published annually;

(©) Annual presentation by senior ratings agency analysts on BR’s credit
rating to BR’s Board of Directors, if so requested;

(d) Annual presentation by senior ratings agency analysts on BR’s credit
rating to the RUS, if so requested by the RUS; and

(e) Furnish to the RUS copies of any written reports given to BR.
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EXHIBIT D

Wholesale Power Contracts

1. Wholesale Power Contract made as of October 14, 1977, between the Borrower and Jackson
Purchase Rural Electric Cooperative Corporation, as amended.

2. Wholesale Power Contract made as of June 11, 1962 between the Borrower and Meade
County Rural Electric Cooperative Corporation, as amended.

3. Wholesale Power Contract made as of June 11, 1962 between the Borrower and Kenergy
Corp. (successor by consolidation to Henderson Union Rural Electric Cooperative Corporation), as

amended.

4, Wholesale Power Contract made as of June 11, 1962 between the Borrower and Kenergy
Corp. (successor by consolidation to Green River Electric Corporation), as amended.

5 Agreement dated October 12, 1974 by and between the Borrower and Kenergy Corp.
(successor by consolidation to Henderson-Union Electric Corporation), as amended.

6. Agreement dated October 12, 1974 by and between the Borrower and Kenergy Corp.
(successor by consolidation to Green River Electric Corporation) as amended and restated by an
Agreement dated February 16, 1988, as amended.

7. Agreement dated as of July 15, 1998 between the Borrower and Kenergy Corp. (successor
by consolidation to Green River Electric Corporation and Henderson-Union Electric Cooperative
Corp.). as amended.

8. Wholesale Electric Service Agreement (Alcan) dated July 16, 2009 by and between the
Company and Kenergy Corp.

9. Wholesale Electric Service Agreement (Century) dated as of July 16, 2009 by and between
the Company and Kenergy Corp.
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Execution Copy

LOAN AGREEMENT

LOAN AGREEMENT (this "Agreement") dated as of July 27, 2012 between BIG
RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION (the "Borrower"), a cooperative corporation organized and
existing under the laws of the Commonwealth of Kentucky, and NATIONAL RURAL UTILITIES
COOPERATIVE FINANCE CORPORATION ("CFC"), a cooperative association organized and
existing under the laws of the District of Columbia.

RECITALS

WHEREAS, the Borrower has applied to CFC for loans for the purposes set forth in
Schedule 1 hereto, and CFC is willing to make such loans to the Borrower on the terms and
conditions stated herein; and

WHEREAS, the Borrower has agreed to execute two (2) promissory notes to evidence
an indebtedness in the aggregate principal amount of the CFC Commitment (as hereinafter
defined).

NOW, THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the premises and the mutual covenants
hereinafter contained, the parties hereto agree and bind themselves as follows:

ARTICLE |
DEFINITIONS

Section 1.01 Definitions. Capitalized terms used herein shall have the meanings as
set forth (i) below, or (ii) elsewhere herein as indicated by such terms shown in quotation marks
within parentheses. All such definitions shall be equally applicable to the singular and the plural
form thereof. Capitalized terms that are not defined herein shall have the meanings as set forth
in the Indenture (as hereinafter defined).

"Advance" shall mean the advance of funds by CFC to the Borrower pursuant to the
terms and conditions of this Agreement.

"Affiliate" shall have the meaning set forth in the Indenture.

"Amortization Basis Date" shall mean the first calendar day of the month following the
end of the Billing Cycle in which the Advance occurs, provided, however, that if the Advance is
made on the first day of a Billing Cycle, and such day is a Business Day, then the Amortization
Basis Date shall be the date of the Advance.

"Billing Cycle"” shall mean any three-month period ending on, and including, a Payment
Date.

"Business Day" shall mean any day that both CFC and the depository institution CFC
utilizes for funds transfers hereunder are open for business.

"Capital Certificate" shall mean a certificate, or book entry form of account, evidencing
the Borrower's purchase of subordinated debt instruments issued by CFC from time to time.
Such instruments may be denoted by CFC as "Loan Capital Term Certificates," "Member
Capital Securities," "Subordinated Term Certificates," or other like designations.
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"CFC Commitment" shall have the meaning as defined in Schedule 1.

"CFC Fixed Rate" shall mean (i) such fixed rate as is then available for loans similarly
classified pursuant to CFC's policies and procedures then in effect, or (ii) such other fixed rate
as may be agreed to in writing by the parties.

"CFC Fixed Rate Term" shall mean the specific period of time that a CFC Fixed Rate is
in effect for an Advance.

"CFC Obligations" shall mean any and all liabilities, obligations or indebtedness owing
by the Borrower to CFC under the Loan Documents, of any kind or description, irrespective of
whether for the payment of money, whether direct or indirect, absolute or contingent, due or to
become due, now existing or hereafter arising.

"CFC Variable Rate" shall mean (i) the rate established by CFC for variable interest
rate long-term loans similarly classified pursuant to the long-term loan programs established by
CFC from time to time, or (ii) such other variable rate as may be agreed to by the parties.

"Closing Date" shall mean the date specified on Schedule 1.

"Conversion Request" shall mean a written request from any duly authorized officer or
other employee of the Borrower requesting an interest rate conversion available pursuant to the
terms of this Agreement.

"Default Rate™ shall mean a rate per annum equal to the interest rate in effect for an
Advance plus two hundred (200) basis points.

"Direct Serve Contracts" shall mean wholesale electric service contracts (together with
material amendments or supplements thereto and all successor or replacement contracts and
agreements thereto and thereof) with a member of Borrower to provide wholesale electric
service directly from Borrower's transmission system to any customer for which the member has
an electric service contract with such customer.

"Disclosure Statement” shall mean that certain Big Rivers Electric Corporation
Disclosure Statement dated as of July 12, 2012.

"Environmental Laws" shall mean all applicable laws, rules and regulations
promulgated by any Governmental Authority with which the Borrower is required to comply,
regarding the use, treatment, discharge, storage, management, handling, manufacture,
generation, processing, recycling, distribution, transport, release of or exposure to any
Hazardous Material.

"Environmental Permits" shall mean permits or licenses issued by any Governmental
Authority under applicable Environmental Laws.

"Equity Note" shall mean the promissory note, payable to the order of CFC, executed
by the Borrower, dated as of even date herewith, pursuant to this Agreement as identified on
Schedule 1 hereto, and shall include all substitute, amended or replacement promissory notes.
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"Governmental Authority” shall mean the government of the United States of America,
any state or other political subdivision thereof, whether state or local, and any agency, authority,
instrumentality, regulatory body, court or other entity exercising executive, legislative, judicial,
taxing, regulatory or administrative powers or functions of or pertaining to government.

"Hazardous Material" shall mean any (a) petroleum or petroleum products, radioactive
materials, asbestos-containing materials, polychlorinated biphenyls, lead and radon gas, and (b)
any other substance that is defined and regulated as hazardous or toxic or as a pollutant or
contaminant in any applicable Environmental Law.

"Indenture” shall have the meaning as described in Schedule 1.
"Interest Charges" shall have the meaning set forth in the Indenture.

"Interest Rate Adder" shall mean an amount of additional interest, expressed in basis
points, added to the then prevailing rate of interest on an outstanding Advance.

"Interest Rate Reset Date" shall mean, with respect to any Advance, the first day
following the expiration of the CFC Fixed Rate Term for such Advance.

"Lien" shall mean any statutory or common law consensual or non-consensual
mortgage, pledge, security interest, encumbrance, lien, right of set off, claim or charge of any
kind, including, without limitation, any conditional sale or other title retention transaction, any
lease transaction in the nature thereof and any secured transaction under the Uniform
Commercial Code.

"Loan Documents"” shall mean this Agreement, the Note, the Indenture and the
Supplemental Indenture.

"Long-Term Debt" shall mean the aggregate principal amount of Outstanding Secured
Obligations and Prior Lien Obligations of the Borrower computed pursuant to Accounting
Requirements.

"Make-Whole Premium" shall mean, with respect to any Prepaid Principal Amount, an
amount calculated as set forth below. The Make-Whole Premium represents CFC's
reinvestment loss resulting from making a fixed rate loan.

(1) Compute the amount of interest ("Loan Interest") that would have been due on the
Prepaid Principal Amount at the applicable CFC Fixed Rate for the period from the
prepayment date through the end of the CFC Fixed Rate Term (such period is
hereinafter referred to as the "Remaining Term"), calculated on the basis of a 30-day
month/360-day year, adjusted to include any amortization of principal in accordance with
the amortization schedule that would have been in effect for the Prepaid Principal
Amount.

(2) Compute the amount of interest ("Investment Interest") that would be earned on the
Prepaid Principal Amount (adjusted to include any applicable amortization) if invested in
a United States Treasury Note with a term equivalent to the Remaining Term, calculated
on the basis of a 30-day month/360-day year. The yield used to determine the amount
of Investment Interest shall be based upon United States Treasury Note yields as
reported no more than two Business Days prior to the prepayment date in Federal
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Reserve statistical release H.15 (519), under the caption "U.S. Government
Securities/Treasury Constant Maturities". If there is no such United States Treasury
Note under said caption with a term equivalent to the Remaining Term, then the yield
shall be determined by interpolating between the terms of whole years nearest to the
Remaining Term.

(3) Subtract the amount of Investment Interest from the amount of Loan Interest. If the
difference is zero or less, then the Make-Whole Premium is zero. If the difference is
greater than zero, then the Make-Whole Premium is a sum equal to the present value of
the difference, applying as the present value discount a rate equal to the yield utilized to
determine Investment Interest.

"Margins for Iinterest"” shall have the meaning set forth in the Indenture.

"Margins for Interest Ratio"” means, for any period, (i) the sum of (a) Margins for
Interest plus (b) Interest Charges, divided by (ii) Interest Charges.

"Material Adverse Effect” means an effect on the operations, business, assets,
liabilities (actual or contingent) or condition (financial or otherwise) of the Borrower or its
Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, the result of which would, or would reasonably be expected to,
materially adversely affect (a) the ability of the Borrower to repay Advances or perform any of its
other obligations under this Agreement, or (b) the validity or enforceability of this Agreement or
the rights or benefits available to CFC under this Agreement or any of the other Loan
Documents.

"Material Direct Serve Contracts™ shall mean any Direct Serve Contract to (i) any
smelter to which a member of the Borrower supplies power, and (ii) any customer with a
contract load of 25 megawatts or greater.

"Maturity Date", with respect to the Note, shall mean the dates identified in the table in
Item No. 5 of Schedule 1.

"Member Wholesale Power Contracts” shall mean the Borrower's power supply
contracts with its members (together with material amendments and supplements thereto) and
all successor or replacement contracts and agreements thereto or thereof, excluding the Direct
Serve Contracts.

"Note" shall mean the Equity Note and/or the Refinance Note, as the context shall
require.

"Payment Date" shall have the meaning set forth on Schedule 1.

"Payment Notice" shall mean a notice furnished by CFC to the Borrower that indicates
the amount of each payment of interest or interest and principal and the total amount of each
payment due under this Agreement and the Note.

"Prepaid Principal Amount” shall mean all or any part of the outstanding principal of
an Advance with a CFC Fixed Rate paid prior to the expiration of the CFC Fixed Rate Term
applicable thereto.
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"Prepayment Fee" shall mean an amount equal to 0.33% of the Prepaid Principal
Amount of any Advance.

"Refinance Note" shall mean the secured promissory note, payable to the order of
CFC, executed by the Borrower, dated as of even date herewith, pursuant to this Agreement as
identified on Schedule 1 hereto, and shall include all substitute, amended or replacement
promissory notes.

"RUS" shall mean the Rural Utilities Service, an agency of the United States Department
of Agriculture, or if at any time after the execution of this Agreement RUS is not existing and
performing the duties of administering a program of rural electrification as currently assigned to it,
then the Person performing such duties at such time.

"RUS Series A Note" shall mean that certain RUS 2009 Promissory Note Series A,
dated July 16, 2009 made by the Borrower to the United States of America, in the original
principal amount of $602,573,536, maturing on July 1, 2021, and being identified as an RUS
Obligation under the Indenture.

"Subsidiary" shall have the meaning set forth in the Indenture.

"Supplemental Indenture" shall mean that certain Third Supplemental Indenture
between Borrower, as grantor, and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee, dated as of July
15, 2012.

"Treasury Note" shall mean a U.S. Dollar-denominated senior debt security of the
United States of America issued by the U.S. Treasury Department and backed by the full faith
and credit of the United States of America.

"Trust Estate" shall have the meaning set forth in the Indenture.

ARTICLE Il
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

Section 2.01 Closing Date Representations and Warranties. The Borrower
represents and warrants to CFC that as of the Closing Date:

A. Litigation. Except as disclosed on Schedule 2.01A, there are no outstanding
judgments, suits, claims, actions or proceedings pending or, to the knowledge of the Borrower,
threatened against the Borrower or any of its properties which, if adversely determined, either
individually or collectively, would reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.
The Borrower is not, to its knowledge, in default or violation with respect to any judgment, order,
writ, injunction, decree, rule or regulation of any Governmental Authority which would
reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

B. Financial Statements. The balance sheet of the Borrower as at the date
identified in Schedule 1, the statement of operations of the Borrower for the period ending on
said date, and the interim financial statements of the Borrower as at the date identified in
Schedule 1, all heretofore furnished to CFC, fairly present, in all material respects, the financial
condition of the Borrower as at said dates and fairly reflect its operations for the periods ending
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on said dates. There has been no change in the financial condition or operations of the
Borrower from that set forth in said financial statements that would reasonably be expected to
have a Material Adverse Effect.

C. Disclosure. To the Borrower's knowledge, information and belief, neither this
Agreement nor any document, certificate or financial statement listed on Schedule 2.01C (all
such documents, certificates and financial statements to be taken as a whole) as of the date of
delivery thereof, and in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, contains
any untrue statement of a material fact or omits to state any material fact necessary in order to
make the statements contained herein and therein not materially misleading, provided that, with
respect to projected financial information, the Borrower represents only that such information
was prepared in good faith based upon assumptions believed to be reasonable at the time.

D. Environmental Matters. Except as disclosed on Schedule 2.01D, and except
as to matters which individually or in the aggregate would not reasonably be expected to have a
Material Adverse Effect, (i) the Borrower is in substantial compliance with all applicable
Environmental Laws (including, but not limited to, having any required Environmental Permits),
(ii) to Borrower's knowledge, there have been no releases (other than releases remediated in
substantial compliance with applicable Environmental Laws and air emissions) from any
underground or aboveground storage tanks (or piping associated therewith) that are present on
the Trust Estate, (iii) the Borrower has not received written notice or claim of any violation of any
Environmental Law from a Governmental Authority and failed to take appropriate action to
remedy, cure, defend, or otherwise affirmatively respond to the matter in order to comply with
any Environmental Law that is the subject of such written notice or claim, (iv) to the best of the
Borrower's knowledge, there is no pending investigation of the Borrower in regard to any
Environmental Law, and (v) to the best of the Borrower's knowledge, there has not been any
unauthorized release (other than releases remediated in compliance with Environmental Laws)
that has resulted in the presence of Hazardous Materials on property owned, leased or operated
by the Borrower for which the Borrower could reasonably be held responsible for mitigation
under any Environmental Law.

E Good Standing. The Borrower is duly organized, validly existing and in good
standing under the laws of the jurisdiction of its incorporation or organization, and, except where
the failure to do so, individually or in the aggregate, would not reasonably be expected to result
in a Material Adverse Effect, is duly qualified to do business and is in good standing in those
states in which it is required to be qualified to conduct its business. The Borrower is a member
in good standing of CFC.

F. Subsidiaries and Ownership. Schedule 1 hereto sets forth a complete and
accurate list of the Subsidiaries of the Borrower showing the percentage of the Borrower’s
ownership of the outstanding stock, membership interests or partnership interests, as
applicable, of each Subsidiary.

G. Authority; Validity. The Borrower has the power and authority to enter into this
Agreement, the Note and the Supplemental Indenture; to make the borrowing hereunder; to
execute and deliver all documents and instruments required hereunder and to incur and perform
the obligations provided for herein, in the Note and in the Indenture, all of which have been duly
authorized by all necessary and proper action; and no consent or approval of any Person,
including, as applicable and without limitation, members of the Borrower, which has not been
obtained is required as a condition to the validity or enforceability hereof or thereof.
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Each of this Agreement, the Note and the Supplemental Indenture is, and when fully executed
and delivered will be, legal, valid and binding upon the Borrower and enforceable against the
Borrower in accordance with its terms, subject to applicable bankruptcy, insolvency,
reorganization, moratorium or other laws affecting creditors’ rights generally and subject to
general principles of equity.

H. No Conflicting Agreements. The execution and delivery of the Loan
Documents and performance by the Borrower of the obligations hereunder and thereunder, and
the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby, will not in any material respect: (i) violate any
provision of law, any order, rule or regulation of any Governmental Authority, any award of any
arbitrator, the articles of incorporation or by-laws of the Borrower, the Indenture or any material
contract, agreement, mortgage, deed of trust or other instrument to which the Borrower is a
party or by which it or any of its property is bound; or (ii) be in conflict with, result in a breach of
or constitute (with due notice and/or lapse of time) a default under, any such award, the
Indenture or any such contract, agreement, mortgage, deed of trust or other instrument, or
result in the creation or imposition of any Lien (other than contemplated by the Indenture) upon
any material assets of the Borrower; in each case where such violation or conflict of which
would reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

I Taxes. The Borrower has filed or caused to be filed all federal, state and local
tax returns which are required to be filed and has paid or caused to be paid all federal, state and
local taxes, assessments, and governmental charges and levies thereon, including interest and
penalties to the extent that such taxes, assessments, and governmental charges and levies
have become due, except (i) for such taxes, assessments, and governmental charges and
levies which the Borrower is contesting in good faith by appropriate proceedings for which
adequate reserves have been set aside, if such reserves are required by Accounting
Requirements, or (ii) to the extent the failure to do so would not reasonably be expected to have
a Material Adverse Effect.

J. Licenses and Permits. The Borrower has duly obtained and now holds all
licenses, permits, certifications, approvals and the like necessary to own and operate its
property and business that are required by Governmental Authorities and each remains valid
and in full force and effect, except for failures to obtain or hold such items as would not
reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

K. Required Approvals. The Borrower has obtained all licenses, consents or
approvals of all Governmental Authorities that the Borrower is required to obtain in order for the
Borrower to enter into and perform under this Agreement, the Note and the Supplemental
Indenture. Each such certificate, authorization, consent, permit, license and approval is in full
force and effect.

L. Compliance with Laws. To the best of the Borrower's knowledge, the Borrower
is in compliance with all applicable requirements of law and all applicable rules and regulations
of each Governmental Authority, except for any such failures of compliance as would not
reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

M. No Other Liens. As to the Trust Estate, the Borrower has not, without the prior
written approval of CFC, executed or authenticated any security agreement or mortgage, or filed
or authorized any financing statement to be filed, other than as provided for under the Indenture
or as permitted by the Indenture, including Permitted Exceptions as permitted by the Indenture.
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N. Borrower’'s Legal Status. Schedule 1 hereto accurately sets forth: (i) the
Borrower's exact legal name, (ii) the Borrower's organizational type and jurisdiction of
organization, (iii) the Borrower's organizational identification number or accurate statement that
the Borrower has none, and (iv) the Borrower's place of business or, if more than one, its chief
executive office as well as the Borrower's mailing address if different.

0. Use of Proceeds. The Borrower will use the proceeds of the Notes solely for
the purposes identified in Schedule 1 hereto.

P. Member Wholesale Power Contracts and Material Direct Serve Contracts.
The Borrower has heretofore delivered to CFC complete and correct copies of the Member
Wholesale Power Contracts and Material Direct Serve Contracts in effect on the date hereof.
Identified on Schedule 2.01P are the Member Wholesale Power Contracts and the Material
Direct Serve Contracts in effect as of the Closing Date. To the best of the Borrower's
knowledge, after due inquiry, (i) except as set forth in the Disclosure Statement, there is no
condition or circumstance that would impair any member's ability to perform its obligations
under any Member Wholesale Power Contract or Material Direct Serve Contract to which it is a
party, and (ii) from and after the date of the Disclosure Statement through and including the
Closing Date, there has been no condition or circumstance that would impair any member’s
ability to perform its obligations under any Member Wholesale Power Contract or Material Direct
Serve Contract to which it is a party. The Member Wholesale Power Contracts and Direct
Serve Contracts are legal, valid and binding upon the Borrower and enforceable against the
Borrower in accordance with their respective terms.

ARTICLE Il
REFINANCE LOAN

Section 3 Scope. The provisions of this Article Il shall apply solely to the Refinance
Note and the Advance thereunder.

Section 3.01 Advance. The amount of the Refinance Note shall be fully advanced on
the Closing Date. No further Advances of the Refinance Note shall be available after the
Closing Date.

Section 3.02 interest Rate and Payment. The Refinance Note shall be payable and
bear interest as follows:

A. Maturity; Amortization; Payments.

(i) Maturity Date. The Refinance Note shall have a Maturity Date that is not more than
twenty (20) years from the date hereof, provided, however, that if such date is not a Payment
Date, then the Maturity Date shall be the Payment Date immediately preceding such date.

(i) Amortization. The principal amount of the Refinance Note shall amortize according to
the amortization method set forth in item 5 on Schedule 1, provided, however, that the
amortization period for the Refinance Note shall not extend beyond the applicable Maturity
Date. The Borrower shall promptly pay interest and principal in the amounts shown in the
Payment Notice. If not sooner paid, any amount due on account of the unpaid principal, interest
accrued thereon and fees, if any, shall be due and payable on the Refinance Note Maturity
Date.
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(i) Payments. The Borrower shall make each payment required to be made by it
hereunder or under the Refinance Note (whether of principal, interest or fees, or otherwise) on
the date when due, in immediately available funds, without set-off or counterclaim.

B. Application of Payments. Each payment shall be applied to the CFC
Obligations, first to any fees, costs, expenses or charges other than interest or principal, second to
interest accrued, and the balance to principal.

C. Selection of Interest Rate and Interest Rate Computation. Prior to the
Advance on the Refinance Note, the Borrower must select in writing either a CFC Fixed Rate or
the CFC Variable Rate, as follows:

(i) CFC Fixed Rate. If the Borrower selects a CFC Fixed Rate for the Advance, then
such rate shall be in effect for the CFC Fixed Rate Term selected by the Borrower. On the
Interest Rate Reset Date for such Advance, the Borrower may then select any available interest
rate option for such Advance pursuant to CFC's policies of general application. The Advance
shall bear interest according to the interest rate option so selected beginning on the Interest
Rate Reset Date. If the Borrower does not select an interest rate in writing prior to the Interest
Rate Reset Date, then beginning on the Interest Rate Reset Date the Advance shall bear
interest at, the CFC Variable Rate. The Borrower may not select a CFC Fixed Rate with a CFC
Fixed Rate Term that extends beyond the applicable Maturity Date. Interest on amortizing
Advances bearing interest at a CFC Fixed Rate shall be computed for the actual number of
days elapsed on the basis of a year of 365 days, until the first day of the Billing Cycle in which
the Amortization Basis Date occurs; interest shall then be computed on the basis of a 30-day
month and 360-day year. Interest on non-amortizing Advances bearing interest at a CFC Fixed
Rate shall be computed for the actual number of days elapsed on the basis of a year of 365
days.

(i) CFC Variable Rate If the Borrower has selected the CFC Variable Rate for the
Advance, then such CFC Variable Rate shall apply until the Maturity Date, unless the Borrower
elects to convert to a CFC Fixed Rate pursuant to the terms hereof. Interest on Advances
bearing interest at the CFC Variable Rate shall be computed for the actual number of days
elapsed on the basis of a year of 365 days.

Section 3.03 Conversion of Interest Rates. The interest rate conversion options set
forth in this Section 3.03 are available to the Advance on the Refinance Note.

A. CFC Variable Rate to a CFC Fixed Rate. The Borrower may at any time
convert from the CFC Variable Rate to a CFC Fixed Rate by submitting to CFC a Conversion
Request requesting that a CFC Fixed Rate apply to any outstanding Advance. The rate shall be
equal to the rate of interest offered by CFC in effect on the date of the Conversion Request.
The effective date of the new interest rate shall be a date determined by CFC for loans similarly
classified pursuant to CFC's policies and procedures then in effect.

B. CFC Fixed Rate to CFC Variable Rate. The Borrower may at any time convert
a CFC Fixed Rate to the CFC Variable Rate by: (i) submitting a Conversion Request requesting
that the CFC Variable Rate apply to any outstanding Advance; and (ii) paying to CFC promptly
upon receipt of an invoice any applicable conversion fee calculated for loans similarly classified
pursuant to CFC's policies and procedures then in effect. The effective date of the CFC
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Variable Rate shall be a date determined by CFC pursuant to its policies of general application
following receipt of the Conversion Request.

C. A CFC Fixed Rate to another CFC Fixed Rate. The Borrower may at any time
convert from a CFC Fixed Rate to another CFC Fixed Rate if the Borrower: (i) submits a
Conversion Request requesting that a CFC Fixed Rate apply to any Advance and (ii) pays to
CFC promptly upon receipt of an invoice any applicable conversion fee calculated pursuant to
CFC's long-term loan policies as established from time to time for similarly classified long-term
loans. The effective date of the new interest rate shall be a date determined by CFC pursuant
to its policies of general application following receipt of the Conversion Request.

Section 3.04 Optional Prepayment. The Borrower may at any time, on not less than
fifteen (15) days prior written notice to CFC, prepay the Advance, in whole or in part. In the
event the Borrower prepays all or any part of the Advance (regardless of the source of such .
prepayment and whether voluntary, by acceleration or otherwise), the Borrower shall pay any
Prepayment Fee and/or Make-Whole Premium as CFC may prescribe pursuant to the terms of
this Section 3.04. All prepayments shall be accompanied by payment of accrued and unpaid
interest on the amount of and to the date of the repayment. All prepayments shall be applied
first to fees, second to the payment of accrued and unpaid interest, and then to the unpaid
balance of the principal amount of the Advance.

If the Advance bears interest at the CFC Variable Rate, then the Borrower may on any Business
Day prepay the Advance or any portion thereof, provided that the Borrower pays together
therewith the Prepayment Fee. If the Advance bears interest at a CFC Fixed Rate, then the
Borrower may prepay the Advance on (a) the Business Day before an Interest Rate Reset Date,
provided that the Borrower pays together therewith the Prepayment Fee, or (b) any other
Business Day, provided that the Borrower pays together therewith the Prepayment Fee and any
applicable Make-Whole Premium.

ARTICLE llIA
EQUITY LOAN

Section 3A. Scope. The provisions of this Article IlIA shall apply solely to the Equity
Note and Advances thereunder.

Section 3A.01 Advance. On the Closing Date, Borrower will finance the purchase of
Capital Certificates with the proceeds of the Equity Note. The amount of the Advance made on
the Equity Note shall equal 14.29% of the Advance on the Refinance Note. The principal amount
at any one time outstanding shall not exceed the portion of the CFC Commitment allocated to the
Equity Note. The obligation of the Borrower to repay the Advance shall be evidenced by the
Equity Note.

Section 3A.02 Term; Amortization. The Advance shall have a term concurrent with the
corresponding Advance on the Refinance Note. The Advance shall amortize proportionally to the
corresponding Advance on the Refinance Note.

Section 3A.03 Use of Proceeds. The Advance shall be made solely to purchase the
Captial Certificates required under the terms of this Agreement.
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Section 3A.04 Payment. On each Payment Date, the Borrower shall promptly pay
interest and/or principal, as applicable, in the amounts then due. If not sooner paid, any amount
due on account of the unpaid principal, interest accrued thereon and fees, if any, shall be due and
payable on the Maturity Date.

Section 3A.05 Application of Payments. Each payment shall be applied first to any
fees, costs, expenses or charges other than interest or principal, second to interest accrued, and
the balance to principal.

Section 3A.06 Interest Rate. Each Advance shall bear interest at the CFC Fixed Rate
for twenty (20) year loans, as in effect on the date of the Advance hereunder, which rate shall
be fixed to the Maturity Date. Interest on the Advance bearing interest at a CFC Fixed Rate shall
be computed for the actual number of days elapsed on the basis of a year of 365 days. No
provision of this Agreement or of the Equity Note shall require the payment, or permit the
collection, of interest in excess of the highest rate permitted by applicable law.

Section 3A.07 Prepayment. The Borrower may at any time, on not less than fifteen
(15) days' written notice to CFC, make a prepayment on the Equity Note, together with the
interest accrued to the date of prepayment. No prepayment premium shall be charged.

Section 3A.08 Security. The Borrower agrees that CFC shall retain possession of the
original equity term certificates (which may be in book entry form) as security against payment
hereunder, and upon the occurrence of an Event of Default, may exercise setoff rights with
respect thereto.

ARTICLE llIB
GENERAL LOAN PROVISIONS

Section 3B.01 Mandatory Prepayment — Change in Structure. If the Borrower shall
merge, consolidate or have all or substantially all of the assets of the Borrower acquired, then
upon the effective date of such change, the Borrower shall prepay the outstanding principal
balance of all CFC Obligations, together with any accrued but unpaid interest thereon, any
unpaid costs or expenses provided for herein, the Prepayment Fee and a Make-Whole
Premium, if any. Notwithstanding the foregoing, no prepayment shall be required under this
Section 3B.01 if, after giving effect to such change, the Borrower, or its successor in interest, is
engaged in the furnishing of electric utility services to its members and is organized as a
cooperative, nonprofit corporation, public utility district, municipality, or other public
governmental body and is, or becomes, a member of CFC.

Section 3B.02 Usury Savings Clause. No provision of this Agreement or of the Note
shall require the payment, or permit the collection, of interest in excess of the highest rate
permitted by applicable law.

Section 3B.03 Default Rate. If the Borrower defaults on its obligation to make a
payment due hereunder by the applicable Payment Date, and such default continues for thirty
(30) days thereafter, then beginning on the thirty-first (31%') day after the Payment Date and for
so long as such default continues, the interest rate on all Advances shall be the Default Rate.
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Section 3B.04 Invoice. CFC will invoice the Borrower at least ten (10) days before
each Payment Date, provided, however, that CFC's failure to send an invoice shall not constitute
a waiver by CFC or be deemed to relieve the Borrower of its obligation to make payments as and
when due as provided for herein.

ARTICLE IV
CONDITIONS

Section 4.01 Conditions of Closing. This Agreement shall become effective only
upon the satisfaction of the following conditions as of the Closing Date.

A. Legal Matters. All legal matters incident to the consummation of the
transactions hereby contemplated shall be reasonably satisfactory to counsel for CFC and, as to
all matters of local law, to such local counsel as counsel for CFC may retain. CFC's execution
of this Agreement shall evidence satisfaction of this condition.

B. Documents. CFC shall have been furnished with (i) the executed Loan
Documents, (ii) certified copies of all such organizational documents and proceedings of the
Borrower authorizing the transactions hereby contemplated as CFC shall reasonably require,
(iii) an opinion of counsel for the Borrower addressing such legal matters as CFC shall
reasonably require, and (iv) all other such documents as CFC may reasonably request. CFC's
execution of this Agreement shall evidence satisfaction of this condition.

C. Government Approvals. The Borrower shall have furnished to CFC true and
correct copies of all certificates, authorizations, consents, permits and licenses from
Governmental Authorities (if any) that are necessary for the execution or delivery of the Loan
Documents or performance by the Borrower of the obligations thereunder. No certificate,
authorization, consent, permit, license or approval of any Governmental Authority that is
required to enable the Borrower to (a) enter into the Loan Documents, (b) perform all of the
obligations provided for in such documents, shall have been invalidated, rescinded, stayed or
determined to be invalid in any material respect by any Governmental Authority.

D. Indenture; Supplemental Indenture; UCC Filings. The Indenture and the
Supplemental Indenture shall have been duly filed, recorded or indexed in all jurisdictions
necessary to provide the Trustee thereunder a perfected lien, subject to Permitted Exceptions,
on all of the Trust Estate, all in accordance with applicable law, and the Borrower shall have
paid all applicable taxes, recording and filing fees and caused satisfactory evidence thereof to
be furnished to CFC. Uniform Commercial Code financing statements (and any continuation
statements and other amendments thereto that CFC shall require) shall have been duly filed,
recorded or indexed in all jurisdictions necessary (and in any other jurisdiction that CFC shall
have reasonably requested) to provide the Trustee a perfected security interest, subject to
Permitted Exceptions, in the Trust Estate which may be perfected by the filing of a financing
statement, all in accordance with applicable law, and the Borrower shall have paid all applicable
taxes, recording and filing fees and caused satisfactory evidence thereof to be furnished to
CFC.

E. Representations and Warranties. The representations and warranties of the
Borrower set forth in Section 2.01 shall be true and correct.
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F. Defaults. No event or condition has occurred that constitutes an Event of
Default, or which upon notice hereunder, lapse of time hereunder or both would, unless cured or
waived, become an Event of Default.

G. Material Adverse Effect. Except as set forth in the Disclosure Statement, no
event or condition has occurred that would result in a Material Adverse Effect. From and after
the date of the Disclosure Statement through and including the Closing Date, no event or
condition has occurred that would result in a Material Adverse Effect.

H. Note Authentication. The Refinance Note shall have been duly authenticated
by the Trustee as Obligations secured under the Indenture.

l. Member Wholesale Power Contract Amendments; Material Direct Serve
Contracts. CFC shall have received true and correct copies of the Member Wholesale Power
Contracts and Material Direct Serve Contracts listed on Schedule 2.01P, including any and all
material amendments, supplements or modifications thereto, certified by a senior authorized
representative of Borrower (e.g., president, vice-president, general manager, chief financial
officer or persons that hold equivalent titles).

J. Additional Financing. Borrower shall provide evidence satisfactory to CFC that
Borrower (i) has closed and received funds from a non-CFC secured financing in an amount of
at least $140,000,000 for purposes of refinancing the RUS Series A Note, or (ii) will close
simultaneous herewith and obtain a same day (i.e., day of closing) funding from a non-CFC
secured financing in an amount of at least $140,000,000 for purposes of refinancing the RUS
Series A Note.

K. Funding of Proceeds under Refinance Note and Equity Note. On the Closing
Date, the proceeds of the Equity Note and Refinance Note shall be funded contemporaneously
to Borrower.

L. Requisition for Advance. The Borrower will requisition the Advance under the
Refinance Note by submitting its written requisition to CFC, in the form attached hereto as
Exhibit A, and otherwise in form and substance satisfactory to CFC. The requisition for
Advance on the Refinance Note shall be made only for the purposes set forth in Schedule 1
hereto.

M. Other Information. The Borrower shall have furnished such other information
as CFC may reasonably require, including but not limited to (i) additional information regarding the
use of the Advance, (i) feasibility studies, cash flow projections, financial analyses and pro forma
financial statements sufficient to demonstrate to CFC's reasonable satisfaction that after giving
effect to the Advance requested, the Borrower shall continue to achieve the Margins for Interest
Ratio set forth in Section 5.01.A herein, to meet all of its debt service obligations, and otherwise to
perform and to comply with all other covenants and conditions set forth in this Agreement, and (i)
any other information as CFC may reasonably request.

N. CFC Expenses. The obligation of CFC to extend credit pursuant to the terms
hereof is subject to the payment by the Borrower of the reasonable out-of-pocket fees and
expenses incurred by CFC in connection with the (i) underwriting of the facilities described herein,
and (ii) the negotiation, preparation, execution and delivery of this Agreement and the other Loan
Documents (including, without limitation, any engineering and legal expenses associated with the
loan facilities described herein).
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ARTICLE V
COVENANTS

Section 5.01 Covenants. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in the
Disclosure Statement, the Borrower covenants and agrees with CFC that after the Closing Date
and until payment in full of the Notes and performance of all obligations of the Borrower
hereunder:

A. Margins for Interest Ratio. The Borrower shall comply, in all respects, with the
Margin for Interest Ratio covenant set forth in Section 13.14 of the Indenture.

B. Annual Certificates. Within one hundred twenty (120) days after the close of
each fiscal year, commencing with the year in which this Agreement is effective, the Borrower
will deliver to CFC a written statement, in form and substance satisfactory to CFC, either (a)
signed by the Borrower's President and Chief Executive Officer (or equivalent chief executive
officer) or (b) submitted electronically through means made available to the Borrower by CFC,
stating that during such year, and that to the best of said person’s knowledge, the Borrower has
fulfilled all of its obligations in all material respects under this Agreement, the Notes and the
Indenture throughout such year or, if there has been a default in the fulfilment of any such
obligations, specifying each such default known to said person and the nature and status
thereof.

C. Financial Books; Financial Reports; Right of Inspection.

(i) Within one hundred twenty (120) days after the end of each fiscal year of the
Borrower, the Borrower shall provide to CFC the audited consolidated balance sheets and
related statements of operations, statement of equities and statement of cash flows of the
Borrower and its Subsidiaries as of the end of and for such year, setting forth in each case in
comparative form the figures for the previous fiscal year, reported on by independent public
accountants (without a "going concern" or like qualification or exception and without any
qualification or exception as to the scope of such audit) to the effect that such consolidated
financial statements present fairly in all material respects the financial condition and resuilts of
operations of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis in accordance with the
Accounting Requirements.

(i) Within sixty (60) days after the end of each of the first three (3) fiscal quarters of
each fiscal year of the Borrower, the Borrower shall provide to CFC the unaudited consolidated
balance sheets and related statements of operations, and such other interim statements as may
. reasonably be requested, of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries as of the end of and for such
fiscal quarter and the then elapsed portion of the fiscal year, setting forth in each case in
comparative form the figures for (or, in the case of the balance sheet, as of the end of) the
corresponding period or periods of the previous fiscal year, which shall present fairly in all
material respects the financial condition and resuits of operations of the Borrower and its
Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis in accordance with the Accounting Requirements, subject
to changes resulting from audit and normal year-end audit adjustments.

(iii) Within one hundred twenty (120) days after the end of each the Borrower's fiscal
years during the term hereof, the Borrower shall furnish to CFC a statement, setting forth in
reasonable detail its calculation of its Margins for Interest Ratio for the prior fiscal year and two
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prior fiscal years, signed either by its President and Chief Executive Officer (or equivalent chief
executive officer, its Vice President and Chief Financial Officer (or equivalent chief financial
officer), or such other officer that reports directly or indirectly to its Vice President and Chief
Financial Officer (or equivalent chief financial officer).

(iv) Within thirty (30) days after (a) the end of each the Borrower’s fiscal years during
the term hereof or (b) CFC's request, the Borrower shall furnish to CFC updated cash flow
projections for the succeeding fiscal year, which projections shall be in form and substance
reasonably satisfactory to CFC and certified by the Borrower's Vice President and Chief
Financial Officer (or equivalent chief financial officer) or another duly authorized executive
officer of the Borrower.

(v) The Borrower shall provide, within fifteen (15) days after the same may come
available, copies of the Borrower's budgets and financial plans approved by the Borrower's
Board of Directors.

(vi)  The Borrower will keep proper books of record and account, in which full and
correct entries shall be made of all dealings or transactions of or in relation to the Obligations
and the plant, properties, business and affairs of the Borrower in accordance with Accounting
Requirements. The Borrower will, upon reasonable written notice by CFC to the Borrower and
at the expense of the Borrower, permit CFC, by its representatives, to inspect the plants and
properties, books of account, records, reports and other papers of the Borrower, and to take
copies and extracts therefrom, and will afford and procure a reasonable opportunity to make any
such inspection, and the Borrower will furnish to CFC any and all information as CFC may
reasonably request, with respect to the performance by the Borrower of its covenants in this
Agreement; provided, however, the Borrower shall not be required to make available any
information supplied to it by a third party which is subject to a confidentiality agreement with
such third party except to the extent allowed by, and subject to the terms of such confidentiality
agreement.

D. Funds Requisition; Interest Rate Elections. The Borrower agrees (i) that CFC
may rely conclusively upon the interest rate option, interest rate term and other written
instructions submitted to CFC, and (ii) that such instructions shall constitute a covenant under
this Agreement to repay the Advance in accordance with such instructions, the applicable
Notes, the Indenture and this Agreement.

E. Compliance with Laws. The Borrower shall remain in compliance with all
applicable requirements of law and applicable rules and regulations of each Governmental
Authority, except for any such failures of compliance as would not reasonably be expected to
have a Material Adverse Effect or as provided in Section 5.01.H.

F. Taxes. The Borrower shall pay, or cause to be paid all taxes, assessments or
governmental charges lawfully levied or imposed on or against it and its properties prior to the
time they become delinquent, except (i) for such taxes, assessments, and governmental
charges and levies which the Borrower is contesting in good faith by appropriate proceedings
for which adequate reserves have been set aside, if such reserves are required by Accounting
Requirements, or (ii) to the extent the failure to do so would not reasonably be expected to have
a Material Adverse Effect.

G. Further Assurances. The Borrower shall execute any and all further
documents, financing statements, agreements and instruments, and take all such further actions
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(including the filing and recording of financing statements, fixture filings, mortgages, deeds of
trust and other documents), which may be required under any applicable law, or which CFC
may reasonably request, to effectuate the transactions contemplated by the Loan Documents or
to grant, preserve, protect or perfect the Liens created or intended to be created by the
Indenture. The Borrower also agrees to provide to CFC, from time to time upon request,
evidence reasonably satisfactory to CFC as to the perfection and priority, or continued
perfection and priority, of the Liens preserved, created or intended to be created by the
Indenture.

H. Notices of Environmental Actions. |[f Borrower receives any written
communication from a Governmental Authority alleging Borrower's material violation of any
Environmental Law, then Borrower shall provide CFC with a copy thereof within thirty (30) days
after receipt, and promptly take appropriate action to remedy, cure, defend, or otherwise
affirmatively respond to the matter in order to comply with any Environmental Law that is the
subject of such written communication, except such notices of violations which, individually or in
the aggregate, could not reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect.

l. Accounting Requirements. For purposes of determining any computation
made under this Agreement, and notwithstanding Section 1.1D of the Indenture, the Borrower
shall only apply those Accounting Requirements in use in the United States at the time of the
determination of such computation.

J. Use of Proceeds; RUS. The Borrower shall use the proceeds of the Notes
solely for the purposes identified in Schedule 1 hereto. With respect to the proceeds of the
Refinance Note, the Borrower agrees that (i) upon receipt of the Advance of the amount
evidenced by the Refinance Note, together with the proceeds received by Borrower from the
non-CFC secured financing, as required pursuant to Section 4.01.J hereof, Borrower will
immediately prepay a portion of the unpaid balance of the RUS Series A Note so as to reduce
the remaining unpaid balance thereof to not more than $80,456,000, and (ii) Borrower will not
take any action to cause the remaining unpaid balance of the RUS Series A Note to exceed the
amount of $80,456,000. In furtherance of the foregoing, Borrower agrees to promptly cause a
modification to the maximum principal balance schedule of the RUS Series A Note in order to
reflect that the maximum principal balance set forth therein and/or available thereunder shall not
exceed $80,456,000. Borrower agrees to provide evidence of such modification to CFC
promptly after finalization of same.

K. Capital Certificates. In accordance with CFC’s policies of general application,
Borrower agrees that CFC may at all times retain Capital Certificates purchased by Borrower in
an amount equal to 12.5% of the aggregate outstanding balance of the Refinance Note and the
Equity Note.

L. Default Notices. The Borrower shall provide CFC any notice delivered by the
Borrower to the Trustee pursuant to Section 13.12 of the Indenture promptly after delivering
such notice to the Trustee.

M. Notice; Member Wholesale Power Contracts and Direct Serve Contracts. The
Borrower will furnish to CFC prompt written notice of the following:

(i) any permitted termination of, modification to or supplement to a Member
Wholesale Power Contract that will result in a material change thereto;
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(i) any (a) permanent shutdown or material curtailment of the operations of any
Borrower member retail customer for which wholesale service is provided under a Direct Serve
Contract, (b) material modification to a Direct Serve Contract, and (c) termination of any Direct
Serve Contract.

N. Compliance with Indenture Covenants. Borrower shall comply with all the
covenants identified in Article XI and Article XlII of the Indenture.

0. New Member Wholesale Power Contract; New Material Direct Serve
Contracts. Borrower shall provide CFC with copies of any new Member Wholesale Power
Contract and new Material Direct Serve Contracts (together with material amendments or
supplements thereto and all successor or replacement contracts and agreements thereto and
thereof) entered into after the Closing Date.

Section 5.02 Negative Covenants. The Borrower covenants and agrees with CFC
that until payment in full of the Notes and performance of all obligations of the Borrower
hereunder, the Borrower will not, directly or indirectly, without CFC's prior written consent, cause
any violations of the following covenants:

A. Limitations on Liens. The Borrower will not create or incur or suffer or permit to
be created or incurred or to exist any mortgage, lien, charge or encumbrance on or pledge of
any of the Trust Estate prior to or upon a parity with the lien of the Indenture except for
Permitted Exceptions and those exceptions set forth in Section 13.6 A. and 13.6 B. of the
Indenture.

B. Limitations on Mergers. The Borrower shall not consolidate with or merge into
any other Person or convey or transfer the Trust Estate substantially as an entirety to any
Person, except as may be permitted pursuant to the terms and provisions of Section 11.1 of the
Indenture.

C. No Change in Fiscal Year. The Borrower will not change its fiscal year from the
fiscal year existing on the Closing Date without the prior written consent of CFC, not to be
unreasonably withheld.

D. Member Wholesale Power Contracts. The Borrower will not, and will not
consent to, the termination of any one or more Member Wholesale Power Contracts that,
individually or in the aggregate, represent 20% or more of the Borrower's revenue base (other
than at the end of the contract term or a voluntary termination provided by the contract terms).

ARTICLE VI
EVENTS OF DEFAULT

Section 6.01 Events of Default. The following shall be Events of Default under this
Agreement;

A. Payment. The Borrower shall fail to pay any amount due under the terms of a
Note or this Agreement within five (5) Business Days of when the same is due and payable,
whether by acceleration or otherwise;
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B. Financial Reports. The Borrower shall fail to provide the financial reports
required by Section 5.01.C within the time period specified therein;

C. Margins for Interest Ratio. The Borrower shall fail to comply with Section 13.14
of the Indenture;

D. Representations and Warranties. Any representation or warranty made by the
Borrower herein shall prove to be false or misleading in any material respect at the time made if
such false or misleading representation or warranty is, in CFC's reasonable judgment, one that
a prudent lender would consider material to its decision to extend credit;

E. Other Covenants. (i) Default by the Borrower in the observance or performance
of the covenant contained in Section 5.01.J of this Agreement, or (ii) default by the Borrower in
the observance or performance of any other covenant contained in this Agreement, other than
those identified in Section 5.02, which shall continue for thirty (30) calendar days after written
notice thereof shall have been given to the Borrower by CFC; provided, however, that if the
default cannot be cured within such thirty (30) day period despite the Borrower' s good faith and
diligent efforts to do so, the cure period shall be extended as is reasonably necessary beyond
such thirty (30) day period (but in no event longer than sixty (60) days) if remedial action likely to
result in a cure is promptly instituted within such thirty (30) day period and is thereafter diligently
pursued until the default is corrected;

F. Corporate Existence. The Borrower shall forfeit or otherwise be deprived of its
corporate charter, franchises, permits, easements, consents or licenses required to carry on any
material portion of its business;

G. Negative Covenants. The Borrower shall fail to comply with the Section 5.02 of
this Agreement; or

H. Indenture Obligations. An "Event of Default," as defined in the Indenture, shall
have occurred and be continuing, provided such "Event of Default" has not been waived or
cured as provided for under the terms of the Indenture.

ARTICLE VI
REMEDIES

Section 7.01 General Remedies. [f any of the Events of Default listed in Article VI
hereof shall occur after the date of this Agreement and shall not have been remedied within the
applicable grace periods specified therein (if any), then CFC may:

0] exercise rights of setoff or recoupment and apply any and all amounts held, or
hereby held, by CFC or owed to the Borrower or for the credit or account of the
Borrower against any and all of the CFC Obligations of the Borrower now or
hereafter existing hereunder or under the Notes, including, but not limited to,
patronage capital allocations and retirements, money due to the Borrower from
Capital Certificates, and any membership or other fees that would otherwise be
returned to the Borrower. The rights of CFC under this Section 7.01 are in
addition to any other rights and remedies (including other rights of setoff or
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recoupment) which CFC may have. The Borrower waives all rights of setoff,
deduction, recoupment or counterclaim;

(i) pursue all rights and remedies available to CFC that are contemplated by the
Indenture in the manner, upon the conditions, and with the effect provided in the
Indenture, including, but not limited to, a suit for specific performance, injunctive
relief or damages; and

(iii) pursue any other rights and remedies available to CFC at law or in equity.

Section 7.02 Interest Rate Adder. In addition to the remedies set forth in Section
7.01, upon the occurrence of an Event of Default, an Interest Rate Adder of two hundred (200)
basis points shall be imposed on the outstanding principal amount of aill Advances until such
Event of Default is cured. The effective date of an Interest Rate Adder imposed or eliminated
pursuant to this Section 7.02 shall be the first (1%) day of month following the occurrence of the
Event of Default or the cure thereof, as applicable.

Section 7.03 Concurrent Remedies. Nothing herein shall limit the right of CFC to
pursue all rights and remedies available to a creditor following the occurrence of an Event of
Default. Each right, power and remedy of CFC shall be cumulative and concurrent, and
recourse to one or more rights or remedies shall not constitute a waiver of any other right,
power or remedy.

ARTICLE VIII
MISCELLANEOUS

Section 8.01 Notices. All notices, requests and other communications provided for
herein including, without limitation, any modifications of, or waivers, requests or consents under,
this Agreement shall be given or made in writing (including, without limitation, by telecopy) and
delivered to the intended recipient at the "Address for Notices" specified below; or, as to any
party, at such other address as shall be designated by such party in a notice to each other
party. All such communications shall be deemed to have been duly given (i) when personally
delivered including, without limitation, by overnight mail or courier service, (i) in the case of
notice by United States mail, certified or registered, postage prepaid, return receipt requested,
upon receipt thereof, or (iii) in the case of notice by telecopy, upon transmission thereof,
provided such transmission is promptly confirmed by either of the methods set forth in clauses
(i) or (ii) above in each case given or addressed as provided for herein. The Address for
Notices of each of the respective parties is as follows:

National Rural Utilities Cooperative Finance Corporation
20701 Cooperative Way

Dulles, Virginia 20166

Attention: General Counsel

Fax # 866-230-5635

The Borrower:

The address set forth in
Schedule 1
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Section 8.02 Expenses. The Borrower shall reimburse CFC for any reasonable costs
and out-of-pocket expenses paid or incurred by CFC (including, without limitation, reasonable
fees and expenses of outside attorneys, paralegals and consultants) for all actions CFC takes,
(a) to enforce the payment of any CFC Obligation, to effect collection of any Trust Estate, or in
preparation for such enforcement or collection, (b) to institute, maintain, preserve, enforce and
foreclose on the Lien of the Indenture on any of the Trust Estate, whether through judicial
proceedings or otherwise, (c) to restructure any CFC Obligation, (d) to review, approve or grant
any consents or waivers hereunder, (e) to prepare, negotiate, execute, deliver, review, amend
or modify this Agreement, and (f) to prepare, negotiate, execute, deliver, review, amend or
modify any other agreements, documents and instruments deemed necessary or appropriate by
CFC in connection with any of the foregoing.

The amount of all such expenses identified in this Section 8.02 shall be payable upon
demand, and if not paid, shall accrue interest at the then prevailing CFC Variable Rate, plus 200
basis points.

Section 8.03 Late Payments. If payment of any amount due hereunder is not received
at CFC's office in Dulles, Virginia, or such other location as CFC may designate to the Borrower
within five (5) Business Days after the due date thereof, the Borrower will pay to CFC, in
addition to all other amounts due under the terms of the Loan Documents, any late-payment
charge as may be fixed by CFC from time to time pursuant to its policies of general application
as in effect from time to time.

Section 8.04. Non-Business Day Payments. If any payment to be made by the
Borrower hereunder shall become due on a day which is not a Business Day, such payment
shall be made on the next succeeding Business Day and such extension of time shall be
included in computing any interest in respect of such payment.

Section 8.05 Filing Fees. To the extent permitted by law, the Borrower agrees to pay
all expenses of CFC (including the reasonable fees and expenses of its counsel) in connection
with the filing, registration, recordation or perfection of the Supplemental Indenture and UCC
Financing Statements, including, without limitation, all documentary stamps, recordation and
transfer taxes and other costs and taxes incident to execution, filing, registration or recordation
of any document or instrument in connection herewith. The Borrower agrees to save harmless
and indemnify CFC from and against any liability resulting from the failure to pay any required
documentary stamps, recordation and transfer taxes, recording costs, or any other expenses
incurred by CFC in connection with this Agreement. The provisions of this Section shall survive
the execution and delivery of this Agreement and the payment of all other amounts due under
the Loan Documents.

Section 8.06 Waiver; Modification. No failure on the part of CFC to exercise, and no
delay in exercising, any right or power hereunder or under the other Loan Documents shall
operate as a waiver thereof, nor shall any single or partial exercise by CFC of any right
hereunder, or any abandonment or discontinuance of steps to enforce such right or power,
preclude any other or further exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right or power. No
modification or waiver of any provision of this Agreement, the Notes or the other Loan
Documents (except as otherwise provided in the Indenture) and no consent to any departure by
the Borrower therefrom shall in any event be effective unless the same shall be in writing by the
party granting such modification, waiver or consent, and then such modification, waiver or
consent shall be effective only in the specific instance and for the purpose for which given.
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SECTION 8.07 GOVERNING LAW; SUBMISSION TO JURISDICTION; WAIVER OF
JURY TRIAL.

(A) THE PERFORMANCE AND CONSTRUCTION OF THIS AGREEMENT SHALL BE
GOVERNED BY, AND CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH, THE LAWS OF THE
COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA.

(B) THE BORROWER HEREBY SUBMITS TO THE NON-EXCLUSIVE JURISDICTION
OF THE UNITED STATES COURTS LOCATED IN VIRGINIA AND OF ANY STATE COURT
SO LOCATED FOR PURPOSES OF ALL LEGAL PROCEEDINGS ARISING OUT OF OR
RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT OR THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY.
THE BORROWER IRREVOCABLY WAIVES, TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY
APPLICABLE LAW, ANY OBJECTIONS THAT IT MAY NOW OR HEREAFTER HAVE TO THE
ESTABLISHING OF THE VENUE OF ANY SUCH PROCEEDINGS BROUGHT IN SUCH A
COURT AND ANY CLAIM THAT ANY SUCH PROCEEDING HAS BEEN BROUGHT IN AN
INCONVENIENT FORUM.

(C) THE BORROWER AND CFC EACH HEREBY IRREVOCABLY WAIVES, TO THE
FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW, ANY AND ALL RIGHT TO TRIAL BY
JURY IN ANY LEGAL PROCEEDING ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THIS
AGREEMENT OR THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY.

SECTION 8.08 INDEMNIFICATION. THE BORROWER HEREBY INDEMNIFIES AND
AGREES TO HOLD HARMLESS, AND DEFEND CFC AND ITS MEMBERS, DIRECTORS,
OFFICERS, EMPLOYEES, AGENTS, ATTORNEYS AND REPRESENTATIVES (EACH AN
"INDEMNITEE") FOR, FROM, AND AGAINST ALL CLAIMS, DAMAGES, LOSSES,
LIABILITIES, COSTS, AND EXPENSES (INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, COSTS AND
EXPENSES OF LITIGATION AND REASONABLE ATTORNEYS' FEES) ARISING FROM ANY
CLAIM OR DEMAND IN RESPECT OF THIS AGREEMENT AND THE OTHER LOAN
DOCUMENTS, THE TRUST ESTATE, OR THE TRANSACTIONS DESCRIBED IN THIS
AGREEMENT AND THE OTHER LOAN DOCUMENTS AND ARISING AT ANY TIME,
WHETHER BEFORE OR AFTER PAYMENT AND PERFORMANCE OF ALL OBLIGATIONS
UNDER THIS AGREEMENT AND THE OTHER LOAN DOCUMENTS IN FULL, EXCEPTING
ANY SUCH MATTERS ARISING FROM, AND TO THE EXTENT OF, THE GROSS
NEGLIGENCE OR WILLFUL MISCONDUCT OF CFC OR ANY INDEMNITEE.
NOTWITHSTANDING ANYTHING TO THE CONTRARY CONTAINED IN SECTION 8.10, THE
OBLIGATIONS IMPOSED UPON THE BORROWER BY THIS SECTION SHALL SURVIVE
THE REPAYMENT OF THE NOTES, THE TERMINATION OF THIS AGREEMENT AND THE
TERMINATION OR RELEASE OF THE LIEN OF THE INDENTURE.

Section 8.09 Complete Agreement. This Agreement, together with the schedules to
this Agreement, the Notes and the other Loan Documents, and the other agreements and
matters referred to herein or by their terms referring hereto, is intended by the parties as a final
expression of their agreement and is intended as a complete statement of the terms and
conditions of their agreement. In the event of any conflict in the terms and provisions of this
Agreement and any other Loan Documents (other than the Indenture), the terms and provisions
of this Agreement shall control.

Section 8.10 Survival; Successors and Assigns. All covenants, agreements,
representations and warranties of the Borrower which are contained in this Agreement shall
survive the execution and delivery to CFC of the Loan Documents and the making of the
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Advances and shall continue in full force and effect until all of the CFC Obligations have been
paid in full. All covenants, agreements, representations and warranties of the Borrower which
are contained in this Agreement are personal to CFC and shall not inure to the benefit of the
successors and assigns of CFC. The Borrower shall not have the right to assign its rights or
obligations under this Agreement without the prior written consent of CFC.

Section 8.11 Use of Terms. The use of the singular herein shall also refer to the
plural, and vice versa.

Section 8.12 Headings. The headings and sub-headings contained in this Agreement
are intended to be used for convenience only and do not constitute part of this Agreement.

Section 8.13 Severability. If any term, provision or condition, or any part thereof, of
this Agreement, the Notes or the other Loan Documents shall for any reason be found or held
invalid or unenforceable by any governmental agency or court of competent jurisdiction, such
invalidity or unenforceability shall not affect the remainder of such term, provision or condition
nor any other term, provision or condition, and this Agreement, the Notes and the other Loan
Documents shall survive and be construed as if such invalid or unenforceable term, provision or
condition had not been contained therein.

Section 8.14 Binding Effect. This Agreement shall become effective when it shall
have been executed by both the Borrower and CFC and thereafter shall be binding upon and
inure to the benefit of the Borrower and CFC and their respective successors and assigns as
provided in Section 8.10.

Section 8.15 Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in one or more
counterparts, each of which will be deemed an original and all of which together will constitute
one and the same document. Signature pages may be detached from the counterparts and
attached to a single copy of this Agreement to physically form one document.

Section 8.16 Schedules; Exhibits. All Schedules and Exhibits are integral parts of
this Agreement.

[SIGNATURES ON FOLLOWING PAGE]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be duly
executed and effective as of the day and year first above written.

Attest’

BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION

oy Wl ./ e

Name: _Mark A. Bailey
Title: _President and CEQO "

NATIONAL RURAL UTILITIES
COOPERATIVE FINANCE CORPORATION

By: %ﬂw _De'fgfru/{{\

Dan Lyzinski 7
Assistant Secretary-Treasurer

AssistantSecretary-Treasurer
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EXHIBIT A - Form of Funds Requisition Statement

Borrower Name Borrower ID # Requested Funding Date
Big Rivers Electric Corporation KY062
Banking Information
Bank Name
Bank Account #
Certification

I hereby certify that as of the date below: (1) I am duly authorized to make this certification and to request
funds on behalf of the Borrower (each such request, an "Advance") in accordance with the loan
agreement governing the Advance (the "Loan Agreement"); (2) no Event of Default (as defined in the
Loan Agreement) has occurred and is continuing; (3) I know of no other event that has occurred which,
with the lapse of time under the Loan Agreement and/or notification to CFC of such event under the Loan
Agreement, or after giving effect to the Advance, would become such an Event of Default; (4) all of the
representations and warranties made in Sections 2.01 of the Loan Agreement are true and correct in all
material respects (except to the extent any representation or warranty is made as of a specified date, in
which case such representation and warranty shall have been true and correct as of the specified date); (5)
the Borrower has satisfied each other condition to the Advance as set forth in the Loan Agreement; and
(6) the proceeds of the Advance will be used only for the purposes permitted by the Loan Agreement. I
hereby authorize CFC to make Advances on the following terms, and hereby agree that such terms shall
be binding upon the Borrower under the provisions of the Loan Agreement:

Titérest Interest
Facility Amount Repayment Rate Type Rz}te Term fmortzaion Purpose
Term : : (if Fixed Method
Number (Fixed/Variable)
Rate)
Certified By:
Signature Date Title of Authorized Officer
PLEASE FAX TO 703-467- ATTN: , Associate Vice President
*********FOR INTERNAL USE ONLY***********
Recommended By: Approved By:
AVP Portfolio Manager
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SCHEDULE 1

1. The purpose of the Refinance Note is to (i) refinance $277,000,000 of RUS indebtedness
evidenced by the RUS Series A Note, and (ii) repay CFC $25,000,000 with respect to a
certain line of credit advance made to Borrower under CFC Loan No. KY062-R-5102. The
purpose of the Equity Note is to fund the purchase of Capital Certificates, and the
proceeds thereof shall be used solely for such purpose.

2. The aggregate CFC Commitment is $345,155,800.00, provided, however, that
$302,000,000 shall be available on the Refinance Note, and $43,155,800.00 shall be
available on the Equity Note.

3 The Indenture referred to in Section 1.01 is that certain Indenture between Big Rivers
Electric Corporation, as grantor, and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee, date as of
July 1, 2009, as supplemented, amended, consolidated, or restated from time to time.

4, The Closing Date referred to in Section 1.01 is July 27, 2012.

5. The Notes executed pursuant hereto and the amortization method for such Notes are as
follows:

NOTE LOAN AMOUNT MATURITY DATE AMORTIZATION

NUMBER METHOD
REFINANCE KY062-A- | $302,000,000.00 | Twenty (20) Years Level Debt Service

NOTE 9003 from the Closing

Date
EQUITY KY062-A- | $43,155,800.00 Twenty (20) Years

NOTE 9004 from the Closing Lavel Debt Service
Date

6. The Payment Date referred to in Section 1.01 is the last day of each of February, May,
August and November, provided that if such last day is not a Business Day, the first
Business Day thereafter.

7. The date of the interim financial statements referred to in Section 2.01B is January 31,
2012.

8. The Subsidiaries of the Borrower referred to in Section 2.01.F are: N/A.

9. The date of the Borrower's balance sheet referred to in Section 2.01.B is December 31,
2010.

10. The Borrower’s exact legal name is: Big Rivers Electric Corporation.

11. The Borrower's organizational type is: Cooperative Corporation.

12. The Borrower is organized under the laws of the state/commonwealth of: Kentucky.

13. The Borrower’s organizational identification number is: 0004242.

CFC LOANAG
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14.

15.

The place of business or, if more than one, the chief executive office of the Borrower
referred to in Section 2.01.N is 201 Third Street, Henderson, KY 42420.

The address for notices to the Borrower referred to in Section 8.01 is P.O. Box 24
Henderson, KY 42419-0024, Attention: President and Chief Executive Officer with a
copy to: Chief Financial Officer, Fax: 270-827-2558; with a copy to: James M. Miller,
Esq., Sullivan, Mountjoy, Stainback & Miller, P.S.C., 100 St. Ann Building, Owensboro,
KY 42303.
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Schedule 2.01A

LITIGATION

[Attached Hereto]
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BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION
LITIGATION SCHEDULE
(as of July 22, 2012)

1. Eminent Domain Litigation.

Big Rivers is the plaintiff in several eminent domain proceedings that have
been filed to acquire easements for transmission line rights-of-way. The awards of
damages against Big Rivers in those cases will be the reduction in the fair market
value of the premises over which the transmission line easement is acquired.

2. Jane Eckert, on her own behalf and on behalf of the Fstate of Robert Eckert,
Deceased vs. Alcoa, Inc., Big Rivers Electric Corporation, BMW Constructors, Inc.,
Bristol-Myers Squibb Company, General Electric Company, Industrial Contractors,
Inc., Triangle Enterprises, Inc., Marion County Superior Court, Civil Division Room
No. 2, Cause No. 49D02-9801-MI-0001-359.

This action arises from the 2007 death of a worker, Robert Eckert, from
asbestos-related disease diagnosed in 1995. The suit was filed July 2, 2007, in
Marion County, Illinois. Big Rivers' liability carrier, Zurich Insurance, is defending
this action with a reservation of rights.

3. Harlen Kennedy, Jr. and Brenda Kennedy, his wife, v. Big Rivers Electric
Corporation, et al., 3rd Judicial Circuit, Madison County, Illinois, Case No. 11-L-
7217.

This action was filed by the plaintiffs in 2011 alleging that Harlen Kennedy,
dJr. developed lung cancer from exposure to asbestos while working for a contractor
at a Big Rivers facility. Big Rivers' liability carrier, Zurich Insurance, is defending
this action with a reservation of rights.

4. Pat Maple, as Representative of the Heirs and Estate of Durwood Maple,
Deceased v. Big Rivers Electric Corporation, et al., In the Circuit Court of St. Clair
County, Illinois, Twentieth Judicial Circuit No. 11-L-59.

This action was filed by the plaintiff in 2011 alleging that Durwood Maple
developed and died from lung cancer that resulted from exposure to asbestos while
working for a contractor at a Big Rivers facility. Big Rivers' liability carrier, Zurich
Insurance, is defending this action with a reservation of rights.

5. Big Rivers Electric Corporation v. City of Henderson, Kentucky, and City of
Henderson Utility Commission, d/b/a/ Henderson Municipal Power and Light,
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Henderson Circuit Court Civil Action No. 09-CI-00693; City of Henderson,
Kentucky, and City of Henderson Utility Commission, d/b/a/ Henderson Municipal
Power and Light v. Big Rivers Electric Corporation, Kentucky Court of Appeals No.
2010-CA-000120-MR; In the Matter of Arbitration Between: Big Rivers Electric
Corporation v. City of Henderson, Kentucky and City of Henderson Utility
Commission dba Henderson Municipal Power and Light, American Arbitration
Association, Case No. 52-198-000173-10.

Big Rivers filed suit in Henderson, Kentucky, Circuit Court on July 31, 2009,
requesting an order referring to arbitration a dispute with the City of Henderson,
Kentucky and City of Henderson Utility Commission (collectively, “ HMP&L’). The
dispute was over the rights of the parties respecting “Excess Henderson Energy,” as
that term is defined in the contracts by which Big Rivers operates HMP&L'’s Station
Two and receives a portion of the generation output of Station Two. The order of
the Henderson Circuit Court directing arbitration was appealed to the Kentucky
Court of Appeals, and the contractual dispute was referred to the American
Arbitration Association (“AAA”).

The AAA arbitration panel issued its award on May 31, 2012, finding, among
other things, that “excess energy shall be considered to belong to [HMP&L)] which it
may offer to third parties subject to Big Rivers first right to purchase such energy”
at “the price at which [HMP&L] has a firm offer from a third party.” On June 26,
2012, attorneys for the City of Henderson issued a demand to Big Rivers for the
amount of $3,753,013.09, which purportedly represents the amount of fixed costs
associated with Excess Henderson Energy from August 2009 to May 30, 2012 minus
a credit to Big Rivers for the $1.50 for each MWh taken (the “ Fixed Costs Demand’).
Big Rivers and its counsel are still analyzing the implications of the award, Big
Rivers’ options under the circumstances and the recent demand letter from the City
of Henderson. In 2009, Western Kentucky Energy Corp. (“ WKEC’)and Big Rivers
entered into an Indemnification Agreement relating to the Station Two Power Sales
Contract and losses Big Rivers might suffer as a result of an adverse decision of a
court or arbitration panel on the excess energy issue. By letter dated July 17, 2012,
WZEKEC took the position that the Fixed Costs Demand does not, at this point, give
rise to an indemnifiable claim.

6. SERC Investigation

Big Rivers is currently the subject of a non-public investigation initiated in
February 2009 by SERC Reliability Corporation (“SERC"), one of the North America
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Electric Reliability Corporation’s (“*NERC'’S’) regional entities with responsibility for
enforcing mandatory reliability standards. The staff from NERC and the Federal
Energy Regulatory Commission also participated in the investigation. In June
2011, SERC initiated a formal assessment to determine Big Rivers’ compliance
relative to eight Reliability Standards Requirements as a result of findings of
possible violations by the investigation team. Two of those items have been
dismissed. The assessment is still ongoing.

7. Secretary of the Labor Cabinet Commonwealth of Kentucky v. Big Rivers
FElectric Corporation, KOSHRC Docket No. 4833-11, Administrative Action No. 11-
KOSH-0290.

This complaint was filed by the plaintiff in 2011, subsequent to Big Rivers
having contested a citation issued by KOSHA. The administrative hearing officer
has granted extensions requested by KOSHA counsel to allow time for settlement
negotiations, which have yet to take place. The penalties assessed with the citation
total $7,500.

8. Oxford Mining - Kentucky, LLC v. Big Rivers Electric Corporation, Ohio
Circuit Court Civil Action No. 12-CI-00160.

Oxford Mining Company - Kentucky, LLC (“Oxford”) filed this civil action
against Big Rivers on April 26, 2012, alleging that Big Rivers breached a coal
supply agreement with Oxford by terminating that agreement on March 2, 2012.
Oxford alleges that it has suffered damage, including lost profits, as a result of the
alleged wrongful termination of the Agreement. Big Rivers has asserted a
counterclaim against Oxford based on damages Big Rivers suffered as the result of
delivery to Big Rivers’ generating stations by Oxford of coal that failed to meet
contract specifications. This litigation is in its early stages.

9. Innovatio IP Ventures, LLC Patent Infringement Claim

Big Rivers received a letter from Innovatio IP Ventures, LLC (“Innovatio”) on
May 16, 2012, asserting that Big Rivers has infringed upon certain patents owned
by Innovatio. Big Rivers’ information at this point is that Innovatio is involved in a
nationwide letter writing campaign asserting its patents against certain wireless
local area network (“WLAN”) products. Innovatio’s letters are directed to end users
of WLAN products, which Innovatio asserts infringe upon patents it owns. In its
letter, Innovatio demands that the end user purchase licenses to use Innovatio
patents, or face a patent infringement lawsuit. Innovatio did not assert a claim
against the manufacturers of the products that it claims infringe upon its patents;
only the end users.

The Innovatio letters initially targeted entities such as coffee shop, grocery
3



and hotel chains that offer wireless internet access through WLAN products. In the
last year, electric cooperatives around the nation have been receiving the letters.
Innovatio has filed claims against several WLAN end user defendants in federal
courts in Illinois, Nevada and Florida. Innovatio was subsequently sued in federal
court in Delaware by Cisco Systems, Inc. and Motorola Solutions, Inc., companies
that control a substantial share of the WLAN product market. They seek, among
other things, a declaratory judgment voiding the Innovatio patents.

10. The City of Henderson Utility Commission v. Michael C. Donta, Executive
Director of the Department of Workplace Standards, Big Rivers Electric
Corporation, et al, Henderson Circuit Court, Civil Action No. 10-CI-898.

The Kentucky Labor Cabinet served a Notice of Violation on Henderson
Municipal Power & Light (“HMP&L”) on April 27, 2010, alleging that HMP&L had
violated prevailing wage laws by failing to stipulate in bid proposals that
prevailing hourly rate of wages must be paid to all laborers, workmen, and
mechanics performing work on the Station Two spring 2010 scheduled outage.
This is a declaratory judgment action, which asks the court to decide whether the
value of the individual projects related to the outage work on a generating station
must be combined for purposes of determining coverage under prevailing wage
laws in Kentucky. Big Rivers was joined in, and has an interest in this action
because it operates the HMP&L Station Two, purchases a majority of the output of
Station Two, and is responsible for the costs of Station Two generally proportionate
to its capacity take. This case is set for trial in December of 2012.

11. Notice and Application of Big Rivers Electric Corporation for a General
Adjustment in Rates, PSC Case No. 2011-00036.

Big Rivers filed a notice and application for a general adjustment in rates
with the Public Service Commission (“Commission”) on March 1, 2011. The
Commission entered its final order on November 17, 2011. After several appeals
and procedural events, this case is back before the Commission for a rehearing on
four issues raised by Big Rivers, and three issues raised by an intervenor,
Kentucky Industrial Utility Customers, Inc.

12. In the Matter of> Application of Big Rivers Electric Corporation for Approval
of its 2012 Environmental Compliance Plan, for Approval of its Amended
Environmental Cost Recovery Surcharge Tariff, for Certificates of Public
Convenience and Necessity, and for Authority to Establish a Regulatory Account,
P.S.C. Case No. 2012-00063.



Big Rivers filed an application with the Commission on April 2, 2012, seeking
approval of its 2012 Environmental Compliance Plan (“Plan”), certificates of public
convenience and necessity for the capital projects required to implement the plan
and related approvals, including an amendment to its environmental surcharge
that would allow Big Rivers to recover the incremental costs of its Plan. The
Commission has granted intervention to the Kentucky Attorney General, Kentucky
Industrial Utility Customers, Inc., the Sierra Club and Ben Taylor. By law, the
Commission must issue its decision on the issues before it by October 2, 2012.
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10.

11.

12,

BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION
MEMBER WHOLESALE POWER CONTRACTS AND
MATERIAL DIRECT SERVE CONTRACTS
(as of July 27, 2012)

Wholesale Power Contract made as of October 14, 1977, between the Company and
Jackson Purchase Rural Electric Cooperative Corporation, as amended.

Wholesale Power Contract made as of June 11, 1962 between the Company and Meade
County Rural Electric Cooperative Corporation, as amended.

Wholesale Power Contract made as of June 11, 1962 between the Company and Kenergy
Corp. (successor by consolidation to Henderson Union Electric Cooperative Corp.), as
amended.

Wholesale Power Contract made as of June 11, 1962 between the Company and Kenergy
Corp. (successor by consolidation to Green River Electric Corporation), as amended.

Agreement dated October 12, 1974 by and between the Company and Kenergy Corp.
(successor by consolidation to Henderson Union Electric Cooperative Corp.), as
amended.

Agreement dated October 12, 1974 by and between the Company and Kenergy Corp.
(successor by consolidation to Green River Electric Corporation) as amended and
restated by an Agreement dated February 16, 1988, as amended.

Agreements dated as of July 15, 1998 between the Company and Kenergy Corp.
(successor by consolidation to Green River Electric Corporation and Henderson Union
Electric Cooperative Corp.).

Wholesale Electric Service Agreement (Alcan) dated July 16, 2009 by and between the
Company and Kenergy Corp.

Wholesale Electric Service Agreement (Century) dated as of July 16, 2009 by and
between the Company and Kenergy Corp.

Amendment No. 1 to Wholesale Electric Service Agreement (Alcan) dated as of
September 20, 2011, between Big Rivers Electric Corporation and Kenergy Corp.

Amendment No. 1 to Wholesale Electric Service Agreement (Century) dated as of
September 20, 2011, between Big Rivers Electric Corporation and Kenergy Corp.]

Amendment to Wholesale Power Contracts dated August 1, 2009, between Big Rivers
Electric Corporation and Kenergy Corp. Amending the Wholesale Power Contracts made
as of June 11, 1962.
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13.

14.

13.

16.

17.

Amendment No. 4 dated as of August 1, 2009, to Wholesale Power Contract dated June
11, 1962 between Big Rivers Electric Corporation and Meade Country Rural Electric
Cooperative Corporation.

Amendment No. 3 dated as of August 1, 2009, to Wholesale Power Contract dated
October 14, 1977, between Big Rivers Electric Corporation and Jackson Purchase Energy
Corporation.

Second Amended and Restated Wholesale Power Agreement between Big Rivers Electric
Corporation and Kenergy Corp. dated as of January 21, 2011 (Domtar Paper Company,
LLC).

Letter Agreement dated December 9, 2008, between Big Rivers Electric Corporation and
Kenergy Corp. (Kimberly-Clark Corporation) '

Letter Agreement dated May 20, 2011, between Big Rivers Electric Corporation and
Kenergy Corp. (Aleris Rolled Products, Inc)
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SECURED CREDIT AGREEMENT

This Secured Credit Agreemeftihis “Agreement”) dated as of July 24, 2012, iseesd into by
and between Big Rivers Electric Corporation, a lKeky cooperative corporation (the “Borrower”), the
several financial institutions or entities from &nto time parties to this Agreement (the “Lendeesijl
CoBank, ACB, a federally chartered instrumentatifythe United States (“CoBank”) as administrative
agent (in such capacity, the “Administrative Agént&ad arranger, and book runner.

BACKGROUND

WHEREAS, the Lenders have agreed to extend a term loanet@thrower, in an aggregate
amount not to exceed $235,000,000, for the purpesesupon the terms and conditions, set forthihgere

NOW, THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideration, the recaiut sufficiency of which
are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto agréslaws.

ARTICLE 1
DEFINITIONS AND ACCOUNTING TERMS

SECTION 1.01 Definitions. Capitalized terms used in this Agreement andnddfin
Exhibit A hereto shall have the meanings set forttnat Exhibit.

SECTION 1.02 Rules of Interpretation. The rules of interpretation set forth in
Exhibit A shall apply to this Agreement.

ARTICLE 2
LOAN AMOUNT AND TERM

SECTION 2.01 Term Loan Commitment.

(@) Subject to the terms and conditions hereof, eactiéeseverally agrees to make
available to the Borrower on the Closing Date amwam in Dollars not to exceed its Commitment and,
when taken together with all other amounts maddadbla by the other Lenders on the Closing Daté¢, no
to exceed the total Commitment (the “Loan”).

(b) The Borrower’s obligation to repay the Loan shaldvidenced by one or more
notes, each in substantially the form of Exhibihd&eto, duly executed, dated the Closing Date emath
payable to a Lender in an aggregate principal amoilusuch Lender's Loan (each a “Note” and together
the “Notes”).

SECTION 2.02 Procedure for Borrowing.

(a) The Borrower shall give the Administrative Agent arevocable Notice of
Borrowing (which notice must be received by themhaistrative Agent prior to 10:00 AM, Denver,
Colorado time, at least three (3) Banking Daysrmindhe Closing Date).

(b) Upon receipt of a Notice of Borrowing from the Bwmaer, the Administrative
Agent will promptly notify each Lender thereof. dbalLender will make an amount equal to its
Commitment available to the Administrative Agentjmmediately available funds, for the accounthef t
Borrower at the Funding Office prior to 11:00 AM m&r, Colorado time on the Closing Date. The
Loan will then be made available (after the Adntnaitve Agent has received the same from each Lrende
1
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as provided for in the preceding sentence) to thiedBver by the Administrative Agent by no laterriha
1:00 PM Denver, Colorado time by crediting the Berer's account (Account No. 00050949) at
CoBank, ACB (ABA Routing No. 307088754), or to suather account as the Borrower shall direct the
Administrative Agent in writing, by wire transfef mnmediately available funds.

SECTION 2.03 Method of Payment The Borrower shall make all payments to the
Administrative Agent under this Agreement and athes Loan Documents by wire transfer of
immediately available funds, by check, or, if sfiedi by separate agreement between the Borrower and
the Administrative Agent, by automated clearing $®or other similar cash handling processes. Wire
transfers shall be made to the following accounttgosuch other account as the Lender may direct by
notice):

CoBank, ACB, as Administrative Agent
Bank Location: Englewood, Colorado

ABA Routing No. 307088754

Short Name: CoBank

Beneficiary: Big Rivers Electric Corporation
Account Number: 00050949

Attention: agencybank@cobank.com

Checks shall be mailed to CoBank, Department 1&nvBr, Colorado 80291-0167 or to such other place
as the Administrative Agent may direct by noticanfirtime to time (the_*Funding Office”).

SECTION 2.04 Repayment of the Loan

(@) The Borrower hereby unconditionally promises toaseghe Loan in accordance
with the repayment schedule set forth in Exhibifo€ on such earlier date on which the Loan becomes
due and payable pursuant to Article 10). Amouefzaid pursuant to this Agreement may not be re-
borrowed. Any unpaid principal amounts of the Laartstanding as of the Maturity Date shall be due
and payable on the Maturity Date. The Borrowerehgrfurther agrees to pay interest on the unpaid
principal amount of the Loan outstanding from tHesthg Date until payment in full thereof at theera
per annum, and on the dates, set forth in Sectiof 2

(b) The Administrative Agent, on behalf of the Borroyanall maintain the Register
in accordance with Section 12.06(c), in which shadl recorded (i) the amount of the Loan made
hereunder, any Note evidencing the Loan, (ii) tmeant of any principal, interest and fees, as appli,
due and payable or to become due and payable freBarrower to each Lender hereunder, and (iii) the
amount of any sum received by the Administrativeiighereunder from the Borrower.

(© The entries made in the Register shall, to theneéxpermitted by applicable
Requirement of Law, be presumed correct absentfesdrérror as to the existence and amounts of the
Obligations of the Borrower therein recorded; pded, that the failure of the Administrative Ageat t
maintain the Register, or any error therein, shatlin any manner affect the obligation of the Borer
to repay (with applicable interest) the Loan or afiyer obligation in accordance with the termshi$ t
Agreement.

(d) All payments (including prepayments) to be madeth®y Borrower hereunder,
whether on account of principal, interest or othieeyw shall be made without setoff, deduction or
counterclaim to the extent permitted by applicddégiuirements of Law and shall be made prior to@2:0
PM Denver, Colorado time, on the due date theredhé Administrative Office at the Funding Office,

2
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and funds received after such time shall be créditethe next Banking Day. If any payment hereunde
becomes due and payable on a day other than arggbliy, such payment shall be extended to the next
succeeding Banking Day. In the case of any extensi any payment of principal pursuant to the
preceding sentence, interest thereon shall be pawtihe then applicable rate during such extensio
Credit for any payment made by check will not beegi until the later of the next Banking Day after
receipt of the check or the day on which the Adstnative Agent receives immediately available funds

SECTION 2.05 Voluntary Prepayments

Subject to_Section 2.07 and Section 3.03, the Baranay at any time and from time to time
prepay the Loan in whole or in part, without premiar penalty, upon irrevocable notice deliveretht®
Administrative Agent no later than 11:00 AM, Denv@olorado time on five (5) Banking Days prior
thereto, which notice shall specify (i) the amoohthe Loan to be prepaid, (ii) the date (whichlisha a
Banking Day) of prepayment, and (iii) whether syayments should be applied ratably or in inverse
order of maturity, provided that the Borrower sledo pay any amounts owing pursuant to Sectio8. 3.0
If any such notice is given, the amount specifiedsiich notice shall be due and payable on the date
specified therein together with accrued interestuch date on the amount prepaid. Partial prepatgme
of the Loan shall be in an aggregate principal arhof $1,000,000 or a whole multiple of $500,000 in
excess thereof. Any payments of the Loan madeupatgo this Section 2.05 may not be reborrowed.

SECTION 2.06 Mandatory Prepayments

Subject to Section 2.07 and Section 3168 Borrower shall prepay the Loan in full immedigt
upon the occurrence of a Change of Control, withitbet need for any demand or notification by any
Person.

(@ Any payments made under this Section 2.06 shadifgpdied in inverse order of
maturity.

(b) Any payments made under this Section 2.06 may @oeborrowed.

SECTION 2.07 Prepayment Surcharge Prepayments of the Loan under Section 2.05
and Section 2.06 (whether such prepayment is theltref a voluntary prepayment, acceleration or
otherwise) are subject to a surcharge (the “Prepayi8urcharge”) on any such prepayment equal to a
per annum rate of one-half (1/2) of one percent)(bfothe principal balance of the Loan being prépai
(calculated through the Maturity Date). Such Prepayt Surcharge shall be in addition to any
compensation payable pursuant to Section 3.03 hereo

SECTION 2.08 Interest Rates and Payment Dates

(@) The Loan shall bear interest at a rate per annwraléq the Quoted Fixed Rate.

(b) Notwithstanding the foregoing, if an Event of Ddfabhas occurred and is
continuing, interest shall accrue at a rate peuanan Loan, fees and all other amounts due andopaya
pursuant to this Agreement at a rate per annuml égjtize Quoted Fixed Rate plus two percent (2¥8 (t
“Default Rate”).

(© Interest shall be payable by the Borrower in agear each Interest Payment
Date; provided that interest accruing pursuantdotiSn 2.08(b) shall be payable from time to tinme o
demand.
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SECTION 2.09 Computation of Interest. Interest and fees payable pursuant hereto
shall be calculated on the basis of a 360-day fggdhe actual days elapsed.

SECTION 2.10 Fees The Borrower agrees to pay such fees as providetie Fee
Letter.

SECTION 2.11  Security.

(a) Each party hereto acknowledges that CoBank hastataty first Lien pursuant
to the Farm Credit Act of 1971 (as amended fronetimtime) on all CoBank Equities that the Borrower
may now own or hereafter acquire, which statutdgnlshall be for CoBank’s sole and exclusive benefi
The CoBank Equities shall not constitute securitythe obligations arising hereunder due to angmth
Person. To the extent that any of the Loan Docusnereate a Lien on the CoBank Equities or on
patronage accrued by CoBank for the account oBtiveower (including, in each case, proceeds thereof
except to the extent any such proceeds not theesehnstituting CoBank Equities are part of thestru
Estate), such Lien shall be for CoBank’s sole araiusive benefit. Neither the CoBank Equities any
accrued patronage shall be offset against suchailins except that, in the event of an Event dallg
CoBank may elect to apply the cash portion of aafrqnage distribution or retirement of equity to
amounts due under this Agreement. The Borrower @eglgdges that any corresponding tax liability
associated with such application is the sole resipdity of the Borrower. CoBank shall have no
obligation to retire the CoBank Equities upon ameiit of Default, Default or any other default b th
Borrower or any other Person, or at any other tieitber for application to such obligations or athise.

(b) Each of the Notes at all times shall be securecutite Company’s Indenture,
shared equally and ratably with all other OutstagdDbligations (as defined in the Indenture) aralish
be authenticated by the Trustee pursuant thereto.

SECTION 2.12 Pro Rata Treatment and Payments

(@) Each payment (including prepayments) to be madthéyBorrower on account
of principal of and interest on the Loan shall bade pro rata according to the respective Outstgndin
Amounts of the Loan then held by the Lenders.

(b) Unless the Administrative Agent shall have beenifiedt in writing by the
Borrower prior to the date of any payment due tartaele by the Borrower hereunder that the Borrower
will not make such payment to the AdministrativeeAg the Administrative Agent may assume that the
Borrower is making such payment, and the AdministeaAgent may, but shall not be required to, in
reliance upon such assumption, make availablegtodlevant Lenders their respective pro rata shafras
corresponding amount. If such payment is not ntadbe Administrative Agent by the Borrower within
three (3) Banking Days after such due date, the iAdtnative Agent shall be entitled to recover, on
demand, from each relevant Lender to which any anaaas made available pursuant to the preceding
sentence, such amount with interest thereon atateeper annum equal to the daily average Federal
Funds Effective Rate. Nothing herein shall be deno limit the rights of the Administrative Ageoit
any Lender against the Borrower.

(© If any Lender makes available to the Administrathgent funds for the Loan to
be made by such Lender, and such funds are not madkable to the Borrower by the Administrative
Agent because the conditions to the Loan set farections 2.01 or 4.01 are not satisfied or waive
accordance with the terms hereof, the Administeathgent shall return such funds (in like funds as

DC\1607865.18



received from such Lender) to such Lender, withintdrest, without prejudice to such Lender’s rights
against the Borrower under Section 3.03

(d) The obligations of the Lenders hereunder to malalable its Commitment for
the Loan are several and not joint. The failureuy Lender to make available its Commitment on the
Closing Date hereunder shall not relieve any otleeder of its corresponding obligation to do scsanh
date, and no Lender shall be responsible for tiheréaof any other Lender to so make its Commitment
available on the Closing Date.

SECTION 2.13  Sharing of Payments If any Lender shall, by exercising any right of
setoff or counterclaim or otherwise, obtain payniantespect of any principal of or interest on twan
or other obligations hereunder resulting in suchnder receiving payment of a proportion of the
aggregate amount of the Loan and accrued intdrestdn or other such obligations greater thanrits p
rata share thereof as provided herein, then theérereceiving such greater proportion shall (ajiytthe
Administrative Agent of such fact, and (b) purché®e cash at face value) participations in thetipar
of the Loan held by the other Lenders and suchr abiigations of the other Lenders, or make sutieiot
adjustments as shall be equitable, so that thefibehall such payments shall be shared by thedees
ratably in accordance with the aggregate amoumiriatipal of and accrued interest on their respecti
amounts of the Loan and other amounts owing theaviged that:

)] if any such participations are purchased aricbalany portion of the payment
giving rise thereto is recovered, such participatishall be rescinded and the purchase price eestor
the extent of such recovery, without interest; and

(i) the provisions of this paragraph shall not @enstrued to apply to (x) any
payment made by the Borrower pursuant to and iordemice with the express terms of this Agreement,
or (y) any payment obtained by a Lender as corgiiger for the assignment of or sale of a partiégrat
in the Loan to any assignee or participant, othantto the Borrower or any Subsidiary thereof ¢as t
which the provisions of this paragraph shall apply)

The Borrower consents to the foregoing and agteethe extent it may effectively do so
under applicable law, that any Lender acquiringadigipation pursuant to the foregoing arrangements
may exercise against the Borrower rights of sedaff counterclaim with respect to such participatien
fully as if such Lender were a direct creditor bt tBorrower in the amount of such participation.
Notwithstanding anything in this Section 2.13 te ttlontrary, CoBank may exercise its rights agangt
CoBank Equities held by the Borrower without conipdywith this Section 2.13.

ARTICLE 3
ADDITIONAL PROVISIONS REGARDING THE LOAN

SECTION 3.01 Additional Loan Provisions.

(@) Increased Costs Generally. If any Change in Laall:sh

)] impose, modify or deem applicable any reserve, iapedeposit,
compulsory loan, insurance charge or similar regmént against assets of, deposits with or for the
account of, or credit extended or participatedyindmy Lender;

(i) subject any Recipient to any Taxes (other thanl(@emnified Taxes,
(B) Taxes described in clauses (b) through (dhefdefinition of Excluded Taxes, and (C) Connection

5
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Income Taxes) on its loans, loan principal, lettefscredit, commitments, or other obligations, t& i
deposits, reserves, other liabilities or capittilaitable thereto; or

(iii) impose on any Lender any other condition, costxperse (other than
Taxes) affecting this Agreement or the Loan madsunh Lender;

and the result of any of the foregoing shall bntwease the cost to such Lender or such othempReti

of making, converting to, continuing or maintainiting Loan or of maintaining its obligation to make
Loan, or to increase the cost to such Lender dn stiter Recipient, or to reduce the amount of amy s
received or receivable by such Lender or other fiteci hereunder (whether of principal, interestioy
other amount) then, upon request of such Lendethar Recipient, the Borrower will pay to such Lend

or other Recipient, as the case may be, such additamount or amounts as will compensate such
Lender or other Recipient, as the case may besuich additional costs incurred or reduction sutfere

(b) Capital Requirements. If any Lender determined #vay Change in Law
affecting such Lender or any lending office of sli@nder or such Lender’s holding company, if any,
regarding capital or liquidity requirements, hasvmuld have the effect of reducing the rate of meton
such Lender’s capital or on the capital of suchdegis holding company, if any, as a consequendbkisf
Agreement, the Commitment of such Lender or theusrnof the Loan made by such Lender, to a level
below that which such Lender or such Lender’'s mgdcompany could have achieved but for such
Change in Law (taking into consideration such Leisdeolicies and the policies of such Lender's
holding company with respect to capital adequaity@n from time to time the Borrower will pay to suc
Lender such additional amount or amounts as withmensate such Lender or such Lender’'s holding
company for any such reduction suffered.

© Certificates for Reimbursement. A certificate afLender setting forth the
amount or amounts necessary to compensate suchelLamdits holding company as specified in
paragraph (a) or (b) of this Section 3.01 and dedid to the Borrower, shall be conclusive absent
manifest error. The Borrower shall pay such Lerttieramount shown as due on any such certificate
within ten (10) days after receipt thereof.

(d) Delay in Requests. Failure or delay on the partaiy Lender to demand
compensation pursuant to this Section 3.01 shaltowstitute a waiver of such Lender’s right to deich
such compensation; provided, that, the Borrowell slod be required to compensate a Lender pursizant
this Section 3.01 for any increased costs incuoregductions suffered more than six (6) montherpo
the date that such Lender notifies the BorrowethefChange in Law giving rise to such increasedscos
or reductions, and of such Lender’s intention torolcompensation therefor (except that, if the @lean
Law giving rise to such increased costs or redustis retroactive, then the six (6) month periddmed
to above shall be extended to include the periagétwbactive effect thereof).

SECTION 3.02  lllegality .

Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreemdn the event that on or after the date
hereof any Change in Law shall make it unlawfulday Lender to make or maintain the Loan, then such
Lender shall promptly notify the Borrower thereuwifith a copy to the Administrative Agent), following
which, if such law shall so mandate, an amounthef dutstanding principal of the Loan held by such
Lender shall be prepaid by the Borrower, togethiéh accrued and unpaid interest thereof and akroth
amounts payable by the Borrower under this Agreerianluding, without limitation, amounts owing
pursuant to Section 3.03), on or before such dathall be mandated by such law.
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SECTION 3.03 Compensation

The Borrower promises to indemnify the AdministratiAgent and the Lenders and to hold the
Administrative Agent and the Lenders harmless femm loss or expense which the Administrative Agent
or the Lenders may sustain or incur as a conseguefnda) default by the Borrower in making a
borrowing of the Loan after the Borrower has gigenotice requesting the same in accordance with the
provisions of this Agreement, (b) default by ther®@ver in making any prepayment of the Loan after t
Borrower has given a notice thereof in accordanitie the provisions of this Agreement, (c) the makin
of any prepayment of the Loan, (d) the failure ¢épay the Loan when required by the terms of this
Agreement, and (e) receiving payments pursuanetdiéh 3.06(a)(2) with respect to any assignments.
Such indemnification may include an amount equdl)tan amount of interest calculated at the Quoted
Fixed Rate which would have accrued on the amaumjuiestion, for the period from the date of such
prepayment or of such failure to borrow or repaythe last day of the Maturity Date minus (ii) the
amount of interest (as reasonably determined byAtministrative Agent) which would have accrued to
the Lenders on such amount by placing such amonirdeposit for a comparable period with leading
banks in the interbank market. The Borrower spajl to the Administrative Agent for the benefittioé
Lenders such compensation as may be due unde8¢hison 3.03 within ten (10) days after receiptiof
certificate of the Administrative Agent claiming ctu compensation and identifying with reasonable
specificity the basis for and amount thereof. Edetermination by Administrative Agent of amounts
owing under this_Section 3.03 shall, absent maniesor, be conclusive and binding on the parties
hereto. This Section 3.03 shall survive the teatiam of this Agreement, the other Loan Documeautsl,
the Indenture and the payment of the Loan andiladiraamounts payable hereunder.

SECTION 3.04 Taxes

(a) Payment Free of Taxes. Any and all payments byomraccount of any
obligation of the Borrower under any Loan Docunsmll be made without deduction or withholding for
any Taxes, except as required by applicable ldvwany applicable law (as determined in the goothfai
discretion of an applicable Withholding Agent) rega the deduction or withholding of any Tax from
any such payment by a Withholding Agent, then tpplieaable Withholding Agent shall be entitled to
make such deduction or withholding and shall time&y the full amount deducted or withheld to the
relevant Governmental Authority in accordance vefiplicable law and, if such Tax is an Indemnified
Tax, then the sum payable by the Borrower shaihbeeased as necessary so that after such dedaction
withholding has been made (including such dedustiand withholdings applicable to additional sums
payable under this Section 3.04) the applicableifRat receives an amount equal to the sum it would
have received had no such deduction or withholdiegn made.

(b) Payment of Other Taxes by the Borrower. The Boermsghall timely pay to the
relevant Governmental Authority in accordance wipplicable law, or at the option of the
Administrative Agent timely reimburse it for theypaent of, any Other Taxes.

(© Indemnification by the Borrower. The Borrower shiatlemnify each Recipient,
within ten (10) days after demand therefor, for thik amount of any Indemnified Taxes (including
Indemnified Taxes imposed or asserted on or attiile to amounts payable under this Section 3.04)
payable or paid by such Recipient or required towithheld or deducted from a payment to such
Recipient and any reasonable expenses arisingfriverer with respect thereto, whether or not such
Indemnified Taxes were correctly or legally imposedsserted by the relevant Governmental Authority
A certificate as to the amount of such paymeniatility delivered to the Borrower by a Lender (i
copy to the Administrative Agent), or by the Adnsinative Agent on its own behalf or on behalf of a
Lender, shall be conclusive absent manifest error.
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(d) Indemnification by the Lenders. Each Lender shalNesally indemnify the
Administrative Agent, within ten (10) days afterntend therefor, for (i) any Indemnified Taxes
attributable to such Lender (but only to the exténait the Borrower has not already indemnified the
Administrative Agent for such Indemnified Taxes amithout limiting the obligation of the Borrower to
do so), (ii) any Taxes attributable to such Lersléailure to comply with the provisions of Sectib?.06
relating to the maintenance of a Participant Regiand (iii) any Excluded Taxes attributable tohsuc
Lender, in each case, that are payable or paidhdyAtministrative Agent in connection with any Loan
Document, and any reasonable expenses arisingrirarer with respect thereto, whether or not such
Taxes were correctly or legally imposed or assettgdthe relevant Governmental Authority. A
certificate as to the amount of such payment dailitg delivered to any Lender by the Administraiv
Agent shall be conclusive absent manifest erroachELender hereby authorizes the Administrative
Agent to set off and apply any and all amounts rgt time owing to such Lender under any Loan
Document or otherwise payable by the Administrafhgent to the Lender from any other source against
any amount due to the Administrative Agent undés plaragraph (d).

(e) Evidence of Payments. As soon as practicable mraahy event within ten (10)
Banking Days after any payment of Taxes by the @woer to a Governmental Authority pursuant to this
Section 3.04, the Borrower shall deliver to the Amstrative Agent the original or a certified copf/a
receipt issued by such Governmental Authority evidley such payment, a copy of the return reporting
such payment or other evidence of such paymenomehsy satisfactory to the Administrative Agent.

() Status of Lenders. (i) Any Lender that is entitiedan exemption from or
reduction of withholding Tax with respect to payngemade under any Loan Document shall deliver to
the Borrower and the Administrative Agent, at timeet or times reasonably requested by the Borrower o
the Administrative Agent, such properly completed axecuted documentation reasonably requested by
the Borrower or the Administrative Agent as willrpgt such payments to be made without withholding
or at a reduced rate of withholding. In additiany Lender, if reasonably requested by the Borrawer
the Administrative Agent, shall deliver such ottdwcumentation prescribed by applicable law or
reasonably requested by the Borrower or the Admnatise Agent as will enable the Borrower or the
Administrative Agent to determine whether or nottsu.ender is subject to backup withholding or
information reporting requirements. Notwithstamgdianything to the contrary in the preceding two
sentences, the completion, execution and submissibrsuch documentation (other than such
documentation set forth in Sections 3.04(f)(ii)@)(b) and (ii)(d) below) shall not be requireidin the
Lender’'s reasonable judgment such completion, dk@twr submission would subject such Lender to
any material unreimbursed cost or expense or waalttrially prejudice the legal or commercial pasiti
of such Lender.

(i) Without limiting the generality of the fore@ng, in the event that the Borrower is
a U.S. Borrowet,

(a) any Lender that is a U.S. Person shall delivethto Borrower and the
Administrative Agent on or prior to the date on @hisuch Lender becomes a Lender under this
Agreement (and from time to time thereafter upoa tkasonable request of the Borrower or the
Administrative Agent), executed originals of IRSrroW-9 certifying that such Lender is exempt from
U.S. federal backup withholding tax;

(b) any Foreign Lender shall, to the extent it is lggantitled to do so,
deliver to the Borrower and the Administrative Agén such number of copies as shall be requesged b
the recipient) on or prior to the date on whichhsioreign Lender becomes a Lender under this
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Agreement (and from time to time thereafter upoa tkasonable request of the Borrower or the
Administrative Agent), whichever of the following applicable;

D) in the case of a Foreign Lender claiming the béseadf an
income tax treaty to which the United States isdyp(x) with respect to payments of interest uratey
Loan Document, executed originals of IRS Form W-BB&stablishing an exemption from, or reduction
of, U.S. federal withholding Tax pursuant to thetérest” article of such tax treaty and (y) witbpect to
any other applicable payments under any Loan DootneS Form W-8BEN establishing an exemption
from, or reduction of, U.S. federal withholding Tpursuant to the “business profits” or “other in@&m
article of such tax treaty:

(2) executed originals of IRS Form W-8ECI,

3) in the case of a Foreign Lender claiming the bémnedf the
exemption for portfolio interest under Section &31¢f the Code, (x) a certificate substantiallytire
form of Exhibit D-1 to the effect that such Foreigender is not a “bank” within the meaning of Seunti
881(c)(3)(A) of the Code, a “10 percent sharehdladrthe Borrower within the meaning of Section
881(c)(3)(B) of the Code, or a “controlled foreigorporation” described in Section 881(c)(3)(C) lné t
Code (a “U.S. Tax Compliance Certificate”) and éyecuted originals of IRS Form W-8BEN;

(4) to the extent a Foreign Lender is not the bendfioianer,
executed originals of IRS Form W-8IMY, accompani®dIRS Form W-8ECI, IRS Form W-8BEN, a
U.S. Tax Compliance Certificate substantially ia tbrm of Exhibit D-2 or Exhibit D-3, IRS Form W-9,
and/or other certification documents from each beia owner, as applicable; provided that if the
Foreign Lender is a partnership and one or mormectior indirect partners of such Foreign Lender are
claiming the portfolio interest exemption, such éign Lender may provide a U.S. Tax Compliance
Certificate substantially in the form of Exhibit9Den behalf of each such direct and indirect partne

© any Foreign Lender shall, to the extent it is lggantitled to do so,

deliver to the Borrower and the Administrative Agéin such number of copies as shall be requesged b
the recipient) on or prior to the date on whichhsioreign Lender becomes a Lender under this
Agreement (and from time to time thereafter upoa tkasonable request of the Borrower or the
Administrative Agent), executed originals of anyert form prescribed by applicable law as a bagis fo
claiming exemption from or a reduction in U.S. fedevithholding Tax, duly completed, together with
such supplementary documentation as may be presdoip applicable law to permit the Borrower or the
Administrative Agent to determine the withholdingdeduction required to be made; and

(d) if a payment made to a Lender under any Loan Dootmeuld be
subject to U.S. federal withholding Tax imposedHA#yTCA if such Lender were to fail to comply with
the applicable reporting requirements of FATCA [iniing those contained in Section 1471(b) or
1472(b) of the Code, as applicable), such Lendel sleliver to the Borrower and the Administrative
Agent at the time or times prescribed by law andath time or times reasonably requested by the
Borrower or the Administrative Agent such documéataprescribed by applicable law (including as
prescribed by Section 1471(b)(3)(C)(i) of the Coded such additional documentation reasonably
requested by the Borrower or the Administrative Atgas may be necessary for the Borrower and the
Administrative Agent to comply with their obligatie under FATCA and to determine that such Lender
has complied with such Lender’'s obligations undAilr €A or to determine the amount to deduct and
withhold from such payment. Solely for purposesthit clause (d), “FATCA” shall include any
amendments made to FATCA after the date of thiségent.
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Each Lender agrees that if any form or certifiaatiopreviously delivered expires or becomes
obsolete or inaccurate in any respect, it shallatgpduch form or certification or promptly notiflyet
Borrower and the Administrative Agent in writingits legal inability to do so.

(9) Treatment of Certain Refunds. If any party detessj in its sole discretion
exercised in good faith, that it has received andfof any Taxes as to which it has been indenthifie
pursuant to this Section 3.04 (including by therpagt of additional amounts pursuant to this Section
3.04), it shall pay to the indemnifying party anaamt equal to such refund (but only to the extdnt o
indemnity payments made under this Section witpbeesto the Taxes giving rise to such refund),afet
all out-of-pocket expenses (including Taxes) ofnsimdemnified party and without interest (otherrtha
any interest paid by the relevant Governmental Axityy with respect to such refund). Such
indemnifying party, upon the request of such indéexh party, shall repay to such indemnified pattg
amount paid over pursuant to this paragraph (gjs(rhy penalties, interest or other charges impbged
the relevant Governmental Authority) in the evdrdttsuch indemnified party is required to repayhsuc
refund to such Governmental Authority. Notwithsteog anything to the contrary in this paragraph (g)
in no event will the indemnified party be requitedpay any amount to an indemnifying party pursaant
this paragraph (g) the payment of which would pldeindemnified party in a less favorable netrafte
Tax position than the indemnified party would hé&veen in if the indemnification payments or addigibn
amounts giving rise to such refund had never bedoh pThis paragraph shall not be construed toirequ
any indemnified party to make available its Taxires (or any other information relating to its Taxkat
it deems confidential) to the indemnifying partyamy other Person.

(h) Survival. Each party’s obligations under this #8tt3.04 shall survive the
resignation or replacement of the AdministrativeeAgor any assignment of rights by, or the replasgm
of, a Lender, the termination of the Commitmentd #me repayment, satisfaction or discharge of all
obligations under any Loan Document.

SECTION 3.05 Change of Lending Office If any Lender requests compensation under
Sections 3.01, 3.02 or 3.03, or requires the Bogrow pay additional amounts to any Lender or any
Governmental Authority for the account of any Lengdarsuant to Section 3.04, then such Lender shall
(at the request of the Borrower) use reasonab@tsfto designate a different lending office fondiing
or booking the Loan hereunder or to assign itstsigind obligations hereunder to another of itscef
branches or affiliates, if, in the judgment of suoknder, such designation or assignment (i) would
eliminate or reduce amounts payable pursuant todde®.01, 3.02, 3.03 or Section 3.04, as the ozse
be, in the future, and (ii) would not subject sli@mder to any unreimbursed cost or expense anddwoul
not otherwise be disadvantageous to such LenderBoihrower hereby agrees to pay all reasonable cost
and expenses incurred by any Lender in connectithamy such designation or assignment.

SECTION 3.06 Replacement of Lender or Reduction of Commitments

(a) If any Lender requests compensation under Sec8dits 3.02 or 3.03, or if the
Borrower is required to pay additional amounts ny aender or any Governmental Authority for the
account of any Lender pursuant to Section 3.04 iarnghch case, such Lender has declined or is enabl
designate a different lending office in accordamgth Section 3.05 (each such Lender _a “Specified
Lender”), or if any Lender is Non-Consenting Lendeen the Borrower may, so long as no Default or
Event of Default shall have occurred and be coimimuat its sole expense and effort, upon noticgutth
Lender and the Administrative Agent require sucihder to assign and delegate, without recourse (in
accordance with and subject to the restrictiongatned in, and consents required by, Section 124)b)
of its interests, rights and obligations under tAgreement and the related Loan Documents to an
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assignee that shall assume such obligations (wassignee may be another Lender, if such Lender
accepts such assignment); provided, that:

0] the Borrower shall have paid to the Administrativgent the
assignment fee (if any) specified_in Section 12.06;

(i) such Lender shall have received payment of an atnegual to the
outstanding principal of its Loan, accrued intetlesteon, accrued fees and all other amounts payabl
it hereunder and under the other Loan Documents fite assignee (to the extent of such outstanding
principal and accrued interest and fees) or thedar (in the case of all other amounts);

(iii) in the case of any such assignment resulting frontlaam for
compensation under Sections 3.02 or 3.03 or paywequired to be made pursuant to Section 3.04, suc
assignment will result in a reduction in such congagion or payments thereafter;

(iv) such assignment does not conflict with applicaée land

(v) in the case of any assignment resulting from a eefeécoming a Non-
Consenting Lender, the applicable assignee shedl bansented to the applicable amendment, waiver or
consent.

(b) Borrower may not exercise its rights undes Bection 3.06 if, as a result of a
waiver by a Lender, the circumstances giving reséhe Borrower’s rights under this Section 3.06seea
to apply or if a Default or Event of Default hasoed and is continuing.

ARTICLE 4
CONDITIONS PRECEDENT

SECTION 4.01 Conditions to Closing The obligation of the Lenders to enter into this
Agreement and to provide the Loan to be made onClibsing Date is subject to the satisfaction (or
waiver) of the following conditions precedent:

(@) Loan Documents. The Administrative Agent shall dhagceive for delivery to
each Lender (i) this Agreement, executed and deli/by the Borrower, and (ii) each of the Noteedat
as of the Closing Date and authenticated by thet@euindicating that the Notes have been autheatica
pursuant to the Indenture and are secured thereunde

(b) Legal Opinions. The Administrative Agent shall baxeceived for delivery to
each Lender an executed legal opinion of (i) SafiiMountjoy, Stainback & Miller, P.S.C., counsel t
the Borrower, and (ii) Orrick, Herrington & Suféd LLP, special New York counsel to the Borrower,
both as reasonably satisfactory to the Administeafigent.

(c) Secretary’'s Certificate. The Administrative Agesitall have received for
delivery to each Lender a certificate of the Boreowdated as of the Closing Date, substantiallthe
form of Exhibit E, with appropriate insertions aatichments.

(d) Closing Certificate. The Administrative Agent dhtave received for delivery to
each Lender a certificate dated as of the Closiatg Bigned by a Responsible Officer of the Borrower
certifying that (i) other than as set forth in isclosure Statement dated July 12, 2012, sincember
31, 2011, there has not occurred any event, cirtamos, development, change or effect that has had o
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would reasonably be expected to result in a Mdtekidverse Effect, (i) all facts or information
represented to the Administrative Agent are coregcept as would not reasonably be expected to &ave
Material Adverse Effect, and (iii) the represerta and warranties in Article 5 are true and adeura

all material respects, except to the extent ansesgmtation or warranty is already qualified by enatity

or Material Adverse Effect, in which case such espntation or warranty is true and correct in all
respects.

(e) Financial Statements. The Administrative Agentidiave received for delivery
to each Lender and be satisfied with (i) the aatditnancial statements of the Borrower for fisgedr
ending December 31, 2011 (ii) unaudited finandatesnents of the Borrower for each quarterly period
ended (a) after December 31, 2011 and (b) at #&sdays prior to the Closing Date, and (iii) sutheo
financial information, including without limitatiofinancial projections, as the Administrative Agemdy
reasonably request.

() Fees and Other Charges. The Administrative Adentits own benefit and the
benefit of the Lenders, shall have received alt feeother charges provided for herein and in the F
Letter to be paid on or prior to the Closing Date.

(9) Litigation. Except as set forth in Schedule 4.Q1tgere shall be no litigation,
investigation or proceeding of or before any adbdr or Governmental Authority pending that, singty
in the aggregate, materially impairs the transasticontemplated by this Agreement or that would
reasonably be expected to have a Material AdveffeetE

(h) Financial Obligations. The Borrower shall be inmgdiance with all agreements
governing Material Indebtedness.

® Member Wholesale Power Contracts; Material Direetv€ Contracts. The
Administrative Agent shall have received true amdrect copies of the Member Wholesale Power
Contracts and Material Direct Serve Contracts disien Schedule 5.17, including all material
amendments, supplements or modifications thereto.

0) Solvency Certificate. The Administrative Agent klave received for delivery
to each Lender a solvency certificate signed bycthef financial officer or equivalent officer orelalf
of the Borrower, substantially in the form of Exitib.

(k) USA Patriot Act. The Administrative Agent shalleareceived for delivery to
each Lender from the Borrower documentation andratiformation required by the Lenders’ regulatory
authorities under applicable “know your customentaanti-money laundering rules and regulations,
including, without limitation, the USA Patriot Act.

()] Material Adverse Effect. Other than as set forththe Disclosure Statement
dated July 12, 2012, since December 31, 2011, thiea# not have occurred any event, circumstance,
development, change or effect that has had or woeddonably be expected to result in a Material
Adverse effect.

(m) Flood Insurance. The Administrative Agent shalldhbeen permitted to conduct
any diligence it deems necessary with respect yoea property owned or used by the Borrower which
may be subject to any Requirement of Law pertaitinigpod insurance and have received for deliery
each Lender proof of flood insurance in an amoatisfctory to the Administrative Agent and othessvi
sufficient to comply with any Requirements of Law.
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(n) Indenture. (i) The Administrative Agent shall haeeeived for delivery to each
Lender a correct and complete copy of the Indenturé all amendments and supplements thereto,
including that certain Supplemental Indenture, eset and delivered by the Trustee and the Borrower,
dated on or before the Closing Date (the “Suppldaiemdenture”), and be reasonably satisfied
therewith, and (ii) the Borrower shall have compieany authentication requirements under the tefms
the Indenture and taken the necessary steps tareertse Notes are, to the satisfaction of the
Administrative Agent in its sole discretion, sealtbereunder (the “Collateral Requirements”).

(o) Member Wholesale Power Contracts; Material Direetv€ Contracts. (i) No
Member shall have terminated or contested in vgitihe validity or enforceability of its Member
Wholesale Power Contract or, after any applicabéee period, failed to make any payment thereunder
and (ii) no Person party to a Material Direct SeBantract shall have terminated or contested itirvgi
the validity or enforceability of its Material Dice Serve Contract or, after any applicable graceoge
failed to make any payment thereunder.

(p) CFEC Loan Agreement. The Administrative Agent slmale received, and be
reasonably satisfied with, evidence that the CF@nLégreement has been or will be consummated
substantially simultaneous with this Agreement.

(@) RUS Payment. The Administrative Agent shall haaeeived, and be reasonably
satisfied with, evidence that the Borrower has df payoff indebtedness owed to RUS in an amount
equal to $84,603,000 substantially simultaneouk eiitering into this Agreement.

(n Additional Documents. The Administrative Agent khaave received such
additional documents as the Administrative Ageny measonably request.

(s) Written Request. The Administrative Agent shaNéda Notice of Borrowing as
required pursuant to the terms hereof.

ARTICLE 5
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

To induce the Administrative Agent and the Lenderenter into this Agreement and to make the
Loan, the Borrower represents and warrants to tdeniAistrative Agent and the Lenders, which
representations and warranties shall be deemed omatie Closing Date hereunder that:

SECTION 5.01  Existence The Borrower (i) is duly organized (or incorpiad), validly
existing and in good standing under the laws ofjtinisdiction of its organization or incorporatiofi)
has the corporate or organizational power and aityh@nd the legal right, to own and operate its
Property, to lease the Property it operates agdeand to conduct the business in which it is otiyre
engaged, except where the failure to do so wouldeasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse
Effect; and (iii) is duly qualified and in good stling (where such concept is relevant) under the
Requirements of Law of each jurisdiction where dtgnership, lease or operation of Property or the
conduct of its business requires such qualificagircept, in each case, to the extent that theréatu be
so qualified or in good standing (where such conhcepelevant) would not reasonably be expected to
have a Material Adverse Effect.
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SECTION 5.02 Compliance with Law, Member Wholesale Power Contrats,

Material Direct Serve Contracts, and OrganizationalDocuments The Borrower is in compliance
with (i) all Requirements of Law except to the extthat any such failure to comply therewith wootut
reasonably be expected to have a Material Adveffectt: (i) all anti-corruption and anti-money
laundering laws, rules, and regulations, includiwghout limitation, the USA Patriot Act and alltar
anti-terrorism financing laws, rules, and regulasio(iii) the Member Wholesale Power Contracts and
Material Direct Serve Contracts except to the extlieat any such failure to comply therewith woulat n
reasonably be expected to have a Material AdveifeetEand (iv) its Organizational Documents.

SECTION 5.03 Consents _and Approvals No consent, permission, authorization,
filings, notices, order or license of any GoverntaéAuthority or of any party to any agreement toiet
the Borrower is a party or by which it or any of Property may be bound or affected, is necessary i
connection with the execution, delivery, performamr enforcement of any Loan Document, except
consents, permission, authorizations, filings, cestj orders or licenses described_in Schedule!,5.03
which have been obtained and are in full forceherfailure of which to obtain would not reasonaléy
expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

SECTION 5.04 Taxes The Borrower (i) has filed or caused to be fisdid=ederal, state,
provincial and other tax returns that are requicede filed and (ii) has paid all Taxes that are dnd
payable and all other Taxes, fees, assessmenther governmental charges or levies imposed on it 0
any of its Property by any Governmental Authorixgept in each case to the extent that (i) the raito
do so would not reasonably be expected to resatNtaterial Adverse Effect or (ii) where the amoant
validity thereof is currently being contested inodofaith by appropriate proceedings and reserves
required in conformity with GAAP with respect therdave been provided on the books of the Borrower.

SECTION 5.05 Corporate Power; Authorization; Enforceable Obligations.

(@) The Borrower has the corporate or organizatigmalver and authority to
execute, deliver and perform the Loan Documentsthich it is a party, to borrow the Loan hereunder,
and to fulfill the Collateral Requirements.

(b) The Borrower has taken all necessary corporatehmr @ction to authorize the
execution, delivery and performance of the Loan ubeents to which it is a party, to authorize the
extensions of credit on the terms and conditionsthi§ Agreement, and to fulfill the Collateral
Requirements.

(© Each Loan Document has been duly executed andedetivon behalf of the
Borrower. This Agreement constitutes, and eackrdtlvan Document upon execution will constitute, a
legal, valid and binding obligation of the Borrowenforceable against the Borrower in accordantle wi
its terms, except as enforceability may be limitgdapplicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganizatio
moratorium or similar Requirements of Law affectthg enforcement of creditors’ rights generally and
by general equitable principles (whether enforcermgesought by proceedings in equity or at law) trel
implied covenants of good faith and fair dealing.

! NTD: Schedule 5.03 should list any filings oretlactions that are required to be taken pursuetftet Indenture
that cannot be completed prior to the Closing Date.
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SECTION 5.06 No_Conflict. The execution, delivery and performance of this
Agreement and the other Loan Documents by the Bamrothe borrowings hereunder and the use of the
proceeds thereof do not and will not (a) violate @rganizational Documents of the Borrower, (b)egtc
as would not reasonably be expected to have a Mbfaiverse Effect, violate any Requirements of L.aw
(c) result in, or require, the creation or impasitiof any Lien on any of its respective properies
revenues pursuant to any Requirements of Law orsanlg Contractual Obligation (other than the Liens
permitted by Section 7.01), or (d) result in a btreaf, or constitute a default under, the Indenturany
other indenture, loan agreement, credit agreememther material agreement to which the Borrowex i
party or by which it or any of its necessary prosrare bound.

SECTION 5.07 ERISA. All plans (“ERISA Plans”) of a type describedSection 3(3)
of ERISA in respect of which the Borrower is an ‘foyer”, as defined in Section 3(5) of ERISA, are,
to the best knowledge of the Borrower, in substhribmpliance with ERISA, and none of such ERISA
Plans is insolvent or in reorganization, or hasademal accumulated or waived funding deficiencyhn
the meaning of Section 412 of the Internal ReveGode, except to the extent that any such non-
compliance, insolvency, reorganization or deficiengould not reasonably be expected to have a
Material Adverse Effect. The Borrower has not med any material liability (including any material
contingent liability) to or on account of any sSUERISA Plan pursuant to Sections 4062, 4063, 4064,
4201 or 4204 of ERISA. No proceedings have bestititted to terminate any such ERISA Plan.

SECTION 5.08 No Change Since December 31, 2011, other than as set forthe
Disclosure Statement dated July 12, 2012, therdodas no event, circumstance, development, change o
effect that has had or would reasonably be expdotadve a Material Adverse Effect.

SECTION 5.09 No Material Litigation . Except as disclosed on Schedule 4.01(g), no
litigation, investigation or proceeding of or befcany arbitrator or Governmental Authority is pewgdi
or, to the knowledge of the Borrower, likely to dtmmmenced within a reasonable time period agdnest t
Borrower which, taken as a whole, would reasonbblgxpected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

SECTION 5.10 Ownership of Property; Liens. The Borrower has title to, or a valid
leasehold interest in, all its material real préypesind good title to, or a valid leasehold intéfasall its
other material Property comprising the Trust Estare none of such Property comprising the Trust
Estate is subject to any Lien except as permitjefdrtion 7.01.

SECTION 5.11  Federal Requlations No part of the proceeds of the Loan will be used
for “buying” or “carrying” any “margin stock” withi the respective meanings of each of the quotaaster
under Regulation U as now and from time to timesh#er in effect or for any purpose that violates t
provisions of the regulations of the Board. Ifuegted by the Administrative Agent, the Borrowell wi
furnish to the Administrative Agent a statement ttee foregoing effect in conformity with the
requirements of FR Form G-3 or FR Form U 1 refetceith Regulation U.

SECTION 5.12  Investment Company Act The Borrower is not an “investment
company,” or a company “controlled” by an “investrhecompany,” within the meaning of the
Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended.

SECTION 5.13  Subsidiaries, Affiliates and Members There are no direct or indirect
Subsidiaries of the Borrower, Affiliates, or Membgother than as disclosed on Schedule 5.13.

SECTION 5.14  Solvency The Borrower is, and after giving effect to thaking of the
Loan hereunder will be, Solvent.
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SECTION 5.15  Environmental Matters. Except as disclosed on Schedule 5.15, the
Borrower has obtained all environmental, health aaféty permits, licenses and other authorizations
required under all Environmental Laws to carry ¢& business as now being or as proposed to be
conducted, which if not obtained would reasonaldyelipected to result in a Material Adverse Effect.
Each of such permits, licenses and authorizatisn ifull force and effect and the Borrower is in
compliance with the terms and conditions thereofl & also in compliance with all other limitations
restrictions, conditions, standards, prohibitionsguirements, obligations, schedules and timetables
contained in any applicable Environmental Law oaiy regulation, code, plan, order, decree, judgmen
injunction, notice or demand letter issued, enténéal promulgated or approved thereunder, tha¢aich
case, if not in effect or not in compliance woudsonably be expected to result in a Material Aslver
Effect.

SECTION 5.16  Accuracy of Information, etc. No written, factual statement or
information (excluding the projections and pro farfinancial information referred to below) containe
in this Agreement, any other Loan Document or d@ngrfcial statement or certificate furnished to any
Lender, by or on behalf of the Borrower, for use@mnection with the transactions contemplatechisy t
Agreement or the other Loan Documents, when takera avhole, contained, as of the date such
statement, information, or certificate was so fsineid, any untrue statement of a material fact atteen
to state a material fact necessary in order to nthkestatements contained herein or therein not
materially misleading. The projections and pranfarfinancial information contained in the materials
referenced above are based upon good faith essmaat assumptions believed by management of the
Borrower to be reasonable at the time made, itghbedttognized by the Administrative Agent and the
Lenders that such financial information as it redato future events is not to be viewed as factthad
actual results during the period or periods covdrgdsuch financial information may differ from the
projected results set forth therein by a materabant.

SECTION 5.17 Member Wholesale Power Contracts; Material Direct $rve
Contracts.

(a) The Borrower has heretofore delivered to the Adstiative Agent complete and
correct copies of the Member Wholesale Power Cot#trand Material Direct Serve Contracts in effect
on the Closing Date. Identified on Schedule 5.1& tae Member Wholesale Power Contracts and the
Material Direct Serve Contracts in effect as of @lesing Date. Each such Member Wholesale Power
Contract and Material Direct Serve Contract arelggal, valid and binding upon the Borrower and
enforceable against the Borrower in accordance thidhir respective terms and (ii) to the Borrower's
actual knowledge without investigation, legal, dafind binding upon each Counterparty thereto and
enforceable against each Counterparty theretodardance with their respective terms.

(b) The Borrower has not received a “Notice of Termiovatfor Closure” under
Section 7.3.1(a) of a smelter retail service camtfilom a counterparty thereto indicating its inien to
terminate such smelter retail service contractymnsto the terms thereunder (“Notice of Canceita.

SECTION 5.18 Insurance. The Borrower maintains insurance in accordanith the
Indenture.

SECTION 5.19 Franchises, Licenses, Etc. The Borrower possesses all franchises,
certificates, licenses, permits and other authtidma necessary for the operation of its Business,
except such as the failure to possess would nebnedly be expected to result in a Material Adverse
Effect.
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SECTION 5.20 Indebtedness As of the Closing Date, the Borrower has no Mate
Indebtedness other than as set forth on Sched(e 5.

SECTION 5.21 Certain Indenture Items.

(@) The Notes constitute “Additional Obligations” ascButerm is defined in the
Indenture.

(b) The Notes have been and remain authenticated pursughe requirements set
forth in Section 4.1 of the Indenture.

(© The terms of the Loan Documents do not conflicthwtihe provisions of the
Indenture.

(d) The Borrower’s obligations under the Notes whervdedd will rankpari passu
in right of payment, without preference or prioritwith all other “Obligations” as defined in the
Indenture.

ARTICLE 6
AFFIRMATIVE COVENANTS

The Borrower hereby agrees that, so long as the lboather amount is owing to the Lenders
hereunder, the Borrower shall:

SECTION 6.01  Financial Reports. Furnish to the Administrative Agent:

(@) Annual Financial Statements. No later than onedhechtwenty (120) days after
the end of each fiscal year of the Borrower ocagrduring the term hereof, annual financial statese
of the Borrower prepared in accordance with GAARsistently applied. Such financial statementsishal
(a) be audited by a nationally recognized firmrafdpendent certified public accountants selectethéy
Borrower or such other firm of independent certifigublic accountants reasonably acceptable to the
Administrative Agent (b) be accompanied by a repbtuch accountants containing an opinion which is
not limited as to going concern or scope to theafthat the financial statements: (i) were audited
accordance with generally accepted auditing stalsgland (ii) present fairly, in all material restgeche
financial position of the Borrower as at the ydaert ended and the results of its operations foy¢ae
then ended, in conformity with GAAP; (c) be preghie reasonable detail and in comparative form and
(d) include consolidated balance sheets, a stateaieaquity, a statement of operations, a stateroént
cash flows, and all notes and schedules relatiegett.

(b) Quarterly Financial Statements. No later tharysi80) days after the end of the
first three quarterly periods of each fiscal yearttee Borrower, commencing with the fiscal quarter
ending June 30, 2012, the unaudited consolidateEthta sheets of the Borrower as of the end of such
guarter and a related statement of operationdh@Bbrrower for the portion of the fiscal year tigh the
end of such quarter, and such other interim stat&snas the Administrative Agent may reasonably
request, all prepared on a consolidated basi®asanable detail, and in comparative form in acmmed
with GAAP consistently applied and certified by ttigef financial officer of the Borrower (or anothe
Responsible Officer acceptable to the Administexthgent) as being fairly stated in all materialpests
(subject to normal year end audit adjustments hadack of notes).
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(© Annual Budgets and Financial Plans. No later thiaety (90) days after the end
of each fiscal year of the Borrower, copies of @inaual budgets and financial plans of the Borroavet
its Subsidiaries covering for at least the thresr yeriod following the end of such fiscal year.

(d) Annual RUS Form 12. Promptly after furnishing #ane to RUS, a copy of the
RUS Form 12a (or equivalent replacement theret&f)l fby the Borrower with RUS for December 31 of
each year.

(e) Compliance Certificate. Together with each sdirancial statements delivered
pursuant to_Sections 6.01(a) and (b), a certificatethe chief financial officer of the Borrower
substantially in the form of Exhibit G (or anothiiResponsible Officer acceptable to the Administeativ
Agent): (i) certifying that no Default or Event Bfefault occurred during the period covered by such
statements or, if a Default or Event of Default ditur during such period, a statement as to theaa
thereof, whether such Default or Event of Defasltontinuing, and, if continuing, the action whish
proposed to be taken with respect thereto ando@é@ther with each set of financial statementsvdedid
pursuant to Section 6.01(a) only, calculating tloer@wver’'s Margin For Interest Ratio (as definedhie
Indenture).

() Other Information. Such other information and mpoegarding the condition or
operations, financial or otherwise (including cap@ any amendments or supplements to the Indenture
Member Wholesale Power Contracts, or Material DirServe Contracts) of the Borrower as the
Administrative Agent may from time to time reasolyaiequest.

SECTION 6.02 Notices Upon a Responsible Officer of the Borrower afitay
knowledge thereof, furnish to the Administrativeefg for delivery to each Lender:

(@) Notice of Default; Material Adverse Event. Prompthnd in any event within
ten (10) Banking Days after becoming aware themeatice of the occurrence of a Default or an Exa#nt
Default or any event, circumstance, change or effeat would reasonably result in a Material Adeers
Effect.

(b) Notice of Litigation, Governmental Proceedings, &vifonmental Events.
Promptly, and in any event within ten (10) BankiDgys after a Responsible Officer becoming aware
thereof, notice of: (1) the commencement of anyoagtsuit or proceeding before or by any court,
governmental instrumentality, arbitrator, mediatmr the like which, if adversely decided, would
reasonably be expected to have a Material AdveffeetEand (2) the receipt of any notice, indictimen
pleading, or other communication alleging a cooditthat both: (a) may reasonably be expected to
require the Borrower to undertake or to contribibe a clean-up or other response under any
Environmental Law, or which seeks penalties, damapgunctive relief, or other relief as a resuitam
alleged violation of any such Requirements of Lamwhich claims personal injury or property damage
as a result of environmental factors or conditiomsg (b) would reasonably be expected to have a
Material Adverse Effect or result in criminal sapos.

(© Notice of Certain Events. Promptly, and in anyrgweithin fifteen (15) Banking
Days, written notice of each of the following: (Ahy change in the name, structure, jurisdiction of
organization, or organizational identification nuenl(if any) of Borrower; or (2) any change in the
principal place of business of the Borrower or tiitice where its records concerning its accounés ar
kept.
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(d) Notices with Respect to Material Contracts. Progypdind in any event within
ten (10) Banking Days after a Responsible Offiemzdming aware thereof, the Borrower shall notify th
Administrative Agent of (i) any material modificati to any of the Material Contracts or entering int
any new Material Contracts, (ii) any default in exformance of any Counterparty’s or Counterpsirtie
payment obligations where the aggregate principabumt of such default or defaults exceeds
$10,000,000 under any Material Contract that hagimeed unremedied for thirty (30) or more days
beyond the applicable grace period, if any, (ii$) ieceipt of a judicial or regulatory filing matly a
Member, in either case (a) requesting to withdremmf or make a material modification to, any of its
obligations under its Material Contract, (b) segkoonsent to assign any of its rights and obligetio
under its Material Contract, or (c) contesting tladidity or enforceability of its Material Contradiiv)
any release or termination of a Counterparty’s paynobligations under a Material Contract (v) any
decree, order, filing, petition, or similar actiegarding the insolvency or bankruptcy of a Colpddy
or regarding any such Counterparty’s inability teanits future obligations under its Material Cauwty
or (vi) its receipt of a Notice of Cancellation finca counterparty to a smelter retail service cahtaad
shall provide a copy of such Notice of Cancellatomhe Administrative Agent.

(e) Subsidiaries. Promptly, and in any event withfteén (15) Banking Days after
(i) the formation of anymaterial Subsidiary or (i) any immaterial Subsidiary becogia material
Subsidiary, such information as the Administrathdgent may reasonably request with respect to such
Subsidiary, including, without limitation, the napohief executive office, and jurisdiction of fortiza.

() Governmental Reports. Promptly, and in any eveithinvten (10) Banking
Days upon Borrower’s receipt of a written noticeguest for information, order, complaint or repafrt
any Governmental Authority regarding any mattet thauld reasonably be expected to have a Material
Adverse Effect.

SECTION 6.03  Compliance with Laws, Member Wholesale Power Contrets, Direct
Serve Contracts, and Indenture Comply with (A) all Requirements of Law (inclugj without
limitation Environmental Laws and ERISA mattersdasach Member Wholesale Power Contract and
Direct Serve Contract, except, in each case, toetttent that failure to comply therewith would not
reasonably be expected to have a Material Adveffeetzand (B) the Indenture.

SECTION 6.04  Inspection. Permit any Lender (coordinated through the Adstiative
Agent or its agents), upon reasonable notice amdgimormal business hours or at such other tinses a
the parties may agree, to examine the propertasksand records of the Borrower, and to discisserit
their affairs, finances and accounts with its airttofficers, directors, and independent certifipdlic
accountants.

SECTION 6.05 Use of Proceeds Use the proceeds of the Loan for debt refinancin
funding of the Transition Reserve in the amour28,000,000, and capital expenditures.

SECTION 6.06  CoBank Equity.

(@ So long as CoBank is a Lender hereunder, the Bemravill acquire equity in
CoBank in such amounts and at such times as CoBagkequire in accordance with CoBank’s ByLaws
and Capital Plan (as each may be amended frontdirnmee), except that the maximum amount of equity
that the Borrower may be required to purchase iBad& in connection with the amount of the Loan held
by CoBank may not exceed the maximum amount pexchity the ByLaws and the Capital Plan at the
time this Agreement is entered into. The Borroagknowledges receipt of a copy of (i) CoBank’s most
recent annual report, and if more recent, CoBadiest quarterly report, (i) CoBank’'s Notice to
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Prospective Stockholders and (iii) CoBank’s ByLasl Capital Plan, which describe the nature offall
the Borrower’s stock and other equities in CoBaoguired in connection with its patronage loan from
CoBank (the “CoBank Equities”) as well as capitaiian requirements, and agrees to be bound by the
terms thereof.

(b) Each party hereto acknowledges that CoBank's ByLand Capital Plan (as
each may be amended from time to time) shall gogethe rights and obligations of the parties with
respect to the CoBank Equities and any patrondgeds or other distributions made on account tHereo
or on account of the Borrower’'s patronage with QuB&(ii) the Borrower's eligibility for patronage
distributions from CoBank (in the form of CoBankiiites and cash) and (iii) patronage distributiahs,
any, in the event of a sale of a participation rese CoBank reserves the right to assign or sell
participations in all or any part of its Commitmemtr outstanding amounts of the Loan hereunder on a
non-patronage basis.

SECTION 6.07 Further Assurances From time to time execute and deliver, or cdaose
be executed and delivered, such additional instnispecertificates or documents, and take all such
actions, as the Administrative Agent may reasonaklyuest for the purposes of implementing or
effectuating the provisions of this Agreement, tbéher Loan Documents and the Collateral
Requirements.

ARTICLE 7
NEGATIVE COVENANTS

The Borrower hereby agrees that, for the periothsg as Loan or other amount is owing to the
Lenders hereunder, the Borrower shall not:

SECTION 7.01 Liens. Create, incur, assume or suffer to exist any Lipon the Trust
Estate (as defined in the Indenture) except asigedrunder the Indenture (which Liens not proladit
by the Indenture include the statutory first Liarfavor of CoBank on the CoBank Equities).

SECTION 7.02 Restricted Payments Directly or indirectly declare or pay any diviak
or make any payments of, distributions of, or egtients of patronage capital to its Members, extept
the extent permitted by Section 13.15 of the Indent

SECTION 7.03  Accounting Changes Make or permit any change in accounting
policies or reporting practices, except as requibecpermitted by applicable law or as otherwise in
compliance with GAAP.

SECTION 7.04 Member Wholesale Power Contracts, Material Direct 8rve
Contracts and Organizational Documents

(a) Consent to any modification, supplement or waiviesrty of the provision of its
Member Wholesale Power Contracts or Material DirSetve Contracts, if the effect thereof, either
individually or in the aggregate, would reasondisyexpected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

(b) Consent to any modification, supplement or waivfeany of the provisions of its

Organizational Documents if the effect thereofaitindividually or in the aggregate, would readmya
be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.
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SECTION 7.05 Negative Pledge and Prohibition Clauses Enter into any Contractual
Obligation that prohibits or limits the ability dfie Borrower to (a) create, incur, assume or stuffexist
CoBank’s statutory first Lien on the CoBank Equtier (b) perform its obligations under any Loan
Document.

ARTICLE 8
FINANCIAL COVENANT

The Borrower shall comply with Section 13.14 oflitdenture.

ARTICLE 9
EVENTS OF DEFAULT

If any of the following events shall occur and loatinuing:

SECTION 9.01 Payment. The company shall fail to pay (a) any principaltieé Loan
due hereunder, or (b) any interest owed by it anlthan or any fee or other amount payable by it
hereunder or under any other Loan Document, witiv (5) Banking days after any such interest or
other amount becomes due in accordance with thestbereof.

SECTION 9.02 Misrepresentation. Any representation or warranty made or deemed
made by the Borrower herein or in any other Loarcubeent or that is contained in any certificate,
document or financial or other statement furnisbgdt at any time under or in connection with this
Agreement or any such other Loan Document, shaditimer case prove to have been inaccurate in any
material respect on or as of the date made or dienaele or furnished; provided that, with respect to
representations and warranties made after the rigjddate only, the interest rate shall return to the
Quoted Fixed Rate (and the Loans shall not beardsat at the Default Rate) immediately upon the
Borrower’s provision of accurate information in timg to the Administrative Agent.

SECTION 9.03 Covenant Violations The Borrower shall default in the observance or
performance of any agreement contained in Secti@h 6.02(a), and (d), 6.05, 6.06, Article 7, Adi8,
or Article XllI of the Indenture (subject to thegigable cure provisions, if any, contained theyein

SECTION 9.04 Other Violations. The Borrower shall default in the observance or
performance of (i) any agreement contained in 8e08.02(b), (c), (e), and (f) and such default Ishal
continue unremedied for a period of five (5) daysiip any other agreement contained in this Agreem
or any other Loan Document (other than as providegection 9.01, 9.02 or 9.03), and such defauwti sh
continue unremedied for a period of thirty (30) slay each case, after the earlier of (A) the diage
Borrower receives from the Administrative Agentioetof the existence of such default or (B) theedat
Responsible Officer of the Borrower obtains knowleaf such default, provided, that in the casdipf (
above, if remedial action has been taken and Barasvdiligently pursuing a cure, such remedialcarct
has not succeeded within an additional thirty @&y period after Borrower receives notice (purstant
clause (ii)(A) above) or obtains knowledge (purduarclause (ii)(B) above), as applicable.

SECTION 9.05 CoBank Indebtedness

(a) With respect to any Indebtedness owed to CoBankhd Borrower shall default
in any payment (beyond the applicable grace peviith respect thereto, if any), or (i) any such
Indebtedness shall be declared due and payableqoired to be prepaid, other than by a regularly
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scheduled required prepayment or other prepaynanssich Indebtedness prior to the stated maturity
thereof.

(b) CoBank’s commitment to lend to the Borrower undey ather agreement
existing between CoBank and the Borrower as ofGlusing Date shall be terminated due to a default
thereunder.

SECTION 9.06 Member_Wholesale Power Contracts and Material Diret Serve

Contracts. In the course of one fiscal year of the BorroJigrany one or more Members shall
default in the performance of any payment obligatiaunder its or their Member Wholesale Power
Contracts or any one Person party to a MateriggédiBServe Contract shall default in its performaote
any payment obligations under such Material DirServe Contract, where the aggregate principal
amount of such default or defaults exceeds 20%h@Biorrower’s prior fiscal year's revenues and such
default or defaults have continued for thirty-fi{a5) days beyond any applicable cure period, () ane
or more Members or any one Person party to a MatBitect Serve Contract shall contest the validity
enforceability of its or their Member Wholesale RowContracts or Material Direct Serve Contracts, as
the case may be, representing, individually ohimdggregate, 20% or more of the Borrower’s pigwal
year’'s revenues by filing any judicial or regulataction, suit or proceeding seeking as a remedy th
declaration of the unenforceability or the matenmldification of its or their Member Wholesale Powe
Contracts or Material Direct Serve Contracts, asahase may be, and such judicial or regulatory body
shall have issued a final and non-appealable cetleer (A) declaring unenforceable all or a materia
portion of such Member Wholesale Power Contractsuch Material Direct Serve Contracts, as the case
may be, representing, individually or in the aggteg 20% or more of the Borrower’s prior fiscal yea
revenues or (B) adversely modifying any materiatipa of such Wholesale Power Contracts or Material
Direct Serve Contracts representing, as the cagebmandividually or in the aggregate, 20% or mofe
the Borrower’s prior fiscal year’'s revenues, o) @ihe Borrower's Member Wholesale Power Contracts
or Material Direct Serve Contracts together reprdsg 20% or more of the Borrower’s prior fiscal
year’s revenues shall be released or terminatediged, however, that no such Event of Default Isheal
deemed to exist under this Section 9.06(iii) if GA¥melter retail service contract (and the cooeding
Material Direct Serve Contract) expires in accomamvith its terms or (B) a smelter retail service
contract (and, consequently, the corresponding fiddt@irect Serve Contract) is terminated as altesfu
the election of the counterparty to such smelt&ilreervice contract in accordance with the teand
conditions of Section 7.3.1 (in effect as of theogihg Date) of the applicable smelter retail sarvic
contract (and not as the result of any action oiseat of the Borrower or any of it members, exctegt,
for the avoidance of doubt, the Borrower or theligpple member shall be entitled to terminate the
corresponding Material Direct Serve Contract foilogvthe termination of the underlying smelter retai
service contract pursuant to Section 7.3.1 thereof)

SECTION 9.07 Invalidity of Loan Documents. Any Loan Document shall be deemed
invalid by order, judgment or decree of any Govezntal Authority or arbitrator, or the Borrower dhal
assert that any such Loan Document is invalid.

SECTION 9.08 Indenture. An Event of Default (as defined in the Indentusball exist
or the Notes shall cease to be secured underriie t& the Indenture.

ARTICLE 103
REMEDIES UPON DEFAULT

SECTION 10.01 Remedies
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(@) Subject in all cases to clause (b) of this Sectio®1, if an Event of Default has
occurred and is continuing, (i) if such event iskaent of Default specified in the Indenture wigspect
to the Borrower, the Lenders, as Holders of “Olilgyas” under the Indenture, shall have the rightd a
remedies set forth in the Indenture and (ii) if lsw@vent is any other Event of Default, any of the
following actions may be taken: the Administrativgent may, or at the request of the Required Les)der
shall, enforce any and all rights and remedies ag be provided by this Agreement, any other Loan
Document, or under applicable Requirement of Laeluiding without limitation, set off and applicatio
against the Borrower’s obligation to Lender thee dnd payable the proceeds of any equity in CoBank
any cash held by CoBank, or any other balancesthefdoBank for the Borrower’s account (whether or
not such balances are then due). Each of sucksreyid remedies shall be cumulative and may be
exercised from time to time, and no failure on pgaet of any Lender to exercise, and no delay in
exercising, any right or remedy shall preclude ather future exercise thereof, or the exercisenyf a
other right. Presentment, demand and protest kel are hereby expressly waived by the Borrower.
In addition to the rights and remedies set fortbvah upon the occurrence and during the continuahce
an Event of Default, at Administrative Agent’'s aptiin each instance (and automatically following an
acceleration), the unpaid principal balance ofltban (and all overdue payments of interest and)fees
shall bear interest at the Default Rate. All suderest, together with all overdue amounts, shall
payable on demand.

(b) The Loan may only be accelerated as provided it saibject to the terms of, the
Indenture.

SECTION 10.02 Allocation of Payments after Acceleration Notwithstanding any other
provisions of this Agreement, all amounts collectedreceived by the Administrative Agent or any
Lender on account of amounts owed pursuant to tted\(including any principal (and premium, if any)
and interest thereunder) and secured by the Indeshall be paid to the Administrative Agent foe th
benefit of the Lenders pursuant to Section 2.12amydadditional amounts shall then be paid or dedist
as follows:

FIRST, to the payment of all reasonable out-of-gbakosts and expenses (including without
limitation fees and disbursements of any law firmother external counsel and all disbursements of
internal legal counsel) of the Administrative Agentany of the Lenders in connection with enfording
rights of the Lenders under the Loan Documentsraiay as set forth below;

SECOND, to payment of any fees owed to the Admiaiiste Agent or any Lender, pro rata as
set forth below;

THIRD, to all other obligations which shall havecbeme due and payable under the Loan
Documents and not repaid pursuant to clauses “FIRETSECOND” above; and

FOURTH, to the payment of the surplus, if any, tooever may be lawfully entitled to receive
such surplus.

In carrying out the foregoing, (a) amounts receishdll be applied in the numerical order providetlu
exhausted prior to application to the next sucaegedategory and (b) each of the Lenders shall vecai
amount equal to its pro rata share (based on thgopion that the then outstanding amount of thar_o
held by such Lender bears to the aggregate thestamling amount of the Loan) of amounts availatle t
be applied.
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ARTICLE 11
ADMINISTRATIVE AGENT

SECTION 11.01 Appointment. Each of the Lenders hereby irrevocably appoihes
Administrative Agent to act on its behalf as themfwistrative Agent hereunder and under the Loan
Documents and authorizes the Administrative Agentake such actions on its behalf and to exercise
such powers as are delegated to the Administr&tgent by the terms hereof or thereof, together with
such actions and powers as are reasonably incldbatato. The provisions of this Section are lydier
the benefit of the Administrative Agent, the Lersland the Borrower shall not have rights as althir
party beneficiary of any of such provisions. Iluisderstood and agreed that the use of the terentag
herein or in any other Loan Documents (or any offv@ilar term) with reference to the Administrative
Agent is not intended to connote any fiduciary treo implied (or express) obligations arising under
agency doctrine of any applicable law. Instead decin is used as a matter of market custom, and is
intended to create or reflect only an administet®ationship between contracting parties.

SECTION 11.02 Delegation of Duties The Administrative Agent may perform any and
all of its duties and exercise its rights and penaereunder or under any other Loan Document by or
through any one or more sub-agents appointed byAdmeinistrative Agent. The Administrative Agent
and any such sub-agent may perform any and alisadiities and exercise its rights and powers by or
through their respective Related Parties. The lpatory provisions of this Section shall apply toya
such sub-agent and to the Related Parties of tmeirAstrative Agent and any such sub-agent, and shal
apply to their respective activities in connectioith the syndication of the credit facilities prdeid for
herein as well as activities as Administrative Algefihe Administrative Agent shall not be respolesib
for the negligence or misconduct of any sub-agemisept to the extent that a court of competent
jurisdiction determines in a final and non-appe@abdgment that the Administrative Agent actedhwit
gross negligence or willful misconduct in the satetof such sub-agents.

SECTION 11.03 Exculpatory Provisions.

(a) The Administrative Agent shall not have any dutesobligations except those
expressly set forth herein and in the other Loarcubwents, and its duties hereunder shall be
administrative in nature. Without limiting the geality of the foregoing, the Administrative Agent:

)] shall not be subject to any fiduciary or other imglduties, regardless of
whether a Default or Event of Default has occuard is continuing;

(i) shall not have any duty to take any discretionatjoa or exercise any
discretionary powers, except discretionary righid @owers expressly contemplated hereby or by the
other Loan Documents that the Administrative Agsmequired to exercise as directed in writing e t
Required Lenders (or such other number or percentghe Lenders as shall be expressly provided for
herein or in the other Loan Documents), provideat the Administrative Agent shall not be required t
take any action that, in its opinion or the opinafrits counsel, may expose the Administrative Agen
liability or that is contrary to any Loan Document applicable Requirement of Law including for the
avoidance of doubt any action that may be in viotabf the automatic stay under any Debtor Relief
Law; and

(iii) shall not, except as expressly set forth herein ianthe other Loan
Documents, have any duty to disclose, and shalbadtable for the failure to disclose, any infotioa
relating to the Borrower or any of its Affiliatelsat is communicated to or obtained by the Personngg
as the Administrative Agent or any of its Affilisten any capacity.
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(b) The Administrative Agent shall not be liable folyaaction taken or not taken by
it (a) with the consent or at the request of theguRed Lenders (or such other number or percemége
the Lenders as shall be necessary, or as the Asinaitive Agent shall believe in good faith shall be
necessary, under the circumstances as providedticleA10 and Section 12.01) or (b) in the absenfce
its own gross negligence or willful misconduct atedmined by a final, nonappealable judgment of a
court of competent jurisdiction. The Administraiigent shall be deemed not to have knowledge yf an
Default unless and until notice describing suchabkfis given to the Administrative Agent by the
Borrower, a Lender.

(© The Administrative Agent shall not be responsibbe 6ér have any duty to
ascertain or inquire into (i) any statement, watyrar representation made in or in connection \hils
Agreement or any other Loan Document, (ii) the entg of any certificate, report or other document
delivered hereunder or thereunder or in connechierewith or therewith, (iii) the performance or
observance of any of the covenants, agreementher rms or conditions set forth herein or thei
the occurrence of any Default, (iv) the validityyferceability, effectiveness or genuineness of this
Agreement, any other Loan Document or any otheeeagent, instrument or document or (iv) the
satisfaction of any condition set forth in Secti@n81 or elsewhere herein, other than to confiroeipe
of items expressly required to be delivered toAbministrative Agent.

SECTION 11.04 Reliance by Administrative Agent The Administrative Agent shall be
entitled to rely upon, and shall not incur any ilio for relying upon, any notice, request, ceadite,
consent, statement, instrument, document or othiéing (including any electronic message, Interoet
intranet website posting or other distribution)iéeatd by it to be genuine and to have been sigserdt, or
otherwise authenticated by the proper Person. Athainistrative Agent also may rely upon any
statement made to it orally or by telephone aniebed by it to have been made by the proper Person,
and shall not incur any liability for relying them In determining compliance with any condition
hereunder to the making of a Loan that by its temmust be fulfilled to the satisfaction of a Lendeithe
Administrative Agent may presume that such conditie satisfactory to such Lender unless the
Administrative Agent shall have received noticghe contrary from such Lender prior to the makifg o
such Loan. The Administrative Agent may consulthwliegal counsel (who may be counsel for the
Borrower), independent accountants and other exgetécted by it, and shall not be liable for actyoa
taken or not taken by it in accordance with thei@a@wef any such counsel, accountants or experts.

SECTION 11.05 Notice of Default Administrative Agent shall not be deemed to have
knowledge or notice of the occurrence of any DefaulEvent of Default unless Administrative Agent
has received notice from a Lender or the Borrow8srring to this Agreement, describing such Default
Event of Default and stating that such notice Ima@tice of default.” In the event that Adminisiret
Agent receives such a notice, Administrative Agemmptly shall give notice thereof to the Borrower
and the Lenders. The Administrative Agent shddétauch action with respect to such Default or Even
of Default as shall be reasonably directed by tleeured Lenders; provided, that unless and until
Administrative Agent shall have received such dices, Administrative Agent may (but shall not be
obligated to) take such action, or refrain fromingksuch action, with respect to such Default oeriof
Default as it shall deem advisable in the bestésts of the Lenders. Notwithstanding anything éts
the contrary in this Agreement, the Administratdgent shall not be required to take, or to omitake,
any action (a) unless, upon demand, the Adminig&atgent receives an indemnification satisfactary
it from the Lenders against all liabilities thay, teason of such action or omission, may be impased
incurred by or asserted against the Administraf\gent or any of its Affiliates or (b) that is, ime
opinion of the Administrative Agent, contrary toydroan Document or applicable Requirement of Law.
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SECTION 11.06 Non-Reliance on Administrative Agent and Other Lenérs. Each
Lender acknowledges that it has, independentlyvatitbut reliance on the Administrative Agent or any
other Lender or any of their Related Parties arsthan such documents and information it has deemed
appropriate, made its own credit analysis and deti® enter into this Agreement. Each Lender also
acknowledges that it will, independently and withmliance upon the Administrative Agent or anyesth
Lender or any of their Related Parties and baseslioh documents and information as it shall frameti
to time deem appropriate, continue to make its degisions in taking or not taking action under asdxd
upon this Agreement, any other Loan Document or ratgted agreement or any document furnished
hereunder or thereunder.

SECTION 11.07 [ndemnification. The Lenders agree to indemnify AdministrativeeAgy
and Agent Parties (to the extent not reimbursethbyBorrower and without limiting the obligation thie
Borrower to do so), ratably according to their extjwve Aggregate Exposure Percentages in effetien
date on which indemnification is sought under 8ggtion 11.07 (or, if indemnification is soughteafthe
date upon which the Commitments shall have terrathand the Loan shall have been paid in full,
ratably in accordance with such Aggregate ExpoB@eentages immediately prior to such date), from
and against any and all liabilities, obligatiorasdes, damages, penalties, actions, judgments, codts,
expenses or disbursements of any kind whatsoewatrntlay at any time (whether before or after the
payment of the Loan) be imposed on, incurred bygsserted against Administrative Agent or Agent
Parties in any way relating to or arising out b Commitments, this Agreement, any of the othemLo
Documents or any documents contemplated by orregfeto herein or therein or the transactions
contemplated hereby or thereby or any action takkesmitted by Administrative Agent or Agent Parties
under or in connection with any of the foregoinmvided, that no Lender shall be liable for the papt
of any portion of such liabilities, obligations skes, damages, penalties, actions, judgments, cogs,
expenses or disbursements that are found by adirhinonappealable decision of a court of competent
jurisdiction to have resulted from Administrativegént’s or Agent Parties’ gross negligence or wiillfu
misconduct. The agreements in this Section 11h@# survive the payment of the Loan and all other
amounts payable hereunder.

SECTION 11.08 Right as a Lender The Person serving as Administrative Agent
hereunder shall have the same rights and powets @gapacity as a Lender as any other Lender aryd ma
exercise the same as though it were not the Adtmatiise Agent and the term “Lender” or “Lenders”
shall, unless otherwise expressly indicated oramtbe context otherwise requires, include thedpers
serving as the Administrative Agent hereunder sniridividual capacity. Such Person and its Affd&a
may accept deposits from, lend money to, act afirihacial advisor or in any other advisory capabir
and generally engage in any kind of business with Borrower or any Subsidiary or other Affiliate
thereof as if such Person were not the Administeafigent hereunder and without any duty to account
therefor to the Lenders.

SECTION 11.09 Resignation of Administrative Agent

(@) The Administrative Agent may at any time give netiaf its resignation to the
Lenders and the Borrower. Upon receipt of any sumlice of resignation, the Required Lenders shall
have the right, in consultation with the Borrowso {ong as no Default or Event of Default has oemlr
and is continuing), to appoint a successor. Ifsnoh successor shall have been so appointed by the
Required Lenders and shall have accepted such rdppmit within 30 days after the retiring
Administrative Agent gives notice of its resignatigor such earlier day as shall be agreed by the
Required Lenders) (the “Resignation Effective Datéfien the retiring Administrative Agent may (but
shall not be obligated to) on behalf of the Lendgapoint a successor Administrative Agent. Whetrer
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not a successor has been appointed, such resigrettadl become effective in accordance with such
notice on the Resignation Effective Date.

(b) With effect from the Resignation Effective Date ¢he retiring or removed
Administrative Agent shall be discharged from itgies and obligations hereunder and under the other
Loan Documents and (2) all payments, communicatmusdeterminations provided to be made by, to or
through the Administrative Agent shall instead beden by or to each Lender directly, until such tiihe,
any, as the Required Lenders appoint a successuoirdgdrative Agent as provided for above. Upon the
acceptance of a successor’'s appointment as Adnaitivgt Agent hereunder, such successor shall sdccee
to and become vested with all of the rights, powerg/ileges and duties of the retiring or removed
Administrative Agent, and the retiring or removednAinistrative Agent shall be discharged from all of
its duties and obligations hereunder or under ttieeroLoan Documents. The fees payable by the
Borrower to a successor Administrative Agent shalthe same as those payable to its predecessssunl
otherwise agreed between the Borrower and suctesseoc After the retiring or removed Administrative
Agent’s resignation or removal hereunder and uniderother Loan Documents, the provisions of this
Article and Section 11.07 shall continue in effdor the benefit of such retiring or removed
Administrative Agent, its sub-agents and their eespe Related Parties in respect of any actioketar
omitted to be taken by any of them while the regjiror removed Administrative Agent was acting as
Administrative Agent.

SECTION 11.10 No Other Duties, etc Anything herein to the contrary notwithstanding,
no Bookrunner or Arranger listed on the cover pduggeof shall have any powers, duties or
responsibilities under this Agreement or any of thieer Loan Documents, except in its capacity, as
applicable, as the Administrative Agent or a Lerukneunder.

ARTICLE 12
MISCELLANEOUS

SECTION 12.01 Amendments and Waivers

(a) Neither this Agreement, any other Loan Documentcépk the Notes, the
Indenture and the Second Supplemental Indentucg)any terms hereof or thereof may be amended,
supplemented or modified except in accordance thighprovisions of this Section 12.01. The Required
Lenders and the Borrower may or, with the writtensent of the Required Lenders, the Administrative
Agent and the Borrower may, from time to time, émter into written amendments, supplements or
modifications hereto and to the other Loan Documdat the purpose of adding any provisions to this
Agreement or the other Loan Documents or changingny manner the rights or obligations of the
Administrative Agent, the Lenders or of the Borrowtereunder or thereunder or (b) waive, on such
terms and conditions as the Required Lenders orAtiministrative Agent may specify in such
instrument, any of the requirements of this Agreeinte the other Loan Documents or any Default or
Event of Default and its consequences; providedgver, that no such waiver and no such amendment,
supplement or modification shall (x)(i) forgive oeduce the principal amount or extend the final
scheduled date of maturity of the Loan, (ii) redtlue stated rate of any interest or fee payableumster
or extend the scheduled date of any payment thef@pfincrease the amount or extend the expiratio
date of any Lender's Commitments, (iv) modify thefidition of “Required Lender,” or (v) modify
Section 2.12, in each case without the written eohsf each Lender directly adversely affectedahgy
or (y) eliminate or reduce the voting rights of drender or Participant under this Section 12.0heuit
the written consent of such Lender or Participamt;(z) amend, modify or waive any provision of
Article 11 without the written consent of the Adngitnative Agent. The Notes, the Indenture and the
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Supplemental Indenture, may be amended, supplethaertemodified pursuant to the terms of the
Indenture. Any such waiver and any such amendnsepplement or modification shall apply equally to
each of the Lenders and shall be binding upon thedBrer, the Lenders, the Administrative Agent and
all future holders of Loan. In the case of anyweai the Borrower, the Lenders and the Administeati
Agent shall be restored to their former positiord aights hereunder and under the other Loan
Documents, and any Default or Event of Default wdighall be deemed to be cured and not continuing
unless limited by the terms of such waiver; butsnch waiver shall extend to any subsequent or other
Default or Event of Default, or impair any rightrs@quent thereon.

(b) If any Lender does not consent to a proposed amemiirvaiver, consent or
release with respect to any Loan Document thatimegjahe consent of each Lender and that has been
approved by the Required Lenders, the Borrower rapiace such non-consenting Lender in accordance
with Section 3.06; provided that such amendmeniyavaconsent or release can be effected as a @sul
the assignment contemplated by such Section (tegettth all other such assignments required by the
Borrower to be made pursuant to this paragraph).

SECTION 12.02 Notices Generally

(a) Notices. Except in the case of notices and otlmnngunications expressly
permitted to be given by telephone (and exceptegiged in paragraph (b) below), all notices anukot
communications provided for herein shall be in wgtand shall be delivered by hand or overnight
courier service, mailed by certified or registenedil or sent by facsimile as follows:

If to the Administrative Agent, as follows: If to the Borrower, as follows:

CoBank, ACB Big Rivers Electric Corporation

5500 South Quebec Street 201 Third Street

Greenwood Village, Colorado 80111 Henderson, Kentucky 42420

Facsimile: (303) 740-4002 Facsimile: (270) 827-2558

Attention: Power Supply Division Attention: President and Chief Executive Officer
With a copy to: With a copy to:

CoBank, ACB Big Rivers Electric Corporation

5500 South Quebec Street 201 Third Street

Greenwood Village, Colorado 80111 Henderson, Kentucky 42420

Facsimile: (303) 740-4002

Attention: Legal Division Facsimile: (270) 827-2558

Attention: Chief Financial Officer

Latham & Watkins LLP
555 Eleventh Street, NW

Suite 1000 James M. Miller, Esq.

Washington, DC 20004-1304 Sullivan, Mountjoy, Stainback & Miller, P.S.C.
Fax: +1.202.637.2201 100 St. Ann Building

Attention: Paul J. Hunt Owensboro, KY 42303

If to a Lender, to it at its address (of facsimile
number) set forth in its Administrative
Questionnaire.
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Notices sent by hand or overnight courier servicemailed by certified or registered mail, shall
be deemed to have been given when received; natemsby facsimile shall be deemed to have been
given when sent (except that, if not given duriegnmal business hours for the recipient, shall ke
to have been given at the opening of business eméxt Banking Day for the recipient). Notices
delivered through electronic communications, to éxéent provided in paragraph (b) below, shall be
effective as provided in said paragraph (b).

(b) Electronic CommunicationNotices and other communications to the Lenders
hereunder may be delivered or furnished by elemroommunication (including e-mail and Internet or
intranet websites) pursuant to procedures apprdyedhe Administrative Agent, provided, that the
foregoing shall not apply to notices to any Lendersuant to Article 2 if such Lender has notifibe t
Administrative Agent that it is incapable of redety notices under such Article by electronic
communication. The Administrative Agent or the Bover may, in its discretion, agree to accept mstic
and other communications to it hereunder by elaroommunications pursuant to procedures approved
by it; provided that approval of such procedurey tmalimited to particular notices or communicasion

Unless the Administrative Agent otherwise pres@jbe(i) notices and other
communications sent to an e-mail address shall dmmdd received upon the sender’s receipt of an
acknowledgement from the intended recipient (sustbya the “return receipt requested” function, as
available, return e-mail or other written acknovgerthent), and (ii) notices or communications posted
an Internet or intranet website shall be deemeeived upon the deemed receipt by the intended
recipient, at its e-mail address as describedanfahegoing clause (i), of notification that sudtioe or
communication is available and identifying the webaddress therefor; provided that, for both asus
(i) and (ii) above, if such notice, email or otfmmunication is not sent during the normal busines
hours of the recipient, such notice or communicasiball be deemed to have been sent at the opehing
business on the next Banking Day for the recipient.

(© Change of Address, etc. Any party hereto may chatgyaddress or facsimile
number for notices and other communications hereubyg notice to the other parties hereto.

(d) Platform.

® The Borrower agrees that the Administrative Agmay, but shall not be
obligated to, make the Communications (as defineldbvi) available to the Lenders by posting the
Communications on Debt Domain, Intralinks, Syndtoaka substantially similar electronic transmission
system (the “Platform”).

(i) The Platform is provided “as is” and “as awdile.” The Agent Parties
(as defined below) do not warrant the adequache@Platform and expressly disclaim liability foras
or omissions in the Communications. No warrantyy kind, express, implied or statutory, including
without limitation, any warranty of merchantabilititness for a particular purpose, non-infringenein
third-party rights or freedom from viruses or othevde defects, is made by any Agent Party in
connection with the Communications or the Platfoim.no event shall the Administrative Agent or any
of its Related Parties (collectively, the “Agentties”) have any liability to the Borrower, any Ldar or
any other Person or entity for damages of any kindiuding, without limitation, direct or indirect,
special, incidental or consequential damages, soss@xpenses (whether in tort, contract or otrsgyvi
arising out of the Borrower’s or the Administratidgent’s transmission of communications through the
Platform except to the extent that such losses, damagdslities or related expenses are
determined by a final, nonappealable judgment @oart of competent jurisdiction to have
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resulted from the gross negligence or willful misdoct of the Agent PartiesCommunications”
means, collectively, any notice, demand, commuignatinformation, document or other material
provided by or on behalf of the Borrower pursuaatany Loan Document or the transactions
contemplated therein which is distributed to themfwstrative Agent or any Lender by means of
electronic communications pursuant to this Seciioeluding through the Platform.

SECTION 12.03 No Waiver; Cumulative Remedies No failure to exercise and no delay
in exercising, on the part of the Administrative ey or any Lender, any right, remedy, power or
privilege hereunder or under the other Loan Documshall operate as a waiver thereof; nor shall any
single or partial exercise of any right, remedyvpoor privilege hereunder preclude any other ahfr
exercise thereof or the exercise of any other riggmnhedy, power or privilege. The rights, remedies
powers and privileges herein provided are cumwasind not exclusive of any rights, remedies, powers
and privileges provided by any Requirement of Law.

SECTION 12.04 Survival of Representations and Warranties All representations and
warranties made hereunder, in the other Loan Dontsrend in any document, certificate or statement
delivered pursuant hereto or in connection herewtihll survive the execution and delivery of this
Agreement and the making of the Loan and othemsiades of credit hereunder.

SECTION 12.05 Costs and Expenses; Indemnification

(a) Costs and Expenses. The Borrower shall pagli(neasonable out of pocket expenses
incurred by the Administrative Agent and its Affiles (including the reasonable fees, charges and
disbursements of counsel for the Administrative itgein connection with the syndication of the Lpan
the preparation, negotiation, execution, delivargt administration of this Agreement and the othearL
Documents, or any amendments, modifications or evaiof the provisions hereof or thereof (whether or
not the transactions contemplated hereby or theshlayl be consummated) and (ii) all out of pocket
expenses incurred by the Administrative Agent ol dmender (including the fees, charges and
disbursements of any counsel for the Administrafigent or any Lender), and shall pay all fees ame t
charges for attorneys who may be employees of tteigistrative Agent or any Lender or any, in
connection with the enforcement or protection sfrights (A) in connection with this Agreement ahd
other Loan Documents, including its rights undes thection, or (B) in connection with the Loan made
hereunder, including all such out of pocket expeniseurred during any workout, restructuring or
negotiations in respect of such Loan.

(b) Indemnification by the Borrower. The Borrowshall indemnify the Administrative
Agent (and any sub-agent thereof), each Lendereantl Related Party of any of the foregoing Persons
(each such Person being called an “Indemnitee”agaand hold each Indemnitee harmless from, any
and all losses, claims, damages, liabilities andted expenses (including the fees, charges and
disbursements of any counsel for any Indemniteaey ahall indemnify and hold harmless each
Indemnitee from all fees and time charges and dislvoents for attorneys who may be employees of any
Indemnitee, incurred by any Indemnitee or asseaatginst any Indemnitee by any Person (including the
Borrower) other than such Indemnitee and its Rel&arties arising out of, in connection with, eraa
result of (i) the execution or delivery of this Agment, any other Loan Document or any agreement or
instrument contemplated hereby or thereby, theopmdnce by the parties hereto of their respective
obligations hereunder or thereunder or the consurmmaf the transactions contemplated hereby or
thereby, (ii) the Loan or use of the proceeds theng (iii) any actual or alleged presence or Redeaf
Materials of Environmental Concern on or from amggerty owned or operated by the Borrower or any
of its Subsidiaries, or any Environmental Liabilitglated in any way to the Borrower or any of its
Subsidiaries, or (iv) any actual or prospectiveng/ditigation, investigation or proceeding relaito any
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of the foregoing, whether based on contract, todny other theory, whether brought by a third yart

by the Borrower, and regardless of whether any rmdiee is a party thereto; provided that such
indemnity shall not, as to any Indemnitee, be aldd to the extent that such losses, claims, dasnage
liabilities or related expenses (x) are determifbgda court of competent jurisdiction by final and
nonappealable judgment to have resulted from tlwssgmegligence or willful misconduct of such
Indemnitee or (y) result from a claim brought bg #Borrower against an Indemnitee for breach in bad
faith of such Indemnitee's obligations hereundeurater any other Loan Document, if the Borrower has
obtained a final and nonappealable judgment ifat®r on such claim as determined by a court of
competent jurisdiction. This Section 12.05(b) hat apply with respect to Taxes other than anyefa
that represent losses, claims, damages, etc.@figim any non-Tax claim.

(© Reimbursement by Lenders. To the extent thatBorrower for any reason fails to
indefeasibly pay any amount required under pardg(ap or (b) of this Section to be paid by it te@ th
Administrative Agent (or any sub-agent thereof)aoly Related Party thereof, each Lender severally
agrees to pay to the Administrative Agent (or amghssub-agent) or such Related Party, as the cage m
be, such Lender’s pro rata share (determined #seofime that the applicable unreimbursed expense o
indemnity payment is sought based on each Lendbese of the Total Credit Exposure at such time) of
such unpaid amount (including any such unpaid amourespect of a claim asserted by such Lender);
provided, that, the unreimbursed expense or indéadnlioss, claim, damage, liability or related enpe,
as the case may be, was incurred by or assert@satgsge Administrative Agent (or any such sub-dapen
or against any Related Party thereof acting for Aldeninistrative Agent (or any such sub-agent) in
connection with such capacity.

(d) Waiver of Consequential Damages, Etc. To thkedt extent permitted by applicable
law, no party hereto shall assert, and each hengbyes, any claim against any Indemnitee, on any
theory of liability, for special, indirect, consegqptial or punitive damages (as opposed to direeictral
damages) arising out of, in connection with, oaagsult of, this Agreement, any other Loan Documen
or any agreement or instrument contemplated hertbleyiransactions contemplated hereby or thereby,
the Loan or the use of the proceeds thereof. Mermitee referred to in paragraph (b) above sleall b
liable for any damages arising from the use by temided recipients of any information or other matgsr
distributed by it through telecommunications, al@cic or other information transmission systems in
connection with this Agreement or the other Loarcioents or the transactions contemplated hereby or
thereby.

(E) Payments. All amounts due under this Sectlmll e payable not later than ten (10)
days after demand therefor.

(3] Survival. Each party’s obligations under t8isction shall survive the termination of the
Loan Documents and payment of the obligations hmeteu

SECTION 12.06 Successors and Assigns; Participations and Assignnts.

() Successors and Assigns. The provisions of thieément shall be binding upon
and inure to the benefit of the parties heretotaed respective successors and assigns permittedby
except that the Borrower may not assign or otherwriansfer any of its rights or obligations hereamd
without the prior written consent of the Adminigive Agent and each Lender, and no Lender may assig
or otherwise transfer any of its rights or obligag hereunder except (i) to an assignee in accoedaith
the provisions of paragraph (b) of this Sectiof, Ifiy way of participation in accordance with the
provisions of paragraph (d) of this Section, a) Py way of pledge or assignment of a securitgrest
subject to the restrictions of paragraph (f) o§tSection (and any other attempted assignmenaosfer
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by any party hereto shall be null and void). Nothin this Agreement, expressed or implied, shall b
construed to confer upon any Person (other thapah@es hereto, their respective successors anghas
permitted hereby, Participants to the extent predich paragraph (d) of this Section and, to thersxt
expressly contemplated hereby, the Related Partieach of the Administrative Agent and the Lenjlers
any legal or equitable right, remedy or claim unoieby reason of this Agreement.

(b) Assignments by Lenders. Any Lender may at any t@®&ign to one or more
assignees all or a portion of its rights and oliayes under this Agreement (including all or a pmrtof
its Commitment and the principal amount of the Ladrthe time owing to it); provided that any such
assignment shall be subject to the following coods:

0] Minimum Amounts.

(A) in the case of an assignment of the entire remgiamount of
the assigning Lender's Commitment and/or the ppamicamount of the Loan at the time owing to it or
contemporaneous assignments to related ApprovedsFtirat equal at least the amount specified in
paragraph (B)(1)(b) of this Section in the aggregat in the case of an assignment to a Lender, an
Affiliate of a Lender or an Approved Fund, no minim amount need be assigned; and

(B) in any case not described in paragraph (B)(1)(a)isf Section,
the aggregate amount of the Commitment (whichtite purpose includes principal amount of the Loan
outstanding thereunder) or, if the applicable Commaint is not then in effect, the principal outstiagd
balance of the Loan of the assigning Lender sultfeetach such assignment (determined as of the date
the Assignment and Assumption with respect to sissignment is delivered to the Administrative Agent
or, if “Trade Date” is specified in the Assignmemd Assumption, as of the Trade Date) shall ndebe
than $5,000,000, unless each of the Administratigent and, so long as no Default has occurred &nd i
continuing, the Borrower otherwise consents (eaoth sconsent not to be unreasonably withheld or
delayed).

(i) Proportionate Amounts. Each partial assignmentl flsmmade as an
assignment of a proportionate part of all the assgy Lender’s rights and obligations under this
Agreement with respect to the Loan or the Commitrassigned.

(iii) Required Consents. No consent shall be requiredarig assignment
except to the extent required by paragraph (b)(ipfBhis Section and, in addition:

(A) the consent of the Borrower (such consent not to be
unreasonably withheld or delayed) shall be requirddss (x) a Default or Event of Defahlis occurred
and is continuing at the time of such assignmenfysuch assignment is to a Lender, an Affiliafex
Lender or an Approved Fund; provided that the Beeioshall be deemed to have consented to any such
assignment unless it shall object thereto by writtetice to the Administrative Agent within five)(5
Banking Days after having received notice therew @rovided,further, that the Borrower's consent
shall not be required during the primary syndicaté the Loan;

(B) the consent of the Administrative Agent (such cahsmt to be
unreasonably withheld, delayed or conditioned) |dbalrequired for assignments in respect of thenLoa
or any unfunded Commitments if such assignmerd & Person that is not a Lender, an Affiliate afrsu
Lender or an Approved Fund with respect to suchdeenand
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(iv) Assignment _and Assumption; Transfer Notice. Thetigm to each
assignment shall execute and deliver to the Aditnatise Agent an Assignment and Assumption,
together with a processing and recordation fee3g@;_provided that the Administrative Agent miay,
its sole discretion, elect to waive such procesaimg recordation fee in the case of any assignnmieme
assignee, if it is not a Lender, shall delivertte Administrative Agent an Administrative Questiaira.
The assigning Lender shall deliver the applicabletels) representing a right to payment of the
obligations being assigned together with a Tranbfetice executed by such assigning Lender to the
Administrative Agent. Upon receipt of such Notaldrransfer Notice, the Administrative Agent shall
countersign the Transfer Notice and deliver theeNmtd Transfer Notice to the Trustee to register th
new holder of the Note in accordance with the geahthe Indenture. The Administrative Agent shall
deliver the Note to the assignee Lender followiegjstration by the Trustee.

(v) No Assignment to Certain Persons. No such assighsiall be made to
the Borrower or any of the Borrower’'s Affiliates Bubsidiaries or any Person who, upon becoming a
Lender hereunder, would constitute any of the foiregyPersons described in this clause (v).

(vi) No Assignment to Natural Persons. No such assighstgall be made

to a natural Person.

Subject to acceptance and recording thereof byAtiministrative Agent pursuant to paragraph (c)his t
Section and the submission of the Transfer Noticthb Administrative Agent to the Trustee pursuant
paragraph (b)(iv) of this paragraph, from and after effective date specified in each Assignmert an
Assumption, the assignee thereunder shall be § fmthis Agreement and, to the extent of the sder
assigned by such Assignment and Assumption, haweigihts and obligations of a Lender under this
Agreement, and the assigning Lender thereundet, gbathe extent of the interest assigned by such
Assignment and Assumption, be released from itiggatibns under this Agreement (and, in the case of
an Assignment and Assumption covering all of the&iggmsng Lender’s rights and obligations under this
Agreement, such Lender shall cease to be a partyd)dout shall continue to be entitled to the lienef
Sections 3.03 and 12.@&th respect to facts and circumstances occurrimgy po the effective date of
such assignment. Any assignment or transfer bgradér of rights or obligations under this Agreement
that does not comply with this paragraph shallrbated for purposes of this Agreement as a satitly
Lender of a participation in such rights and oliigyas in accordance with paragraph (d) of this iBact

(© Register. The Administrative Agent, acting solfeythis purpose as an agent of
the Borrower, shall maintain at one of its offiéesColorado a copy of each Assignment and Assumptio
delivered to it and a register for the recordatidnthe names and addresses of the Lenders, and the
Commitments of, and principal amounts (and statéerest) of the Loan owing to, each Lender pursuant
to the terms hereof from time to time (the “Regiyte The entries in the Register shall be conelesi
absent manifest error, and the Borrower, the Adstiaiiive Agent and the Lenders shall treat eachdPer
whose name is recorded in the Register pursuamheaterms hereof as a Lender hereunder for all
purposes of this Agreement. The Register shaldmglable for inspection by the Borrower and any
Lender, at any reasonable time and from time te tiymon reasonable prior notice.

(d) Participations. Any Lender may at any time, withthe consent of, or notice to,
the Borrower or the Administrative Agent, sell pagations to any Person (other than a naturaldPeos
the Borrower or any of the Borrower’s Affiliates Subsidiaries) (each, a “Participant”) in all gp@rtion
of such Lender’'s rights and/or obligations undes tAgreement (including all or a portion of its
Commitment and/or the Loan owing to it); providduhtt (i) such Lender’s obligations under this
Agreement shall remain unchanged, (ii) such Lersti@tl remain solely responsible to the other psirtie
hereto for the performance of such obligations, @iidthe Borrower, the Administrative Agent, and
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Lenders shall continue to deal solely and direetith such Lender in connection with such Lender’s

rights and obligations under this Agreement. Huoe tvoidance of doubt, each Lender shall be
responsible for the indemnity under Section 12.P&(th respect to any payments made by such Lender
to its Participant(s).

Any agreement or instrument pursuant to which adeersells such a participation shall
provide that such Lender shall retain the soletrighenforce this Agreement and to approve any
amendment, modification or waiver of any provisafrthis Agreement; provided that such agreement or
instrument may provide that such Lender will notthaut the consent of the Participant, agree to any
amendment, modification or waiver described in fhreviso of Section 12.01(athat affects such
Participant. The Borrower agrees that each Ppaintishall be entitled to the benefits_of Sectidifd,
3.03 and_3.04 (subject to the requirements anddtions therein, including the requirements under
Section 3.04(g) (it being understood that the demation required under_Section 3.04(G) shall be
delivered to the participating Lender)) to the saeméent as if it were a Lender and had acquired its
interest by assignment pursuant to paragraph (fHi®fSection; provided that such Participant (§egs
to be subject to the provisions of Section 3.0Gfds were an assignee under paragraph (B) of this
Section; and (B) shall not be entitled to receing greater payment under Sections 3.01, 3.03 & 3.
with respect to any participation, than its papiting Lender would have been entitled to recesxeept
to the extent such entitlement to receive a grgagment results from a Change in Law that occfies a
the Participant acquired the applicable particgrati Each Lender that sells a participation agraet)e
Borrower's request and expense, to use reasorféints ¢o cooperate with the Borrower to effectuthte
provisions of _Section 3.06 with respect to any iEigdnt. To the extent permitted by law, each
Participant also shall be entitled to the benefitSection 12.07 as though it were a Lender; predithat
such Participant agrees to be subject to Sectib®iaa though it were a Lender. Each Lender that aells
participation shall, acting solely for this purp@sean agent of the Borrower, maintain a registerbich
it enters the name and address of each Particgmahthe principal amounts (and stated interesgach
Participant’s interest in the Loan or other obligas under the Loan Documents (the “Participant
Register”); provided that no Lender shall have afbjigation to disclose all or any portion of the
Participant Register (including the identity of aarticipant or any information relating to a Rapiant's
interest in any commitments, loans, letters of itredits other obligations under any Loan Docunéeot
any Person except to the extent that such dis@dsurecessary to establish that such commitmeam, |
letter of credit or other obligation is in regisdrform under Section 5f.103-1(c) of the Unitedt&ta
Treasury Regulations. The entries in the PartitifiRegister shall be conclusive absent manifestrerr
and such Lender shall treat each Person whose isareeorded in the Participant Register as the owne
of such participation for all purposes of this Agment notwithstanding any notice to the contrafpr
the avoidance of doubt, the Administrative Agenti{s capacity as Administrative Agent) shall hawe
responsibility for maintaining a Participant Regist

(e) Certain Pledges. Any Lender may at any time pledgessign a security interest
in all or any portion of its rights under this Agreent to secure obligations of such Lender, inagi@ny
pledge or assignment to secure obligations to @faédReserve Bank; provided that no such pledge or
assignment shall release such Lender from any afiligations hereunder or substitute any suchgeled
or assignee for such Lender as a party hereto.

() Farm Credit Lenders. Notwithstanding anything his tSection 12.06 to the
contrary, any institution that is a member of tlaenr Credit System (a_“Farm Credit Lender”) thath@ps
purchased a participation in the minimum aggregateunt of $5,000,000 on or after the Closing Date,
(i) is, by written notice to the Borrower and th&dministrative Agent (“Voting Participant
Notification”), designated by the selling Lendendiuding any existing Voting Participant) as being
entitled to be accorded the rights of a Voting iegrant hereunder and (iii) receives the prior terit
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consent of the Administrative Agent, in its soleadetion, to become a Voting Participant (such eonhs
to be required only to the extent and under theuanstances it would be required if such Voting
Participant were to become a Lender pursuant tsamgnment in accordance with Section 12.06(a}) (an
such Farm Credit Lender so designated and consémtbding called a_“Voting Participant”), shall be
entitled to vote for so long as such Farm Creditdax owns such participation and notwithstanding an
subparticipation by such Farm Credit Lender (arawubting rights of the selling Lender (includingyan
existing Voting Participant) shall be correspontiingeduced), on a dollar for dollar basis, as i€tsu
participant were a Lender, on any matter requiimgallowing a Lender to provide or withhold its
consent, or to otherwise vote on any proposed ractido be effective, each Voting Participant
Notification shall, with respect to any Voting Reigant, (x) state the full name, as well as alhteat
information required of an assignee in an Assigrtnagidl Assumption and (y) state the dollar amount of
the participation purchased in its Commitment oy anall of its Loan. Notwithstanding the foreggin
each Farm Credit Lender designated as a Votingcipemt on_Schedule 12.06(f) hereto shall be deemed
a Voting Participant without delivery of a Votin@fficipant Notification and without the prior wett
consent of the Administrative Agent. The sellinghder (including any existing Voting Participant)dan
the purchasing Voting Participant shall notify #h@ministrative Agent and the Borrower within thrg)
Banking Days’ of any termination of, or reductioniocrease in the amount of, such participatiote T
Borrower and the Administrative Agent shall be #edi to conclusively rely on information containied
notices delivered pursuant to this paragraph. vidtimg rights hereunder are solely for the beraffithe
Voting Participant and shall not inure to any asseor participant of the Voting Participant theahot a
Farm Credit Lender.

SECTION 12.07 Set off If an Event of Default shall have occurred amdcontinuing,
each Lender and each of their respective Affiliagdsereby authorized at any time and from timene,
to the fullest extent permitted by applicable ldw,set off and apply any and all deposits (general
special, time or demand, provisional or final, ihatever currency) at any time held, and other
obligations (in whatever currency) at any time agyiby such Lender or any such Affiliate to or foet
credit or the account of the Borrower against ang all of the obligations of the Borrower now or
hereafter existing under this Agreement or any rotlien Document to such Lender or their respective
Affiliates, irrespective of whether or not such den or Affiliate shall have made any demand unber t
Agreement or any other Loan Document and althougth sobligations of the Borrower may be
contingent or unmatured or are owed to a brandiceobr Affiliate of such Lender different from the
branch, office or Affiliate holding such depositabligated on such indebtedness. Each Lender aagpee
notify the Borrower and the Administrative Agentopiptly after any such setoff and application;
provided that the failure to give such notice shall affect the validity of such setoff and appiica.

SECTION 12.08 Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed by one or motkeof
parties to this Agreement on any number of sepasatmterparts, and all of said counterparts taken
together shall be deemed to constitute one anddhe instrument. Delivery of an executed signature
page of this Agreement or the Assignment and Assiomby facsimile transmission or other electronic
means shall be effective as delivery of a manuatigcuted counterpart hereof. A set of the copi¢lsi®
Agreement signed by all the parties shall be lodgid the Borrower and the Administrative Agent.

SECTION 12.09 Severability. Any provision of this Agreement that is prohdalt or
unenforceable in any jurisdiction shall, as to spahsdiction, be ineffective to the extent of such
prohibition or unenforceability without invalidagnthe remaining provisions hereof, and any such
prohibition or unenforceability in any jurisdictioghall not invalidate or render unenforceable such
provision in any other jurisdiction.
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SECTION 12.10 Complete Agreement The Loan Documents are intended by the parties
to be a complete and final expression of their agent.

SECTION 12.11 Applicable Law. THIS AGREEMENT AND THE OTHER LOAN
DOCUMENTS AND THE RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS OF THE PARES HEREUNDER AND
THEREUNDER SHALL BE GOVERNED AND CONSTRUED AND INTRPRETED IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORKWITHOUT REGARD TO
ANY PROVISION THEREOF THAT WOULD RESULT IN THE APRCATION OF THE LAW OF
ANOTHER JURISDICTION).

SECTION 12.12 Submission to Jurisdiction; Waivers The Borrower hereby
irrevocably and unconditionally:

(@) submits for itself and its Property in any legati@t or proceeding relating to
this Agreement and the other Loan Documents to lwhics a party, or for recognition and enforcement
of any judgment in respect thereof, to the nonestekigeneral jurisdiction of the courts of the &tat
New York, and appellate courts thereof;

(b) consents that any such action or proceeding mayrdmeght in such courts and
waives any objection that it may now or hereaftavehto the venue of any such action or proceeding i
any such court or that such action or proceeding bvaught in an inconvenient court and agreesaot t
plead or claim the same;

(© agrees that service of process in any such actiggmozeeding may be effected
by mailing a copy thereof by registered or certifimail (or any substantially similar form of mail),
postage prepaid, to it at its address set for@eiction 12.02 or at such other address of whicth.émeler
shall have been notified pursuant thereto; and

(d) agrees that nothing herein shall affect the rigteftect service of process in any
other manner permitted by any Requirement of Lashail limit the right to sue in any other juristitie.

SECTION 12.13 Acknowledgments The Borrower hereby acknowledges that:

(a) it has been advised by counsel in the negotiaggacution and delivery of this
Agreement and the other Loan Documents;

(b) the Administrative Agent and the Lenders do notehany fiduciary relationship
with or duty to the Borrower arising out of or iarmection with this Agreement or any of the otheah
Documents, and the relationship between the Lendarsne hand, and the Borrower, on the other hand,
in connection herewith or therewith is solely tbhtlebtor and creditor; and

(© no joint venture is created hereby or by the ottean Documents or otherwise
exists by virtue of the transactions contemplaieethby between the Lenders and the Borrower.
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SECTION 12.14 Accounting Changes In the event that any Accounting Change shall
occur and such change results in a change in thleoch@f calculation of financial ratios, standands
terms in this Agreement, then the Borrower andAtiministrative Agent agree to enter into negotiasio
in order to amend such provisions of this Agreensenas to equitably reflect such Accounting Changes
with the desired result that the criteria for ewdilng the Borrower’s financial condition shall I tsame
after such Accounting Changes as if such Accounihgnges had not been made. Until such time as
such an amendment shall have been executed anatreeliby the Borrower and the Administrative
Agent, all financial ratios, standards and termghis Agreement shall continue to be calculated or
construed as if such Accounting Changes had nairosd.

SECTION 12.15 WAIVERS OF JURY TRIAL . THE BORROWER, THE
ADMINISTRATIVE AGENT AND THE LENDERS HEREBY IRREVO@BLY AND
UNCONDITIONALLY WAIVE TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY LEGAL AC TION OR PROCEEDING
RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT OR ANY OTHER LOAN DOCUMHT AND FOR ANY
COUNTERCLAIM THEREIN.

SECTION 12.16 USA PATRIOT ACT. The Lenders hereby notify the Borrower that
pursuant to the requirements of the USA Patriot @&dle 11l of Publ. 107 56 (signed into law Octabe
26, 2001)) (the “Act”), each is required to obtairrify and record information that identifies the
Borrower, which information includes the name addrass of the Borrower and other information that
will allow the Lenders to identify the Borrower amcordance with the Act.

SECTION 12.17 Confidentiality .

(@) Each of the Lenders agrees to maintain the corti@éyp of the Information (as
defined below), except that Information may be ldised (i) to its and its Affiliates’ directors, aférs,
employees and agents, including accountants, Emaisel and other advisors (it being understoot tha
the Persons to whom such disclosure is made wilinfermed of the confidential nature of such
Information and instructed to keep such Informataamfidential), (ii) to the extent requested by any
regulatory authority, (iii) to the extent requirbg applicable Requirements of Law or regulationdyr
any subpoena or similar legal process, (iv) to@her party to this Agreement, (v) in connectiothvthe
exercise of any remedies hereunder or any suipradr proceeding relating to this Agreement or the
enforcement of rights hereunder, (vi) subject t@greement containing provisions substantiallystrae
as those of this Section 12.17, to (a) any assigh@e Participant in, or any prospective assigaker
Participant in, any of its rights or obligationsden this Agreement or any other Loan Document dr (b
any actual or prospective counterparty (or its smhd) to any swap or derivative transaction regatm
the Borrower and its obligations, (vii) with the nsent of the Borrower, (viii) to the extent such
Information (X) becomes publicly available othearthas a result of a breach of this Section or (Y)
becomes available to the Lender on a nonconfiddrdisis from a source other than the Borroweror (i
to the National Association of Insurance Commissienor any similar organization or any nationally
recognized rating agency that requires accessfeomation about a Lender’s investment portfolio in
connection with ratings issued with respect to duehder or in connection with examinations or aadit
of such Lender. For the purposes of this Sect®i7, “Information” means all information received
from the Borrower relating to the Borrower or itsidhess, other than any such information that is
available to such Lender on a nonconfidential bps to disclosure by the Borrower; provided thiat
the case of information received from the Borrowaéter the date hereof, such information is clearly
identified at the time of delivery as confidentighny Person required to maintain the confidertiadif
Information as provided in this Section 12.17 shellconsidered to have complied with its obligation
do so if such Person has exercised the same defreare to maintain the confidentiality of such
Information as such Person would accord to its oamfidential information.
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(b) EACH LENDER ACKNOWLEDGES THAT INFORMATION AS DEFINBE
IN SECTION 12.17(a) FURNISHED TO IT PURSUANT TO THIAGREEMENT MAY INCLUDE
MATERIAL NON-PUBLIC INFORMATION CONCERNING THE BORRWER AND ITS
RELATED PARTIES OR THEIR RESPECTIVE SECURITIES, ANOONFIRMS THAT IT HAS
DEVELOPED COMPLIANCE PROCEDURES REGARDING THE USEFQOMATERIAL NON-
PUBLIC INFORMATION AND THAT IT WILL HANDLE SUCH MATERIAL NON-PUBLIC

INFORMATION IN ACCORDANCE WITH THOSE PROCEDURES ANIAPPLICABLE LAW,
INCLUDING FEDERAL AND STATE SECURITIES LAWS.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused this Agreement to be executed by their duly
authorized officers as of the date shown above.

BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION

o, k3.7

Name: Mark A. Baile
Title: President and CEOQ

AR T SR AR T T P T T RN
[Secured Credit Agreement}



COBANK, ACB, as Administrative Agent, Lead Arranger, and Bookrunner

By: %V'
Name:Josfi Batchelder
Title: Vide President

[Secured Credit Agreement)



COBANK, ACB, as Lender

By: @?ﬁ‘/z’/—\

Na;ne;Jos’h Eatchelder
Title: Vice President

[Secured Credit Agreement]



EXHIBIT A
DEFINITIONS AND RULES OF INTERPRETATION

SECTION 1.01 Definitions As used in the Agreement, any amendment thewsefo, any other
Loan Document, the following terms shall have thléofving meanings:

Accounting Changerefers to changes in accounting principles reguime permitted by the
promulgation of any rule, regulation, pronouncemanbpinion by the Financial Accounting Standards
Board of the American Institute of Certified Pubficcountants or, if applicable, the SEC.

Act has the meaning given in Section 12.16.
Administrative Agent shall have the meaning given it in the Introduction

Affiliate shall mean any Person: (1) which directly orfiedily controls, or is controlled by, or
is under common control with, the Borrower; (2) ethidirectly or indirectly bneficially owns or holds
five percent (5%) or more of any class of votingcktof, or other interests in the Borrower; or {i8¢
percent (5%) or more of the voting stock of, orestimterest in, which is directly or indirectly bfitially
owned or held by the Borrower; provided, howevieat ino Member of the Borrower shall be deemed to
be an Affiliate of the Borrower for the purposesthfs Agreement. The term “control” means the
possession, directly or indirectly, of the powerdicect or cause the direction of the managemedt an
policies of a Person, whether through the ownershipting securities, by contract or otherwise.

Agent Partieshas the meaning given it in Section 12.02(d)(ii).

Aggregate Exposure Percentagshall mean, with respect to any Lender, the r@imressed as
a percentage) of such Lender’'s Commitment to tte¢ @ommitments of all Lenders.

Agreementhas the meaning given it in the introduction heret

Approved Fund shall mean any Fund that is administered or mahage(a) a Lender, (b) an
Affiliate of a Lender or (c) an entity or an Affilie of an entity that administers or manages a ¢end

Assigneehas the meaning specified_in Section 12.06(a).

Assignment and Assumptionshall mean an Assignment and Assumption, subsligniiathe
form of Exhibit H.

Banking Day shall mean any day that is not a Saturday, Sundayher day on which banks in
Denver, Colorado are authorized or required bytavemain closed.

Bankruptcy Code shall mean the Bankruptcy Code in Title 11 of Uwited States Code, as
amended, modified, succeeded or replaced fromtiniene.

Board shall mean the Board of Governors of the FedeeakR/e System of the United States (or
any successor).

Board of Directors shall mean either the board of directors of ther@wer or any duly
authorized committee of such board.
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Borrower has the meaning given in the preamble hereto.

Businessshall mean the business activities and operatibniseoBorrower prior to the Closing
Date and activities relating, incidental or ancyléhereto.

Capital Lease shall mean a lease which should be capitalizedhenbooks of the lessee in
accordance with GAAP (other than obligations urader lease related to (i) equipment used for offire;
compute needs, (ii) equipment used for transportatieeds, or (iii) leases of other items havingetr n
book value of less than $1,000,0@0pvided, however, that “Capital Lease Obligations” shall not include
obligations included on such Person’s consoliddiedncial statements because of consolidation of
another Person, including a subsidiary, with suefs&h pursuant to GAAP and for which such Person is
not legally obligated.

Capital Stock shall mean any and all shares, interests, partioip® or other equivalents
(however designated) of capital stock of a corponatand any and all equivalent ownership intergsts
Person (other than a corporation).

CFC Loan Agreementshall mean that certain loan agreement, dated abeoflate hereof,
between the Borrower and the National Utilities Pemtive Finance Corporation, under which the
Borrower will incur indebtedness in an amount 0®3800,000.

Change in Law shall mean the occurrence, after the date of Algreement, of any of the
following: (a) the adoption or taking effect of ataw, rule, regulation or treaty, (b) any changeaity
law, rule, regulation or treaty or in the admirasion, interpretation, implementation or applicatio
thereof by any Governmental Authority or (c) theking or issuance of any request, rule, guideline or
directive (whether or not having the force of laby any Governmental Authority; provided, that
notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer
Protection Act and all requests, rules, guidelimesdirectives thereunder or issued in connection
therewith and (y) all requests, rules, guidelineglicectives promulgated by the Bank for Internaib
Settlements, the Basel Committee on Banking Sugiervi(or any successor or similar authority) or the
United States or foreign regulatory authoritiesgach case pursuant to Basel lll, shall in eack bas
deemed to be a “Change in Law”, regardless of #te dnacted, adopted or issued.

Change of Controlshall mean, at any time, the Borrower ceases tnbaectric generation and
transmission cooperative that is controlled by esslthan 51% (tested by percentage of the conolli
vote to elect the Board of Directors of the Borrowef the Members of the Borrower.

Closing Dateshall mean the date the conditions precedent th.dla@ set forth in Section 4.01
are met.

CoBank has the meaning given in the preamble hereto.
CoBank Equities has the meaning specified_in Section 6.06(a).

Code shall mean the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 n@&nded from time to time (and any
successor thereto) and the regulations thereunder.

Collateral Requirementshas the meaning given in Section 4.01(n).
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Commitment shall mean, as to any Lender, the obligation ohduender to make a Loan to the
Borrower in a principal amount not to exceed theoamt set forth opposite such Lender's name on
Exhibit I. The aggregate amount of the Commitmasténvo hundred and thirty five million dollars
($235,000,000). Immediately after the making &f tloan on the Closing Date, the Commitment shall be
reduced to zero dollars ($0).

Communication has the meaning given it in Section 12.02(D)(ii).

Connection Income Taxeshall mean Other Connection Taxes that are imporsest measured
by net income or net profits (however denominatedhat are franchise Taxes or branch profits Taxes

Contractual Obligation shall mean, as to any Person, any provision ofsayrity issued by
such Person or of any written or recorded agreeniestrument or other undertaking to which such
Person is a party or by which it or any of its Rndyp is bound.

Counterparty shall mean, when referring to a Member WholesaledPcContract, the Member
party to such Member Wholesale Power Contract atan referring to a Direct Serve Contract, the
Person counterparty to the Borrower on such Disecve Contract.

Debtor Relief Laws shall mean the Bankruptcy Code of the United StafteAmerica, and alll
other liquidation, conservatorship, bankruptcy,igrement for the benefit of creditors, moratorium,
rearrangement, receivership, insolvency, reorgéinizaor similar debtor relief laws of the Uniteth&s
or other applicable jurisdictions from time to tinmeeffect.

Default shall mean the occurrence of any event which thighgiving of notice hereunder or the
passage of time hereunder or the occurrence obtingy condition hereunder would become an Event of
Default under the Agreement or under any other Lidacument.

Default Rate has the meaning specified_in Section 2.08(b).

Direct Serve Contractsshall meanwholesale electric service contracts (together wwititerial
amendments or supplements thereto and all successeplacement contracts and agreements thereto
and thereof) with a member of Borrower to provideolesale electric service directly from Borrower's
transmission system to any customer for which tleenbrer has an electric service contract with such
customer.

Dollars and the sigfi$” shall mean Lawful money of the United States of Aoz

Environmental Law shall mean any and all applicable Requirements a#,Lrules, orders,
regulations, statutes, ordinances, codes or de¢nmeglsding, without limitation, common law) of the
United States, or any state, provincial, local, ioijpal or other governmental authority, regulating,
relating to or imposing liability or standards @ncluct concerning protection of the environmenthas
been, is now, or at any time hereafter is, in effec

Environmental Liability shall mearany liability, claim, action, suit, judgment or @mdunder or
relating to any Environmental Law for any damagegnctive relief, losses, fines, penalties, fees,
expenses or costs, whether contingent or othenimsiyding those arising from or relating to: (a)
compliance or non-compliance with any Environmentaw, (b) the generation, use, handling,
transportation, storage, treatment or disposahgfMaterials of Environmental Concern, (c) expodare
any Materials of Environmental Concern, (d) thegask of any Materials of Environmental Concern or
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(e) any contract, agreement or other consensuahgement pursuant to which liability is assumed or
imposed with respect to any of the foregoing.

ERISA shall mean the Employee Retirement Income Secéatyof 1974, as amended from
time to time (and any successor thereto), andggelations and published interpretations thereof.

Event of Default shall mean any of the events specified in ArtRlend any event specified in
any other Loan Document as an Event of Default.

Excluded Taxesshall mean any of the following Taxes imposed pwith respect to a Recipient
or required to be withheld or deducted from a paynte a Recipient, (a) Taxes imposed on or measured
by net income or net profits (however denominaté@d)chise Taxes (imposed in lieu of net income or
net profits Taxes), and branch profits Taxes, ichezase, (i) imposed as a result of such Recifeimy
organized under the laws of, or having its principifice or, in the case of any Lender, its appiiea
lending office located in, the jurisdiction impogisuch Tax (or any political subdivision thereof)(i0)
that are Other Connection Taxes, (b) in the casel@nder, U.S. federal withholding Taxes imposad
amounts payable to or for the account of such Lendth respect to an applicable interest in a Loan
Commitment pursuant to a law in effect on the aettevhich (i) such Lender acquires such intereghén
Loan or Commitment (other than pursuant to an assémt request by the Borrower under Section 3.06)
or (i) such Lender changes its lending office,eptcin each case to the extent that, pursuant ¢doBe
3.04, amounts with respect to such Taxes were paygther to such Lender's assignor immediately
before such Lender became a party hereto or to secter immediately before it changed its lending
office, (c) Taxes attributable to such Recipiefdidure to comply with Section 3.04(G) and (d) dmys.
federal withholding Taxes imposed under FATCA.

Existing CoBank Facility shall mean that certain $50,000,000 unsecureddingedit facility
made available by CoBank to Borrower pursuant & ¢lertain Revolving Credit Agreement entered into
as of July 16, 2009 between Borrower and CoBank.

Farm Credit Lender has the meaning given it in Section 12.06(F).

Farm Credit System shall mean a federally chartered network of boewawned lending
institutions comprised of cooperatives and relaenyice organizations.

FATCA shall mean Sections 1471 through 1474 of the Caslef the date of this Agreement (or
any amended or successor version that is substnttemparable and not materially more onerous to
comply with) and any current or future regulationfficial interpretations thereof.

Federal Funds Effective Rateshall meanfor any day, the weighted average of the rates on
overnight federal funds transactions with membdrthe Federal Reserve System arranged by federal
funds brokers, as published on the next succedsiamking Day by the Federal Reserve Bank of New
York, or, if such rate is not so published for atay that is a Banking Day, the average of the dioois
for the day of such transactions received by thmisgstrative Agent from three federal funds brokefs
recognized standing selected by it.

Fee Letter shall mean that certain letter, dated July 27,220y CoBank and accepted and
agreed to by the Borrower.

Fitch shall mean Fitch, Inc.
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Foreign Lender shall mean (a) if the Borrower is a U.S. Persohenader that is not a U.S.
Person, and (b) if the Borrower is not a U.S. Perad_ender that is resident or organized undefaiivs
of a jurisdiction other than that in which the Bower is resident for tax purposes.

Fund shall mean any Person (other than a natural Petisanhis (or will be) engaged in making,
purchasing, holding or otherwise investing in conuia loans and similar extensions of credit in the
ordinary course of its activities.

Funding Office shall mean the office of the Administrative Agepiecified in_Section 2.03 or
such other office as may be specified from timeirte by the Lender as its funding office by written
notice to the Borrower.

GAAP shall mean generally accepted accounting pringipléhe United States.

Governmental Authority shall mean the government of the United StateAroérica or any
other nation, or of any political subdivision theiewhether state or local, and any agency, authori
instrumentality, regulatory body, court, centrainkeor other entity exercising executive, legislativ
judicial, taxing, regulatory or administrative paweor functions of or pertaining to government
(including any supra-national bodies such as thegaan Union or the European Central Bank).

Indebtednessof any Person shall mean, without duplication,al&jndebtedness of such Person
for borrowed money, (b) all obligations of such $eer evidenced by bonds, debentures, notes or simila
instruments, (c) all obligations of such Persontfar deferred purchase price of property or sesyice
(d) all guarantee obligations by such Person oéliedness of others, (e) all Capital Lease obbgatof
such Person, and (f) the principal component obhligations, contingent or otherwise, of such Bers
(i) as an account party in respect of letters eflitr(other than any letters of credit, bank guteas or
similar instrument in respect of which a back-talbéetter of credit has been issued under or peethit
by this Agreement) and (ii) in respect of bankeasteptances; provided that Indebtedness shall not
include (A) trade and other ordinary course payabdxcrued expenses and intercompany liabilities
arising in the ordinary course of business, (Bppi@ or deferred revenue arising in the ordinamyrse
of business, (C) purchase price holdbacks arisirtbe ordinary course of business in respect aragn
of the purchase price of an asset to satisfy unopmdd obligations of the seller of such asset Qre@n-
out obligations until such obligations become Aility on the balance sheet of such Person in atzouare
with GAAP. The Indebtedness of any Person shalluie the Indebtedness of any partnership in which
such Person is a general partner, other than textest that the instrument or agreement evidensira)
Indebtedness expressly limits the liability of suearson in respect thereof. Indebtedness shall not
include obligations under (i) hedging agreements ardered into for speculative purposes, (ii) lsase
(other than Capital Lease Obligations), (iii) powa&mergy, transmission or fuel purchase agreem@wys,
obligations imposed by a Governmental Authorityh@rtthan RUS or CoBank), (v) commodities trading
or purchase arrangements not entered into for fgg@@ipurposes, (vi) surety, indemnity, performanc
release and appeal bonds and Guarantees thereofeiticin the ordinary course of the Borrower’'s
business, (vii) reclamation or decommissioning gdtions (and Guarantees thereof, or (viii) obligadi
which have been legally or economically defeased.

Indemnified Taxesshall mean (a) Taxes, other than Excluded Targso$ed on or with respect
to any payment made by or on account of any oldigaif the Borrower under any Loan Document and
(b) to the extent not otherwise described in (dheD®Taxes.

Indemnitee has the meaning set forth_in Section 12.05(b).
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Indenture shall mean that certain Indenture dated as JuBOQ9, between the Borrower and
U.S. Bank National Association, as amended, supghead or restated from time to time.

Interest Payment Dateshall mean the last Banking Day of each March, JGeptember and
December, commencing on September 30, 2012, ariddhgity Date.

Lenders shall mean the several financial institutions friomme to time parties hereto.

Lien shall mean any mortgage, deed of trust, pledgeirsg interest, hypothecation, assignment
for security purposes, deposit arrangement, lityory or other), or other security agreemenargé or
similar encumbrance of any kind or nature whatsoéwueluding, without limitation, any conditionahke
or other title retention agreement).

Loan shall have the meaning given it_in Section 2.01(a).

Loan Documents shall mean this Agreement, the Notes and the dentsncreating or
evidencing the Collateral Requirements including lttrdenture and the Supplemental Indenture.

Material Adverse Effect shall mean any change to the business, operatiiag;s, condition
(financial or otherwise), liabilities (actual or miingent), assets, or properties of the Borrowelitor
subsidiaries, taken as a whole, that materiallyeegbly affects (i) the ability of the Borrower terform
its obligations under the Loan Documents or (i§ thalidity or enforceability of any Loan Documents
the Lenders’ remedies under the Loan Documents.

Material Contract shall mean each Member Wholesale Power ContractMaierial Direct
Serve Contract listed on Schedule 5.17.

Material Direct Serve Contracts shall mean any Direct Serve Contract to (i) anglsen to
which a member of the Borrower supplies power, éildany customer with a contract load of 25
megawatts or greater.

Materials of Environmental Concern shall mearany gasoline or petroleum (including crude oil
or any fraction thereof) or petroleum products gproducts and all other hydrocarbons, coal astgrrad
gas,, polychlorinated biphenyls, urea-formaldehiydelation, asbestos, chlorofluorocarbons andtakio
ozone-depleting substances, pollutants, contansnaadioactivity and any other chemicals, materals
substances that are defined as hazardous or toxieruany Environmental Law, that are prohibited,
limited or regulated pursuant to any Environmehtak.

Material Indebtedness shall mean any Indebtedness with a principal valueexcess of
$10,000,000.

Member shall mean a rural distribution cooperative mendfe¢he Borrower.

Member Wholesale Power Contractshall mearthe Borrower's power supply contracts with its
members (together with all material amendments auopgplements thereto) and all successor or
replacement contracts and agreements theretora@ofhexcluding the Direct Serve Contracts.

Moody’s shall mean Moody’s Investor Services.

Maturity Date shall mean June 30, 2032.
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Non-Consenting Lendershall mean any Lender that does not approve angeru, waiver or
amendment that (i) requires the approval of aket#d Lenders in accordance with the terms of &ecti
12.01 and (ii) has been approved by the Requireddies.

Notesshall mean the meaning given_in Section 2.01(b).
Notice of Borrowing shall mean a Notice of Borrowing, substantiallyhie form of Exhibit J.
Notice of Cancellation shall have the meaning given it.in Section 5.17(b)

Organizational Documents shall mean the documents under which the Borrowaes been
organized or is run, including (as may be relevaartjcles of incorporation or formation, bylaws,
partnership agreements, shareholder agreementthafile.

Other Connection Taxesshall mean, with respect to any Recipient, Targmsed as a result of
a present or former connection between such Rexdipied the jurisdiction imposing such Tax (othenth
connections arising from such Recipient having etext, delivered, become a party to, performed its
obligations under, received payments under, redeoreperfected a security interest under, engaged i
any other transaction pursuant to or enforced amgnLDocument, or sold or assigned an interestén th
Loan or Loan Document).

Other Taxesshall mean all present or future stamp, courtamuchentary, intangible, recording,
filing or similar Taxes that arise from any paymembde under, from the execution, delivery,
performance, enforcement or registration of, frow teceipt or perfection of a security interestarnar
otherwise with respect to, any Loan Document, eixaap such Taxes that are Other Connection Taxes.

Outstanding Amount shall mean on any date, the aggregate outstaipdingpal amount of the
Loan, after giving effect to any prepayments omlaggpents of occurring on such date.

Participant shall have the meaning specified in Section 12)06(

Participant Register has the meaning specified_in Section 12.06(d).

Person shall mean an individual, partnership, corporatiomsiness trust, joint stock company,
trust, unincorporated association, joint ventureyegnmental authority, or other entity of whatever
nature.

Prepayment Surchagenhas the meaning given it in Section 2.07.

Property or Properties shall mearany right or interest in or to property of any kiwtlatsoever,
whether real, personal or mixed and whether taagblintangible, including, without limitation, Géd
Stock.

Quoted Fixed Rateshall mean a rate to be established by the Admétige Agent on the date
of Borrowing in its sole and absolute discretion.

Recipientshall mean the Administrative Agent or any Lendesrapplicable.

Registershall have the meaning assigned to such tergeation 12.06(c).

A-7

DC\1607865.18



Regulation Ushall mean Regulation U of the Board of Governdrhe Federal Reserve System
of the United States (or any successor) as in tfifea time to time.

Related Partiesshall mean, with respect to any Person, such Psrédiiliates and the partners,
directors, officers, employees, agents, attorneyfsét and advisors of such Person and of sucloRers
Affiliates.

Releaseshall mean any release, spill, emission, leakingnming, injection, pouring, deposit,
disposal, discharge, dispersal, leaching or migmaiito or through the environment or within or apo
any building, structure or facility.

Required Lendersshall mean two (2) or more Lenders (including Vgtiarticipants) who have
in the aggregate Commitment Percentages greater5b®, provided, that, at any time when there is
only one (1) Lender and no Voting Participants hsuender shall constitute the “Required Lenders.”

Requirements of Lawshall mearas to any Person, the certificate of incorporasind bylaws or
other organizational or governing documents of skerson, and any law, treaty, rule or regulation or
determination of an arbitrator or a court or ot@@vernmental Authority, in each case applicablerto
binding upon such Person or any of its propertioarhich such Person or any of its property is sct)j
provided, however, that for purposes of the Loarubeents, the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and
Consumer Protection Act and all requests, rulegjlations, guidelines or directives thereunderssuéd
in connection therewith shall be deemed to have goio effect after the Closing Date, regardlesthef
date enacted, adopted or issued).

Resignation Effective Datehas the meaning assigned such term in Sectio®.11.0

Responsible Officershall mean the chief executive officer, presidehtef financial officer (or
similar title) controller or treasurer (or similgtte) of the Borrower or its members, as applieabl

RUS shall mean the Rural Utilities Service or otherragyesucceeding to the authority of the
Rural Utilities Service with respect to loans teatic cooperatives.

SEC shall mean the Securities and Exchange Commigsiosuccessors thereto or an analogous
Governmental Authority).

Solventshall mean with respect to any Person, as of atey @fadetermination, (a) the fair value
of the assets of such Person (determined at adhiation made with reference to the financialestagnts
delivered to the Administrative Agent pursuant exi®n 4.01(A) or_Section 6.01) will, as of sucheda
be greater than the amount that will be requiregay the liability of such Person on its debts ashs
debts become absolute and matured, (b) such Peiboot have, as of such date, an unreasonablylsma
amount of capital for a generation and transmissiooperative with similar power supply obligations
with which to conduct its business and (c) sucts&emill be able to pay its debts as they matufer
purposes of this definition, (i) “debt” means lilitlyi on a “claim”, (ii) “claim” means any (x) righto
payment, whether or not such a right is reducgddgment, liquidated, unliquidated, fixed, continge
matured, unmatured, disputed, undisputed, legaljta@ze, secured or unsecured or (y) right to an
equitable remedy for breach of performance if du@ach gives rise to a right to payment, whetherobr
such right to an equitable remedy is reduced tgrueht, fixed, contingent, matured or unmatured,
disputed, undisputed, secured or unsecured and efficept as otherwise provided by applicable
Requirement of Law, the amount of a “contingerabliity at any time shall be the amount thereofakihi
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in light of all the facts and circumstances exigtat such time, can reasonably be expected to lecom
actual or matured liabilities.

Specified Lenderhas the meaning given it in Section 3.06.

Subsidiary shall mean, as to the Borrower, a corporatiortngaship, limited liability company,
joint venture, or other Person of which sharestotks or other equity interests having ordinary rgti
power to elect a majority of the board of directorsother managers of such corporation, partnership
limited liability company, joint venture, or oth&erson are at the time owned, or the management of
which is otherwise controlled, directly or indirggtthrough one or more intermediaries, or both thwy
Borrower.

Supplemental Indentureshall mean the meaning given it.in Section 4.01(0).
Taxes shall mean all present or future taxes, leviegosts, duties, deductions, withholdings
(including backup withholding), assessments, feesother charges imposed by any Governmental

Authority, including any interest, additions to t@xpenalties applicable thereto.

Trade Date has the meaning given it in Section 12.06(b)(i)(B)

Transfer Notice shall mean a Transfer Notice, substantially in ftiven of the Transfer Notice
attached to the Form of Note attached as Exhileigto.

Transition Reserve means a transition reserve to be maintained byoR@r in the amount of
$35,000,000 for use in meeting expenses in thetevemelter terminates service under its Direcv&er
Contract.

Trustee shall mean the meaning given in the Indenture.

Trust Estate shall have the meaning set forth in the Indenture.

U.S. Borrower shall mean any Borrower that is a U.S. Person.

U.S. Personshall mean any Person that is a “United StatesoRgras defined in Section
7701(a)(30) of the Code.

U.S. Tax Compliance Certificatehas the meaning given it in Section 3.04(G)(ii)8)(

Voting Participant has the meaning given it in Section 12.06(f).
Withholding Agent shall mean the Borrower and the Administrative ritge

SECTION 1.02 Rules of Interpretation The following rules of interpretation shall appb the
Agreement and any Loan Document, and all amendnierisher of the foregoing:

Accounting Terms. All accounting terms not specifically definedréie shall be construed in

accordance with GAAP, and all financial data subedifpursuant to this Agreement shall be prepared in
accordance with such principles.
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Number. All terms stated in the singular shall includhe tplural, and all terms stated in the
plural shall include the singular.

Including. The term “including” shall mean including, bugtrimited to.

Default. The expression “while any Default or Event offfdt shall have occurred and be
continuing” (or like expression) shall be deemednwude the period following any acceleration loé t
Loan (unless such acceleration is rescinded).

Time Periods The word “from,” when referring to a time perjod exclusive and shall not
include the day from which the time period runsheWword “to” or “through,” when referring to a time
period, is inclusive and shall include the day tdali the time period runs.

Headings Captions and headings used in this Agreementoaneference and convenience of
the parties only, and shall not constitute a pitiis Agreement.

Gender. The gender of all words used in this Agreemaaluides the masculine, feminine, and
neuter.

Agreement The terms “hereof,” “herein,” “hereby” and deatiwve or similar words refer to this
Agreement, and all references to Articles and 8astirefer to articles and sections of this Agredmen
and all references to Exhibits are to exhibitsciital hereto, each of which is made a part hereddlfo
purposes.

Or. The term “or” is not exclusive.

Agents Where any provision in this Agreement refersattion to be taken by any person or
entity, or which such person or entity is prohitifeom taking, such provision will be applicable ather
such action is taken directly or indirectly by sysrson or entity, including actions taken by otbehalf
of any affiliate of such person or entity.

Successors and AssignsReferences to any person or entity will be cwest as a reference to
any successors or permitted assigns of such persamtity.

Amendments and Modifications Reference to any agreement (including this Agerg),
document or instrument means such agreement, dotunenstrument as amended, supplemented or
modified and in effect from time to time in accaonda with the terms thereof and, if applicable,térens
hereof.
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EXHIBIT B
TO CREDIT AGREEMENT

FORM OF NOTE
THIS SERIES 2012A FIRST MORTGAGE NOTE HAS NOT BEREGISTERED UNDER
THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED (THE “SECURES ACT”), AND MAY BE
RESOLD ONLY IF REGISTERED PURSUANT TO THE PROVISIGNOF THE SECURITIES ACT
OR IF AN EXEMPTION FROM REGISTRATION IS AVAILABLE, EXCEPT UNDER

CIRCUMSTANCES WHERE NEITHER SUCH REGISTRATION NORU6H AN EXEMPTION IS
REQUIRED BY LAW.

BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION
FIRST MORTGAGE NOTES, SERIES 2012A

| ] , 2012

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION , a Kentucky
cooperative corporation (the_“BorrowerfifEREBY PROMISES TO PAY to [LENDER] (the
“Lender”), or its assigns, in lawful money of thenitéd States and in immediately available funds, th
principal amount of | ] DOLLARS (%] ), or, if less, the aggregate unpaid
principal amount of the Loans (as defined in thed@rAgreement referred to below) made by Lender to
the Borrower pursuant to the Credit Agreement aridtanding on the Commitment Termination Date (as
defined in the Credit Agreement), whichever is le$fie Borrower also promises to pay interest @n th
unpaid principal balance of the Loans for the pkach balance is outstanding in like money, at the
rates of interest, at the times, and calculatdiérmanner, set forth in Credit Agreement. Any antaf
principal and, to the extent provided by law, ies#r hereof which is not paid when due, whethstaied
maturity, by acceleration, or otherwise, shall bieéerest from the date when due until said priatip
amount is paid in full, payable on demand, at a pgr annum equal at all times to the rates st for
Section 2.08 of the Credit Agreement. All paymenede hereunder shall be made at the times and in
the manner set forth in the Credit Agreement.

The Borrower hereby authorizes the Lender to erdorsthe schedule annexed to this Note all
payments of principal and interest in respect efltban, which endorsements shall be presumed torrec
absent manifest error as to the outstanding prah@mount of, and accrued and unpaid interesthan, t
Loans; provided however, that the failure to makehsnotation with respect to any Loan or payment
shall not limit or otherwise affect the obligatiohthe Borrower under the Credit Agreement or Nhige.

This is a Note referred to in that certain Secueedit Agreement, dated as of July 24, 2012, by
and between the Borrower, the several financidltingns or entities from time to time parties Ithi®,
including the Lender, and COBANK, ACB, a federatlyartered instrumentality of the United States, as
administrative agent, lead arranger and book ryraseamended, supplemented or modified from time to
time (the “Credit Agreement”), to evidence the Leamade by the Lender thereunder, all of the temmds a
provisions of which are hereby incorporated by nexfiee. All capitalized terms used herein and not
defined herein shall have the meanings given tomtinethe Credit Agreement.

The Credit Agreement provides for the acceleratdnthe maturity of principal upon the
occurrence of an Event of Default and for prepaysem the terms and conditions specified therein,
including payment of a surcharge pursuant to Se@id7 of the Credit Agreement.
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This Note is an Obligation (as defined in the Indes) subject to and is secured by that certain
Indenture, dated as of July 1, 2009, as supplemetg and between the Borrower and U.S. Bank
National Association, as Trustee.

This Note is a registered Obligation and, as prediih the Indenture, upon surrender of this Note
for registration of transfer, accompanied by a tentinstrument of transfer duly executed, by the
registered Holder hereof (or such Holder’s attordely authorized in writing) and countersigned bg t
Administrative Agent, a new Note for a like prinaimmount will be issued to, and registered inrthme
of, the transferee. Prior to due presentmentdgistration of transfer, the Borrower may treat peeson
in whose name this Note is registered as the olereof for the purpose of receiving payment andafor
other purposes, and the Borrower will not be aéfiddty any notice to the contrary.

The Borrower hereby waives presentment for paymeéatand, notice of protest, notice of
dishonor, and any other notice or formality witlspect to this Note, and all defenses on the graind
delay or of any extension of time for payment h&rgloich may, without obligation, hereafter be given
by the holder hereof.

Except to the extent governed by applicable fedienal this Note shall be governed by, and
interpreted and construed in accordance with, @ lof the State of New York, without reference to
choice of law doctrine.

BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION

By:
Name:
Title:
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This is one of the Obligations (as defined inltidenture) of the series designated therein
referred to in the Indenture.

U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,
as Trustee

By:
Authorized Signatory

Date of Authentication:
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SCHEDULE TO NOTE

LOANS
Date Loan Amount Unpaid Name of Person
Made or of Principal Making Notation
Paid Loan Made or Paid Balance of

Note
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FORM OF TRANSFER NOTICE

FOR VALUE RECEIVED the undersigned registered Notdar hereby sell(s) assign(s)
and transfer(s) unto

Insert Taxpayer Identification No.

(Please print or typewrite name and address inatugip code of assignee)

the within Note and all rights thereunder, herebgviocably constituting and appointing

attorney to transfer said Note on the books keptegistration thereof, with full power of substitin in
the premises.

Date:

(Signature of Transferor)

NOTE: The signature to this assignment must
correspond with the name as written upon the fa¢leeo
within-mentioned instrument in every particularhvaiut
alteration or enlargement or any change whatsoever.
NOTE: The signature must be guaranteed by an
eligible guarantor institution (banks, stockbrokers
savings and loan associations and credit unionk wit
membership in an approved signature guarantee
medallion program) pursuant to S.E.C. Rule 17Ad-15.

The Administrative Agent hereby authorizes the Tgess Obligation Registrar (as defined in the
Indenture) for the First Mortgage Notes, Series220tb transfer this Note under the Indenture punsua
to the instructions, above.

CoBank, ACB, as Administrative Agent
By:

Name:
Title:
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PRINCIPAL REPAYMENT SCHEDULE

Period Date Principal
Payment
1 9/30/2012 1,776,021.00
2 12/31/2012 1,797,111.00
3 3/31/2013 1,818,452.00
4 6/30/2013 1,840,046.00
5 9/30/2013 1,861,896.00
6 12/31/2013 1,884,006.00
7 3/31/2014 1,906,379.00
8 6/30/2014 1,929,017.00
9 9/30/2014 1,951,924.00
10 12/31/2014 1,975,103.00
11 3/31/2015 1,998,558.00
12 6/30/2015 2,022,291.00
13 9/30/2015 2,046,305.0C
14 12/31/2015 2,070,605.00
15 3/31/2016 2,095,194.0C
16 6/30/2016 2,120,074.00
17 9/30/2016 2,145,250.00
18 12/31/201§ 2,170,725.00
19 3/31/2017 2,196,502.0C
20 6/30/2017 2,222,586.0C
21 9/30/2017 2,248,979.00

EXHIBIT C

TO CREDIT AGREEMENT
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22 12/31/20171 2,275,685.00
23 3/31/2018|  2,302,709.0C
24 6/30/2018| 2,330,054.0C
25 9/30/2018| 2,357,723.0C
26 12/31/2018 2,385,721.00
27 3/31/2019| 2,414,052.0C
28 6/30/2019| 2,442,718.00
29 9/30/2019| 2,471,726.0C
30 12/31/2019 2,501,078.00
31 3/31/2020|  2,530,778.0C
32 6/30/2020| 2,560,831.00
33 9/30/2020| 2,591,241.0C
34 12/31/202Q0 2,622,012.00
35 3/31/2021| 2,653,148.0C
36 6/30/2021| 2,684,654.00
37 9/30/2021| 2,716,534.00
38 12/31/2021 2,748,793.00
39 3/31/2022| 2,781,435.0C
40 6/30/2022| 2,814,465.0C
41 9/30/2022| 2,847,887.00
42 12/31/2022 2,881,705.00
43 3/31/2023| 2,915,925.0C
44 6/30/2023| 2,950,552.0C
45 9/30/2023| 2,985,590.00
46 12/31/2023 3,021,044.00
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47 3/31/2024|  3,056,919.0C
48 6/30/2024| 3,093,220.00
49 9/30/2024|  3,129,952.0C
50 12/31/2024 3,167,120.00

51 3/31/2025|  3,204,729.0C
52 6/30/2025| 3,242,785.00
53 9/30/2025| 3,281,293.00
54 12/31/202% 3,320,259.00

55 3/31/2026| 3,359,687.0C
56 6/30/2026| 3,399,583.00
57 9/30/2026| 3,439,953.00
58 12/31/202 3,480,803.00

59 3/31/2027| 3,522,137.0C
60 6/30/2027|  3,563,963.0C
61 9/30/2027| 3,606,285.00
62 12/31/2027 3,649,109.00

63 3/31/2028| 3,692,442.0C
64 6/30/2028| 3,736,290.0C
65 9/30/2028| 3,780,659.0C
66 12/31/2028 3,825,554.00

67 3/31/2029| 3,870,982.0C
68 6/30/2029|  3,916,950.0C
69 9/30/2029|  3,963,464.0C
70 12/31/2029 4,010,530.00

71 3/31/2030| 4,058,155.0C
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72 6/30/2030| 4,106,346.00
73 9/30/2030| 4,155,109.00
74 12/31/203Q 4,204,451.00
75 3/31/2031| 4,254,379.0C
76 6/30/2031| 4,304,899.00
77 9/30/2031| 4,356,020.00
78 12/31/203Y 4,407,748.00
79 3/31/2032| 4,460,090.0C
80 6/30/2032| 4,513,051.0C

TOTAL

235,000,000.0(




EXHIBIT D-1
TO CREDIT AGREEMENT

FORM OF U.S. TAX COMPLIANCE CERTIFICATE
(For Foreign Lenders That Are Not Partnerships ForU.S. Federal Income Tax Purposes)

Reference is hereby made to the Secured CreditefAggnt, dated as of July 24, 2012 (as amended,
supplemented or modified and in effect from timditaee, the “Credit Agreement”; capitalized termg no
defined herein shall have the meanings ascribaettinén the Credit Agreement), by and between BIG
RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION, a Kentucky cooperatigerporation (the “Borrower”), the
several financial institutions or entities from &@rno time parties thereto (the “Lenders”) and COBAN
ACB, a federally chartered instrumentality of theitdd States, as administrative agent (in suchdigpa
“Administrative Agent”), lead arranger and book men

Pursuant to the provisions of Section 3.04(f)()ij8p of the Credit Agreement, the undersigned hereb
certifies that (i) it is the sole record and beciafi owner of the Loan(s) (as well as any Note(s)
evidencing such Loan(s)) in respect of which prisviding this certificate, (i) it is not a bankithin the
meaning of Section 881(c)(3)(A) of the Code, (tiijs not a ten percent shareholder of the Borrower
within the meaning of Section 881(c)(3)(B) of thedé and (iv) it is not a controlled foreign corgaa
related to the Borrower as described in Sectio{@8)(C) of the Code.

The undersigned has furnished the Administrativemignd the Borrower with a certificate of its non-
U.S. Person status on IRS Form W-8BEN. By exegtirs certificate, the undersigned agrees thaif (1)
the information provided on this certificate chasg¢he undersigned shall promptly so inform the
Borrower and the Administrative Agent, and (2) thdersigned shall have at all times furnished the
Borrower and the Administrative Agent with a prdgezompleted and currently effective certificate in
either the calendar year in which each paymert lset made to the undersigned, or in either of we t
calendar years preceding such payments.

Unless otherwise defined herein, terms definechenGredit Agreement and used herein shall have the
meanings given to them in the Credit Agreement.

[NAME OF LENDER]

By:

Name:
Title:

Date: _,20[ ]

DC\1628977.6



EXHIBIT D-2
TO CREDIT AGREEMENT

FORM OF U.S. TAX COMPLIANCE CERTIFICATE
(For Foreign Participants That Are Not PartnershipsFor U.S. Federal Income Tax Purposes)

Reference is hereby made to the Secured CreditefAwgnt, dated as of July 24, 2012 (as amended,
supplemented or modified and in effect from timdimae, the "Credit Agreement"”; capitalized terms no
defined herein shall have the meanings ascribaettinén the Credit Agreement), by and between BIG
RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION, a Kentucky cooperatigerporation (the "Borrower"), the
several financial institutions or entities from @rto time parties thereto (the "Lenders") and COBAN
ACB, a federally chartered instrumentality of theitdd States, as administrative agent (in suchdigpa
"Administrative Agent"), lead arranger and bookmren

Pursuant to the provisions of Section 3.04(f)()i) of the Credit Agreement, the undersigned hereb
certifies that (i) it is the sole record and beciefi owner of the participation in respect of whiths
providing this certificate, (ii) it is not a bankithin the meaning of Section 881(c)(3)(A) of thedgo(iii)

it is not a ten percent shareholder of the Borrowehin the meaning of Section 881(c)(3)(B) of the
Code, and (iv) it is not a controlled foreign comqicon related to the Borrower as described iniSect
881(c)(3)(C) of the Code.

The undersigned has furnished its participatingdeerwith a certificate of its non-U.S. Person sain
IRS Form W-8BEN. By executing this certificateethndersigned agrees that (1) if the information
provided on this certificate changes, the undeesighall promptly so inform such Lender in writiagd

(2) the undersigned shall have at all times fumrisbuch Lender with a properly completed and ctlgren
effective certificate in either the calendar yeawhich each payment is to be made to the undeadigor

in either of the two calendar years preceding fuasiments.

Unless otherwise defined herein, terms definechenGredit Agreement and used herein shall have the
meanings given to them in the Credit Agreement.

[NAME OF PARTICIPANT]

By:

Name:
Title:

Date: _,20[ ]

DC\1628977.6



EXHIBIT D-3
TO CREDIT AGREEMENT

FORM OF U.S. TAX COMPLIANCE CERTIFICATE
(For Foreign Participants That Are Partnerships For U.S. Federal Income Tax Purposes)

Reference is hereby made to the Secured CreditefAwgnt, dated as of July 24, 2012 (as amended,
supplemented or modified and in effect from timditaee, the “Credit Agreement”; capitalized termg no
defined herein shall have the meanings ascribaettinén the Credit Agreement), by and between BIG
RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION, a Kentucky cooperatigerporation (the “Borrower”), the
several financial institutions or entities from &@rno time parties thereto (the “Lenders”) and COBAN
ACB, a federally chartered instrumentality of theitdd States, as administrative agent (in suchdigpa
“Administrative Agent”), lead arranger and book men

Pursuant to the provisions of Section 3.04(f)()i) of the Credit Agreement, the undersigned hereb
certifies that (i) it is the sole record owner bétparticipation in respect of which it is providithis
certificate, (i) its direct or indirect partnersgmbers are the sole beneficial owners of suchgiaation,

(i) with respect such participation, neither thendersigned nor any of its direct or indirect
partners/members is a bank extending credit putsivaa loan agreement entered into in the ordinary
course of its trade or business within the meaniih§ection 881(c)(3)(A) of the Code, (iv) none tf i
direct or indirect partners/members is a ten pérsbareholder of the Borrower within the meaning of
Section 881(c)(3)(B) of the Code and (v) none sfdirect or indirect partners/members is a corgdoll
foreign corporation related to the Borrower as dbed in Section 881(c)(3)(C) of the Code.

The undersigned has furnished its participatingdeerwith IRS Form W-8IMY accompanied by one of
the following forms from each of its partners/memsb#hat is claiming the portfolio interest exemptio

() an IRS Form W-8BEN or (i) an IRS Form W-8IMYceompanied by an IRS Form W-8BEN from
each of such partner's/member's beneficial owreisis claiming the portfolio interest exemptioBy
executing this certificate, the undersigned agthas (1) if the information provided on this cedite
changes, the undersigned shall promptly so infarah 4. ender and (2) the undersigned shall havel at al
times furnished such Lender with a properly congaeand currently effective certificate in eithee th
calendar year in which each payment is to be madbe undersigned, or in either of the two calendar
years preceding such payments.

Unless otherwise defined herein, terms definechen@redit Agreement and used herein shall have the
meanings given to them in the Credit Agreement.

[NAME OF PARTICIPANT]

By:

Name:
Title:
Date: _,20[ ]
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EXHIBIT D-4
TO CREDIT AGREEMENT

FORM OF U.S. TAX COMPLIANCE CERTIFICATE
(For Foreign Lenders That Are Partnerships For U.SFederal Income Tax Purposes)

Reference is hereby made to the Secured CreditefAwnt, dated as of July 24, 2012 (as amended,
supplemented or modified and in effect from timditaee, the “Credit Agreement”; capitalized termg no
defined herein shall have the meanings ascribaettinén the Credit Agreement), by and between BIG
RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION, a Kentucky cooperatigerporation (the “Borrower”), the
several financial institutions or entities from &@rno time parties thereto (the “Lenders”) and COBAN
ACB, a federally chartered instrumentality of theitdd States, as administrative agent (in suchdigpa
“Administrative Agent”), lead arranger and book men

Pursuant to the provisions of Section 3.04(f)()i) of the Credit Agreement, the undersigned hereb
certifies that (i) it is the sole record owner lo¢ _oan(s) (as well as any Note(s) evidencing suoen(s))

in respect of which it is providing this certifieat(ii) its direct or indirect partners/members tire sole
beneficial owners of such Loan(s) (as well as anyel$) evidencing such Loan(s)), (iii) with resptrt
the extension of credit pursuant to this Credit éggmnent or any other Loan Document, neither the
undersigned nor any of its direct or indirect partimembers is a bank extending credit pursuaat to
loan agreement entered into in the ordinary coafsts trade or business within the meaning of Bect
881(c)(3)(A) of the Code, (iv) none of its directindirect partners/members is a ten percent sbéteh

of the Borrower within the meaning of Section 88(3)B) of the Code and (v) none of its direct or
indirect partners/members is a controlled foreigmporation related to the Borrower as described in
Section 881(c)(3)(C) of the Code.

The undersigned has furnished the Administrativerigand the Borrower with IRS Form W-8IMY
accompanied by one of the following forms from eadhits partners/members that is claiming the
portfolio interest exemption: (i) an IRS Form W-8BBr (i) an IRS Form W-8IMY accompanied by an
IRS Form W-8BEN from each of such partner's/mersl@heficial owners that is claiming the portfolio
interest exemption. By executing this certificatiee undersigned agrees that (1) if the information
provided on this certificate changes, the undeegsigshall promptly so inform the Borrower and the
Administrative Agent, and (2) the undersigned shale at all times furnished the Borrower and the
Administrative Agent with a properly completed andrently effective certificate in either the calen
year in which each payment is to be made to theensighed, or in either of the two calendar years
preceding such payments.

Unless otherwise defined herein, terms definechenGredit Agreement and used herein shall have the
meanings given to them in the Credit Agreement.

[NAME OF LENDER]

By:

Name:
Title:

Date: _,20[ ]
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EXHIBIT E
TO CREDIT AGREEMENT

FORM OF SECRETARY'S CERTIFICATE

Pursuant to Section 4.01(c) of the Secured Credie@dment, dated as of July 24, 2012 (the
“Credit Agreement”; unless otherwise defined hereapitalized terms defined in the Credit Agreement
and used herein shall have the meanings givenetm th the Credit Agreement), by and between BIG
RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION, a Kentucky cooperatigerporation (the “Borrower”), the
several financial institutions or entities from &rto time parties thereto and COBANK, ACB, a fetlgra
chartered instrumentality of the United Statesadministrative agent, lead arranger and book ryrther
undersigned Mark A. Bailey, the President and Chiedcutive Officer of the Borrower, hereby certfie
on behalf of the Borrower that Paula Mitchell is thuly elected and qualified Executive Secretarghef
Board of Directors of the Borrower and the signatset forth for such officer below is such offisdrue
and genuine signature.

The undersigned Executive Secretary of the Borrdweeeby certifies as follows:

1. Attached hereto as Annex 1 is a true and complgpy of a Certificate of Good Standing
or the equivalent from the Borrower's jurisdictiohorganization dated as of a recent date prior
to the date hereof.

2. Attached hereto as Annex 2 is a true and commepy of resolutions duly adopted by
the Board of Directors of the Borrower on May 1812. Such resolutions have not in any way
been amended, modified, revoked or rescinded, baea in full force and effect since their
adoption to and including the date hereof and asg im full force and effect and are the only
corporate proceedings of the Borrower now in foedating to or affecting the matters referred to
therein.

3. Attached hereto as Annex 3 is a true and complepy of the Bylaws of the Borrower as
in effect on the date hereof.

4. Attached hereto as Annex 4 is a true and compettified copy of the Articles of
Incorporation of the Borrower as in effect on tlaedhereof, and such Articles of Incorporation
have not been amended, repealed, modified or eelssaice the date of such certification.

5. The persons listed on the Incumbency Certifiedtached hereto as Schedule | are now
duly elected and qualified officers or employeeshef Borrower holding the offices and positions
indicated next to their respective names on theaunrency Certificate attached hereto as
Schedule |, and the signatures appearing oppds#ie tespective names on the Incumbency
Certificate attached hereto as Schedule | arertieeand genuine signatures of such officers and
employees, and each of such officers and emplageshisly authorized to execute and deliver on
behalf of the Borrower each of the Loan Documeatw/hich it is a party and any certificate or
other document to be delivered by the Borrower yams to the Loan Documents to which it is a

party.
(SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS)
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have hereuet@sr names as of the date set forth

below.

Name: Name:
Title: Title:
Date: _,2012

DC\1628977.6



Schedule |
to Secretary's Certificate

NAME OFFICE SIGNATURE
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Annex 1
to Secretary's Certificate

[Certificate of Good Standing]
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Annex 2
to Secretary's Certificate

[Board Resolutions]
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Annex 3
to Secretary's Certificate

[Bylaws]

DC\1628977.6



Annex 4
to Secretary's Certificate

[Articles of Incorporation]
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EXHIBIT F
TO CREDIT AGREEMENT

FORM OF SOLVENCY CERTIFICATE

Pursuant to Section 4.01(j) of the Secured CredjteAment, dated as of July 24, 2012 (the
“Credit Agreement”; unless otherwise defined heréémms defined in the Credit Agreement and used
herein shall have the meanings given to them inGrexdit Agreement), by and between BIG RIVERS
ELECTRIC CORPORATION, a Kentucky cooperative cogimn (the “Borrower”), the several
financial institutions or entities from time to &mparties thereto and COBANK, ACB, a federally
chartered instrumentality of the United Statesadministrative agent, lead arranger and book ryrther
undersigned [CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER OR EQUIVALENDFFICER] of the Borrower, hereby
certifies on behalf of the Borrower that as of @lesing Date, the Borrower is Solvent, and afterng)
effect to the initial extensions of credit, if artp, be made on the Closing Date, the Borrower sl
Solvent.

[Signature page follows]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has executed this Solvency @aitfas of this
day of July, 2012.

By:

Name:
Title:

DC\1628977.6



EXHIBIT G
TO CREDIT AGREEMENT

FORM OF COMPLIANCE CERTIFICATE

Pursuant to_Section 6.01(e) of the Secured Crediedment, dated as of July 24, 2012 (as
amended, supplemented or modified and in effean ftome to time, the “Credit Agreement”; unless
otherwise defined herein, terms defined in the Tregreement and used herein shall have the meaning
given to them in the Credit Agreement), by and leetwvBIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION, a
Kentucky cooperative corporation (the “Borrowetf)e several financial institutions or entities frtime
to time parties thereto and COBANK, ACB, a fedgrahartered instrumentality of the United States, a
administrative agent, lead arranger and book ryrtherundersigned [insert name of officer or auttear
position], the [insert title of office or authorgosition] of the Borrower, hereby certifies orhaké of
the Borrower as follows:

(A) As of the [quarter]/[year] ending 0 2, the statements
referenced below (i) have been prepared in accosdaith applicable GAAP (in
the case of any quarterly financial statementsjestibo normal year end audit
adjustments and lack of notes) and (ii) are fastigted in all material respects
(subject to normal year end audit adjustments hadack of notes).

(B) Attached hereto as Schedule 1 are the [quglfi@nhual] financial
statements for the fiscal period cited above.

(© [Attached hereto as Schedule 2 (Margin for reg® are calculations
demonstrating the Borrower Margin for Interest Rafas defined in the
Indenture) }

(D) No Default or Event of Default has occurredidgrthe period covered
by this Compliance Certificate, except as indicateda separate page attached
hereto, containing a statement as to the natursuoh Default or Event of
Default, whether such Default or Event of Defaudt ¢ontinuing and, if
continuing, an explanation of the action taken mppsed to be taken by the
Borrower with respect thereto.

[Signature page follows.]

Y In connection with the delivery of annual finaatements only.
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BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION

By:

Name:
Title:
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Schedule 1 to Compliance Certificate

[Annual][Quarterly] Financials

[Attached]
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Schedule 2 to Compliance Certificate
Margin For Interest Ratio

Margins for Interest Ratio is calculated, as ofrefiscal year, as calculated in the Indenture faatfon
the Closing Date.

As of the fiscal year ended , such calanatias as follows:
Marginsfor I nterest:

net margins of the Borrower for such fiscal
yeaf

plus
the amount, if any, included in the
computation of net margins for accruals for
federal and state income and other taxes
imposed on income after deduction of
interest expense for the fiscal year:

plus
the amount, if any, included in the
computation of net margins for any losses
incurred by any Subsidiary or Affiliate of
the Borrower

plus
the amount, if any, the Borrower actually
receives in the fiscal year as a dividend or
other distribution of earnings of any
Subsidiary or Affiliate (whether or not such
earnings were for the fiscal year or any
earlier fiscal year)

minus
the amount, if any, included in the
computation of net margins for any
earnings or profits of any subsidiary or
Affiliate of the Borrower
minus

the amount, if any, the Borrower actually
contributes to the capital of, or actually
pays under a guarantee by the Borrower of
an obligation of, any Subsidiary or

Net margins shall be determined in accordance Adttounting Requirements (as defined in the Indentur
in effect as of the Closing Date) and shall incloelenues, subject to a possible refund at a fudate, but
which shall exclude provisions for any: (i) norcuering charge to income, whether or not recorded a
such on the Borrower’s books, of whatever kind ature (including the non-recoverability of assets o
expenses), except to the extent the Board of Rirealetermines to recover such non-recurring chiarge
Rates (as defined in the Indenture in effect ashefdate of the Credit Agreement), and (ii) refwofd
revenues collected or accrued by the Borrower jnpaior year subject to possible refund.

DC\1628977.6



Affiliate in the fiscal year to the extent of
any accumulated losses incurred by such
Subsidiary or Affiliate (whether or not such
losses were for such fiscal year or any
earlier fiscal years), but only to the extent
(x) such losses have not otherwise caused
other contributions or guarantee payments
to be included in net margins for purposes
of computing Margins for Interest for a

prior fiscal year and (y) such amount has
not otherwise been included in net margins:

Equal

Interest Charges (as defined in the
Indenture in effect as of the date of the
Closing Date):

Margins for Interest Ratio (sum of (a)
Margins For Interest plus (b) Interest
Charges, divided by I nterest Charges):
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EXHIBIT H
TO CREDIT AGREEMENT

FORM OF ASSIGNMENT AND ASSUMPTION AGREEMENT
Assignment and Assumption Agreement

This Assignment and Assumption Agreement (the “gsient and Assumption”) is dated as of
the Effective Date of Assignment set forth belovd a& entered into by and between the Assignor (as
defined below) and the Assignee (as defined beld@gpitalized terms used but not defined hereifi sha
have the meanings given to them in the Credit Aged (as defined below), receipt of a copy of which
is hereby acknowledged by the Assignee. The Stdn@iarms and Conditions set forth in Annex 1
attached hereto are hereby agreed to and incoegbtatrein by reference and made a part of this
Assignment and Assumption as if set forth hereifuin

For an agreed consideration, the Assignor herakyacably sells and assigns to the Assignee,
and the Assignee hereby irrevocably purchases asdnees from the Assignor, subject to and in
accordance with the Standard Terms and Conditindsttze Credit Agreement, as of the Effective Date
of Assignment inserted by the Administrative Agest contemplated below (A) all of the Assignor's
rights and obligations in its capacity as a Lendater the Credit Agreement and any other docunwnts
instruments delivered pursuant thereto to the éxtetated to the amount and percentage interest
identified below of all of such outstanding rigletsd obligations of the Assignor under the respectiv
facilities identified below and (B) to the exter@rmitted to be assigned under applicable Requirenfen
Law, all claims, suits, causes of action and ameiotight of the Assignor (in its capacity as a den)
against any Person, whether known or unknown, rarisinder or in connection with the Credit
Agreement, any other documents or instruments e@d/ pursuant thereto or the loan transactions
governed thereby or in any way based on or relateohy of the foregoing, including, but not limitea
contract claims, tort claims, malpractice claimafgory claims and all other claims at law or quity
related to the rights and obligations sold andgassi pursuant to clause (A) above (the rights and
obligations sold and assigned by the Assignor & ABsignee pursuant to clauses (A) and (B) above
being referred to herein collectively as the “Assid Interest”). Each such sale and assignment is
without recourse to the Assignor and, except asessy provided in this Assignment and Assumption,
without representation or warranty by the Assignor.

1. Assignor : “Kbsignor”)
2. Assignee : “Absignee”)
3. Credit Agreement: Secured Credit Agreement, cddads of July 24, 2012 (as

amended, supplemented or modified and in effech fiime to time, the “Credit Agreement”), by
and among BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION), a Kexiy cooperative corporation

(the

“Borrower”), the several financial institutions entities from time to time parties thereto and
COBANK, ACB, a federally chartered instrumentality the United States, as administrative
agent, lead arranger and book runner.

4. Assigned Interest:
Amount of Commitment/Loans Assighed Percentageamh@itment/Loans Assigned
$ %
$ %
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5. Effective Date of Assignment: , 201_2 (the “Effective Date of
Assignment”)

(SIGNATURE PAGES FOLLOW)

To be inserted by Administrative Agent and whichlshe the effective date of recordation of trangfie
the Register therefor.
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The terms set forth in this Assignment and Assuonpéire hereby agreed to:

[Name of Assignee] [Name of Assignor]
By: By:

Name: Name:

Title: Title:
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Consentetito: Consentedo:

COBANK, ACB, as Administrative Agent BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION
By: By:

Name: Name:

Title: Title:

Consent of Administrative Agent is not requirethié Assignor is assigning its Assigned Interes@nto
Affiliate of the Assignor, another Lender, an Aifiile of another Lender or an Approved Fund.

Consent of the Borrower is not required if the fssir is assigning its Assigned Interests to anliaté of
the Assignor, another Lender, an Affiliate of arsthender, an Approved Fund or if a Default or aeiif
of Default has occurred and is continuing.
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ANNEX 1
TO ASSIGNMENT AND ASSUMPTION

STANDARD TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR
ASSIGNMENT AND ASSUMPTION

1. Representations and Warranties.

1.1 Assignor. The Assignor (A) represents andravds that (1) it is the legal and beneficial owaer
the Assigned Interest, (2) the Assigned IntereSeis and clear of any lien, encumbrance or otbeewse
claim and (3) it has full power and authority, drak taken all action necessary, to execute andedel
this Assignment and Assumption and to consummagetrdnsactions contemplated hereby; and (B)
assumes no responsibility with respect to (1) datements, warranties or representations made iim or
connection with the Credit Agreement or any otheat. Document, (2) the execution, legality, validity
enforceability, genuineness, sufficiency or valfi¢he Loan Documents or any collateral thereun(8r,
the financial condition of the Borrower or its Affites or any other Person obligated in respecnyf
Loan Document or (4) the performance or observdnceéhe Borrower or its Affiliates or any other
Person of any of their respective obligations uradgr Loan Document.

1.2. Assignee. The Assignee (A) represents amchnis that (1) it has full power and authorityddras
taken all action necessary, to execute and delgAssignment and Assumption and to consummate th
transactions contemplated hereby and to becoma@ekeinder the Credit Agreement, (2) it satisfies t
requirements to be an assignee under the Credaetggnt (subject to such consents, if any, as may be
required under the Credit Agreement), (3) from aftdr the Effective Date of Assignment, it shall be
bound by the provisions of the Credit Agreementaakender thereunder and, to the extent of the
Assigned Interest, shall have the obligations béader thereunder, (4) it is sophisticated withpezs to
decisions to acquire assets of the type represdmtdtle Assigned Interest and either it, or thesper
exercising discretion in making its decision to @og the Assigned Interest, is experienced in actyii
assets of such type, (5) it has received a copphefCredit Agreement, and has received or has been
accorded the opportunity to receive copies of tlstmecent financial statements delivered purstant
the Credit Agreement, as applicable, and such athemments and information as it deems appropate
make its own credit analysis and decision to eimterthis Assignment and Assumption and to purchase
the Assigned Interest, and (6) it has, indepengemtt without reliance upon Administrative Agent or
any other Lender and based on such documents &rthation as it has deemed appropriate, made its
own credit analysis and decision to enter into #ssignment and Assumption and to purchase the
Assigned Interest; and (B) agrees that (1) it viiifependently and without reliance on Administrati
Agent, the Assignor or any other Lender, and baseduch documents and information as it shall deem
appropriate at the time, continue to make its ovedit decisions in taking or not taking action untfe
Loan Documents, and (2) it will perform in accordarwith their terms all of the obligations which by
the terms of the Loan Documents are required toebformed by it as a Lender.

2. Payments. From and after the Effective Daté&sdgignment, Administrative Agent shall make all
payments in respect of the Assigned Interest (thioly payments of principal, interest, fees and othe
amounts) to the Assignor for amounts which haverustt to but excluding the Effective Date of
Assignment and to the Assignee for amounts whicfe feccrued from and after the Effective Date of
Assignment.

3. General Provisions. This Assignment and Asgiongshall be binding upon, and inure to the benefi
of, the parties hereto and their respective suocessd assigns. This Assignment and Assumption ma
be executed in any number of counterparts, whightteer shall constitute one instrument. Delivergro
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executed counterpart of a signature page of thisgAment and Assumption by telecopy or by PDF shall
be effective as delivery of a manually executedntewpart of this Assignment and Assumption. This
Assignment and Assumption shall be governed by, @ntrued in accordance with, the laws of the
State of New York.
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EXHIBIT |
TO CREDIT AGREEMENT

LENDERS’ COMMITMENTS

Lender Commitments Commitment Percentage

CoBank, ACB $235,000,000.00 100%

TOTAL $235,000,000.00 100%
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EXHIBIT J
TO CREDIT AGREEMENT

FORM OF NOTICE OF BORROWING

CoBank, ACB, as Administrative Agent
5500 South Quebec Street
Greenwood Village, Colorado 80111
Facsimile: (303) 740-4002
Attention: Power Supply Division
[Date]

Ladies and Gentlemen:

Pursuant to Section 4.01(q) of the Secured Creditedment, dated as of July 24, 2012 (as
amended, supplemented or modified and in effeah fime to time, the “Credit Agreement”; capitalized
terms not defined herein shall have the meaningsbasl thereto in the Credit Agreement), by and
between BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION, a Kentuckypoperative corporation (the
“Borrower”), the several financial institutions entities from time to time parties thereto (theriers”)
and COBANK, ACB, a federally chartered instrumeityabf the United States, as administrative agent
(in such capacity, “Administrative Agent”), leadramger and book runner, the undersigned duly
authorized officer of the Borrower hereby requestsorrowing under the Credit Agreement to be made
on the Closing Date in the amount of $235,000,000.

(SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS)
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has executed this Notice of Bormgas of the
date first set forth above.

BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION

By:

Name:
Title:

DC\1628977.6



Schedule 4.01(G)

Litigation
1. Eminent Domain Litigation.

Big Rivers is the plaintiff in several eminent domain proceedings that have
been filed to acquire easements for transmission line rights-of-way. The awards of
damages against Big Rivers in those cases will be the reduction in the fair market
value of the premises over which the transmission line easement is acquired.

2. Jane Eckert, on her own behalf and on behalf of the Estate of Robert
Eckert, Deceased vs. Alcoa, Inc., Big Rivers Electric Corporation, BMW
Constructors, Inc., Bristol-Myers Squibb Company, General Electric
Company, Industrial Contractors, Inc., Triangle Enterprises, Inc., Marion
County Superior Court, Civil Division Room No. 2, Cause No. 49D02-9801-MI-0001-
359.

This action arises from the 2007 death of a worker, Robert Eckert, from
asbestos-related disease diagnosed in 1995. The suit was filed July 2, 2007, in
Marion County, Illinois. Big Rivers' liability carrier, Zurich Insurance, is defending
this action with a reservation of rights.

3. Harlen Kennedy, Jr. and Brenda Kennedy, his wife, v. Big Rivers
Electric Corporation, et al., 3rd Judicial Circuit, Madison County, Illinois, Case
No. 11-L-727.

This action was filed by the plaintiffs in 2011 alleging that Harlen Kennedy,
Jr. developed lung cancer from exposure to asbestos while working for a contractor
at a Big Rivers facility. Big Rivers' liability carrier, Zurich Insurance, is defending
this action with a reservation of rights.

4. Pat Maple, as Representative of the Heirs and Estate of Durwood
Maple, Deceased v. Big Rivers Electric Corporation, et al., In the Circuit
Court of St. Clair County, Illinois, Twentieth Judicial Circuit No. 11-L-59.

This action was filed by the plaintiff in 2011 alleging that Durwood Maple
developed and died from lung cancer that resulted from exposure to asbestos while
working for a contractor at a Big Rivers facility. Big Rivers' liability carrier, Zurich
Insurance, is defending this action with a reservation of rights.

5. Big Rivers Electric Corporation v. City of Henderson, Kentucky, and
City of Henderson Utility Commission, d/b/a/ Henderson Municipal Power
and Light, Henderson Circuit Court Civil Action No. 09-CI-00693; City of
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Henderson, Kentucky, and City of Henderson Utility Commission, d/b/a/
Henderson Municipal Power and Light v. Big Rivers Electric Corporation,
Kentucky Court of Appeals No. 2010-CA-000120-MR; In the Matter of
Arbitration Between: Big Rivers Electric Corporation v. City of Henderson,
Kentucky and City of Henderson Utility Commission dba Henderson
Municipal Power and Light, American Arbitration Association, Case No. 52-198-
000173-10.

Big Rivers filed suit in Henderson, Kentucky, Circuit Court on July 31, 2009,
requesting an order referring to arbitration a dispute with the City of Henderson,
Kentucky and City of Henderson Utility Commission (collectively, “HMP&L”). The
dispute was over the rights of the parties respecting “Excess Henderson Energy,” as
that term is defined in the contracts by which Big Rivers operates HMP&L’s Station
Two and receives a portion of the generation output of Station Two. The order of
the Henderson Circuit Court directing arbitration was appealed to the Kentucky
Court of Appeals, and the contractual dispute was referred to the American
Arbitration Association (“AAA”).

The AAA arbitration panel issued its award on May 31, 2012, finding, among
other things, that “excess energy shall be considered to belong to [HMP&L] which it
may offer to third parties subject to Big Rivers first right to purchase such energy”
at “the price at which [HMP&L] has a firm offer from a third party.” On June 26,
2012, attorneys for the City of Henderson issued a demand to Big Rivers for the
amount of $3,753,013.09, which purportedly represents the amount of fixed costs
associated with Excess Henderson Energy from August 2009 to May 30, 2012 minus
a credit to Big Rivers for the $1.50 for each MWh taken (the “Fixed Costs Demand”).
Big Rivers and its counsel are still analyzing the implications of the award, Big
Rivers’ options under the circumstances and the recent demand letter from the City
of Henderson. In 2009, Western Kentucky Energy Corp. (“WKEC”)and Big Rivers
entered into an Indemnification Agreement relating to the Station Two Power Sales
Contract and losses Big Rivers might suffer as a result of an adverse decision of a
court or arbitration panel on the excess energy issue. By letter dated July 17, 2012,
WKEC took the position that the Fixed Costs Demand does not, at this point, give
rise to an indemnifiable claim.

6. SERC Investigation
Big Rivers is currently the subject of a non-public investigation initiated in

February 2009 by SERC Reliability Corporation (“SERC”), one of the North
America Electric Reliability Corporation’s (“NERC’s”) regional entities with
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responsibility for enforcing mandatory reliability standards. The staff from NERC
and the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission also participated in the
investigation. In June 2011, SERC initiated a formal assessment to determine Big
Rivers’ compliance relative to eight Reliability Standards Requirements as a result
of findings of possible violations by the investigation team. Two of those items have
been dismissed. The assessment is still ongoing.

7. Secretary of the Labor Cabinet Commonwealth of Kentucky v. Big
Rivers Electric Corporation, KOSHRC Docket No. 4833-11, Administrative
Action No. 11-KOSH-0290.

This complaint was filed by the plaintiff in 2011, subsequent to Big Rivers
having contested a citation issued by KOSHA. The administrative hearing officer
has granted extensions requested by KOSHA counsel to allow time for settlement
negotiations, which have yet to take place. The penalties assessed with the citation
total $7,500.

8. Oxford Mining - Kentucky, LLC v. Big Rivers Electric Corporation,
Ohio Circuit Court Civil Action No. 12-CI-00160.

Oxford Mining Company - Kentucky, LLC (“Oxford”) filed this civil action
against Big Rivers on April 26, 2012, alleging that Big Rivers breached a coal
supply agreement with Oxford by terminating that agreement on March 2, 2012.
Oxford alleges that it has suffered damage, including lost profits, as a result of the
alleged wrongful termination of the Agreement. Big Rivers has asserted a
counterclaim against Oxford based on damages Big Rivers suffered as the result of
delivery to Big Rivers’ generating stations by Oxford of coal that failed to meet
contract specifications. This litigation is in its early stages.

9. Innovatio IP Ventures, LLC Patent Infringement Claim

Big Rivers received a letter from Innovatio IP Ventures, LLC (“Innovatio”) on
May 16, 2012, asserting that Big Rivers has infringed upon certain patents owned
by Innovatio. Big Rivers’ information at this point is that Innovatio is involved in a
nationwide letter writing campaign asserting its patents against certain wireless
local area network (“WLAN”) products. Innovatio’s letters are directed to end users
of WLAN products, which Innovatio asserts infringe upon patents it owns. In its
letter, Innovatio demands that the end user purchase licenses to use Innovatio
patents, or face a patent infringement lawsuit. Innovatio did not assert a claim
against the manufacturers of the products that it claims infringe upon its patents;
only the end users.

The Innovatio letters initially targeted entities such as coffee shop, grocery

and hotel chains that offer wireless internet access through WLAN products. In the
last year, electric cooperatives around the nation have been receiving the letters.

U808/ 1510414672



Innovatio has filed claims against several WLAN end user defendants in federal
courts in Illinois, Nevada and Florida. Innovatio was subsequently sued in federal
court in Delaware by Cisco Systems, Inc. and Motorola Solutions, Inc., companies
that control a substantial share of the WLAN product market. They seek, among
other things, a declaratory judgment voiding the Innovatio patents.

10. The City of Henderson Utility Commission v. Michael C. Donta,
Executive Director of the Department of Workplace Standards, Big Rivers
Electric Corporation, et al, Henderson Circuit Court, Civil Action No. 10-CI-898.

The Kentucky Labor Cabinet served a Notice of Violation on Henderson
Municipal Power & Light (“HMP&L”) on April 27, 2010, alleging that HMP&L had
violated prevailing wage laws by failing to stipulate in bid proposals that
prevailing hourly rate of wages must be paid to all laborers, workmen, and
mechanics performing work on the Station Two spring 2010 scheduled outage.
This 1s a declaratory judgment action, which asks the court to decide whether the
value of the individual projects related to the outage work on a generating station
must be combined for purposes of determining coverage under prevailing wage
laws in Kentucky. Big Rivers was joined in, and has an interest in this action
because it operates the HMP&L Station Two, purchases a majority of the output of
Station Two, and is responsible for the costs of Station Two generally proportionate
to its capacity take. This case is set for trial in December of 2012.

11. Notice and Application of Big Rivers Electric Corporation for a
General Adjustment in Rates, PSC Case No. 2011-00036.

Big Rivers filed a notice and application for a general adjustment in rates
with the Public Service Commaission (“Commission”) on March 1, 2011. The
Commission entered its final order on November 17, 2011. After several appeals
and procedural events, this case is back before the Commission for a rehearing on
four issues raised by Big Rivers, and three issues raised by an intervenor,
Kentucky Industrial Utility Customers, Inc.

12.In the Matter of: Application of Big Rivers Electric Corporation for
Approval of its 2012 Environmental Compliance Plan, for Approval of its
Amended Environmental Cost Recovery Surcharge Tariff, for Certificates of
Public Convenience and Necessity, and for Authority to Establish a
Regulatory Account, P.S.C. Case No. 2012-00063.

Big Rivers filed an application with the Commission on April 2, 2012, seeking

approval of its 2012 Environmental Compliance Plan (“Plan”), certificates of public
convenience and necessity for the capital projects required to implement the plan
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and related approvals, including an amendment to its environmental surcharge
that would allow Big Rivers to recover the incremental costs of its Plan. The
Commission has granted intervention to the Kentucky Attorney General, Kentucky
Industrial Utility Customers, Inc., the Sierra Club and Ben Taylor. By law, the
Commission must issue its decision on the issues before it by October 2, 2012.
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Schedule 5.03
Consents

None
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Schedule 5.13
Subsidiaries, Members and Affiliates
Subsidiaries
None
Members
Kenergy Corp.
Meade County Rural Electric Cooperative Corporation
Jackson Purchase Energy Corporation

Affiliates

None

OHSUSA:751041467.2



Schedule 5.15
Environmental Matters

None
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10.

11.

12.

13.

Schedule 5.17
Member Wholesale Power Contracts and Material DiretServe Contracts

Wholesale Power Contract made as of October 147,1B&ween the Company and
Jackson Purchase Rural Electric Cooperative Cotiporaas amended.

Wholesale Power Contract made as of June 11, 1862cbn the Company and Meade
County Rural Electric Cooperative Corporation, ameaded.

Wholesale Power Contract made as of June 11, 186&bn the Company and Kenergy
Corp. (successor by consolidation to Henderson tJitectric Cooperative Corp.), as
amended.

Wholesale Power Contract made as of June 11, 186&bn the Company and Kenergy
Corp. (successor by consolidation to Green Rivectic Corporation), as amended.

Agreement dated October 12, 1974 by and betweerCtdmpany and Kenergy Corp.
(successor by consolidation to Henderson Union titedCooperative Corp.), as
amended.

Agreement dated October 12, 1974 by and betweerCtmpany and Kenergy Corp.
(successor by consolidation to Green River Elec@mrporation) as amended and
restated by an Agreement dated February 16, 188&nanded.

Agreements dated as of July 15, 1998 between thep@oy and Kenergy Corp.
(successor by consolidation to Green River Elecacporation and Henderson Union
Electric Cooperative Corp.).

Wholesale Electric Service Agreement (Alcan) datety 16, 2009 by and between the
Company and Kenergy Corp.

Wholesale Electric Service Agreement (Century) dlads of July 16, 2009 by and
between the Company and Kenergy Corp.

Amendment No. 1 to Wholesale Electric Service Agreet (Alcan) dated as of
September 20, 2011, between Big Rivers Electrip@ation and Kenergy Corp.

Amendment No. 1 to Wholesale Electric Service Agreet (Century) dated as of
September 20, 2011, between Big Rivers Electrip@ation and Kenergy Corp.]

Amendment to Wholesale Power Contracts dated Augu2009, between Big Rivers
Electric Corporation and Kenergy Corp. AmendingWkolesale Power Contracts made
as of June 11, 1962.

Amendment No. 4 dated as of August 1, 2009, to \@4ale Power Contract dated June
11, 1962 between Big Rivers Electric Corporationl &feade Country Rural Electric
Cooperative Corporation.
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14.

15.

16.

17.

Amendment No. 3 dated as of August 1, 2009, to @4ae Power Contract dated
October 14, 1977, between Big Rivers Electric Coapon and Jackson Purchase Energy
Corporation.

Second Amended and Restated Wholesale Power Agnédretsveen Big Rivers Electric
Corporation and Kenergy Corp. dated as of January@l1 (Domtar Paper Company,
LLC).

Letter Agreement dated December 9, 2008, betwegrRBiers Electric Corporation and
Kenergy Corp. (Kimberly-Clark Corporation)

Letter Agreement dated May 20, 2011, between BigeRi Electric Corporation and
Kenergy Corp. (Aleris Rolled Products, Inc)
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18.

19.

20.

Schedule 5.20

Material Indebtedness

$83,300,000 in connection with the County of Ohid{entucky, Pollution Control
Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2010 A.

(@)

(b)

First Supplemental Indenture dated as of June 10,2Relating to the Big Rivers
Electric Corporation First Mortgage Note, Seried @A from Big Rivers Electric
Corporation to U.S. Bank National Association, tees(“Trustee”) relating to the
issuance of Big Rivers Electric Corporation Firsbiigage Note, Series 2010 A
in the principal amount of $83,300,000 and pay#blde Trustee.

Loan Agreement, dated as of June 1, 2010, betweign Rdvers Electric
Corporation and the County of Ohio, Kentucky, relgto a loan in the amount of
$83,300,000 evidenced by the First Mortgage NoteieS 2010 A.

$58,800,000 in connection with the County of Ohid{entucky, Pollution Control
Floating Rate Demand Bonds, Series 1983 maturing odune 1, 2013 (the “1983
Bonds”).

(@)

(b)

(©)

(d)

(e)

Loan Agreement, dated as of June 1, 1983, betweign Rdvers Electric
Corporation and the County of Ohio, Kentucky, relgto a loan in the amount of
$58,800,000.

Ambac Municipal Bond Insurance Policy Series 19&8Re\dated July 16, 2009,
reflecting the obligation of Big Rivers Electric (poration to pay Ambac for any
payments of principal and interest in respect ef$68,800,000 1983 Bonds.

Reimbursement Agreement, dated as of July 15, 18688yveen Big Rivers
Electric Corporation and Ambac relating to paymenith respect to the 1983
Bonds.

Standby Bond Purchase Agreement among Big Rivezstifit Corporation, U.S.
Bank National Association and Credit Suisse FirsstBn (subsequently assigned
to Dexia Credit Local), dated July 17, 1998, relgtio the 1983 Bonds.

Promissory Note, made by Big Rivers Electric Cogpion to Dexia Credit Local,
in the principal amount of $58,800,000.

Revolving Line of Credit Agreement dated as of Julyl6, 2009, between Big Rivers
Electric Corporation and National Rural Utilities C ooperative Finance Corporation
in the amount of $50,000,000.
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21. Revolving Credit Agreement dated as of July 16, 2@0 between Big Rivers Electric
Corporation and CoBank, ACB in the amount of $50,00,000"

22. RUS 2009 Promissory Note Series A, dated July 160@, made by the Company to
the United States of America, in the principal amoat of $602,573,536, maturing on
July 1, 2021.

23. RUS 2009 Promissory Note Series B, dated July 16)@, made by the Company to
the United States of America, in the amount at finmaturity of $245,530,257.30,
maturing December 31, 2023

! To be replaced with Senior Unsecured RevolvingiEieacility, dated as of June 29, 2012, amongigers
Electric Corporation, the several financial ingitas or entities from time to time parties theratml CoBank,
ACB, as administrative agent, issuing lender, laaenger and book runner.
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Schedule 12.06(F)

Voting Participants
AgFirst Farm Credit Bank

Farm Credit Bank of Texas
Farm Credit East, ACA
Northwest Farm Credit Services, FLCA
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NEW ISSUE — BOOK-ENTRY ONLY

In the opinion of Orrick, Herrington & Sutcliffe LLP, Bond Counsel, based upon an analysis of existing laws, regulations, rulings and court
decisions, and assuming, among other matters, the accuracy of certain representations and compliance with certain covenants, interest on the
Bonds is excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes under Section 103 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954, as amended (the
“1954 Code”) and Title XIII of the Tax Reform Act of 1986, except that no opinion is expressed as to the status of interest on any Bond during
any period that such Bond is held by a “substantial user” of facilities financed or refinanced by the Bonds or by a “related person” within the
meaning of Section 103(b)(13) of the 1954 Code. In the opinion of Bond Counsel, interest on the Bonds is not a specific preference item for
purposes of calculating the federal individual or corporate alternative minimum taxes, although Bond Counsel observes that such interest is
included in adjusted current earnings in calculating federal corporate alternative minimum taxable income. Interest on the Bonds is exempt
from all present Kentucky personal and corporate income taxes. Bond Counsel expresses no opinion regarding other tax consequences related
to the ownership or disposition of, or the accrual or receipt of interest on, the Bonds. See “TAX MATTERS.”

$83,300,000
COUNTY OF OHIO, KENTUCKY
Pollution Control Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 20104
(Big Rivers Electric Corporation Project)

Dated: Date of Delivery Due: July 15, 2031

The County of Ohio, Kentucky (the “County”), Pollution Control Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2010A (Big Rivers Electric
Corporation Project) (the “Bonds”) are limited obligations of the County, payable solely out of the Receipts and Revenues (as defined herein) of
the County received under the Financing Agreement (as defined below) and certain other funds pledged therefor under the Bond Indenture (as
defined herein), and do not constitute a debt of the County within the meaning of any constitutional or statutory limitation. The Bonds are not
general obligations of the County and do not constitute nor give rise to a pecuniary liability of the County or a charge against its general credit or
taxing powers. The Receipts and Revenues received by the County include payments sufficient to pay in full the principal of and interest on the
Bonds when due, to be made by,

Big Rivers

Your Touchstone Energy” Cooperative )(t
==

The proceeds from the sale of the Bonds will be used to refund the entire outstanding principal amount of the County’s Pollution
Control Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2001A (Big Rivers Electric Corporation Project), Periodic Auction Reset Securities (PARS™) (the
“Refunded Bonds™). The Refunded Bonds were issued to refund bonds previously issued by the County to finance a portion of Big Rivers’ cost
of certain pollution control and solid waste disposal facilities at Big Rivers’ D.B. Wilson Plant Unit No. 1, a coal-fired steam electric generating
plant located within the geographical boundaries of the County.

In connection with the issuance of the Bonds, the County and Big Rivers will enter into a loan agreement (the “Financing Agreement”)
with respect to the Bonds under which the County will loan to Big Rivers funds equal to the principal amount of the Bonds, and Big Rivers will
be obligated to repay such loan in amounts equal to the principal and interest payments relating to the Bonds when due. Big Rivers’ loan
repayment obligations will be evidenced by a note of Big Rivers, which will be an obligation under Big Rivers’ Mortgage Indenture (as defined
herein), secured equally and ratably with other Mortgage Indenture Obligations (as defined herein) by a mortgage lien on substantially all of the
owned tangible and certain of the intangible assets of Big Rivers, subject to certain exceptions and exclusions as described herein.

U.S. Bank National Association is the Trustee, Paying Agent and Registrar under the Bond Indenture, and the trustee under Big Rivers’
Mortgage Indenture.

The Bonds are subject to optional redemption, as described herein.

Amount Interest Rate Price CUSIP
$83,300,000 6.00% 100.00% 677288AG7

The Bonds will be issued in fully-registered form and will be registered in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee of The Depository
Trust Company, New York, New York (“DTC”). DTC will act as securities depository for the Bonds and purchases of beneficial ownership
interests in the Bonds will be made in book-entry only form. The Bonds will be issued in initial denominations of $5,000 or in any integral
multiple thereof. Actual purchasers of the beneficial ownership interests in the Bonds will not receive certificates representing their interest in
such Bonds. Semiannual interest on the Bonds is payable on January 15 and July 15, commencing on January 15, 2011. So long as Cede & Co.
is the registered owner, references herein to the holder or registered owner of the Bonds, including for the purpose of receiving notices under the
Bond Indenture, shall mean Cede & Co., and shall not mean such beneficial owners. So long as Cede & Co. or another nominee of DTC is the
registered owner of the Bonds, payments of the principal of and premium, if any, and interest on the Bonds will be made directly to DTC or its
nominee. Disbursement of such payments to participants in DTC is the responsibility of DTC and disbursement of such payments to beneficial
owners is the responsibility of those participants.

The Bonds are offered, subsequent to prior sale, when, as and if issued and accepted by Goldman, Sachs & Co. (the “Underwriter”),
subject to the approval of legality by Orrick, Herrington & Sutcliffe LLP, Bond Counsel. Certain legal matters in connection with the Bonds are
subject to the approval of Sutherland Asbill & Brennan LLP, Counsel to the Underwriter. Certain legal matters will be passed upon for Big
Rivers by Sullivan, Mountjoy, Stainback & Miller PSC, General Counsel for Big Rivers. Certain legal matters for the County will be passed
upon by Greg Hill, Esq., counsel to the County. It is expected that delivery of the Bonds will be made on or about June 8, 2010.

Goldman, Sachs & Co.

May 27,2010
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Big Rivers Electric Corporation
201 Third Street
Henderson, Kentucky 42420

Officers

Mark A. Bailey, President and Chief Executive Officer
C. William Blackburn, Senior Vice President of Financial & Energy Services
and Chief Financial Officer

Senior Staff

Robert W. Berry, Vice President of Production
David G. Crockett, Vice President of System Operations
James V. Haner, Vice President of Administrative Services
Mark A. Hite, Vice President of Accounting
Albert M. Yockey, Vice President of Governmental Relations & Enterprise Risk Management

Directors

William C. Denton, Chair
James G. Sills, Vice Chair
Lee Bearden, Secretary-Treasurer
Paul Edd Butler
Larry F. Elder
Louis Wayne Elliott

Members
Kenergy Corp.

Jackson Purchase Energy Corporation
Meade County Rural Electric Cooperative Corporation

Counsel to Big Rivers Bond Counsel
Sullivan, Mountjoy, Stainback & Miller PSC Orrick, Herrington & Sutcliffe LLP
Owensboro, Kentucky New York, New York
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No dealer, broker, salesperson or other person has been authorized to give any information or to
make representations, other than as contained in this Offering Statement, and if given or made, such other
information or representations must not be relied upon. This Offering Statement does not constitute an
offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy, nor shall there be any sale of the Bonds by any person, in
any jurisdiction in which it is unlawful for such person to make such offer, solicitation or sale.

The information set forth herein has been furnished by Big Rivers and includes information
obtained from other sources, all of which are believed to be reliable. The information and expressions of
opinion herein are subject to change without notice and neither the delivery of this Offering Statement nor
any sale made hereunder shall, under any circumstances, create any implication that there has been no
change in Big Rivers’ affairs or the affairs of the County. Such information and expressions of opinion
are made for the purpose of providing information to prospective investors and are not to be used for any
other purpose or relied on by any other party.

The Underwriter has provided the following sentence for inclusion in this Offering Statement:
The Underwriter has reviewed the information in this Offering Statement in accordance with, and as part
of, its responsibilities to investors under the federal securities laws as applied to the facts and
circumstances of this transaction, but the Underwriter does not guarantee the accuracy or completeness of
such information.

IN CONNECTION WITH THE OFFERING OF THE BONDS, THE UNDERWRITER MAY
OVERALLOT OR EFFECT TRANSACTIONS WHICH STABILIZE OR MAINTAIN THE MARKET
PRICE OF SUCH BONDS AT LEVELS ABOVE THOSE WHICH MIGHT OTHERWISE PREVAIL
IN THE OPEN MARKET. SUCH STABILIZATION, IF COMMENCED, MAY BE DISCONTINUED
AT ANY TIME.

IN MAKING AN INVESTMENT DECISION, INVESTORS MUST RELY ON THEIR OWN
EXAMINATION OF THE COUNTY AND BIG RIVERS AND THE TERMS OF THE OFFERING OF
THE BONDS, INCLUDING THE MERITS AND RISKS INVOLVED.

THE SECURITIES OFFERED HEREBY HAVE NOT BEEN REGISTERED WITH OR
RECOMMENDED BY ANY FEDERAL OR STATE SECURITIES COMMISSION OR
REGULATORY AUTHORITY. FURTHERMORE, NO SUCH COMMISSION OR REGULATORY
AUTHORITY HAS CONFIRMED THE ACCURACY OR DETERMINED THE ADEQUACY OF
THIS DOCUMENT. ANY REPRESENTATION TO THE CONTRARY IS A CRIMINAL OFFENSE.

THIS OFFERING STATEMENT CONTAINS FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS. IN
THIS RESPECT, THE WORDS “MAY,” “WILL,” “FORECAST,” “ESTIMATE,” PROJECT,”
“ANTICIPATE,” “EXPECT,” “INTEND,” “BELIEVE” AND SIMILAR EXPRESSIONS ARE
INTENDED TO IDENTIFY FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS. SUCH STATEMENTS ARE
BASED ON THE CURRENT EXPECTATIONS OF THE PARTY MAKING SUCH STATEMENTS
AS WELL AS ASSUMPTIONS MADE BASED ON THE INFORMATION CURRENTLY
AVAILABLE TO SUCH PARTY. A NUMBER OF IMPORTANT FACTORS AFFECTING OUR
BUSINESS AND FINANCIAL RESULTS THAT COULD CAUSE ACTUAL RESULTS TO DIFFER
MATERIALLY FROM THOSE STATED IN THE FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS ARE
DISCLOSED IN THIS OFFERING STATEMENT. FOR ADDITIONAL FACTORS THAT COULD
AFFECT THE VALIDITY OF OUR FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS, YOU SHOULD READ
THE SECTIONS ENTITLED “RISK FACTORS” AND “RATE AND ENVIRONMENTAL
REGULATION” HEREIN. IN LIGHT OF THESE AND OTHER RISKS, UNCERTAINTIES AND
ASSUMPTIONS, ACTUAL EVENTS OR RESULTS MAY BE MATERIALLY DIFFERENT FROM
THOSE EXPRESSED OR IMPLIED IN THE FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS IN THIS
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OFFERING STATEMENT, OR MAY NOT OCCUR. NEITHER WE NOR THE COUNTY HAVE
ANY OBLIGATION TO PUBLICLY UPDATE OR REVISE ANY FORWARD-LOOKING
STATEMENT, WHETHER AS A RESULT OF NEW INFORMATION, FUTURE EVENTS OR
OTHERWISE.
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SUMMARY

The following summary contains information about Big Rivers Electric Corporation (“Big
Rivers”; as used in this Offering Statement, “we,” “us” and “our” also refer to Big Rivers), the County
of Ohio, Kentucky (the “County”), the offering and the terms of the Bonds (as defined herein) that we
believe is important. You should read this entire Offering Statement, including our financial
statements and the accompanying notes in Appendix A and our Members’ (as defined herein)
information in Appendix B, for a complete understanding of our operations, the offering and the

Bonds.

County of Ohio

Big Rivers Electric Corporation

The County, located in western Kentucky, is a public body
corporate and politic duly created and existing as a county and
political subdivision under the Constitution and laws of the
Commonwealth of Kentucky. The County was and is
authorized and empowered by law, including particularly the
provisions of the Industrial Building Revenue Bond Act
(Sections 103.200 through 103.285, inclusive) of the
Kentucky Revised Statutes, as amended (the “Act”), to finance
certain pollution control and solid waste disposal facilities,
including the Facilities as described below, and to enter into
and perform its obligations under the Financing Agreement
and the Bond Indenture (each, as defined herein). Except for
the information in this paragraph and the information solely
with respect to the County under the captions “COUNTY OF
OHIO, KENTUCKY” and “LITIGATION - Litigation
Involving the County” the County did not participate in the
preparation of this Offering Statement and does not have or
assume any responsibility as to the accuracy or completeness
of any information herein, all of which information has been
furnished by others.

We were formed in 1961 as a not-for-profit generation and
transmission (“G&T”) cooperative corporation. We are based
in Henderson, Kentucky, and are principally engaged in the
business of providing wholesale electric service to our three
member electric distribution cooperatives. The Members (as
defined herein) of Big Rivers are local consumer-owned
distribution cooperatives providing retail electric service on a
not-for-profit basis to their customers, who are their members.
The customer base of our Members generally consists of
residential, commercial and industrial consumers, including
two large aluminum smelters (the “Smelters”), within specific
geographic areas. The Members provide electric power and
energy to customers located in portions of 22 western
Kentucky counties. See “BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC
CORPORATION,” “THE SMELTER AGREEMENTS” and
APPENDIX E — “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS
OF THE SMELTER AGREEMENTS.”



Facilities

Securities Offered

Interest Payment Dates

Optional Redemption

Bond Indenture

Financing Agreement

The Note

Our principal office is located at 201 Third Street, Henderson,
Kentucky 42420. Our telephone number is (270) 827-2561.
Our website is www.bigrivers.com.

The pollution control facilities being refinanced are located at
Big Rivers’ D.B. Wilson Plant Unit No. 1 (the “Facilities”), a
coal-fired steam electric generating plant located within the
geographical boundaries of the County (the “Wilson Plant”) .

The Offering

Pollution Control Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2010A
(Big Rivers Electric Corporation Project), due July 15, 2031,
in the aggregate principal amount of $83,300,000 (the
“Bonds”).

The Bonds are limited obligations of the County, payable
solely from amounts received by the County from us under the
Financing Agreement and certain other funds pledged under
the Bond Indenture, and do not constitute a debt of the County
within the meaning of any constitutional or statutory
limitation. See APPENDIX D — “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN
PROVISIONS OF THE BOND INDENTURE.”

The Bonds will bear interest at 6.00 percent per annum. We
will pay interest on the Bonds semiannually on January 15 and
July 15 of each year, commencing January 15, 2011. See
“DESCRIPTION OF THE BONDS — General.”

On or after July 15, 2020, we may redeem the Bonds, in whole
or in part, prior to their stated maturity, at our option. See
“DESCRIPTION OF THE BONDS — Redemption of Bonds —
Optional Redemption.”

The Bonds will be issued under a Trust Indenture, dated as of
June 1, 2010 (the “Bond Indenture”), between the County and
U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee (the “Trustee”).
See APPENDIX D - “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN
PROVISIONS OF THE BOND INDENTURE.”

We and the County will enter into a Loan Agreement, dated as
of June 1, 2010 (the “Financing Agreement”), with respect to
the Bonds under which the County will loan to us funds equal
to the principal amount of the Bonds. We will be obligated to
repay such loan in amounts equal to the principal and interest
payments relating to the Bonds when due. See APPENDIX C
— “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE
FINANCING AGREEMENT AND THE NOTE.”

Our payment obligations under the Financing Agreement will
be evidenced by a note (the “Note”), which will be an
obligation under the Mortgage Indenture (as defined herein),
secured equally and ratably by a mortgage lien on
substantially all of our owned tangible and certain of our
intangible assets, subject to certain exceptions and exclusions.
See APPENDIX C - “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN
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Use of Proceeds

Tax Exemption

PROVISIONS OF THE FINANCING AGREEMENT AND
THE NOTE” and APPENDIX E - “SUMMARY OF
CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE MORTGAGE
INDENTURE.”

The proceeds from the sale of the Bonds will be used to refund
the entire outstanding principal amount of the County’s
Pollution Control Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2001A
(Big Rivers Electric Corporation Project), Periodic Auction
Reset Securities (PARS®) (the “Refunded Bonds”). See
“USE OF PROCEEDS.”

Under existing laws, regulations, rulings and court decisions,
and assuming, among other matters, the accuracy of certain
representations and compliance with certain covenants,
interest on the Bonds is excluded from gross income for
federal income tax purposes, except that Bond Counsel has
expressed no opinion as to the status of interest on any Bond
during any period that such Bond is held by a “substantial
user” of facilities financed or refinanced with the proceeds of
the Bonds or by a “related person” within the meaning of
103(b)(13) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954, as amended.
Interest on the Bonds is exempt from all present Kentucky
personal and corporate income taxes. See “TAX MATTERS.”

Big Rivers Electric Corporation

Cooperative Principles

Recent Changes in Business Structure..

We are organized as a cooperative. A cooperative is a
business organization owned by its members, which also are
its customers. Cooperatives are created to provide goods or
services to their members on a not-for-profit basis. See “BIG
RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION.”

In July 2009, we terminated an arrangement under which
Western Kentucky Energy Corp. (“WKEC”), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of E.ON U.S. LLC (“E.ON”), had leased from us
all of the power supply resources we owned. Under this
arrangement, WKEC had assumed responsibility for the
operation of our generating facilities and for the operation of
Station Two (“Station Two”), two coal-fired units owned by
the City of Henderson though Henderson Municipal Power &
Light (“HMP&L”) we previously operated. Under this
arrangement we purchased power from LG&E Energy
Marketing, Inc. (“LEM”), another wholly-owned subsidiary of
E.ON, to serve our Member load.

In July 2009, we terminated these arrangements. We again
operate all of our owned generating facilities and Station Two.
Further, the power sales agreement under which we previously
purchased power from LEM has been terminated. See “BIG
RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION - Bankruptcy and
Subsequent  Operation” and “GENERATION AND
TRANSMISSION ASSETS.”  In connection with the
termination of these arrangements, we assumed responsibility
for supplying our Member, Kenergy Corp. (“Kenergy”), with
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Power Supply Resources .....

Our Members

Wholesale Power Contracts

approximately 850 MW of power that is necessary for
Kenergy to supply a portion of its contractual obligations to
the Smelters. See “THE SMELTER AGREEMENTS” and
APPENDIX F — “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS
OF THE SMELTER AGREEMENTS.”

Our power supply resources consist of 1,444 MW of owned
generation resources and up to an additional 390 MW
available to us under power purchase arrangements. See
“GENERATION AND TRANSMISSION ASSETS.”

Our generation resources consist of:

e 443 MW of net nameplate capacity from the Kenneth C.
Coleman Plant, a three unit, coal-fired steam electric
generating station located near Hawesville, Kentucky.

o 454 MW of net nameplate capacity from the Robert D.
Green Plant, a two unit, coal-fired steam electric
generating station located near Sebree, Kentucky.

e 417 MW of net nameplate capacity from the Wilson Plant,
a single coal-fired, balanced draft steam electric
generating unit, located near Centertown, Kentucky on the
Green River.

e 130 MW of net nameplate capacity from the Robert A.
Reid Plant (the “Reid Plant”), located near Sebree,
Kentucky, which includes a 65 MW coal-fired steam
electric generating unit and a 65 MW oil-or natural gas-
fired combustion turbine generating unit.

Our long-term power purchase arrangements consist of:

e a power sales contract with HMP&L which entitles us to
purchase up to 212 MW from HMP&L’s Station Two
through May 31, 2010, a coal fired generating plant,
which we operate. Beginning June 1, 2010, our capacity
share will decrease to 207 MW.

e a power purchase agreement with the Southeastern Power
Administration (“SEPA”) which entitles us to purchase up
to 178 MW. We normally use our entitlement under this
contract for peaking; however, as a result of problems
with certain dams, our capacity entitlement has been
suspended and we currently are receiving only energy
under this arrangement.

Our Members are Kenergy, Meade County Rural Electric
Cooperative Corporation (“Meade”) and Jackson Purchase
Energy Corporation (“Jackson Purchase”, and collectively
with Kenergy and Meade, our “Members”). See “OUR
MEMBERS.”

Each of Meade, Jackson Purchase and Kenergy is party to a
wholesale power contract with us (the “All Requirements
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Smelter Agreements

Security for the Bonds

Rate Covenant

Contracts”). The All Requirements Contracts provide that we
are obligated to sell and deliver to the Member, and the
Member is obligated to purchase and receive from us, all the
electric power and energy which the Member requires for the
operation of the Member’s system, except Kenergy’s
requirements for the Smelters, to the extent that we have
power and energy and facilities available. Each contract
extends through December 31, 2043.

In addition to the All Requirements Contracts, we and
Kenergy are parties to two wholesale electric service
agreements (the “Smelter Agreements”) under which we
provide approximately 850 MW of power which is necessary
for Kenergy to supply a portion of its contractual obligations
to the Smelters. The Smelter Agreements terminate on
December 31, 2023; however, they are terminable upon
various conditions with one year’s notice to Kenergy and us.
Kenergy’s obligations to purchase electric service from us to
serve the Smelters are exceptions to the “all requirements”
obligations in Kenergy’s All Requirements Contracts. See
“THE SMELTER AGREEMENTS” and APPENDIX F —
“SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE
SMELTER AGREEMENTS.”

Our Mortgage Indenture

The Note will be secured equally and ratably with all our other
obligations issued under the Indenture dated as of July 1,
2009, as supplemented and amended (the “Mortgage
Indenture”), between us and U.S. Bank National Association,
as trustee (the “Mortgage Indenture Trustee”). Obligations are
secured under the Mortgage Indenture by a mortgage lien on
substantially all of our owned tangible and certain of our
intangible properties, including our electric generation and
transmission facilities and certain of our contracts relating to
the purchase, sale or transmission of electricity of more than
one year in duration and relating to the ownership, operation
or maintenance of electric generation, transmission or
distribution facilities owned by us, but excluding certain
exceptions set forth in the Mortgage Indenture. The lien of the
Mortgage Indenture also extends to revenue generated from
the sale or transmission of electricity under certain of these
contracts. See APPENDIX E — “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN
PROVISIONS OF THE MORTGAGE INDENTURE.”

The Mortgage Indenture obligates us to establish and collect
rates that, subject to any necessary regulatory approvals, are
reasonably expected to yield “Margins for Interest” equal to at
least 1.10 times our total “Interest Charges” for each fiscal
year on debt secured under or prior to or on a parity with the
lien of the Mortgage Indenture.

See “MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
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Additional Obligations

Limitation on Distributions to

Members

OPERATIONS — Cooperative Operations — Coverage Ratios.”
For the definitions of “Margins for Interest” and “Interest
Charges,” see APPENDIX E — “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN
PROVISIONS OF THE MORTGAGE INDENTURE -
Covenants.”

As long as we are in compliance with the financial test
required under the Mortgage Indenture relating to Margins for
Interest, we may issue additional indebtedness or other
obligations under the Mortgage Indenture. The amount of
additional obligations we may issue is based on the amount of
specified property additions that have been certified to the
Mortgage Indenture Trustee, the principal amount of
Mortgage Indenture Obligations previously retired or
defeased, and deposits of cash and certain securities
previously made with the Mortgage Indenture Trustee, among
other things. See APPENDIX E - “SUMMARY OF
CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE MORTGAGE
INDENTURE — Additional Mortgage Indenture Obligations.”

The Mortgage Indenture prohibits us from making any
distribution, including any dividends, or payments of, or
retirements of, patronage capital to our Members if at the time
of or as a result of such distribution:

e we are in default under the Mortgage Indenture;

e our aggregate margins and equities as of the end of our
most recent fiscal quarter would be less than 20% of our
total long-term debt and equities; or

e the aggregate amount expended for all distributions on or
after the date on which our aggregate margins and equities
first reached 20% of our long-term debt and equities shall
exceed 35% of our aggregate net margins earned after
such date. See “APPENDIX E — SUMMARY OF
CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE MORTGAGE
INDENTURE — Covenants.”

Notwithstanding the foregoing and so long as we are not in
default under the Mortgage Indenture, we may declare and
make distributions at any time if, after giving effect thereto,
our aggregate margins and equities as of the end of our most
recent fiscal quarter would have been not less than 30% of our
total long-term debt and equities as of such date.

As of December 31, 2009, our equity to total capitalization
ratio was 31%, and we could have distributed approximately
$21.8 million to our Members under the criteria described
above.



SUMMARY FINANCIAL DATA

The summary financial data below present selected historical information relating to our financial
condition and results of operations. Summary financial data for the three months ended March 31, 2010
that are presented below are unaudited, and reflect all adjustments that we consider necessary (consisting
of normal recurring accruals) for a fair presentation of such data. The Balance Sheet data as of
December 31, 2009 and 2008 and the Statement of Operations data for years ended December 31, 2009,
2008 and 2007 were derived from our audited financial statements included in APPENDIX A. The
Balance Sheet data as of December 31, 2007 and the Statement of Operations data for the years ended
December 31, 2006 and 2005 were derived from our audited financial statements for those years. You
should read the information contained in this table together with our financial statements, the related notes
to the financial statements and the discussion of this information in “MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION
AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS” included in this
Offering Statement.

Three Months Ended Years Ended December 31,
March 31, 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
(in thousands) (in thousands)
Statement of Operations Data:
Operating Revenues ........c..c.cc.... $137,194 $373,360 $273,181 $329,870 $258,588 $248,955
Operating EXpenses.........c..c.eeee. 115,642 317,668 178,542 231,836 170,260 168,196
Electric Operating Margins....... 21,552 55,692 94,639 98,034 88,328 80,759
Interest Expense and Other... . 12,123 63,207 79,578 70,954 70,370 68,872
Non-operating margin................... 102 538,845 12,755 20,097 16,584 14,456
Net Margin ......ccceeeeeeeveerereennene. $ 9,531 $531,330 $ 27,816 $ 47,177 $ 34,542 $ 26,343
As of March 31, As of December 31,
2010 2009 2008 2007

(in thousands, except ratios)
Balance Sheet Data:

Assets:
Utility plant, net...........ocoevenenn $1,081,552 $1,078,274 $ 912,699 $ 911,634
Other assets...... . 407,563 427,209 161,737 402,524
Total assets $1,489,115 $1,505,483 $1,074,436 $1,314,158
Equities and Liabilities:
Capitalization.............coceeervenens $1,204,808 $1,213,759 $ 832,747 $1,032,099
Current Liabilities .................... 66,863 67,165 78,091 68,187
Deferred Credits and other....... 217,444 224,559 163,598 213,872
Total equities and liabilities ... $1,489,115 $1,505,483 $1,074,436 $1,314,158
Other Financial Data:
Equity ratio™..........ccccooovverrennn. 32% 31% -19% -17%
Margins for Interest ratio®® ... 1.78 9.87 1.45 1.64

(1) Our equity ratio is calculated by dividing total equity by total capitalization.

(2) Our Margins for Interest ratio is calculated by dividing our Margins for Interest by Interest Charges, both as defined in the Mortgage
Indenture. We became subject to the Mortgage Indenture in 2009; prior to 2009, we did not have a required MFI Ratio (as defined herein).
The Mortgage Indenture obligates us to establish and collect rates that, subject to any necessary regulatory approvals, are reasonably
expected to yield Margins for Interest equal to at least 1.10 times our Interest Charges for each fiscal year. In addition, the Mortgage
Indenture requires a showing of our having met this requirement for certain historical periods as a condition for issuing additional obligations
under the Mortgage Indenture. See APPENDIX E — “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE MORTGAGE INDENTURE —
Covenants” and “— Additional Mortgage Indenture Obligations.”

(3) See “MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS — Financial
Condition — As of March 31, 2010” for a discussion of our projected MFI Ratio for the year ending December 31, 2010.
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INTRODUCTION

The purpose of this Offering Statement, which includes the cover page and Appendices hereto, is
to provide information in connection with the issuance and sale by the County of Ohio, Kentucky (the
“County”) of its Pollution Control Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2010A (Big Rivers Electric
Corporation Project) in the aggregate principal amount of $83,300,000 (the “Bonds”). The Bonds will be
issued pursuant to the Constitution and laws of the Commonwealth of Kentucky, including particularly
the provisions of Kentucky Revised Statutes Sections 103.200 through 103.285, inclusive (the “Act”).
The Bonds will be issued under the terms and conditions of a Trust Indenture, dated as of June 1, 2010
(the “Bond Indenture”), between the County and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee (the
“Trustee”). The Bonds are being issued for the benefit of Big Rivers Electric Corporation (“Big Rivers”;
as used in this Offering Statement, “we,” “us” and “our” also refer to Big Rivers), a non-profit rural
electrical cooperative corporation organized and existing under the laws of the Commonwealth of
Kentucky.

USE OF PROCEEDS

The proceeds from the sale of the Bonds will be used to refund the entire outstanding principal
amount of the County’s Pollution Control Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2001 A (Big Rivers Electric
Corporation Project), Periodic Auction Reset Securities (PARS™) (the “Refunded Bonds”). The
Refunded Bonds were issued to refund certain bonds issued by the County to finance a portion of the
costs of certain pollution control and solid waste disposal facilities (the “Facilities”) located at our D.B.
Wilson Plant Unit No. 1, a coal-fired steam electric generating plant located within the geographical
boundaries of the County (the “Wilson Plant”). See “MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND
ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS — Liquidity and Capital
Resources — Debt and Lease Obligations” for a discussion of the most recent auction of the Refunded
Bonds.

SECURITY FOR AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT
OF THE BONDS

Pledge of Funds, Note and Financing Agreement

The Bonds are not general obligations of the County and do not constitute nor give rise to a
pecuniary liability of the County or a charge against its general credit or taxing powers. The Bonds shall
not constitute an indebtedness of the County within the meaning of the Constitution of Kentucky, but
shall be payable solely out of the amounts payable under the Financing Agreement (as defined herein) by
us to the County, such amounts being equal to an amount sufficient to pay the principal and interest
payments relating to the Bonds when due, and certain other funds pledged therefor under the Bond
Indenture (“Receipts and Revenues”). See APPENDIX D — “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS
OF THE BOND INDENTURE.”

In connection with the issuance of the Bonds, we will enter into a Loan Agreement, dated as of
June 1, 2010 (the “Financing Agreement”), with the County, under which the County will loan the
proceeds of the Bonds to us for the purpose of paying the principal amount of the Refunded Bonds upon
their redemption, and we will make loan repayments equal to the principal of and interest on the Bonds
when due. To evidence and secure our obligation to repay such loan, we will issue a note with respect to
the Bonds, dated the date of issuance of the Bonds (the “Note”). The Note will be issued as a parity
obligation under our Indenture, dated as of July 1, 2009, as supplemented and amended (the “Mortgage
Indenture”), between us and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee (the “Mortgage Indenture
Trustee”). For a description of certain material terms and conditions of the Mortgage Indenture, see



APPENDIX E — “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE MORTGAGE INDENTURE.”
The Financing Agreement provides that we will make the payments under the Note directly to the Trustee
for the account of the County.

The payment of principal of and interest on the Bonds will be secured by a pledge by the County
to the Trustee, for the benefit of the holders of such Bonds, of (i) the amounts required to be deposited in
the Bond Fund, established under the Bond Indenture, including investments made with such amounts
and the proceeds thereof, (ii) the County’s right, title and interest in and to the Note and payments
thereon, (iii) the County’s right, title and interest in and to the Receipts and Revenues, all subject to the
provisions of the Bond Indenture permitting the application of funds for the purposes and on the terms
and conditions set forth in the Bond Indenture and (iv) any and all property which may from time to time
be sold, transferred, conveyed, assigned, hypothecated, endorsed, deposited, pledged, mortgaged, granted
or delivered to, or deposited with, the Trustee as additional security under the Bond Indenture by the
County or anyone on its behalf as such additional security.

Security for Payment of the Mortgage Indenture Obligations

The Note will be secured equally and ratably with all our other obligations issued under the
Mortgage Indenture (each a “Mortgage Indenture Obligation,” and collectively, “Mortgage Indenture
Obligations™) by a mortgage lien on substantially all of our owned tangible and certain of our intangible
assets, including our electric generation and transmission facilities and certain of our contracts relating to
the purchase, sale or transmission of electricity of more than one year in duration and relating to the
ownership, operation or maintenance of electric generating, transmission or distribution facilities owned
by us, but excluding certain exceptions set forth in the Mortgage Indenture.

The lien of the Mortgage Indenture is subject to certain permitted exceptions set forth in the
Mortgage Indenture. The Mortgage Indenture contains provisions subjecting all of our after acquired
property, other than certain exceptions set forth in the Mortgage Indenture, to the lien thereof. See
APPENDIX E — “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE MORTGAGE INDENTURE.”

RISK FACTORS

The following is a discussion of certain risks that could affect payments to be made with respect
to the Bonds or the market value of the Bonds. This discussion is not exhaustive, should be read in
conjunction with all other parts of this Offering Statement, and should not be considered a complete
description of all risks that could affect such payments or the market value of the Bonds. Prospective
purchasers of the Bonds should analyze carefully the information contained in this Offering Statement,
including the Appendices hereto, and additional information in the form of the complete documents
summarized herein, copies of which are available as described in this Offering Statement. See
“AVAILABLE INFORMATION.”

A significant portion of our anticipated gross revenues and retail load of one of our Members,
Kenergy, is related to serving the Smelters

Approximately 57% of our total retail load demand and 75% of the energy of one of our
Members, Kenergy, is represented by two aluminum smelters: Alcan Primary Products Corporation
(“Alcan”), an indirect subsidiary of Alcan Aluminum Corporation, and Century Aluminum of Kentucky
General Partnership (“Century”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of Century Aluminum Company. Alcan and
Century are referred to herein as the “Smelters.” Kenergy supplies each Smelter under a retail electric
service agreement and passes through the payments made thereunder to us, except for a retail fee that
Kenergy retains. Such pass through payments by Kenergy are expected to comprise 61.5% of our gross



revenue in 2010. Both retail electric service agreements provide that if a Smelter plans to discontinue its
smelting operations, it may terminate the retail electric service agreement with one year notice. Alcan
and Century typically use nearly 368 MW and 482 MW per hour, respectively, and operate 24 hours per
day and seven days a week. One Century potline constituting approximately 100 MW is currently shut
down and we have not been given a schedule for it returning to service. While we are not aware of any
plan of either Smelter to discontinue its operations, if one or both were to do so, we would have a large
amount of surplus energy that may be difficult to sell economically. This possibility is especially a
concern until we complete our planned upgrade to our transmission lines as discussed herein to allow us
access to a broader number of third-party purchasers. See “THE SMELTER AGREEMENTS” and
APPENDIX F — “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE SMELTER AGREEMENTS.”

Our rates and service and those of our Members are subject to state regulation

Our rates and service and those of our Members are subject to regulation by the Kentucky Public
Service Commission (“KPSC”). Among other powers, Kentucky law authorizes the KPSC to (i) approve
our rates and those of our Members as “fair, just and reasonable,” (ii) regulate construction of new
generation and transmission facilities by issuing certificates of public convenience and necessity, (iii)
approve changes in ownership or control of us through sales of assets or otherwise, (iv) approve the
issuance or assumption of any securities or evidence of indebtedness, other than to the United States of
America acting through the Rural Utilities Service (“RUS”), and (v) administer the state laws assigning
each jurisdictional electric distribution utility the exclusive right to provide retail electric service within
specified geographic boundaries. The KPSC has approved the issuance of the Bonds.

We and our Members may only charge rates that are approved by the KPSC. When we file a
schedule stating new rates with the KPSC, the KPSC may suspend the effective date of that new rate
schedule for five or six months, depending upon the methodology we employ to support the new rate
schedule. If the proceeding to review the new rate schedule has not been concluded and an order made at
the expiration of the suspension period, we may place the new rate schedule in effect, subject to refund if
the rates eventually approved by the KPSC are lower than rates in the rate schedule we placed into effect.
By law, the KPSC must issue a final decision not later than ten months after we file a new rate schedule.
We are entitled to demand, collect and receive fair, just and reasonable rates for the services we render,
although we and the KPSC may disagree about what constitutes fair, just and reasonable rates. If we are
dissatisfied with an order of the KPSC, we may appeal that order through the Kentucky court system.
Any denial by the KPSC or delay in recovery of any portion of our requested rates could have a material
negative impact on our Members’ or our future operating results, financial condition or liquidity.

Regulations governing climate change may adversely affect our operations and financial performance

Federal and state laws may be enacted that would limit or impose additional costs related to
emissions of carbon dioxide (“CO,”) and other greenhouse gases (“GHG”). Several bills have been
introduced in the current Congress to reduce GHG emissions, including imposing federal GHG emission
caps and a federal renewable energy portfolio standard. One such bill was passed by the House of
Representatives on June 26, 2009, and a separate bill is currently being considered by the Senate.
Furthermore, the United States Environmental Protection Agency (the “EPA”) has taken action to
regulate GHG emissions under existing federal law. We cannot predict the outcome or potential impacts
of pending climate change legislation or regulations, but it is generally expected that older conventional,
fossil-fueled generation facilities, such as our facilities, would be more adversely affected by such laws or
regulations than newer facilities or facilities generating electricity from nuclear or renewable fuels. In
addition, some legislative proposals, such as the economic stimulus plan, may provide substantial
incentives to alternative energy development or limit the construction and operation of conventional
power generation facilities in ways that could adversely affect our business plans, revenues or operating



costs. See “RATE AND ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATIONS - Global Climate Change.”
Substantially all of our power supply resources come from fossil-fueled generation facilities. During
2009, resources that we own and operate emitted 19,100 tons of sulfur dioxide (“SO,”), 10,874 tons of
nitrogen oxide (“NOy”) and 25,000 tons of CO,.

Regulations governing environmental issues may adversely affect our operations and future financial
performance

We are required to comply with numerous federal, state and local laws and regulations relating to
environmental protection. These laws and regulations change regularly, and new laws and regulations
could substantially increase our operating costs or require material capital expenditures. In response to
regulatory changes, a substantial portion of our facilities have, in the past decade, been retrofitted with
new pollution control equipment, including flue gas desulfurization and selective catalytic reduction
equipment. We have $30 million of planned environmental additions through 2013. Although we believe
that we have obtained all material environmental approvals currently required to own and operate our
currently operating facilities, we may incur significant additional costs to comply with these requirements
or with any new requirements that are added as laws change and new regulatory requirements are added.
Failure to obtain and maintain all required permits or to comply with environmental laws, regulations and
permits could have a material adverse effect on us, including potential civil or criminal liability and the
imposition of fines or expenditures of funds to bring our facilities into compliance. Delay in obtaining or
failure to obtain and maintain any environmental permits or approvals, or delay or failure to satisfy any
applicable environmental regulatory requirements, could hinder the operation of our existing facilities or
hinder the sale of energy from these facilities, all of which could result in significant additional cost to us.
In addition, private parties may object to the issuance of environmental permits or challenge our
operations under our permits. See “RATE AND ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATIONS -
Environmental Regulations.”

National or state renewable energy standards may increase our costs of operation and adversely affect
the utilization of current generation facilities

Although various bills have been introduced in the Kentucky legislature and in the U.S. Congress
that would require us to establish and obtain minimum amounts of electric energy from renewable
resources, to date, no such legislation has been enacted. If we were required on the national or state level
to establish and obtain minimum amounts of electric energy from renewable resources, we would have to
purchase such energy and/or invest in renewable resources. FEither alternative may result in higher costs
to our Members.

We must make long-term decisions involving substantial capital expenditures based on our current
projections of future conditions

Our decisions to develop new generation or transmission facilities, enter into long-term power
supply arrangements, or pursue other projects are based primarily on long-term forecasts of our
obligations to supply all or a portion of our Members’ power and energy requirements. We rely on our
forecasts to reliably predict factors affecting their requirements such as economic conditions, population
trends and actions by others in the development of their generation or transmission facilities. Even
though forecasts are less reliable the farther into the future they extend, we must make decisions today
based on forecasts often extending a decade or more into the future due to the long lead-time necessary to
develop and construct new generation and transmission facilities and the expected useful life of such
facilities.



Our forecasts may vary significantly from actual events. As a result, we may fail to develop the
appropriate number or type of generation facilities, rely on technology that becomes less competitive, or
fail to install or upgrade transmission facilities in locations where they are needed. If we overestimate the
growth in our obligations to supply all or a portion of our Members’ power or energy requirements, there
is no assurance that the price of any surplus power or energy from the excess resources would be
economical or could be sold in the market without a loss. If we underestimate the growth in our
Members’ power or energy requirements, we may be required to purchase power or energy at a cost
substantially above the cost we would have incurred to obtain the power or generate the energy from our
facilities. Projections regarding the continued growth of our Members’ power and energy requirements
and the extent of our obligations to serve them increases the potential risks to us if actual events differ
significantly from our forecasts.

Future availability and cost of credit may affect our financial results

We will need to access the credit and capital markets in the near future. Although we expect to
finance our capital expenditures with internally generated funds, we have a series of pollution control
bonds outstanding in the principal amount of $58.8 million maturing in 2013 that we expect to refinance.
In addition to the generally level debt service on the RUS Series A Note, we are obligated to make
additional principal payments of $60.0 million by October 1, 2012, and $200.0 million by January 1, 2016
on our debt outstanding with RUS. We expect to raise funds in the credit and capital markets in order to
refinance this RUS debt and the pollution control bonds.

Market volatility and uncertainty in the financial markets, such as what occurred in the fall of
2008, could potentially affect our cost of capital and access to the credit and capital markets. In addition,
if our ratings were lowered, we could be required to pay higher interest rates in future financings, our
potential pool of investors and funding sources could decrease and our access to the credit or capital
markets could be interrupted for all practical purposes. In the future, our investor base may be limited if
we encounter investors who are reluctant to purchase our debt based on climate change or other industry-
specific concerns.

Our financial performance depends on the successful operation of electric generating facilities by us
and the ability of our facilities and us to deliver electricity to our Members

Operating electric generating facilities and delivery systems involves many risks, including:
e operator error and breakdown or failure of equipment or processes;

e operational limitations imposed by environmental or other regulatory requirements;

e inadequate or unreliable access to transmission and distribution assets;

e labor disputes;

e interruptions of fuel supply;

e compliance with mandatory reliability standards; and

e catastrophic events such as hurricanes, floods, earthquakes, fires, explosions, terrorist attacks,
pandemic health events or other similar occurrences.



We depend on transmission facilities, including those operated by other parties, to deliver the
electricity that we supply to our Members. If transmission is disrupted, or if capacity is inadequate, our
ability to sell and deliver products and satisfy our contractual obligations may be hindered. Although the
Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (“FERC”) has issued regulations designed to encourage
competition in wholesale market transactions for electricity, there is the potential that fair and equal
access to transmission systems or transmission capacity will not be available to transmit our electric
power. We cannot predict the timing of industry changes as a result of these initiatives or the adequacy of
transmission facilities in specific markets.

The initial set of mandatory reliability standards was issued by the North American Electric
Reliability Corporation (“NERC”) in July 2007. We believe we are in compliance with all of the current
NERC standards. We expect that as greater emphasis is placed on securing electrical grid infrastructure,
these standards will become stricter over time. The financial impact of mandatory compliance with such
standards cannot currently be determined. If mandatory reliability standards are increased in the future, a
substantial effect on our operations and financial cash flows could result. In addition, failure to comply
with the reliability standards could result in the imposition of fines and penalties.

A decrease in operational performance from our generating facilities and delivery systems or an
increase in the cost of operating the facilities could have an adverse effect on our business and results of
operations.

Our Members may fail to satisfy their obligations to us

We depend primarily on electric sales to our Members to satisfy our financial obligations. We do
not control the operations or financial performance of our Members. Accordingly, we are exposed to the
risk that one or more of our Members could default in the performance of their obligations to us, in
particular their obligations under long-term wholesale power contracts with us extending through 2043.
These defaults could result from financial difficulties at one or more Members or because of intentional
actions by such Members. Our operating results and financial condition could be adversely affected if
one or more of our Members default on their obligations to us or reject their contractual obligations to us
in a bankruptcy proceeding or otherwise.

We cannot assure you that an active trading market will develop for the Bonds

There is no existing trading market for the Bonds. We do not know the extent to which investor
interest will lead to the development of a trading market or how liquid that market might be, nor can we
make any assurances regarding the ability of holders of Bonds to sell their Bonds or the price at which the
Bonds might be sold. Although the Underwriter has informed us that it currently intends to make a
market in the Bonds, it is not obligated to do so, and any market making may be discontinued at any time
without notice. The market price of the Bonds could be adversely affected as a result.

COUNTY OF OHIO, KENTUCKY

The County, located in western Kentucky, is a public body corporate and politic duly created and
existing as a county and political subdivision under the Constitution and laws of the Commonwealth of
Kentucky. The County was and is authorized and empowered by law, including particularly the Act to
finance certain pollution control and solid waste disposal facilities, including the Facilities, and to enter
into and perform its obligations under the Financing Agreement and the Bond Indenture. Pursuant to the
Act, on May 4, 2010 the Fiscal Court of the County adopted a resolution which authorized the issuance of
the Bonds and the execution and delivery of the Financing Agreement and the Bond Indenture by the
County. Except for the information in this paragraph and the information solely with respect to the



County under the caption “SUMMARY — County of Ohio” and “LITIGATION — Litigation Involving the
County,” the County did not participate in the preparation of this Offering Statement and does not have or
assume any responsibility as to the accuracy or completeness of any information herein, all of which has
been furnished by others.

BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION
Introduction
General

We are an electric generation and transmission (“G&T”) rural electric cooperative corporation.
We were organized as a not-for-profit rural electric cooperative under the laws of Kentucky in June, 1961
to enable our Members to pool their resources and provide for the power and transmission needs of their
combined service territories. We currently operate as a taxable cooperative. See “MANAGEMENT’S
DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS —
Critical Accounting Policies — Accounting for Income Taxes.” We provide wholesale electric service to
our three Members under a number of wholesale power contracts which contracts, in the aggregate,
supply the total wholesale power requirements of the Members (see “Wholesale Power Contracts”),
except the requirements of Kenergy for service to the Smelters required by the Smelters Agreements.

We own 1,444 net MW of electric generating facilities, described herein under “GENERATION
AND TRANSMISSION ASSETS - Generation Resources” and approximately 1,262 miles of
transmission lines and 22 substations, described herein under “GENERATION AND TRANSMISSION
ASSETS — Transmission.”

In addition to our owned electric generation and transmission facilities, we operate the 312 net
MW Henderson Municipal Power and Light (“HMP&L”) Station Two Generating Facility (“Station
Two”) in accordance with a Power Plant Construction and Operation Agreement dated August 1, 1970
between HMP&L and us (the “Station Two Operation Agreement”), and we purchase all the power and
energy from Station Two not used by HMP&L to serve the needs of the City of Henderson, Kentucky, in
accordance with a Power Sales Contract between HMP&L and us dated August 1, 1970 (the “Station Two
Power Sales Contract”). See “GENERATION AND TRANSMISSION ASSETS — Other Power Supply
Resources — Station Two Facility.”

In 2009, our average wholesale revenue per kWh to our Members, including amounts withdrawn
from the economic reserve, was $.03983 or $.04113 for rural loads and $.03668 per kWh for large
industrial loads (exclusive of the Smelter loads served by Kenergy). Our average wholesale revenue per
kWh to Kenergy to serve the two Smelter loads in 2009 was $.04754 per kWh on sales of 3.5 million
MWh. Our average wholesale revenue per kWh to Kenergy to serve the Smelter loads pre-Unwind was
$.05412 on sales of .6 million MWh. Our average wholesale revenue per kWh to Kenergy to serve the
two Smelter loads after the closing of the Unwind was $.04622 on sales of 2.9 million MWh. For the
first six and one-half months of 2009, we supplied only a portion of the load of the Smelters. During this
period, Kenergy purchased 3.5 million MWh for the Smelters from other sources. Had we supplied the
entire load for the Smelters for all of 2009, our sales to Kenergy to serve the Smelters for 2009 would
have been 7.0 million MWh. Excluding the Smelters, sales to our Members were 3.2 million MWh in
2009, 2.2 million MWh for rural loads and 1.0 million MWh for large industrial loads. Member Non-
Smelter MWh sales in 2009 have decreased by 4.6% from 2008, 6.2% for rural loads and .7% for large
industrial loads. To the extent surplus capacity and energy are available, we may sell electricity to non
Member utilities and power marketers (“Non-Members”). During 2009, we sold approximately 1.2
million MWh to Non-Members



Cooperative Structure

In general, a cooperative is a business organization owned by its members, which are also its
customers. Cooperatives provide goods or services to their members on a not-for-profit basis, in part by
eliminating the need to produce profits or a return on equity in excess of required margins. Generally,
electric cooperatives design rates on an overall basis to recover cost-of-service and collect a reasonable
amount of revenue in excess of expenses (i.e., margins). Margins are typically repaid to the members in
subsequent years on the basis of their patronage during the years the margins were earned.

A G&T cooperative is a cooperative engaged primarily in providing wholesale electricity to its
members, which may be either wholesale or retail power suppliers. Electricity sold by a G&T
cooperative is provided from its own generating facilities or through power purchase agreements with its
wholesale power suppliers. A distribution cooperative is a local membership cooperative whose members
are the individual retail customers of an electric distribution system.

The Members

Our Members are Kenergy, Meade County Rural Electric Cooperative Corporation (“Meade”)
and Jackson Purchase Energy Corporation (“Jackson Purchase”). The Members of Big Rivers are local
consumer-owned distribution cooperatives providing retail electric service on a not-for-profit basis to
their customers, who are their members. The customer base of the Members generally consists of
residential, commercial and industrial consumers within specific geographic areas. The Members provide
electric power and energy to customers located in portions of 22 western Kentucky counties. As of
December 31, 2009, the Members served approximately 112,000 member-customers (meters). Kenergy
has approximately 55,000 retail members, Meade County has approximately 28,000 retail members and
Jackson Purchase has approximately 29,000 retail members. See APPENDIX B - MEMBER
FINANCIAL AND STATISTICAL INFORMATION.

Bankruptcy and Subsequent Operation

In September 1996, we filed a voluntary petition for relief under Chapter 11 of the United States
Bankruptcy Code. The filing was precipitated largely by our inability to sell our capacity in excess of that
required to serve our Members at prices sufficient to cover all of our costs, which shortfall was
exacerbated by long-term coal contracts under which prices had escalated well above market prices. In
July 1998, a bankruptcy court-approved Plan of Reorganization (the “Plan of Reorganization”) became
effective. The Plan of Reorganization fundamentally changed our operations and resulted in the
restructuring of our long-term debt. Such long-term debt was owed primarily to RUS and was incurred
primarily to finance our generating assets.

In accordance with the Plan of Reorganization, we leased all of our generating facilities to
Western Kentucky Energy Corp. (“WKEC”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of LG&E Energy Corp., now
E.ON U.S., LLC (“E.ON”). We also assigned to WKEC all of our intangible assets, including our rights
under real property leases, equipment leases, permits, intellectual property and contracts used or held
exclusively by us in connection with the operation of our generating facilities. WKEC assumed and
agreed to perform and discharge all of our obligations under these assets that first arose or accrued on or
after the effective date of the Plan of Reorganization. In addition to assuming responsibility for operation
of our generating facilities we own, WKE Station Two Inc. (“WKE Station Two”), another wholly owned
subsidiary of E.ON, assumed responsibility for the operation of Station Two and our obligation to
purchase power from Station Two under the Station Two Power Sales Contract. This assignment and
assumption was effected in accordance with an Agreement and Amendments to Agreements by and
among HMP&L, WKE Station Two, LG&E Energy Marketing Inc. (“LEM”), WKEC and us dated as of



July 15, 1998 (the “Station Two Agreement”). Pursuant to the Plan of Reorganization, WKEC and WKE
Station Two (which was subsequently merged into WKEC) became responsible for our prior
responsibilities to operate and maintain the generating facilities we own and Station Two. Capital costs
for these generating facilities were shared by WKEC and us in several different ratios depending upon
whether or not the capital expenditure was incurred in order to comply with a state law enacted after the
effective date of the Plan of Reorganization or a revision or change of an existing law enacted after such
date. We were responsible for 20% of the capital costs required in order to comply with such a change in
law or regulation. Our responsibility for the capital costs required to maintain the existing capacity of the
generating facilities we own and Station Two and not required by changes in law or regulation was
generally limited to stipulated annual amounts, which never exceeded $6.8 million. We were not required
to contribute to the cost of capital improvements made to a generating facility owned by us or to Station
Two in order to increase its generating capacity. Operation and maintenance costs, including fuel, were,
for the most part, the responsibility of WKEC.

The Plan of Reorganization (the “LG&E Arrangements”) also included a power purchase
agreement (the “LEM Power Purchase Agreement”) between us and LEM. The LEM Power Purchase
Agreement established minimum hourly and annual power purchase amounts that we were required to
take and certain maximum hourly and annual power purchase amounts that LEM was required to make
available to us. We paid specified fixed rates for power purchased under the LEM Power Purchase
Agreement that were not dependent upon market prices for electric power and energy nor the costs
associated with power and energy generated by the generating facilities we own and operated by WKE
Station Two. In addition to power and energy purchased from LEM under the LEM Power Purchase
Agreement, during the duration of the LG&E Arrangements we continued to dispatch our Members’ 178
MW Southeastern Power Administration (“SEPA”) allocations of hydroelectric power and associated
energy (the “SEPA Power”) in accordance with a contract with the SEPA (the “SEPA Contract”).

If we did not purchase an amount of power from LEM equal to or in excess of a minimum annual
amount during a calendar year, the LEM Power Purchase Agreement provided that we were deemed to
have received a certain percentage of the difference in the amount of power actually purchased from LEM
and the minimum annual amount we were required to purchase under the LEM Power Purchase
Agreement. LEM billed us for such percentage of the shortfall as if we had purchased it. We had the
right to purchase only our minimum obligation of power and energy under the LEM Power Purchase
Agreement and purchase additional power to meet our Member’s loads from other suppliers without
penalty. This arrangement essentially permitted us to arbitrage the LEM base power requirement. These
arbitrage opportunities were available in any hour in which our power purchase rate from the market plus
any applicable hourly LEM penalty was less than the amount that we would be charged by LEM at the
specified base power rates or in any hour which we could resell our base power under the LEM Power
Purchase Agreement to Non-Members at a profit. Most of the earnings we realized from such arbitrage
activities were used by us to increase our equity.

Throughout the duration of the LG&E Arrangements we received lease payments from WKEC of
approximately $31 million annually. These lease payments were subject to adjustment for certain
environmental costs and changes in the amount of power available to us from LEM. We were responsible
for 70% of all property taxes on the generating facilities leased to WKE Station Two during the LG&E
Arrangements and WKEC paid 30%.

The Plan of Reorganization required LEM to pay us an average of approximately $18 million
annually, which amount corresponded to the estimated margins we had anticipated to realize from sales to
our Members to supply the loads of the Smelters. The Plan of Reorganization also required the transfer of
responsibility for providing the wholesale power and energy to Kenergy necessary to serve the needs of
the Smelters from us to LEM.



We provided transmission service to our Members and Non-Members pursuant to our Open
Access Transmission Tariff (“OATT”). Under the LG&E Arrangements, LEM paid us a minimum
$5 million annually for transmission service.

Leveraged Lease Transactions

In April, 2000, we entered into five separate leveraged lease transactions involving undivided
interests in both units of our Robert D. Green Generating Plant (the “Green Plant”) and our Wilson Plant
(the “Leveraged Lease Transactions”). The Leveraged Lease Transactions were structured as a long-term
lease of an undivided interest under a head lease to limited liability companies created on behalf of an
equity investor. Such undivided interests were leased back to us by such limited liability companies for a
shorter term. Part of each equity investor’s cost for its acquisition of its head lease interest was supplied
by non-recourse loans to the limited liability company. We used most of the proceeds of the equity
investors’ one-time payments of rent for their head lease interests to purchase guaranteed investment
contracts, the payments under which were sufficient to discharge all of our rental obligations under each
of the leases of the undivided interests back to us.

Unwind of LG&E Arrangements and Termination of Leveraged Lease Transactions

In March 2007, we executed a Transaction Termination Agreement (the “Termination
Agreement”) among LEM, WKEC and us setting forth the term and conditions upon which we and E.ON
agreed to terminate the LG&E Arrangements (the “Unwind”). Protracted negotiations with creditors,
governmental agencies, the Smelters and others followed the execution of the Termination Agreement.
The closing of the Unwind took place on July 16, 2009.

As aresult of the turmoil in the credit markets commencing in 2007, and in order to facilitate the
Unwind, we terminated the Leveraged Lease Transactions prior to their maturities. We terminated some
of the Leveraged Lease Transactions in June, 2008 and others in September, 2008. Funds to terminate the
Leveraged Lease Transactions were provided by the proceeds of the early termination of the guaranteed
investment contracts used for the economic defeasance of the leases, funds provided by E.ON as part of
the consideration in the Unwind, and our own funds. As part of the termination of the Leveraged Lease
Transaction, all property interests and security interests in any of our property of all parties to the
Leveraged Lease Transactions were terminated.

Summary of Major Provisions of Unwind

In connection with the closing of the Unwind, E.ON compensated us with approximately $864.6
million and we took certain other actions as set forth below:

e E.ON made a cash payment to us of approximately $506.7 million. This amount represented
(1) a termination payment by WKEC to us to compensate us for the risks associated with
assuming responsibility for the operation of our owned generating facilities and Station Two
and (2) the netted amount of various payment obligations by both WKEC and us
contemplated by the Termination Agreement.

o  WKEC waived the requirement in the LG&E Arrangements that we make a payment at the
expiration or early termination of the LG&E Arrangements in respect of the residual value of
WKEC’s capital contributions to our owned generating facilities and Station Two.
Additionally, WKEC conveyed to us certain utility plant assets used in connection with the
operation of our owned generating plants previously leased to WKEC. The value of these
items was approximately $188.0 million.
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e We established three reserves, (1) an economic reserve with an initial principal amount equal
to $157 million (the “Economic Reserve”), (2) a second economic reserve with an initial
principal amount equal to $60.9 million (the “Rural Economic Reserve”), and (3) a transition
reserve with an initial principal amount equal to $35 million (the “Transition Reserve”). The
Economic Reserve and Rural Economic Reserve accounts were established to help us cushion
the effect of any potential future rate increases for fuel, environmental, and purchase power
expenses on our rates to our Members for service to their non-Smelter members. The
Transition Reserve Account was established as a financial reserve account that would help us
mitigate financial costs, if any, associated with the termination of the Smelter Agreements by
a Smelter.

e  WKEC conveyed to us a flue gas desulphurization (“FGD”) system which had recently been
constructed at our Kenneth C. Coleman Plant (the “Coleman Plant”). The value ascribed to
the flue gas desulphurization facility was approximately $98.5 million.

e WKEC conveyed to us personal property and inventories of coal, petroleum coke, fuel oil,
lime, limestone and spare parts, and materials and supplies. The value of these items was
approximately $55.0 million.

e WKEC forgave a promissory note of approximately $15.4 million we owed to LEM.

o  WKEC conveyed to us 14,000 SO, allowances allotted by the EPA with a fair market value
of approximately $1.0 million on July 16, 2009.

o The lease of the generating facilities to WKEC and all the other property interests of WKEC
and LEM in the generating facilities previously leased to WKEC were terminated.

e The Station Two Agreement was terminated and we resumed our responsibility to operate
Station Two and to purchase the output of Station Two in excess of the City’s requirements in
accordance with the Station Two Power Sales Contract.

Change in Capital Structure Resulting from Unwind

On July 16, 2009, we prepaid $140.2 million of the indebtedness we owed to the RUS and the
schedule of maximum permitted outstanding balances on the amortizing debt we owe to the RUS was
adjusted. The non-interest bearing RUS Series B Note was also restructured in concert with the Unwind
into a single “bullet” payment due December 31, 2023. Our debt to RUS was incurred primarily to
finance our generating assets. In connection with the Unwind we obligated ourselves to reduce the
maximum permitted outstanding balances of our RUS debt by $60.0 million by October 1, 2012 and
$200.0 million by January 1, 2016. Currently, we intend to refinance that debt in the capital markets.

We also terminated a secured credit facility with National Rural Utilities Cooperative Finance
Corporation (“CFC”) providing for a maximum outstanding balance of $15 million and entered into two
unsecured revolving credit facilities with a maximum of $50 million each with CFC and CoBank ACB
(“CoBank”). See “MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL
CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS - Liquidity and Capital Resources.” The chart set
forth below shows the impact of the Unwind on our outstanding debt.
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Pre-Unwind Unwind Close Post-Unwind
Debt Instrument Balance Transaction Balance

(In millions of dollars)

RUS Series A Note $ 740.0 $140.20 $599.8

RUS Series B Note 106.5 0.0 106.5

LEM Settlement Note 15.4 15.4% 0.0

PMCC Note 12.4 12.4% 0.0

County of Ohio, Kentucky, promissory note (1983 Series) 58.8 0.0 58.8
1983 Series Pollution Control Bonds

County of Ohio, Kentucky, promissory note (2001A Series) 83.3 0.0 83.3

2001A Series Pollution Control Bonds

$1,016.4 $168.0 $848.4

(1) Our payment to RUS on Unwind closing date.
(2) Forgiveness of debt by E.ON.
(3) Our payment to Philip Morris Capital Corporation on Unwind closing date.

As a result of the Unwind, we went from an equity to total capitalization ratio of -19% as of
December 31, 2008, to 31% as of December 31, 2009.

Resumption of Operational Responsibilities in Connection with Generating Facilities

In connection with the Unwind, the lease of our generating facilities to WKEC was terminated
and we resumed responsibility for the operation of our generating facilities. Thus, we assumed
responsibility for the risks associated with such operation (e.g. fuel, capital costs associated with change
in law). We intend to use the output of our generating facilities to supply the needs of our Members,
including approximately 850 MW of power that is necessary for Kenergy to supply a portion of its
contractual obligations to the Smelters, which were primarily serviced by LEM prior to the Unwind. See
“THE SMELTER AGREEMENTS” and APPENDIX F — “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS
OF THE SMELTER AGREEMENTS.” Power and energy generated above our Members’ requirements
will be sold into the wholesale power market.

Wholesale Power Contracts with Members

Each of Meade, Jackson Purchase and Kenergy is party to a wholesale power contract with us
(the “All Requirements Contracts”) providing that we sell and deliver to the Member, and the Member
purchase and receive from us, all the electric power and energy which the Member requires for the
operation of the Member’s system (except Kenergy’s requirements for the Smelters) to the extent that we
have power and energy and facilities available. The term of each All Requirements Contract extends
through December 31, 2043 and neither of the parties may unilaterally terminate the contract, without
cause, prior to such date. Each All Requirements Contract may be terminated by either party thereto after
December 31, 2043, upon six months notice.

The All Requirements Contracts require each Member to pay us monthly for capacity and energy
furnished. The All Requirements Contracts provide that if a Member fails to pay any bill by the first
business day following the twenty-fourth day of the month, we may, upon five (5) business days’ written
notice, discontinue delivery of electric power and energy. The All Requirements Contracts also provide
that, so long as any notes and note guarantees are outstanding from us to the RUS, the Member may not
reorganize, dissolve, consolidate, merge, or sell, lease or transfer all or a substantial portion of its assets
unless it has either (i) obtained our written consent and the written consent of the RUS, or (ii) paid a
portion of the outstanding indebtedness on the notes and our other commitments and obligations then
outstanding, such portion to be determined by us with RUS approval. The All Requirements Contracts
may only be amended with the approval of the RUS and upon compliance with such other reasonable
terms and conditions as we and RUS may agree.
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Each Member is required to pay us for capacity and energy furnished under its All Requirements
Contract in accordance with our established rates as approved by the KPSC. All Requirements Contracts
with Members provide that our Board of Directors establish rates to produce revenue sufficient, but only
sufficient, together with all of our other revenue, to pay the cost of operation and maintenance of all our
generation, transmission and related facilities, to pay the cost of capacity and energy purchased by us for
resale, to pay the cost of transmission service, to pay the principal of and interest on all our indebtedness
and to provide for the establishment and maintenance of reasonable financial reserves.

The All Requirements Contracts require our Board of Directors to review the rates at least
annually and to revise such rates as necessary to produce revenue as described above. We must give
Members no less than thirty (30) days’ or more than forty-five (45) days’ written notice of every rate
revision. Our electric rate revisions are subject to the approval of the RUS and the KPSC, after which our
Members are permitted to incorporate such rate changes into their own rate structures. See “RISK
FACTORS” and “RATE AND ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATION - Kentucky Rate Regulation” for
information relating to rate regulation by the KPSC.

Smelter Agreements with Kenergy

In addition to the All Requirements Contracts, we and Kenergy are parties to two wholesale
electric service agreements under which we provide a fixed amount of power and energy of
approximately 850 MW of power that is necessary for Kenergy to supply a portion of its contractual
obligations to the Smelters through December 31, 2023. These agreements are exceptions to the “all
requirements” obligations in the All Requirements Contracts with Kenergy. See “THE SMELTER
AGREEMENTS” and APPENDIX F — “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE SMELTER
AGREEMENTS.”

Existing Generation and Transmission Resources

We supply capacity and energy to our Members principally from a combination of owned
generating plants and also from power purchased under long-term contracts with other power suppliers
and short-term and spot market purchases. We own interests in seven base load coal-fired generating
units and one oil- or natural gas-fired combustion turbine generating unit, all of which are in commercial
operation. These units provide us with approximately 1,444 MW of capacity. See “GENERATION
AND TRANSMISSION ASSETS — Generation Resources” for a discussion of our existing generation
facilities. We also have a variety of purchase arrangements, including the Station Two Power Sales
Contract with the City of Henderson and the SEPA Contract, which supply us with up to 390 MW of
power. We currently purchase 212 MW from HMP&L pursuant to the Station Two Power Purchase
Agreement, which share will decrease on June 1, 2010 to 207 MW, and up to 178 MW under the SEPA
Contract. We normally use our entitlement under the SEPA Contract for peaking; however, as a result of
problems with certain dams on the Cumberland River hydro system, our capacity entitlement has been
suspended and we currently are receiving only energy. See “GENERATION AND TRANSMISSION
ASSETS — Other Power Supply Resources” for a discussion of our power purchase arrangements. We
also own 1,262 miles of transmission lines and 22 substations and we have additional access to
approximately 100 MW of transmission service through agreements with another utility.
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SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following financial data present selected information relating to our financial condition and
results of operations. Summary financial data for the three months ended March 31, 2010 that are
presented below are unaudited, and reflect all adjustments that we consider necessary (consisting of
normal recurring accruals) for a fair presentation of such data. The Balance Sheet data as of
December 31, 2009 and 2008 and the Statement of Operations data for years ended December 31, 2009,
2008 and 2007 were derived from our audited financial statements included in APPENDIX A. The
Balance Sheet data as of December 31, 2007 and the Statement of Operations data for the years ended
December 31, 2006 and 2005 were derived from our audited financial statements for those years. The
information shown below should be read in conjunction with the financial statements and the related
notes thereto in Appendix A. See “MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF
FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS.”

BIG RIVERS
STATEMENT OF REVENUES AND EXPENSES

(dollars in thousands)

Three Months
Ended March 31, Year Ended December 31,
(Unaudited) (Audited)
2010 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
Operating revenues:
Member tariff electric energy revenues........... $108,152 $259,579 $114,513 $113,281 $108,736 $109,439
Other electric energy revenues 25,674 67,151 90,006 148,611 82,098 71,928
Lease reVenUE..........cccueeevveeeceeeeeeeeeeeee e, --- 32,027 58,423 58,265 57,896 57,675
Other operating revenues .................c.cc......... 3,368 14,603 10,239 9,713 9,858 9,913
Total OPErating reVenUEs .........vvvveeererrrreeerreree 137,194 373,360 273,181 329,870 258,588 248,955
Operating expenses:
Operations:
Fuel for electric generation............cceeueee 53,944 80,655 --- --- - -
Power purchased and interchanged ........... 23,271 116,883 114,643 169,768 114,516 114,500
Production, excluding fuel...........ccccceenee 12,507 22,381 --- --- - -
Transmission and other 9,465 35,444 28,600 27,196 21,684 20,309
Maintenance 7,977 29,820 4,258 4,240 3,652 3,195
Depreciation 8,478 32,485 31,041 30,632 30,408 30,192
Total OPErating eXPenses. ............oveeeveerrrsnrrerrsens 115,642 317,668 178,542 231,836 170,260 168,196
Electric operating margins ...............cocccocooooovu.... 21,552 55,692 94,639 98,034 88,328 80,759
Interest expense and other:
Interest, net of capitalized interest................... 12,106 59,898 65,719 60,932 60,754 59,639
Interest on obligations related to long-term
TEASE . - 6,991 9,919 9,505 9,109
Amort. of loss from termination of lease......... --- 2,172 811 --- - -
Income tax eXPense.........coevveruerueerereeeenuenuenne --- 1,025 5,934 --- - -
Other, NEt .....ccveevievieieeeeeeeeeeee e 17 112 123 103 111 124
Total interest expense and other..........c.ccccoeeennee 12,123 63,207 79,578 70,954 70,370 68,872
Operating margin before non-operating margin .... 9,429 (7,515) 15,061 27,080 17,958 11,887
Non-operating margin:
Interest income on restricted investments
under long-term 1€ase..........ccoceveeerveeennenne. - - 8,742 12,481 12,069 11,670
Gain on “Unwind” Transaction....................... -—- 537,978 - - - -
Interest income and other ...........cccoeoevenirenene 102 867 4,013 7,616 4515 2,786
Total non-operating margin 102 538,845 12,755 20,097 16,584 14,456
NEt MATIN ©oovvovvereeeeeeveeeseeseee e $9.531 $531,330 $ 27816 $ 47,177 $ 34,542 $ 26,343
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BALANCE SHEET

(dollars in thousands)

Assets:
ULIILY plant, Net........oeovevieriiriiieeiieieee e
Restricted investments under long-term lease...........cccceveeverieneennene
Restricted Investments — Member rate mitigation
Other deposits and investments, at COSt .........cecuererererieereerieriennns
Current Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents..........c.coceoeereenerinineneneeneeeeene
Accounts 1eceivable .........cocviiiiiirieinii e
FUCT INVENLOTY ...vetiiieiieieciecie e

NON-UEl INVENLOTY ....euviiiiieiiieiieietei e
Prepaid EXPenses .......coeeveerieieiirieireeeseee s

Total CUITENE ASSCLS......veeveereerieiieetieeieeeiteeereereese e e e sreeseeeseneenns
Deferred loss—termination of sale-leaseback ...........ccccccvevveriereens

Deferred charges and other............cocooevieeneinineininiiccnece

Total assets

Equities (Deficit) and Liabilities:
Capitalization:

Equities (deficit)..

Long-term debt........cccceerveuennene.

Obligations under long-term lease..........ccceveeuverveenenncncnennenns

Total capitalization ...........ccoceeeerirerieiririeereeeereeeeeene
Current liabilities:
Current maturities of long-term debt and obligations..................
NOLES PAYADIEC ..ot
Purchased power payable...........ccooeviririnienieneneeeceeeeen
AcCOUNtS PAYADIE ..o
ACCIUCA EXPEIISES.....euvenireieieienietitentetetete ettt saenes

ACCTUC INLETESE ...vvevieeieniieiieteeeieiee et

Total current liabilities
Deferred credits and other:
Deferred 1€ase TEVENUE..........ccooueuiueiiniiiciiiiieececcceeeae
Deferred gain on sale-leaseback ...........cccoceeierienieneneninieiee,
Residual value payment obligation ...........ccceeeveerereeerieniennenne.

Regulatory liabilities — Member rate mitigation..............ccccue...

Total equities and liabilities

Three Months December 31,
Ended March 31, (Audited)
(Unaudited)
2010 2009 2008 2007
$1,081,552 $1,078,274 $912,699 $911,634
- - - 192,932
235,193 243,225 - -
5,370 5,342 4,693 4,240
60,376 60,290 38,903 148,914
44,484 47,493 20,464 26,683
35,258 37,830 - -
20,457 20,412 756 768
3,269 3,233 450 131
163,844 169,258 60,573 176,496
- - 76,001 -
3,156 9,384 20,470 28,856
$1,489,115 $1,505,483 $1,074,436 $1,314,158
$388,923 $379,392 $(154,602) $(174,137)
815,885 834,367 987,349 1,022,345
- - - 183,891
1,204,808 1,213,759 832,747 1,032,099
13,298 14,185 51,771 39,392
10,000 - - -
1,096 3,362 9,336 13,038
22,669 30,657 5,832 4,932
11,223 9,864 3,134 3,014
8,577 9,097 8,018 7,811
66,863 67,165 78,091 68,187
- - 10,955 15,537
- - - 53,480
- - 145,145 141,370
200,245 207,348 - -
17,199 17,211 7,498 3,485
217,444 224,559 163,598 213,872
$1,489,115 $1,505,483 $1,074,436 $1,314,158

15



CAPITALIZATION
Our capitalization derived from our financial statements included in APPENDIX A is as follows:

Three Months December 31,
Ended March 31, (Audited)
(Unaudited) 2009
2010

(in thousands)
Long-Term debt:

Secured by the Mortgage Indenture:

RUS SErIES A NOLE ...ttt $575,349 $596,786

RUS Series B Note . 111,234 109,666

1983 Series Pollution Control BONAS........coooueeiiiiiiieeeiee et e e e enaees 58,800 58,800

2001A Series Pollution Control BondS ...........ccceoueviiiiirieiiieiesie e 83,300 83,300

TOtal IONG-TETIN EDE ...ttt ettt sesesesesesesnes $829,183 $848,552

Less: current portion ...........coceceeeeerveeneneenens . 13,298 14,185

Total long-term debt, excluding CUrrent POrtiON ...........cooveveveueirierereeieieieeeeeteies et sesenes 815,885 834,367

Equity:

ACCUMUIALEA IMATZINS ...evveutieietieiietete sttt ettt sttt et e e te st e e bt e st ene e e et e bt sseeseeneensensesseebesneensensennenne 394,038 384,507
Other Equities and Accumulated Other Comprehensive INCOME ..........oceveviririeienenercreeeeeee (5,115) (5,115)

TOtAl EQUITIES ..veureueeieeiietieiteeiet ettt sttt ettt st e st e et e b st e e bt e st en e nsenteebeseeeneensensenens 388,923 379,392

Total capitaliZAtion ...............ccooiiiiiiiiii e $1,204,808 $1,213,759

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank]
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF
FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Caution Regarding Forward Looking Statements

This Offering Statement contains forward-looking statements regarding matters that could have
an impact on our business, financial condition and future operations. These include statements regarding
expected capital expenditures, sales to Members, and liquidity and capital resources. Some forward-
looking statements can be identified by use of terms such as “may,” “will,” “expects,” “anticipates,”
“believes,” “intends,” “projects,” “plans,” or similar terms. These forward-looking statements, based on
our expectations and estimates, are not guarantees of future performance and are subject to risks,
uncertainties, and other factors that could cause actual events or results to differ materially from those
expressed in these statements. These risks, uncertainties, and other factors include, but are not limited to,
general business conditions, changes in demand for power, federal and state legislative and regulatory
actions and legal and administrative proceedings, changes in and compliance with environmental laws
and policies, weather conditions, the cost of commodities used in our industry and unanticipated changes
in operating expenses, capital expenditures and tax liabilities. Some of the factors that could cause our
actual results to differ from those anticipated by these forward-looking statements are described under the
captions “RISK FACTORS” and “RATE AND ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATIONS.” Any forward-
looking statement speaks only as of the date on which the statement is made, and we undertake no
obligation to update any forward-looking statement or statements to reflect events or circumstances after
the date on which the statement is made even if new information becomes available or other events occur
in the future.

EE N3 LRI

Executive Overview

The closing of the Unwind in July 2009 resulted in significant changes to our utility operations.
Prior to the Unwind, we leased all of our generation assets to WKEC and purchased power from LEM.
We received fixed rental payments each year, and LG&E was obligated to operate and maintain our
owned generating assets and Station Two. Under this arrangement, both we and WKEC paid an agreed
share of capital expenditures and certain environmental operating costs. We fulfilled our power supply
arrangements to our Members through the purchased power arrangement with LEM at generally fixed
prices significantly below market rates. We operated under these arrangements for the first half of 2009,
the year ended December 31, 2008 and the year ended December 31, 2007.

When the Unwind became effective on July 16, 2009, we received $864.6 million compensation,
both cash and non-cash, from E.ON. The Unwind gain reported in the 2009 financial statements was
$538.0 million, with the $326.6 million difference being reported only in the 2009 balance sheet ($252.9
million of which is comprised of funds deposited into three reserve accounts, the Economic Reserve, the
Rural Economic Reserve and the Transition Reserve, that will serve to offset future non-Smelter Member
fuel and environmental costs, Member rate mitigation or termination of a Smelter Agreement).

After the closing of the Unwind, we regained the operation of our generation facilities. We are
now responsible for the operation and maintenance of our generating assets and for all continued
expenses in connection with capital expenditures relating to our generating assets. Since the Unwind,
through Kenergy, we supply 850 MW of the Smelters’ needs, and not just a small portion of them as
supplied pre-Unwind. As a result, our sales to the Smelters increased substantially. In addition, our
operating expenses increased substantially. As a result of the Unwind, we went from an equity to total
capitalization ratio of -19% as of December 31, 2008, to 31% as of December 31, 2009.
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The table below summarizes the $538.0 million Unwind gain:

Unwind Gain

Item (dollars in millions)

Cash $288.8
Recognize WKE Lease Revenue 7.2
Write-off LEM Marketing Payment and Settlement Note 0.9
Utility Plant — Net 286.5
Inventories (fuels, reagents and M&S) 55.0
SO, Allowances 1.0
Write-off Loss on Leveraged Lease Transaction (73.8)
Other (includes certain transaction costs) (27.6)

$538.0

We significantly reduced our 5.75% RUS Series A Note, making a payment of $140.2 million on
the Unwind closing date and restructuring the RUS Series A Note to a generally level amount. We are
obligated to make a payment to RUS of $60.0 million by October 1, 2012, and another payment of $200.0
million by January 1, 2016 in order to reduce our maximum permitted outstanding balances of our RUS
debt in those years. Currently, we intend to refinance such debt in the capital markets. The RUS Series A
Note continues to have a final maturity of July 1, 2021.

The non-interest bearing RUS Series B Note was also restructured in concert with the Unwind
into a single “bullet” payment due December 31, 2023.

With the closing of the Unwind in 2009, 2010 will be our first full year of operating and
maintaining our own generation assets. A major challenge in 2010 is lower projected revenues as a result
of the lingering recession. Our 2010 budget reflects this impact with lower Member energy sales and
lower prices for electricity in the wholesale market. We have responded with aggressive cost control
measures. Every department within Big Rivers was asked to reduce cost. These cost containment
measures included, not providing a salary increase for non-union employees, postponing preventative
maintenance, as well as multiple other cost control measures.

We are currently budgeting for a MFI Ratio (as defined herein under the caption “Cooperative
Operations — Coverage Ratio”) of 1.10 for 2010, as required by the Mortgage Indenture, which MFI Ratio
will result in net margins of $4.8 million. During the first three months of 2010, we achieved net margins
of approximately $9.5 million, $6.3 million greater than budget. As described under “Financial Condition
— As of March 31, 2010 herein, the results for the first three months of 2010 are not indicative of the
remainder of the year. However, by combining the margins for the three months ended March 31, 2010
with the budget for the balance of 2010, we expect to be able to achieve a MFI Ratio of 1.15, which MFI
Ratio will result in net margins of $7.1 million.

Critical Accounting Policies

General

We prepare our financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States. Our management exercises judgment in the selection and application of these
principles, including making certain estimates and assumptions that impact our results of operations and

the amount of our total assets and liabilities reported in our financial statements. We consider critical
accounting policies to be those policies that, when applied by management under a particular set of
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assumptions or conditions, could materially impact our financial results if such assumptions or conditions
were different than those considered by management. Set forth below are certain accounting policies that
are considered by management to be critical and to possibly involve significant risk, which means that
they typically require difficult, subjective or complex judgments, often as a result of the need to make
estimates about the effect of matters that are inherently uncertain. Other significant accounting policies
and recently issued accounting standards are discussed in Note One — “Significant Accounting Policies”
of Notes to Financial Statements in APPENDIX A.

Use of Accounting Policies and Estimates

The application of accounting policies and estimates is a continuing process. As our operations
change and accounting guidance evolves, our accounting policies and estimates may be revised. We have
identified a number of critical accounting policies and estimates that require significant judgments. We
base our judgments and estimates on experience and various other assumptions that we believe are
reasonable at the time of application. Our judgments and estimates may change as time passes and more
information about the environment in which we operate becomes available. If actual results are different
than the estimated amounts recorded, adjustments are made taking the new information into
consideration. We discuss our critical accounting policies, significant estimates and other certain
accounting policies with our Board of Directors, as appropriate. Our critical accounting policies and
significant estimates are discussed below.

Regulatory Accounting

Our accrual basis accounting policies follow the Uniform System of Accounts as prescribed by
RUS Bulletin 1767B-1, as adopted by the KPSC. These regulatory agencies retain authority over us and
periodically issue orders and instructions on various accounting and ratemaking matters. Our operations
meet the criteria for application of regulatory accounting treatment. As a result, we record approved
regulatory assets and liabilities that result from the regulated ratemaking process that would not ordinarily
be recorded under Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“GAAP”). We had no Regulatory Assets
at December 31, 2009 and our Regulatory Liabilities were $207.3 million. Regulatory assets generally
represent incurred costs that have been deferred because such costs are probable of future recovery in
Member rates. Regulatory liabilities generally represent amounts established by our regulator to mitigate
the net effect on our Members of fuel and environmental surcharges and surcredits. These amounts are
recorded in revenue as the underlying fuel and environmental costs are incurred. We continually assess
whether any regulatory account we have is probable of future recovery by considering factors such as
applicable regulatory environment changes, historical regulatory treatment for similar costs, recent rate
orders to other regulated entities and the status of any pending or potential legislation. Based on this
continual assessment, we believe our existing regulatory liabilities are probable of future refund. This
assessment reflects the current political and regulatory climate at the state level, and is subject to change
in the future. If future recovery of costs or refund of liabilities cease to be probable, the asset or liability
write-off would be recognized in operating income.

Revenue Recognition
Revenues on sales of electricity are recognized as earned when the electricity is provided.

Revenues under the wholesale power contracts for sales to Members including the Smelter Agreements
are based on month-end meter readings and billed the month following the month of service.
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

As a result of terminating the Leveraged Lease Transactions, we had no off-balance sheet
arrangements as of March 31, 2010.

Accounting for Loss Contingencies

We are involved in certain legal and environmental matters that arise in the normal course of
business. In the preparation of our financial statements, we make judgments regarding the future outcome
of contingent events and record a loss contingency when it is determined that it is probable that a loss has
occurred and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. We regularly review current
information available to determine whether any such accruals should be adjusted and whether new
accruals are required. Contingent liabilities are often resolved over long periods of time. Amounts
recorded in the financial statements may differ from the actual outcome once the contingency is resolved,
which could have a material impact on our future operating results, financial position or cash flows. We
had no contingent matters requiring accrual at December 31, 2009.

Depreciation of Utility Plant

Utility plant is recorded at original cost. Replacements of depreciable property units are also
charged to utility plant. Replacements of minor items of property are charged to maintenance expense.
We performed a depreciation study in 1998 that resulted in depreciation rates based on extended
remaining service lives. Depreciation of utility plant is recorded using the straight-line method and rates
based on the estimated remaining years of service determined by such study. This study, which
significantly reduced depreciation expenses, was approved by the KPSC and the RUS in 1998 and made
effective as of July 1, 1998. The study has remained in effect since that time.

We committed to the KPSC that we will complete a new depreciation study and include that
study with a filing for a general review of its financial operations and its tariffs before July 16, 2012.
Currently, we plan to complete the depreciation study late summer or early fall of 2010 and incorporate
that study in our filing with the KPSC which is currently planned for mid-year 2011 with an effective date
of January 1, 2012.

Accounting for Income Taxes

We were formed in 1961 as a tax exempt cooperative under section 501(c)(12) of the Internal
Revenue Code. To retain exempt status, at least 85% of our receipts must be generated from transactions
with our Members. In 1983, our sales to Members did not meet the 85% requirement due to sales to Non-
Members. Since 1983, the Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) considers us a taxable organization.
Beginning with 2010, post-Unwind, we believe that our sales to Members satisfy the 85% requirement
and we now could qualify for exempt status. In order to qualify for exempt status we would need to apply
to the IRS. We have no current intentions of applying for exempt status. We are also subject to Kentucky
income tax.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to
temporary differences between the book basis and tax basis of assets and liabilities. Deferred tax assets
and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in
which those temporary differences are expected to reverse, be recovered or be settled. The probability of
realizing deferred tax assets in the future is based on forecasts of future taxable income and the use of tax
planning that could impact our ability to realize deferred tax assets. If future utilization of deferred tax
assets is uncertain, a valuation allowance may be recorded against them.
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In assessing the likelihood of realization of our deferred tax assets, we consider estimates of the
amount and character, patronage or non-patronage, of future taxable income. Actual income taxes could
vary from estimated amounts due to the impacts of various items, including changes in income tax laws,
our forecasted financial condition and results of operations in future periods, as well as results of audits
and examinations of filed tax returns by taxing authorities. Although we believe our assessment of our
income tax estimates are reasonable, actual results could differ from the estimates.

At December 31, 2009, we had deferred tax assets of approximately $49.8 million, of which
$21.0 million relates to net operating losses. At December 31, 2009, accrued net operating losses
amounted to approximately $53.1 million, expiring 2012. Additionally, at December 31, 2009, we had
deferred tax liabilities of approximately $23.8 million, which primarily relate to RUS Series B Note.
Prior to the termination of our Leveraged Lease Transactions in 2008, we believed that it was more likely
than not that we would recover deferred tax assets related to alternative minimum taxation. The
termination of the Leveraged Lease Transactions removed an expected source of future taxable income
and we determined that an increase in our valuation allowance was appropriate, resulting in a $5.9 million
charge.

Pension and Other Postretirement Benefits

We have noncontributory defined benefit pension plans covering approximately 100 of our 600
member work force. The salaried employees defined benefit pension plan was closed to new entrants
effective January 1, 2008, and the bargaining employees defined benefit pension plan was closed to new
hires effective November 1, 2008. For those not covered in the defined benefit plans, we established base
contribution accounts in the defined contribution thrift and 401(k) savings plans, which were renamed the
retirement savings plans. The base contribution account is funded by employer contributions based on
graduated percentages of the employee’s pay, depending on age.

We also provide certain postretirement medical benefits for retired employees and their spouses.
Generally, except for retirees who were part of the generation union, we pay 85% of the premium cost for
all retirees age 62 to age 65. We pay 25% of the premium cost for spouses under age 62. For salaried
retirees age 55 to age 62, we pay 25% of the premium cost. Beginning at age 65, we pay 25% of the
premium cost if the retiree is enrolled in Medicare Part B. For each generation bargaining retiree, we
establish a retiree medical account at retirement equal to $1,200 per year of service up to 30 years ($1,250
per year for those retiring on or after January 1, 2012). The account balance is credited with interest
based on the 10-year Treasury Rate subject to a minimum of 4% and a maximum of 7%. The account is
to be used for the sole purpose of paying 100% of the premium cost for the retiree and spouse.

The calculations of defined benefit pension expenses, other postretirement benefit expenses, and
pension and other postretirement benefit liabilities, require the use of assumptions. Changes in these
assumptions can result in different expenses and reported liability amounts, and future actual experience
can differ from the assumptions. We believe the most critical assumptions are the expected long-term
rate of return on plan assets and the assumed discount rate. Additionally, medical and prescription drug
cost trend rate assumptions are critical in estimating other postretirement benefits.

Funding requirements for defined benefit pension plans are determined by government
regulations. Our defined benefit pension plans are fully funded for ERISA purposes, and we have made
additional voluntary contributions. At December 31, 2009, for the defined benefit pension plans, the
present value of the accumulated benefit obligation exceeded the fair value of plan assets by $3.2 million.
We fund our other postretirement benefit plan obligations on a pay-as-you-go basis, on a cash basis as
benefits are paid. No assets have been segregated and restricted to provide for the other postretirement
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benefits. At December 31, 2009, the present value of the projected benefit obligation for the other
postretirement benefit plans was $13.9 million

New Accounting Standards

FASB ASC 815, Derivatives and Hedging, established enhanced disclosure requirements
concerning derivative instruments and hedging activities. This enhanced disclosure standard requires that
objectives for using derivative instruments be disclosed in terms of underlying risk as well as accounting
designation in order to better convey the risks that the entity is intending to manage through the use of
derivatives. Entities are required to provide enhanced disclosures describing (a) how and why an entity
uses derivative instruments, (b) how derivative instruments and related hedged items are accounted for
under FASB ASC 815 and its related interpretations, and (¢) how derivative instruments and related
hedged items affect an entity’s financial position, financial performance, and cash flows. We adopted this
standard on January 1, 2009 and the adoption had no material effect on our financial position or
operations.

FASB ASC 855, Subsequent Events, established a standard for disclosure of events that occur
during the period between the balance sheet date and the date on which the financial statements are
issued. This standard is effective for interim or annual financial periods ending after June 15, 2009. We
adopted the disclosure requirements for subsequent events as outlined in ASC 855.

FASB ASC 105, Generally Accepted Accounting Principles, provides a codification of
accounting standards that supersedes all previously existing non-SEC accounting and reporting standards
and becomes the authoritative source of GAAP. FASB ASC 105 is effective for annual financial
statements issued after September 15, 2009. We have adopted the Accounting Standard Codification
established by FASB ASC 105.

Cooperative Operations
Utility Margins

We operate our electric business on a not-for-profit basis and, accordingly, seek to generate
revenue sufficient to recover our cost of service and produce net margins sufficient to establish reasonable
financial reserves, meet financial coverage requirements and accumulate additional equity as determined
by our Board of Directors. Revenue in excess of expenses in any year is designated as net margins in our
Statements of Operations. We designate retained net margins in our Balance Sheets as patronage capital
which we assign to each of our patrons, including our Members, on the basis of its business with us. Any
distributions of patronage capital are subject to the discretion of our Board of Directors and restrictions
contained in the Mortgage Indenture. See APPENDIX E — “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS
OF THE MORTGAGE INDENTURE — Covenants.”

Rate Structure

Under the wholesale power contracts, the Members pay us for all power and energy supplied at
rates approved by the KPSC. The rates to all Members are bundled and include rates for capacity (also
referred to as demand), energy, transmission, ancillary service and other special rates. In addition to the
demand and energy rates, we have a fuel adjustment clause and an environmental surcharge clause, under
which we can increase or decrease charges to the Members based on the variance between our actual cost
and the cost included in our base rates. In addition to the rates listed above, under each Smelter
Agreement, Kenergy charges each Smelter for purchased power not recovered in the fuel adjustment
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clause above a base amount. See APPENDIX E — “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE
SMELTER AGREEMENTS.”

Coverage Ratio

Subject to any necessary regulatory approvals, such as KPSC approval and RUS approval, if
required, the Mortgage Indenture requires us to establish and collect rates for the use or the sale of the
output, capacity or service of our electric generation, transmission and distribution system which are
reasonably expected to yield margins for interest, for the twelve-month period commencing with the
effective date of the rates, equal to at least 1.10 times total interest charges on debt secured under the
Mortgage Indenture during that twelve-month period (the “MFI Ratio””). The MFI Ratio is calculated by
dividing the Margins for Interest for a period by the Interest Charges for such period. The definition of
Margins for Interest takes into account any item of net margin, loss, gain or expenditure of any affiliate or
subsidiary of ours only if we have received such net margins or gains as a dividend or other distribution
from such affiliate or subsidiary or if we have made a payment with respect to such losses or
expenditures. For the definition of “Margins for Interest” and “Interest Charges” see APPENDIX F —
“SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE MORTGAGE INDENTURE — Covenants.” The
2010 budget is set to achieve a $4.8 million net margin and an MFI Ratio of 1.10. See “Financial
Condition — As of March 31, 2010 herein.

Results of Operations
Sales to Members

Electric sales to our Members are made pursuant to wholesale power contracts with each
Member. The table below sets forth the Sales to Members in MWhs for 2009, 2008 and 2007. The
Smelter sales are shown both before and after the closing of the Unwind. Before the closing of the
Unwind, we supplied only a small portion of the Smelters’ needs. Since the Unwind, we supply 850 MW
of the Smelters’ needs. Our wholesale rate to Kenergy for the Smelters averaged $46.22 per MWh for
2009. Smelter sales during 2010 will be for a full year of service and could approach 7.0 million MWhs.

Rural Member sales include residential and commercial loads. The 2009 rural Member sales
reflect a .15 million MWh decline or a 6.28% decrease. This decline is attributable to the current
recession and mild weather. Industrial Member sales were relatively flat over the three year period.

Smelter sales in 2008 werel.16 million MWhs or 52.02% less than 2007. During 2007, the
Smelters’ needs for power were in excess of the normal resources available to us. We purchased a large
block of power for the Smelters from the open market.

Sales to Members

(in millions of MWhr)
2009 2008 2007
Rural Member..........ccooeeeeeeveneeennn. 2.24 2.39 2.41
Industrial Member............c.cceeveenee. 0.92 0.93 0.92
Smelter (Pre-Unwind)...........ccu.e..... 0.58 1.07 2.23
Smelter (Post-Unwind) ........c.ccc........ 2.89 0.00 0.00
6.63 4.39 5.56

Sales to Non-Members

The table below sets forth the sales to Non-Members in megawatt-hours for 2009, 2008 and 2007.
After the closing of the Unwind on July 16, 2009, we had access to all of the generation available from
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our production assets, which enabled us to sell any excess on the open market. The excess generation was
sold in the market to third parties, resulting in an increase of .40 million MWhs or 52%, as compared to
2008.

Sales to Non-Members in 2008 increased by .17 million MWhs, or 28%, from 2007. This
increase, in part, reflects an increase in energy available to us from our contract with SEPA which is used
to service native load resulting in the additional energy available from our E.ON purchase power contract
for off-system sales.

Sales to Non-Members

(in millions of MWhr)
2009 2008 2007
Non-Member .........ccccceecerenennene 1.17 0.77 0.60

Other Revenue

The table below sets forth the other revenue for 2009, 2008 and 2007. After the closing of the
Unwind on July 16, 2009, the lease payments from E.ON for our generation assets were terminated,
resulting in a decrease of $26.4 million or 45.18%. Other operating revenue was $4.4 million or 42.62%
greater than 2008. This increase is due to additional transmission revenue from our internal Non-Member
energy services departmental activities. An off-set to this revenue increase is included in the operating
expenses below. The 2008 lease revenue and other operating revenue were relatively flat from 2007.

Other Revenue
(in thousands)

2009 2008 2007
Lease revenue......cccceevvveneenne.. $32,027 $58,423 $58,265
Other operating revenue............ 14,603 10,239 9,713
$46,630 $68,662 $67,978

Operating Expenses

The table below sets forth the Operating Expenses for 2009, 2008 and 2007. After the closing of
the Unwind on July 16, 2009, we became responsible for the operating expenses for the generating fleet.
These expenses resulted in increased operating expenses of $130.8 million, primarily due to the increased
Smelter power supply obligation that became effective with the Unwind closing. Depreciation expense
increased, due primarily to the assets transferred to us by E.ON as part of the Unwind. This reflects an
increase of $1.4 million or 4.65%. Transmission expense increased $6.8 million from 2008 due in part to
our increased use of our available transmission capacity for off-system sales purposes. An off-set to this
expense increase is included in the operating income shown above. Prior to the Unwind, we purchased all
our power, while post-Unwind we generally purchase replacement power when our generation units are in
outage. Approximately two-thirds of our purchased power expense is collected in revenue from the
Smelters via two automatic rate pass-through provisions, with the remaining one-third associated with our
Members’ non-Smelter load being collected via (1) the two automatic pass-through provisions, while (2),
the non-fuel adjustment charge purchased power adjustment is deferred for future recovery (a regulatory
account) following a review by the KPSC. Currently we have a regulatory liability account, which
following a future review by the KPSC, we will refund to our Members.
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Power purchased and interchanged for 2008 was $55.1 million or 32.47% less than 2007. During
2007, the Smelters’ needs for power were in excess of the normal resources available to us. We
purchased a large block of power for the Smelters on the open market.

Operating Expenses
(in thousands)

2009 2008 2007

Fuel for electric generation............ccceeveeveevveennenns $ 80,655 - -
Power purchased and interchanged........................ 116,883 $114,643 $169,768
Production, excluding fuel ............cccooevrreivrreennnnns 22,381 - -
Transmission and other ...........cccccoovvvvivveiiiiiinnnn, 35,444 28,600 27,196
MaINtENANCE .....evvvvvveeeeeiiieiieeeeeee e e 29,820 4,258 4,240
Depreciation .........ccceeveeeeeecieesieeseeneereesreereeieens 32,485 31,041 30,632
$317,668 $178,542 $231,836

Interest and Other Charges

The table below sets forth Interest and Other Charges for 2009, 2008 and 2007. Interest expense
for 2009 was $5.8 million less than 2008 due to the fact that we paid RUS $140.2 million at closing of the
Unwind and the decrease of the interest rate on our variable interest rate pollution control revenue bonds,
including the Refunded Bonds. The increase in 2008 as compared to 2007 of $4.8 million is primarily
due to the credit downgrade of Ambac (the credit provider for our pollution control revenue bonds) and
the resulting increase in the variable rate on our pollution control revenue bonds, including the Refunded
Bonds. Additionally, we have amortized the loss from the termination of the Leveraged Lease
Transactions from the buyout in 2008 until the closing of the Unwind in 2009. With the termination of
the Leveraged Lease Transactions, we no longer consider that it is more likely than not we would recover
our net deferred tax assets, therefore the alternative minimum tax credit carry forwards were expensed
during 2008.

Interest and Other Charges
(in thousands)

2009 2008 2007

Interest, net of capitalized interest ........................ $59,898 $65,719 $60,932
Interest on obligations related to long-term lease . - 6,991 9,919
Amort. of loss from termination of lease............... 2,172 811 -
INCOME tax EXPENSE......ccvvereveeerireerireeeieeeeveesneenns 1,025 5,934 -
OthET, NET ..eeveeeieiieeeeeeeee e 112 123 103
$63,207 $79,578 $70,954

Operating Margin

The table below sets forth the Operating Margin for 2009, 2008 and 2007. After the closing of
the Unwind on July 16, 2009, we were responsible for all production expenses related to our generation
fleet. A major 8.5 weeks planned outage for the Wilson Plant was completed in the fall of 2009 at a cost
of $9.3 million. This expense, coupled with the depressed power market prices off-system sale and lower
Member sales due to weather and the recession, resulted in an the 2009 operating margin decrease of
$22.6 million or 149.90%
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During 2008, primarily resulting from terminating the Leveraged Lease Transactions, operating
margin decreased $12.0 million from 2007, or 44.38%.

Operating Margin
(in thousands)
2009 2008 2007
Operating Margin...................... $(7,515) $15,061 $27,080

Non-Operating Margin

The table below sets forth the amount of Non-Operating Margins for 2009, 2008 and 2007. The
Non-Operating Margin in 2009 resulted from the closing of the Unwind. The Non-Operating Margins in
2008 and 2007, under the caption “Interest Income on restricted investments under the long-term lease”
below, were from the Leveraged Lease Transactions, which have been terminated.

Non-Operating Margin
(in thousands)

2009 2008 2007
Interest Income on restricted
investments under long-term
JEASE .o - $8,742 $12,481
Gain on Unwind...........ccocevvneennnen. $537,978 - -
Interest income and other............... 867 4,013 7,616

$538,845 $12,755 $20,097

Net Margin

Primarily due to the closing of the Unwind, net margins were $531.3 million in 2009, compared
to $27.8 million in 2008. This increase resulted in a dramatic improvement in our financial condition,
with year end 2009 equities of $379.4 million, 25.2% equities to total assets. While the Unwind and pre-
Unwind operations generally render comparability of the 2009 net margins to prior years difficult, the key
differences between 2009 and 2008 are briefly described in the following paragraph.

Other than the $538.0 million gain on the Unwind, there are five significant items comprising the
remaining $34.5 million unfavorable 2009 net margins variance compared to 2008. First, power contracts
revenue increased by $126.6 million primarily due to the increased Smelter power supply obligation that
became effective with the Unwind, offset by an $139.1 million increase in operating expenses. Second,
lease revenue was $26.4 million unfavorable due to the Unwind closing. Third, interest expense decreased
$12.8 million primarily due to termination of the Leveraged Lease Transactions; we also paid down
$140.2 million of RUS debt on the Unwind closing date and our pollution control bonds bore lower
variable interest rates. Fourth, income tax expense decreased $4.9 million due to terminating the
Leveraged Lease Transactions in 2008. Fifth, primarily due to termination of the Leveraged Lease
Transactions, interest income decreased $11.9 million. All other statement of operations items net to an
increase of $1.4 million.
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Net Margin
(in thousands)

2009 2008 2007
Net Margin........cceeeveeeeeveereeneennnnn. $531,330 $27,816 $47,177

Financial Condition
As of March 31, 2010

We have included selected financial data for the three months ended March 31, 2010 in this
Offering Statement. We have not, however, included data for the three months ended March 31, 2009 to
be used for comparative purposes since the first quarter results of 2009 reflect operations of Big Rivers
pre-Unwind and the first quarter results of 2010 reflect operations of Big Rivers post-Unwind.

Operating Revenues for the three months ended March 31, 2010 are much higher than last year
primarily as a result of our supplying Kenergy with approximately 850 MW of the power necessary to
supply a portion of its contractual obligations to the Smelters. In addition, with the Unwind we became
responsible for certain fuel costs and environmental costs that were not our responsibility pre-Unwind.
Our current contractual arrangements allow us to recover fuel adjustment surcharges and environmental
surcharges both of which contributed to higher Operating Revenues as compared to the first quarter of
2009.

During the period ended March 31, 2010 of our $137.2 million in Operating Revenues, we had
approximately $69.0 million in sales to the Smelters, approximately $39.2 million in tariff sales to our
non-Smelter Members and approximately $25.6 million in off-system sales. A portion of the off-system
sales relates to off-system sales we are making on behalf of Century of 100 MW because one of its
potlines is currently down.

With respect to Operating Expenses for the period ended March 31, 2010, we instituted cost
containment measures for this period because we expected lower Member energy sales and lower prices
for electricity in the wholesale market as a result of the lingering recession.

We are currently budgeting for a MFI Ratio (as defined herein under the caption “Cooperative
Operations — Coverage Ratio”) of 1.10 for 2010, as required by the Mortgage Indenture, based upon a net
margin of $4.8 million. By adequately controlling costs, we are projecting that we will be able to exceed
the financial measure under our Mortgage Indenture of a MFI Ratio of 1.10. During the first three months
of 2010, we achieved net margins of approximately $9.5 million, $6.3 million greater than budget. A
return to a more normal regional weather pattern for our winter months and some recovery in the
economy provided for stronger sales internally and externally. By combining the favorable year-to-date
margins with the budget for the balance of 2010, we expect to be able to achieve a MFI Ratio of 1.15,
based upon a net margin of $7.1 million.

Off-system sales volume for the first quarter of 2010 was 643,069 MWh resulting in revenue of

$25.7 million. The forecast for the balance of the year reflects off-system sales volume of 981,115 MWh
resulting in revenue of $45.1 million.
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As of December 31, 2009 compared to December 31, 2008

Our total assets increased to $1,505.54 million as of December 31, 2009, from $1,074.4 million
as of December 31, 2008, reflecting cash and other compensation we received in connection with the
Unwind. Working capital at December 31, 2009 increased $119.6 million from that of 2008 as a result of
the Unwind. Our long-term obligations decreased by $153.0 million primarily reflecting the payment of
$140.2 million on our 5.75% RUS Series A Note on the closing date of the Unwind. Our equity increased
to $379.4 million as of December 31, 2009, from $(154.6) million as of December 31, 2008, again
reflecting compensation to us in connection with the Unwind. Operating revenues for the year ended
December 31, 2009 were $373.4 million as compared to $273.2 million for the year ended December 31,
2008 as a result of the increase in sales to the Smelters after the Unwind.

Operating Expenses for 2009 increased to $317.7 million as compared to $178.5 million in 2008
as a result of increases in fuel, production, transmission and maintenance expenses after the Unwind.

Net margins were $531.3 million in 2009 compared to $27.8 million in 2008 primarily as a result
of the Unwind.

As of December 31, 2008 compared to December 31, 2007

Our total assets decreased to $1,074.4 million as of December 31, 2008, from $1,314.2 million as
of December 31, 2007, reflecting the termination of the Leveraged-Lease Transactions. Working capital
at December 31, 2008 decreased from that of 2007, reflecting the $107.1 million net cash payment and
$12.4 million promissory note (due December 15, 2009) required for the termination of the Leveraged-
Lease Transactions. Our long-term obligations (excluding the obligations related to the Leveraged-Lease
Transactions) decreased by $35.0 million, primarily reflecting the principal payments made on the 5.75%
RUS debt during 2008. Our liabilities exceeded our assets by $154.6 million as of December 31, 2008, as
compared to $174.1 million as of December 31, 2007. This improvement reflects the net margin for 2008
of $27.8 million, offset by an adjustment of $8.3 million to accumulated other comprehensive income
relating to FASB ASC 715 “Defined Benefit Plans.”

Revenues for 2008 were $273.2 million, compared to $329.9 million for 2007. This $56.8
million decrease in 2008 revenue results primarily from a large block of market power purchased for
release to the Smelters in 2007. Off-setting most of the 2008 revenue reduction, operating expenses for
2008 decreased by $53.3 million, also reflecting the large block of power purchased for the Smelters in
2007. Interest expense for 2008 increased by $4.8 million over 2007, reflecting higher interest rates on
our $142.1 million variable rate tax-exempt pollution control bonds. The termination of the Leveraged
Lease Transactions in 2008 generally accounts for the remainder of the 2008 net margin reduction
compared to 2007.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

At December 31, 2009, we held cash and cash equivalents of approximately $60.3 million. We
expect to rely upon our cash flows from operations and existing cash and cash equivalents to fund our
operating costs and capital requirements during 2010. A material adverse change in operations could
impact our ability to fund our liquidity and capital requirements without a new borrowing. Ultimate cash
flows from operations are subject to a number of factors, including, but not limited to, the weather,
regulatory constraints, economic trends and market volatility.

In July 2009, we entered into a three year, $50.0 million unsecured revolving credit agreement
with CoBank. The CoBank credit agreement may be used for capital expenditures and general corporate
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purposes. On May 12, 2010, the amount outstanding under the CoBank credit agreement was $10.0
million.

In July 2009, we entered into a five year, $50.0 million unsecured revolving credit facility with
CFC. The CFC credit agreement may be used for capital expenditures, general corporate purposes or the
issuance of letter of credit. As of May 12, 2010, letters of credit in the aggregate amount of $5.9 million
were outstanding under the CFC credit agreement.

Amounts available under these revolving credit facilities are accessible should there be a need for
additional short-term financing. We expect that cash flows from operations and our existing cash and
cash equivalents balance will be sufficient to fund our operating costs and capital requirements during
2010 through 2013.

For a discussion of financing for our projected capital expenditures, see “Projected Capital
Expenditures of Big Rivers Electric Corporation” and “Capital Requirements” below.

Projected Capital Expenditures of Big Rivers Electric Corporation

We annually forecast expenditures required for additional electric generation and transmission
facilities and capital for enhancement of existing facilities. We review these projections frequently in
order to update our calculations to reflect changes in our future plans, construction costs, market factors
and other items affecting our forecasts. Our actual capital expenditures could vary significantly from
these projections because of unforeseen construction, changes in resource requirements, changes in actual
or forecasted load growth or other issues. We project our 2010 capital expenditures to be $40.8 million.
Our long range capital plan details actual and projected construction requirements and system upgrades of
approximately $221.6 million for the years 2010 through 2013 as follows:

Projected Capital Expenditures

Projected
2010 2011 2012 2013 Total
(in thousands)

Environmental Additions $ 4,339 $ 7,988 $11,793 $ 5,636 $29,756
New Transmission 5,211 4612 - - 9,823
Existing Base Load System Upgrades - - - - -
Transmission 9,882 7,175 6,263 3,114 26,434
Generation 14,026 40,318 44,615 43,524 142,483
Administration 7,333 1,355 3,012 1,381 13,081

Total $40,791 $61,448 $65,683 $53,655 $221,577

Some of the more significant capital investments in generation and environmental additions that
are represented in the table above for each year include: $1.6 million on phase one of a dust collector
replacement project at the Green Plant and the Wilson Plant for compliance with Title V of the Clean Air
Act, as amended (the “Clean Air Act”); $3.2 million on FGD life extension at the Wilson Plant; and $1.1
million on a SO; mitigation project at the Wilson Plant during 2010.

During 2011 we plan to invest $2.0 million on phase one of a project to elevate the dike for the
waste water treatment facility at the Coleman Plant; another $2.8 million on phase two of the dust
collector replacement at the Green Plant and Wilson Plant; $3.2 million in protective weld overlay on
boiler tubes at the Coleman Plant and the Green Plant; $3.8 million for phase one of a major FGD
refurbishment project at the Green Plant; $2.3 million on phase one of a project to apply protective
coatings to the boiler, precipitator and scrubber structures at the Green Plant; $1.0 million on precipitator
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repairs at the Green Plant; $2.2 million for low NO, burner replacement at Station Two; $2.2 million on
phase two of the SO; mitigation project at the Wilson Plant; and $1.0 million on phase two of the FGD
life extension project at the Wilson Plant.

For 2012 capital investments include $2.0 million on phase two of the dike elevation project for
the waste water treatment facility at the Coleman Plant; $2.5 million for protective weld overlay on boiler
tubes at the Coleman Plant; $3.1 million to replace the economizer and reheat sections in boilers at the
Coleman Plant; $1.0 million for a turbine overhaul at the Coleman Plant; $1.6 million on phase two of the
protective coating project at the Green Plant; $1.9 million for precipitator repairs at the Green Plant; $5.2
million on low NO, burner replacement and a turbine overhaul at Station Two; and $5.7 million on
superheater tube replacement, and phase three of the FGD life extension project at the Wilson Plant.

In 2013 planned major investments include $5.0 million in boiler tube and low NOy burner
replacements at the Coleman Plant; $2.1 million in protective weld overlay on boiler tubes at the Coleman
Plant and Wilson Plant; $2.5 million in precipitator repairs at the Green Plant; $3.8 million on phase three
of the FGD refurbishment and protective coating projects at the Green Plant; $4.0 million to replace the
brick lining inside the scrubber exhaust stack at Station Two; $1.3 million to replace medium voltage
switchgear at Station Two; $3.8 million to replace condenser tubes at the Wilson Plant; and $5.6 million
to replace low NO, burners and boiler superheater tubes at the Wilson Plant. Additionally we will invest
over $8 million during this four year period in new or refurbished catalyst for the selective catalytic
reductions (“SCR”) at the Wilson Plant and Station Two.

Capital expenditures for new transmission resources include increasing our available transfer
capability for exporting power off system from approximately 912 MW to 1380 MW.

Historically, RUS loans and loan guarantees have provided the principal source of financing for
rural electric cooperatives. While we have utilized these programs, we have also availed ourselves of
tax-exempt bond financing, bank loans and leveraged lease financing to finance our electric system.
Currently, RUS has a moratorium on any new loans for new base load coal or nuclear generation.

Capital Requirements

We expect to finance substantially all of our projected capital expenditures for the years 2010
through 2013 with internally generated funds.

Debt and Lease Obligations

In addition to the Refunded Bonds, we have outstanding $58.8 million County of Ohio, Kentucky
Pollution Control Refunding Bonds, Series 1983 (Big Rivers Electric Corporation Project) (the “Series
1983 Bonds”), which bear interest at variable rates. Currently, the Series 1983 Bonds are being held as
bank bonds by the liquidity provider, bearing an interest rate of 3.25%, as the remarketing agent has been
unsuccessful at marketing them at the prescribed maximum rate, 120% of the variable rate index.

On May 25, 2010, a regularly scheduled auction for our outstanding series of periodic auction
reset securities (PARs), the Refunded Bonds, having a total principal amount of $83.3 million, failed as
the par amount of sell orders in the auction exceeded the par amount of buy orders by approximately $4.3
million. As a result, the annual interest rate on the Refunded Bonds reset from 1.7% for the prior 28-day
period to 18% for the current 28-day period, which is the maximum rate required under the terms of the
Refunded Bonds in the event of a failed auction. At the end of the current period, the Refunded Bonds
will be redeemed from the proceeds of the Bonds.
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The scheduled maturities of our long-term debt at January 31, 2010 were as follows:

Payments Due by Period
Remainder
Total of 2010 011 2012 2013 2014 Thereafter
(in millions)
Long-Term Debt™ .........co.coooiviiiieee. $846.6 $12.0 $14.9 $76.1 $79.3 $21.7 $642.6

(1) In the operation of our business we have various other contracts for the purchase of electricity that are not included in the table above but are
described elsewhere herein. For a discussion of our long-term power purchase obligations, see “GENERATION AND TRANSMISSION
ASSETS — Other Power Supply Resources.”

Ratings Triggers

Our credit ratings as of the date of this Offering Statement are Baal, stable outlook, from
Moody’s Investor Service (“Moody’s”), BBB-, stable outlook, from Fitch Ratings (“Fitch”’) and BBB-,
stable outlook, from Standard & Poor’s Credit Market Services, a division of the McGraw-Hill
Companies (“S&P”).

Under our loan agreement with RUS, if we fail to maintain two investment grade credit ratings,
we must notify RUS in writing to that effect within five days after becoming aware of such failure. Next,
within 30 days of the date of failing to maintaining two investment grade credit ratings, we must, in
consultation with RUS, provide a written plan satisfactory to the RUS setting forth the actions that will be
taken that are reasonably expected to achieve two investment grade credit ratings. Before we would be
impacted by this restriction, both Fitch and S&P would have to downgrade us one rating step. In the case
of Moody’s, its rating would have to be lowered three rating steps coupled with at least one rating
downgrade from Fitch or S&P.

A change in our credit rating also would have an impact on our CoBank credit line. This
agreement contains an adjustment to the annual fees and interest rate paid on any advances based on our
existing credit rating. An improvement in the credit rating would lower our cost and deterioration in our
credit rating would increase our cost under this agreement. This agreement allows us to utilize our
highest credit rating in setting our fees and interest rates. Currently, Moody’s is our highest credit rating
and sets the costs for us under this agreement. A one-step downgrade by Moody’s would result in a
.0025% increase unused fee and a .25% increase in the interest rate margin.

RATE AND ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATIONS
General

Many aspects of our business are subject to a complex set of energy, environmental and other
governmental laws and regulations at the federal, state and local level.

Kentucky Rate Regulation

The KPSC regulates our rates for the sale of wholesale power to our Members. Among other
things, Kentucky law authorizes the KPSC to (i) approve our rates to be “fair, just and reasonable,” (ii)
regulate our construction of new generation and transmission facilities by issuing certificates of public
convenience and necessity, (iii) approve changes in ownership or control of us through sales of assets or
otherwise, (iv) approve the issuance or assumption of any securities or evidence of indebtedness, other
than to RUS, and (v) administer the state laws assigning each jurisdictional electric distribution utility the
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exclusive right to provide retail electric service within specified geographic boundaries. The KPSC has
approved the issuance of the Bonds. See “RISK FACTORS” for information relating to rate regulation
by the KPSC.

RUS Regulation

In addition to the KPSC’s direct regulation of us, RUS has certain rights through its loan
documents with us that impact our operations (i.e., RUS must consent to the construction of new facilities
which are part of our electric system, certain sales or dispositions of property, our execution of certain
types of contracts and our making of loans or investments).

Environmental Regulations

We are subject to various federal, state and local laws, rules and regulations with regard to air
quality, water quality, waste management and other environmental matters.

These laws, rules and regulations often require us to undertake considerable efforts and
substantial costs to obtain licenses, permits and approvals from various federal, state and local agencies.
If we fail to comply with these laws, regulations, licenses, permits or approvals, we could be held civilly
or criminally liable. Our operations are subject to environmental laws and regulations that are complex,
change frequently and have tended to become more stringent over time. An inability to comply with
environmental standards could result in reduced operating levels or the complete shutdown of facilities
that are not in compliance.

Federal, state and local standards and procedures that regulate the environmental impact of our
operations are subject to change. These changes may arise from continuing legislative, regulatory and
judicial actions regarding such standards and procedures. Consequently, there is no assurance that
environmental regulations applicable to our facilities will not become materially more stringent, or that
we will always be able to obtain and renew all required operating permits. We cannot predict at this time
whether any additional legislation or rules will be enacted that will affect our operations, and if such laws
or rules are enacted, what the cost to us might be in the future because of such actions.

From time to time, we may be alleged to be in violation of or in default under orders, statutes,
rules, regulations, permits or compliance plans relating to the environment. From time to time, we may
be defending notices of violation, enforcement proceedings or challenges to draft or final construction or
operating permits. In addition, we may be involved in legal proceedings arising in the ordinary course of
business.

Clean Air

Clean Air Act. The Clean Air Act regulates emissions of air pollutants, establishes national air
quality standards for major pollutants, and requires permitting of both new and existing sources of air
pollution. Many of the existing and proposed regulations under the Clean Air Act could have a
disproportionate impact on coal-based power plants, in particular older plants such as ours, because older
plants may not have originally been required to install the same pollution control equipment as newer
facilities. On the other hand, as retrofits become available and feasible, we may incur greater costs than
competing generating sources to bring facilities up to current standards. Several of our facilities have, in
the past decade, been retrofitted with new pollution control equipment, including flue gas desulfurization
and selective catalytic reduction equipment, in response to regulatory changes.
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Acid Rain Program. The acid rain program requires nationwide reductions of SO, and NOx
emissions using a cap-and-trade program reducing allowable emission rates and allocating emission
allowances to power plants for SO, emissions based on historical or calculated levels. We have sufficient
SO, and NOy (seasonal and annual) allowances to comply for the foreseeable future according to our
modeled emissions and allowance allocations.

CAIR Program. In March 2005, the EPA issued the Clean Air Interstate Rule (“CAIR”), which
was intended to reduce overall NOx and SO, emissions on a regional basis effective in 2009 and 2010,
respectively, with a second phase taking effect in 2015. The CAIR program authorized a cap-and-trade
emissions allowance trading program, similar to that used in the Acid Rain Program which allowed
sources to comply by trading emissions allowances instead of installing new pollution control systems. In
addition, CAIR allowed sources to achieve compliance by surrendering SO, allowances issued under
EPA’s acid rain program (Title IV), which would have allowed sources with excess Title IV emissions
allowances to have achieved compliance at relatively low cost.

On July 11, 2008, the United States Court of Appeals for the D.C. Circuit vacated EPA’s CAIR
regulations, remanding CAIR to EPA to issue new regulations consistent with the Clean Air Act and the
court’s decision. Pursuant to the court’s decision, EPA may be required to expand the CAIR program and
make it more stringent, which may require the inclusion of additional states or sources in the program on
the basis of adverse effects on downwind states. Among other things, the court found that the regional
cap-and-allowance trading programs established by the CAIR did not achieve the intended purpose of
ensuring that upwind states did not prevent attainment of National Ambient Air Quality Standards in
downwind states because emitters in upwind states could potentially buy large quantities of emissions
allowances. The opinion also found that the criteria used by the EPA in setting caps for SO, emissions
and in allocating NOx emissions were inconsistent with the statutory criteria and with Title IV of the
Clean Air Act. On December 23, 2008, the court modified its remand order so that the existing CAIR
regulatory program will remain in place until EPA issues revised regulations that remedy the problems
identified in the decision. The court’s decision creates uncertainty regarding future NOx and SO,
emissions reduction requirements and their timing. As a result of the decision, more stringent regulatory
limits could be imposed, or there may be a delay or acceleration in the effective dates of federal
requirements to reduce emissions. Based on the court’s decision, EPA may not be able to use emissions
trading or the surrender of Title IV SO, allowances to achieve compliance, and may require sources to
install new pollution control systems. EPA initially informed the court that development and finalization
of a replacement rule could take approximately two years, but a replacement rule could be proposed as
carly as spring 2010. Big Rivers is in compliance with the current version of CAIR, but we are unable at
this time to determine what impact the replacement rule will have on us.

Mercury. The Clean Air Act also provides for a comprehensive program for the control of
hazardous air pollutants, including mercury, unless alternative programs are established that adequately
protect health and the environment. In March 2005, the EPA issued the Clean Air Mercury Rule
(“CAMR”), which regulated mercury emissions under an alternative program. This rule would have
capped total annual mercury emissions from coal-fired plants across the United States through a
two-phased program and established a cap-and-trade program similar to the acid rain program, in which
the states were encouraged to participate. On February 8, 2008, the United States Court of Appeals for
the D.C. Circuit struck down CAMR and returned the issue to EPA for reconsideration and further
rulemaking. In connection with such rulemaking, EPA must treat mercury as a “hazardous air pollutant”
subject to a more restrictive program requiring the installation of “maximum available control
technology” in new and existing units. It is likely that EPA will issue more stringent regulations
controlling mercury emissions from coal-fired plants. Regulations for mercury control are uncertain at
this time, and will remain so until any future rulemakings. As a result, it is too early to determine what
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impact, if any, such regulations may have on us. See also “Multi-Pollutant Legislation” below for a
discussion of recent legislation proposed reductions of mercury emissions from electric utilities.

Multi-Pollutant Legislation. On February 4, 2010, Senators Tom Carper and Lamar Alexander
introduced bill number S.2995, the Clean Air Act Amendments of 2010, to the United States Senate. The
bill proposes mandatory emission reductions of NOyx, SO, and mercury from electric utilities, which
would ultimately be more stringent than the emission controls under CAIR and CAMR. This bill is in the
early stages of development, so we cannot predict whether it or similar multi-pollutant legislation will
ultimately become law. As a result, it is too early to determine what impact, if any, such a law and any
implementing regulations may have on us.

Regional Haze. On June 15, 2005, the EPA issued the Clean Air Visibility Rule, amending
regulations governing visibility in national parks and wilderness areas throughout the United States.
Under the amended rule, certain types of older sources may be required to install best available retrofit
technology (“BART”). The amended rules could result in requirements for newer and cleaner
technologies and additional controls for particulate matter (“PM”), SO, and NOx emissions from utility
sources. Under the Clean Air Visibility Rule, the states were required to develop regional haze plans as
part of their SIPs, and identify the facilities that would have to reduce emissions and then set BART
emissions limits for those facilities. Kentucky submitted its regional haze SIP revisions to EPA on June
25,2008. EPA has not yet approved or denied Kentucky’s regional haze SIP revisions.

All of Big Rivers’ facilities, except the Wilson Plant, were eligible for imposition of BART
requirements under the haze SIP revisions. In June 2008, the Kentucky Division of Air Quality (“DAQ”)
determined that each Big Rivers facility would be exempt from the requirement to install BART for SO,,
NOx and PM emissions under its regional haze rule. The DAQ determination with respect to SO, and
NOx emissions was based on a previous EPA determination that states participating in the CAIR program
would not have to require electricity generating facilities to install BART for SO, and NOx emissions.
Because the CAIR program is currently under review by EPA, it is possible that EPA’s earlier
determination could change, requiring states to evaluate SO, and NOyx emissions from BART-eligible
sources. Therefore it is possible that we will be required to install BART for SO, and NOx emissions at
certain facilities. The DAQ determination to exempt Big Rivers facilities from BART with respect to PM
emissions was based on air quality modeling information submitted by Big Rivers to DAQ in May 2007.
At that time, the modeling information showed that PM emissions from Big Rivers facilities were not
contributing to regional haze at any Class I area.

National Ambient Air Quality Standards. The Clean Air Act also requires EPA to establish
National Ambient Air Quality Standards (“NAAQS”) for certain air pollutants. When a NAAQS has
been established, each state must identify areas in its state that do not meet the EPA standard (known as
“non-attainment areas”) and develop regulatory measures in its state implementation plan (“SIP”) to
reduce or control the emissions of that air pollutant in order to meet the standard and become an
“attainment area.” EPA is in the process of reviewing NAAQS for certain air pollutants that are emitted
by power plants including nitrogen dioxide, sulfur dioxide, ozone, and particulate matter. For example,
on January 19, 2010, EPA published a proposed rule for a stricter NAAQS for ground-level ozone and, on
January 25, 2010, EPA released a final rule establishing a stricter primary one-hour NAAQS for nitrogen
dioxide. When a stricter NAAQS is finalized and becomes effective, air pollution sources including
power plants, could face stricter emission standards. The impact of any new standards under the NAAQS
program will depend on the final federal regulations and resulting revisions to Kentucky’s SIP, so we
cannot determine such impacts at this time.

Opacity. PM emissions from our facilities have, in the past, resulted in notices of violation and
occasional complaints from neighbors and local government agencies. The complaints have declined in
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recent years, following the installation of SCR and/or FGD air pollution controls at the Wilson Plant, the
Green Plant, the Henderson Plant and the Coleman Plant. Even though there have been improvements in
some of the emissions characteristics, plume opacity and other impacts may continue to arise in
connection with the installation and the operation of the SCR and FGD controls. Additionally, the
scrubbed units at the Green and Wilson plants are “wet scrubbed” units with “wet stacks.” A
phenomenon commonly associated with wet scrubbers is the occasional and unexpected appearance of a
visible plume that begins some distance after the exhaust exits the stack. The actual cause of the plume is
unknown. We continue to monitor the occurrence of the plumes and address Notices of Violations or
other agency actions as they arise. Although no material fines or penalties have been assessed against us,
we have sought permit amendments to address this issue. It is possible that additional investment or
pollution controls may be required to reduce these impacts.

New Source Review. In 1999-2000, the U.S. Justice Department, acting on behalf of the EPA,
filed a number of complaints and notices of violation against multiple utilities across the country for
alleged violations of the New Source Review (“NSR”) provisions of the Clean Air Act. Generally, the
government alleged that projects performed at various coal-fired units were major modifications, as
defined in the Clean Air Act, and that the utilities violated the Clean Air Act when they undertook these
projects without obtaining major source permits under the Prevention of Significant Deterioration
(“PSD”) and/or Title V programs. As part of the enforcement effort, the EPA also sent requests for
information letters to numerous other utilities requesting extensive and detailed information on the repairs
and modifications made by those utilities to their coal fired boilers. In 2000, WKE received an
information request from EPA, when it was the operator of the Big River facilities, and WKE submitted
the requested information to EPA. To date, EPA has not requested any additional information.

In 2007, the U.S. Supreme Court upheld EPA’s definition of a major modification as one that
increases the actual annual emission of a pollutant from a facility above the actual average for the two
prior years, and, under President Obama’s administration, EPA has announced plans to enforce the NSR
provisions. We cannot predict whether EPA or other governmental authorities will consider any of the
past maintenance projects or capital improvements at our facilities to have violated NSR requirements as
a result of the uncertain interpretation of this program and recent court decisions. If violations are
established, we could be required to install new pollution control equipment in addition to the
modifications that have already been completed or planned, and be liable for other payments or penalties.

Global Climate Change

CO,, a major constituent of emissions from fossil-fuel combustion, and other GHGs are generally
believed to be linked to global warming resulting in climate change. Control of such emissions is the
subject of debate in the United States, on local, state and national levels. In the United States, no federal
legislation limiting GHG emissions has yet been enacted, but there have been significant developments
relating to monitoring and regulation of GHG emissions by EPA, certain state governments and regional
governmental organizations. In addition, the United States Congress is considering federal legislation
that could impose a cap-and-trade system or other measures to reduce GHG emissions, such as carbon
tax.

EPA Regulatory Action under the Clean Air Act

On April 2, 2007, the United States Supreme Court issued a decision in Massachusetts v. EPA
holding that GHG emissions are “air pollutants” under the federal Clean Air Act, thereby requiring EPA
to determine whether GHGs pose a threat to public health and welfare. On December 15, 2009, EPA
published the final rule for the “endangerment finding” under the Clean Air Act. In the finding, EPA
declared that the six identified GHGs — CO,, methane, nitrous oxide, hydrofluorocarbons,
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perfluorocarbons, and sulfur hexafluoride — cause or contribute to global warming, and that the effects of
climate change endanger public health and welfare by increasing the likelihood of severe weather events
and the other related consequences of climate change. The issuance of the “endangerment finding”
triggered the statutory requirement that EPA regulate emissions of GHGs as air pollutants from motor
vehicles. Such regulations were finalized on April 1, 2010, when EPA and the United States Department
of Transportation issued a joint final rule imposing GHG emission standards on light-duty vehicles (cars
and light trucks). That regulation takes effect on January 2, 2011.

On March 29, 2010, EPA affirmed its position that air pollutants that are actually regulated under
the Clean Air Act under any program must be taken into account when considering permits issued under
other programs, such as the PSD permit program. A PSD permit is required before commencement of
construction of new major stationary sources or major modifications of such sources. As a result of this
determination, the effect of the new motor vehicle rule will be to require the analysis of emissions and
control options with respect to GHG emissions from new and modified major stationary sources as of
January 2, 2011, which is the date the new motor vehicle rule takes effect. Permitting requirements for
GHGs will include, but are not limited to, the application of Best Available Control Technology (known
as “BACT”) for GHG emissions, and monitoring, reporting and recordkeeping for GHGs.

On May 13, 2010, EPA issued a final rule for determining the applicability of the PSD program
to GHG emissions from major sources. The rule, known as the “Tailoring Rule,” establishes criteria for
identifying facilities required to obtain PSD permits and the emissions thresholds at which permitting and
other regulatory requirements apply. The applicability threshold levels established by this rule include
both a mass-based calculation and a metric known as the carbon dioxide equivalent, or CO,e, which
incorporates the global warming potential for each of the six individual gases the comprise the collective
GHG defined in the endangerment finding.

On January 2, 2011, sources that are subject to PSD and/or Title V permits due to their non-GHG
emissions (such as fossil-fuel based electric generating facilities for their NO,, SO, and other emissions)
will have to address GHG emissions in new permit applications or renewals. Construction or
modification of major sources will become subject to PSD requirements for their GHG emissions if the
construction or modification results in a net increase in the overall mass of GHG emissions exceeding
75,000 tons per year on a CO,e basis. New and modified major sources requiring to obtain a PSD permit
would be required to conduct a BACT review for their GHG emissions. EPA intends to issue guidance
before the end of 2010 on the technologies or operations that would constitute BACT for GHGs. With
respect to Title V requirements, as of January 2, 2011, sources that are required to have Title V permits
for non-GHG pollutants will be required to address GHGs as part of their Title V permitting. The 75,000
tons per year CO,e applicability threshold does not apply, so when any source applies for, renews, or
revises a Title V permit, then Clean Air Act requirements for monitoring, recordkeeping and reporting
will be included. Additional phases of implementation of the Tailoring Rule apply only to sources that
are not currently subject to PSD and/or Title V requirements, and are therefore not applicable to our
facilities, each of which is subject to one or both of the federal permits.

On October 30, 2009, the EPA published the final rule for mandatory monitoring and annual
reporting of greenhouse gas emissions from various categories of facilities including fossil fuel suppliers,
industrial gas suppliers, direct greenhouse gas emitters (such as electric generating facilities and industrial
processes), and manufacturers of heavy-duty and off-road vehicles and engines. This rule does not
require controls or limits on emissions, but requires data collection to beginning January 1, 2010, and the
first annual reports due March 31, 2011.

Our costs of compliance with these new regulations are not fully known at this time. The
requirements for monitoring, reporting and record keeping with respect to GHG emissions from existing
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units should not have a material adverse effect, but the consequences of new permit requirements in
connection with new units or modifications of existing units could be significant, as could any new
proposed regulations affecting permitting and controls for our existing units.

Federal Legislation

The United States Congress is currently considering several energy and climate change-related
pieces of legislation that propose, among other things, a cap-and-trade system to regulate and reduce the
emission of CO, and other GHGs and a federal renewable energy portfolio standard. One such bill, H.R.
2454, known as the American Clean Energy and Security Act of 2009, was passed by the House of
Representatives on June 26, 2009. That bill, and several other energy and climate change-related
legislative proposals are currently being considered by the Senate. On May 12, 2010, Senators Kerry and
Lieberman made public the text of a proposal entitled the American Power Act, which is expected to be
considered. = The impact that federal GHG cap-and-trade legislation will have on the electric utility
industry and our business depends largely on the specific provisions of the legislation that ultimately
become law. Some of the important issues that could be addressed in cap-and-trade legislation include:
the timing and magnitude of the emissions cap; the extent to which emissions allowances are allocated or
auctioned to the highest bidder; and the extent to which emissions may be offset by other actions. The
timeline and impact of climate change legislation cannot be accurately assessed at this time, but it is
expected that any enactment of statutes to regulate GHG emissions will have a significant impact on
fossil-fueled generation facilities.

Litigation

Many of the issues raised by global climate change are being litigated in courts throughout the
United States. For example, recent litigation is raising for judicial review the question of whether a
federal agency must consider the impact of GHG emissions in the National Environmental Policy Act
environmental review process. Pending cases are also alleging that GHG emissions from electric
generation are causing a public nuisance and should be abated by electric generation facilities. We cannot
currently predict how GHG emissions issues will arise in connection with pending or future permit
proceedings or whether litigation based on climate change issues will adversely affect our operations, or
our construction and development plans.

Water

The Federal Clean Water Act regulates the discharge of process wastewater and certain storm
water under the National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (“NPDES”) permit program. Such
permits are issued for five-year periods and continue in effect if renewal applications are timely filed. At
the present time, applications for renewal of some of our NPDES permits are awaiting review by the
Kentucky Division of Water. We have all other material required permits under the program for all of our
electric generating plants. The water quality regulations require us to comply with Kentucky’s water
quality standards, including sampling and monitoring of the waters discharged from the facilities. We
continually sample and monitor the discharges and report the results thereof in accordance with our
permits.

Section 316(b) of the Clean Water Act requires the EPA to ensure that the location, design,
construction and capacity of cooling water intake structures reflect the best technology available to
protect aquatic organisms from being killed or injured by impingement or entrainment. In February 2004,
the EPA issued final regulations establishing standards for cooling water intake structures at existing large
power plants. The rule provided several compliance alternatives for existing plants such as using existing
technologies, adding fish protection systems or using restoration measures.
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On January 25, 2007, the United States Second Circuit Court of Appeals remanded key
components of the Clean Water Act 316(b) Phase II Rule. The court ruled that EPA could not allow use
of restoration measures to satisfy performance standards, nor could it consider cost-benefit analysis in
selecting “best technology available.” The United States Supreme Court heard the appeal of the Second
Circuit decision and held on April 1, 2009, that it is permissible for utility companies and regulators to
apply cost-benefit analysis under the Clean Water Act. EPA is in the process of developing a new rule
consistent with the Supreme Court’s decision.

The impact of Section 316(b) on Big Rivers’ is limited to the Reid Plant and the Coleman Plant.
The degree of such impact will depend upon the form of the new rule that EPA publishes. If EPA allows
a cost-benefit analysis to determine the best technology available, we expect the impact to the Reid Plant
and the Coleman Plant will be minimal based on information obtained from previous studies conducted
on the quantity and type of fish impinged on the intake screens at Reid Station and Coleman Station.

Other Environmental Matters

The Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act.  The
Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act of 1980, as amended
(“CERCLA” or “Superfund”), requires cleanup of sites from which there has been a release or threatened
release of hazardous substances and authorizes the EPA to take any necessary response action at
Superfund sites, including ordering potentially responsible parties (“PRPs”) liable for the release to take
or pay for such actions. PRPs are broadly defined under CERCLA to include past and present owners and
operators of, as well as generators of wastes sent to, a site. We historically have sent wastes, such as coal
ash or wastewater that could have included hazardous substances, to third-party disposal sites or treatment
plants. Based on such disposal, Big Rivers can become a PRP with respect to such sites. We are not
aware of any material liabilities with respect to such disposal, but can provide no assurance that such
liabilities will not be asserted in the future. In addition, we have experienced and are likely to continue to
experience in the future spills and releases of fuel oil and other materials that could trigger cleanup
obligations under CERCLA and result in additional compliance costs. As a result, there can be no
assurance that we will not incur liability under CERCLA in the future.

Electro-Magnetic Fields. A number of electrical industry studies have been conducted regarding
the potential long-term health effects resulting from exposure to electro-magnetic fields (“EMF”) created
by high voltage transmission and distribution equipment. At this time, any relationship between EMF and
certain adverse health effects appears inconclusive; however, electric utilities have been experiencing
challenges in various forms claiming financial damages associated with electrical equipment which
creates EMF. In the future, if the scientific community reaches a consensus that EMF presents a health
hazard, we may be required to take remedial actions at our facilities. The cost of these actions cannot be
estimated with certainty at this time. Such costs, however, could be significant, depending on the
particular mitigation measures undertaken, especially if relocation of existing power lines is required.

Coal Ash. Our coal-based generating facilities produce coal ash waste that requires disposal. We
dispose of the coal ash in our onsite landfills and impoundments and possess the proper industrial solid
waste permits to operate our landfills in accordance with local, state and federal regulations and laws.
However, we must continually expand the capacity of our landfills and waste management facilities to
accommodate larger amounts of ash. If we become unable to dispose of coal ash on site, our disposal
costs may increase considerably. On the other hand, we are continually evaluating methods for beneficial
reuse of waste ash. Currently, all of the ash we generate is exempt from regulation as “hazardous waste.”

On May 4, 2010, the EPA released the text of a proposed rule describing two possible regulatory
options it is considering under the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (“RCRA”) for the disposal

38



of coal ash generated from the combustion of coal by electric utilities and independent power producers.
Under either option, EPA would regulate the construction of impoundments and landfills, and seek to
ensure the both the physical and environmental integrity of disposal facilities.

Under the first proposed regulatory option, EPA would list coal ash destined for disposal in
landfills or surface impoundments as “special wastes” subject to regulation under Subtitle C of RCRA.
Subtitle C regulations set forth EPA’s hazardous waste regulatory program, which regulate the
generation, handling, transport and disposal of wastes. The proposed rule would create a new category of
waste under Subtitle C, so that coal ash would not be classified as a hazardous waste, but would be
subject to many of the regulatory requirements applicable to such wastes. Under this option, coal ash
would be subject to technical and permitting requirements from the point of generation to final disposal.
Generators, transporters, and treatment, storage and disposal facilities would be subject to federal
requirements and permits. EPA is considering imposing disposal facility requirements such as liners,
groundwater monitoring, fugitive dust controls, financial assurance, corrective action, closure of units,
and post-closure care. This first option also proposes requirements for dam safety and stability for
surface impoundments, land disposal restrictions, treatment standards for coal ash, and a prohibition on
the disposal of treated coal ash below the natural water table. The first option would not apply to certain
beneficial reuses of coal ash.

Under the second proposed regulatory option, EPA would regulate the disposal of coal ash under
Subtitle D of RCRA, the regulatory program for non-hazardous solid wastes. Under this option, EPA is
considering issuing national minimum criteria to ensure the safe disposal of coal ash, which would
subject disposal units to location standards, composite liner requirements, groundwater monitoring and
corrective action standards for releases, closure and post-closure care requirements, and requirements to
address the stability of surface impoundments. Existing surface impoundments would not have to close
or install composite liners and could continue to operate for their useful life. The second option would
not regulate the generation, storage, or treatment of coal ash prior to disposal, and no federal permits
would be required.

The proposed rule also states that EPA is considering listing coal ash as a hazardous substance
under CERCLA, and includes proposals for alternative methods to adjust the statutory reportable quantity
for coal ash. The extension of CERCLA to coal ash could significantly increase our liability for cleanup
of past and future coal ash disposal.

EPA has not decided which regulatory approach it will take with respect to the management and
disposal of coal ash. We are therefore unable to determine the effects of this proposed rule at this time.

As part of EPA’s scrutiny of how ash impoundments are permitted and operated, EPA recently
assessed ash impoundments at many facilities throughout the country, including some of our facilities,
even though our ash impoundments are not of the same type and construction involved in the Kingston
Plant ash spill and therefore do not pose the same kinds of risks. A dam safety assessment report for Reid
Station, Green Station and Station Two was prepared for EPA in December 2009. All of the ash ponds at
these facilities received “fair” ratings — a rating that reflected EPA’s view that our geotechnical
information was not complete — but no critical deficiencies were noted. Minor repairs required by EPA
during this review will be completed during the 2010 construction season. We have commenced the
geotechnical investigation recommended by EPA in connection with the assessment, which is scheduled
to be completed for all facilities by the end of 2011. Coal ash waste management and disposal is an
evolving issue and we expect to continue to incur costs to upgrade and expand our ash impoundments as
regulations change.

39



FERC Regulation

As a RUS-financed utility, our sale of power at wholesale and certain aspects of our transmission
of power in interstate commerce are not regulated by FERC. If we were not a RUS-financed public
utility, those functions would be regulated by FERC. FERC has jurisdiction under the Federal Power Act,
however, to require us to provide transmission services to third parties at rates and on terms and
conditions comparable to our own use of our transmission services. We are a transmitting utility subject
to interconnection and transmission orders under Sections 210, 211 and 212 of the Federal Power Act, as
amended by the Energy Policy Act of 1992 (“EPAct 1992”). We also are subject to FERC transmission
orders to the extent that they apply to non-jurisdictional utilities and to reciprocity tariffs as described
below. In the absence of regulation by FERC, the KPSC has asserted jurisdiction over what would
otherwise be FERC jurisdictional activities.

EPAct 1992

EPAct 1992 made fundamental changes in the federal regulation of the electric utility industry,
particularly in the area of transmission access. The purpose of these changes, in part, was to bring about
increased competition in the wholesale electric power supply market. These changes have increased, and
will continue to increase, competition in the electric utility industry. Specifically, EPAct 1992 provided
that any electric utility, federal power marketing agency or any other person generating electric energy for
sale for resale may apply to FERC for an order requiring a transmitting utility like us to provide
transmission services to the applicant. After notice and an opportunity for hearing, FERC may issue an
order requiring such transmission service to be provided, subject to appropriate compensation to the
utility providing such service. However, EPAct 1992 specifically denied FERC authority to require
“retail wheeling” under which a retail customer of one utility could obtain electric power and energy from
another utility or nonutility power generator and require a transmitting utility to “wheel” it to the retail
customer.

Order No. 888 and Successor Orders

In 1996, to remove impediments to competition in the wholesale bulk power marketplace and to
bring more efficient lower cost power to the nation’s electricity consumers, FERC issued Orders Nos. 888
and 889. Orders Nos. 888 and 889, as amended by Orders Nos. 888-A and 889-A in 1997, were intended
to deny to public utilities any unfair advantage over competitors resulting from their ownership and
control of transmission facilities and required FERC-jurisdictional public utilities to file pro forma, open
access, nondiscriminatory transmission tariffs. In Order Nos. 890, 890-A and 890-B, issued
(respectively) in February and December 2007 and June 2008, FERC reaffirmed and modified the
requirements under Order Nos. 888 and 888-A, specifically, by modifying the transmission tariff
provisions on (among other things) calculating available transfer capability, transmission planning,
point-to-point transmission service options, energy imbalance service, rollover rights for long-term firm
transmission service, and the price caps on capacity reassignments. Under the reciprocity requirement
adopted in Order No. 888 and reaffirmed in Order No. 890, non-jurisdictional utilities like us must
provide comparable transmission service as a condition of receiving service from jurisdictional utilities
under the pro forma tariff. Our transmission facilities located in the Eastern Interconnection are under a
transmission tariff that has been approved by FERC. We developed those tariffs to buy and sell
electricity using the transmission systems of regulated utilities, as required by FERC’s reciprocity
requirement.
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Energy Policy Act of 2005

On August 8, 2005, President Bush signed into law the Energy Policy Act of 2005 (“EPAct
2005”). The significant provisions of EPAct 2005 that could affect us are in the areas of (1) reliability;
(2) siting of new transmission facilities; (3) potential FERC authority over transmission service and the
rates of non-rate-regulated utilities; (4) native load obligations; and (5) expansion of FERC’s enforcement
authority. In addition, Congress repealed the Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935 (“PUHCA
1935”), and replaced it with the Public Utility Holding Company Act of 2005 (“PUHCA 2005”), thereby
effectively repealing many of the more onerous provisions of PUHCA 1935. As an electric cooperative,
we generally are not subject to the new requirements of PUHCA 2005. EPAct 2005 also created
incentives for the construction of transmission facilities; gave FERC authority to establish mandatory
reliability standards through a new entity that FERC will certify as the Electric Reliability Organization
(“ERO”); authorized the DOE and FERC to grant permits enabling entities, in certain circumstances, to
use a federal right of eminent domain to build new transmission lines; and adopted provisions enabling
transmission providers to reserve transmission capacity for their native load service obligations. FERC
has adopted regulations to implement the new regulations and requirements concerning siting,
transmission access, native load preferences and enforcement.

Concerning the expansion of FERC’s authority to order transmission access to transmission
systems owned or operated by non-rate-regulated utilities, EPAct 2005 added new section 211A to the
Federal Power Act. Section 211A authorizes FERC to order non-rate-regulated utilities like us to provide
transmission service at rates and terms that are comparable to those by which the non-rate-regulated
utility provides transmission service to itself. However, the non-rate-regulated utilities subject to any
such requirements are not subject to the full panoply of FERC regulations applicable to
transmission-owning public utilities. FERC also is required, with certain limited exceptions, to exempt
any non-rate-regulated utility that sells less than 4 million kWh per year. FERC has declined to order
transmission access pursuant to Section 211A on a generic basis, and instead will act, if at all, on a
case-by-case basis.

NERC has been certified by FERC as the ERO. NERC’s mandatory reliability standards, which
are subject to FERC review and approval, apply to any entity that owns, operates or uses the bulk power
system. EPAct 2005 authorizes FERC and the ERO to impose penalties for violations of the reliability
standards. In March and July 2007, FERC issued (respectively) Order Nos. 693 and 693-A largely
approving the reliability standards initially filed by NERC for FERC review and approval. FERC also
directed NERC to consider revisions to a number of the standards, and other reliability standards and
amendments proposed by NERC remain pending before FERC. As an owner and operator of generation
and transmission facilities, we are subject to certain of the NERC reliability standards. We are currently
scheduled for a routine audit of our compliance with the reliability standards. The audit is scheduled to
occur at our facility from May 24 to May 28 of this year. If the auditors identify areas of non-compliance,
we could be subject to penalties or sanctions.

EPAct 2005 also added new sections 220, 221 and 222 to the Federal Power Act, which generally
prohibit fraud and manipulation in the energy markets and promote price transparency. Under FERC’s
implementing rules, the anti-fraud rules apply to all entities, including non-jurisdictional utilities, to the
extent they engage in activities or transactions in connection with sales and transmission services subject
to FERC’s public-utility jurisdiction.
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QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES
ABOUT MARKET RISK

Risk Management Policies

We are exposed to significant market risks associated with electricity and coal prices, counter-
party credit exposure, interest rates and equity prices. Interest rate risk is associated with the changes in
interest rates that impact our variable rate debt instruments and fixed income investments. Our energy
related commodity price risks involve changes in the market price of power natural gas, and solid fuels
and the impact of such changes on our ability to generate sufficient revenue to cover our operational
costs. We have established comprehensive risk management policies to monitor and manage these risks.
Our vice president of enterprise risk management is responsible for monitoring and reporting on our risk
management policies, including delegation of authority levels. We have an Internal Risk Management
Committee that regularly meets and the vice president of enterprise risk management reports to the Board
of Directors monthly. The vice president of enterprise risk management is responsible for oversight of
market risk, credit risk, etc., including monitoring exposure limits.

To manage our market risks, we may enter into various derivative instruments including swaps,
forward contracts, futures contracts and options. Management believes adequate safeguards, reporting
mechanisms, and procedures are in place to protect us from unauthorized use of such derivative
instruments. We have established certain risk management strategies relating to the sales and purchase
prices for the commodities which form our core business, in order to provide insulation from volatile
market prices. With respect to our power sales, our Board of Directors has established guidelines which
are intended to ensure that derivatives and other financial instruments are used for hedging purposes and
not for speculation. Those guidelines provide that hedging activity shall be used only to minimize risk
and not to create any greater risk. Risk management status and performance must be reported to our
Board of Directors on a monthly basis, and that counterparties must meet capitalization requirements
before we will engage with such counterparty.

Electricity and Coal Price Risk

We are exposed to the impact of market fluctuations in the prices of electricity and coal as a result
of our ownership and operation of electric generating facilities. Our exposure to coal and purchased
power risk is limited by cost-based Member rate recovery through two cost-recovery clauses, namely the
fuel adjustment clause (“FAC”) and the non-FAC purchased power adjustment. Due to timing of the
cost-recovery, there is a two month lag for the FAC between when costs are incurred and when the
Member portion is recovered through rates. For the non-FAC purchase power adjustment due to timing
of the cost recovery, there is a two month lag between when the costs are incurred and when the Member-
Smelter portion is recovered through rates that represent approximately two-thirds of the costs. The
remaining one-third of the non-FAC purchase power adjustment cost is deferred as a regulatory account
and we will seek recovery from the KPSC during a request to adjust base rate. This request will be
presented to the KPSC during 2011 to be effective January 1, 2012.

Price risk represents the potential risk of loss from adverse changes in the market price of
electricity or coal. Because we are long on power, both capacity and energy, we are exposed to the
illiquidity of the long-term power market and volatility of the market price of electricity and coal. Our
long position in the energy market is approximately 150 MWs or 8% of our availability capacity. The
excess capacity and energy will be consumed in the future through normal growth. Further, price risk
resulting from the volatility in the price of coal is off-set by a month recovery rider for fuel that has been
approved by the KPSC.
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We generally only enter into market power sales contracts that qualify for the normal sales and
purchases exception. Income recognition and realization related to normal sales and normal purchases
contracts generally coincide with the physical delivery of the power. For all such contracts, as long as
completion of the transaction remains probable, no recognition of the contract’s fair value is required to
be reported in our financial statements until settlement or physical delivery.

Marketable Securities Price Risk; Pension Plan Assets

We maintain investments to fund the cost of providing our non-contributory defined benefit
retirement plans. Those investments are exposed to price fluctuations in equity markets and changes in
interest rates. We have established asset allocation targets for our pension plan holdings that take into
consideration the investment objectives and the risk profile with respect to the trust in which the assets are
held. Our target asset allocation for equity securities is 65% of the value of the plan assets and the
holdings are diversified to achieve broad market diversification to reduce exposure to and any adverse
impact of a single investment, sector or geographic region. A significant decline in the value of plan asset
holdings could require us to increase our funding of the pension plan in future periods, which could
adversely affect cash flows in those periods. Additionally, a decline in the fair value of plan assets,
absent additional cash contributions to the plan, could increase the amount of pension cost required to be
recorded in future periods, which could adversely affect our results of operations in those periods. A 10%
decline in the fair value of our plan assets equals $2.2 million.

Interest Rate Risk

We are exposed to risk resulting from changes in interest rates as a result of the use of variable
rate debt as a source of financing as well as the fixed income investments in our various portfolios. We
manage our interest rate exposure by limiting the total amount of our variable rate exposure to within a
particular amount of our total debt and by actively monitoring the effects of market changes in interest
rates. As of December 31, 2009, $706.5 million of $848.6 million of outstanding long-term indebtedness
secured under the Mortgage Indenture accrued interest at fixed rates to their final maturity. As of
December 31, 2009, we had outstanding variable rate debt of $142.1 million. This debt consists of the
Refunded Bonds and the Series 1983 Bonds which mature in 2013.

Commodity Price Risk

The average rate to our Members is affected by the price we can obtain in the market for energy
produced by our generating facilities in excess of the Members’ requirements. Higher prices produce
greater Non-Member revenue that is used to offset Member revenue requirements. Our exposure to the
risk of fluctuating power prices is declining as our historically high levels of excess generation are being
used to meet our increasing Member requirements, including the Smelters. Our excess capacity
generation in 2010 is approximately 8%.

Additionally, if one or more of our generating facilities is not able to produce power when
required due to operational factors, we may have to forego Non-Member sales opportunities or purchase
energy in the wholesale market at higher prices to meet Member requirements.

Credit Risk

Credit risk represents the loss that we would incur if a counterparty failed to perform under its
contractual obligations. To reduce credit exposure, we establish credit limits and seek to enter into
netting agreements with counterparties that permit it to offset receivables and payables. To control our
credit risk associated with credit sales of power we utilize a credit approval process, monitor counterparty
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limits and require that counterparties have adequate credit ratings. We attempt to further reduce credit
risk with certain counterparties by entering into agreements that enable us to obtain collateral or to
terminate or reset the terms of transactions after specified time periods or upon the occurrence of credit-
related events. Where appropriate, we also obtain cash or letters of credit from counterparties to provide
credit support outside of collateral agreements, based on financial analysis of the counterparty and the
regulatory or contractual terms and conditions applicable to each transaction.

We generally execute only physical delivery contracts. We frequently use master collateral
agreements to mitigate certain credit exposures. The collateral agreements provide for a counterparty to
post cash or letters of credit in excess of an established threshold. The threshold amount represents an
unsecured credit limit, determined in accordance with our credit policy. Collateral agreements also
provide that the inability to post collateral is sufficient cause to terminate contracts and liquidate all
positions.

Due to the possibility of extreme volatility in the prices of energy commodities and derivatives,
the market value of contractual positions with individual counterparties could exceed established credit
limits or collateral provided by those counterparties. If such a counterparty were then to fail to perform
its obligations under its contract, we could sustain a loss that could have a material impact on our
financial results. The probability of a material impact is lessened by the fact that we only have a
relatively small amount of power to sell long-term and presently do not plan on transacting multi-year
long-term contracts.

OUR MEMBERS
General

Our Members are local consumer-owned cooperative corporations serving retail residential,
commercial and industrial customers on a non-profit basis. The territories served by our Members
include portions of 22 counties in western Kentucky. Our Members serve approximately 112,000
consumers. The majority of our Members’ customers are individual residences.

Territorial Integrity

Distribution cooperatives generally exercise a monopoly in their service areas. Under a Kentucky
statute adopted in 1972, the Members are “Retail Electric Suppliers” that are certified by the KPSC as the
exclusive suppliers of energy to their respective certified service arecas. Thus, the Members are the
exclusive suppliers of energy to electricity consumers located in their respective certified service areas. If
a Retail Electric Supplier is providing adequate service within its certified territory, other Retail Electric
Suppliers may not sell power to retail customers located within that certified territory. Municipal utilities
are not Retail Electric Suppliers under the statute. If a new electric consuming facility locates in two or
more adjacent certified territories, the KPSC determines which Retail Electric Supplier may provide retail
electric service to that facility based on a number of factors, designed to avoid wasteful duplication of
electric generation facilities.

Rate Regulation of Members

The KPSC regulates the retail energy rates of the Members. Under Kentucky law, a utility may
revise its rates on 30 days’ notice to the KPSC of the proposed changes and the effective date of such
changes. The KPSC has the statutory power to suspend such changes pending a hearing for a period not
to exceed six months from the proposed effective date of such changes. This suspension period begins
with the effective date named by the utility, and thus, the utility may avoid or minimize the effect of such
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suspension by naming an early effective date in its notice to the KPSC. Rate changes may be placed in
effect, in whole or in part, during any such suspension period on a finding by the KPSC that an
emergency exists or that the utility’s credit or operations will be materially impaired by the suspension.
Rates placed into effect on an emergency basis are subject to refund to the extent that the final rates
approved by the KPSC are lower than the emergency rates. The KPSC’s decision on a new rate schedule
filed by a utility must be issued not later than ten months after the filing of the rate schedule.

Member Information
Financial Information

Our Members operate their systems on a not-for-profit basis. Accumulated margins constitute
patronage capital for the consumer members. Refunds of accumulated patronage capital to the individual
consumer members are made from time to time on a patronage basis subject to limitations contained in
Member mortgages to the RUS, if applicable.

Our Members are our owners and not our subsidiaries. Except with respect to the obligations of
our Members under their respective wholesale power contracts and the Smelter Agreements, we have no
legal interest in, or obligation in respect of, any of the assets, liabilities, equity, revenue or margins of our
Members, other than our rights under these contracts. The revenues of our Members are not pledged to
us, but their revenues are the source from which they pay for power and energy and transmission services
purchased from us. Revenues of our Members are, however, often pledged under their respective
mortgages. Tables 1 and 2 in Appendix B present a three-year summary of the balance sheets, statements
of operations and selected statistical information with respect to our Members.

Statistical Information

We serve directly and indirectly a diverse customer base that includes farms and residences,
commercial and industrial facilities, mining, irrigation and other miscellancous customers. Farm and
residential customers constitute the largest class of customers in terms of numbers throughout the
Member service areas. The table below shows energy sales and revenue by customer class for the year
2009 for our Members.

2009 Sales By Members

kWh Sales kWh Sales Revenue Revenue
(in thousands) (%) (in thousands) (%)

Farm & Residential ..........cccccoeveivviieinieeereierinans 1,433,379 15% $100,947 24%
Commercial and Industrial
(excluding the Smelters) .........ccccevvrveriievierenennene 1,668,503 17% 77,133 18%
Aluminum Smelters 6,672,110 68% 241,379 58%
MIDINE ettt -- -- -- --
OthET ..o - -- -- --

TOAL o 9,773,992 100% $419,459 100%

(1) The information in this table has been compiled by us from information obtained from the Annual Statistical Report Rural Electric
Borrowers (Publication 201.1) and RUS Form 7 prepared by our Members and filed with RUS. We have not independently verified this
information.
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THE SMELTER AGREEMENTS

We and Kenergy have entered into electric service arrangements with the Smelters. The Smelters
have largely identical obligations under the agreements described below, so the following discussion does
not distinguish between obligations to a particular Smelter, even though, from a legal perspective, their
rights and obligations are separate and not joint.

The principal terms and conditions relating to our sale of electric services to Kenergy for resale to
the Smelters are set forth in six agreements, three with respect to service to each Smelter. The basic
structure of the sale of electric services is that we sell the electric services to Kenergy and then Kenergy
in turns sells those electric services to each Smelter. Because the Smelters are customers of Kenergy, Big
Rivers has entered into two, separate wholesale service agreements (each a “Smelter Agreement”) with
Kenergy. Under each Smelter Agreement, we supply Kenergy with electric service for resale to a
particular Smelter. Kenergy has entered into a separate retail electric service agreement (a “Smelter
Retail Agreement”) with each Smelter. We and each Smelter have also entered into a Smelter
Coordination Agreement (a “Smelter Coordination Agreement” and, together with the Smelter
Agreements and the Smelter Retail Agreements, the “Smelter Agreements”) that sets forth certain direct
obligations between us and a Smelter. Due to the pass-through nature of the principal obligations
between us and each Smelter, the Smelter Agreement and the Smelter Retail Agreement relating to each
Smelter are substantially the same.

The aggregate amount of energy made available to the Smelters under the Smelter Retail
Agreements consists of three types of energy referred to as (1) Base Monthly Energy, (2) Supplemental
Energy and (3) Back-Up Energy. “Base Monthly Energy” is 368 MW per hour for Alcan and 482 MW
per hour for Century. See APPENDIX F — “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE
SMELTER AGREEMENTS — Nature of Service.”

The obligation of Kenergy to supply electric service to the Smelters pursuant to the Smelter
Retail Agreements will terminate on December 31, 2023, unless terminated earlier pursuant to the terms
thereof. A Smelter may terminate its Smelter Retail Agreement upon not less than one year’s prior
written notice of such termination to Kenergy and us if such Smelter ceases all smelting operations in
Kenergy’s service territory. See APPENDIX F — “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE
SMELTER AGREEMENTS — Termination Rights.”

Pricing under the Smelter Agreements is designed so that the Base Rate for the Smelters will
always be 25 cents per MWh over the rate charged to large direct-served industrial customers having an
equivalent load factor. The contracts provide that the Smelters are obligated to pay various surcharges,
including fuel adjustment surcharges and environmental surcharges. In addition, the Smelter Agreements
provide for annual adjustments to rates designed to assist us in achieving positive margins in each year.
See APPENDIX F — “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE SMELTER AGREEMENTS
— Smelter Payment Obligations.”

For a more detailed summary of the provisions of the Smelter Agreements, see APPENDIX F —
“SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE SMELTER AGREEMENTS.”

POWER SUPPLY PLANNING
Every other year we prepare load forecasts for the three Members. These individual forecasts
serve as the basis for Big Rivers’ load forecast, which is filed with the RUS. The last forecast was

prepared and filed in 2009. Additionally, every three years an Integrated Resource Plan (“IRP”) is
prepared in accordance with Kentucky Administrative Rule 807 KAR 5:5058 and filed with the KPSC.
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The next IRP will be filed with the KPSC in November 2010. Both of these studies examine a future time
frame of 15 years.

GENERATION AND TRANSMISSION ASSETS
Generation Resources
General

The following table sets forth certain information about our owned generating facilities and
Station Two.

Big Rivers’
Type of Net Capacity® Entitlement Commercial

Generating Facility Fuel MW) Share (MW) Operation Date
Kenneth C. Coleman Plant

UNIt 1 e Coal 150 150 1969

Coal 138 138 1970

UNIE3 oo Coal 155 155 1972
Robert D. Green Plant

UNIt 1 e Coal 231 231 1979

UNIE2 ot Coal 223 223 1981
Robert A. Reid Plant

UNIt 1 e Coal 65 65 1966

Oil-Natural

Combustion Turbing ............ceeeevvevierienreereennnne. Gas 65 65 1976
D.B. Wilson Plant Unit No. 1 .....cccoevievieniiniiiieenee Coal 417 417 1986
Station Two Facility Units No. 1
and NO. 20 oo Coal 312 212 1973/1974

TOtAl oo 1,756 1,656

(1) We operate but do not own the two units at Station Two and not all net capacity of such facility is available to us.
(2) Net capacity means net nameplate as adjusted for parasitic load.

Kenneth C. Coleman Plant

The Coleman Plant is a three unit, coal-fired steam electric generating unit located near
Hawesville, Kentucky. Each of the units has a turbine nameplate rating of 160 MW. Units No. 1 has a
net capacity of 150 MW, No. 2 has a net nameplate capacity of 138 MW while Unit No. 3 has a net
capacity of 155 MW. All three boilers are positive pressure, outdoor units; the turbine generators are
semi-outdoor and the station was retrofitted with a FGD system in 2007. The equivalent availability
factor for the Coleman Plant for 2009 was 94.9% (post-Unwind).

Environmental controls in place at the Coleman Plant include the use of precipitators (air
pollution control devices that collect particles from gaseous emissions) which limit particulate emissions
to a maximum of 0.27 pounds per million Btu, and the use of a FGD system which is 97% effective in
reducing SO, emissions. Coleman Stations permitted SO, emissions limit is a maximum of 5.2 pounds
per million Btu. NOx emissions are limited to a maximum of 0.5 pounds per million Btu. This is
achievable with the low NOx burners.

Robert D. Green Plant

The Green Plant is a two unit, coal-fired steam electric generating station located on the same site
as the Reid Plant and the Station Two Facility described below. Both boilers at the Green Plant are
balanced draft units and they were designed and built with low NOx burners. The Green Plant is also
equipped with a FGD system. Unit No. 1 has a net nameplate capacity of 231 MW while Unit No. 2 has a
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net capacity of 223 MW. The equivalent availability factor for the Green Plant for 2009 was 94.8%
(post-Unwind).

Environmental controls in place at the Green Plant include the use of precipitators which limit
particulate emissions to a maximum of 0.1 pounds per million Btu, and the use of a FGD system which
limits SO, emissions to a maximum of 0.8 pounds per million Btu. NOyx emissions are limited to a
maximum of 0.5 pounds per million Btu.

Robert A. Reid Plant

The Robert A. Reid Plant, located near Sebree, Kentucky, is a coal-fired steam electric generating
unit with a net capacity of 65 MW and an oil- or natural gas-fired combustion turbine generating unit with
a net capacity of 65 MW (the “Reid Plant”). The combustion turbine is used for power emergencies and
for peaking purposes. The equivalent availability factor for the Reid Plant for 2009 was 84.7% (post-
Unwind).

Environmental controls in place at the Reid Plant include the use of precipitators which limit
particulate emissions to a maximum of 0.28 pounds per million Btu, and the use of medium-sulfur coal
which limit SO, emissions to a maximum of 5.2 pounds per million Btu. NOx emissions are limited to
0.46 pounds per million Btu.

D.B. Wilson Unit No. 1 Plant

The single unit Wilson Plant is the largest generating unit in our system. The Wilson Plant,
located near Centertown, Kentucky on the Green River, is a coal-fired, balanced draft steam electric
generating unit equipped with a FGD system. The unit has a net nameplate capacity of 417 MW. The
equivalent availability factor for the Wilson Plant for 2009 was 60.7% (post-Unwind). The scheduled fall
outage of approximately 60 days lowered the equivalent availability factor for 2009.

Environmental controls in place at the Wilson Plant include the use of a precipitator which limits
particulate emissions to a maximum of 0.03 pounds per million Btu, and the use of a FGD system which
is 90% effective in removing SO, emissions. NOx emissions are limited to a maximum of 0.6 pounds per
million Btu.

Other Power Supply Resources
Station Two Facility

The two units at Station Two have a total net nameplate capacity of 312 MW. Station Two is
located on the same site as the Reid Plant and the Green Plant, near Henderson. Station Two consists of
two positive pressure outdoor type boilers with scrubbers installed. The equivalent availability factor for
Station Two for 2009 was 94.0% (post-Unwind).

In connection with the Unwind, in July 2009, we became responsible for the operation of Station
Two in accordance with the terms of the Station Two Operation Agreement and for purchase of capacity
and energy in accordance with the terms of the Station Two Power Sales Contract. (See “Station Two
Power Sales Contract”). In connection with the Unwind, we and WKEC entered into an Indemnification
Agreement (the “Station Two Indemnification Agreement”) under which WKEC has agreed to indemnify
us against potential lost revenue if the contract provisions of the Station Two Power Sales Contract are
interpreted against us (See “Station Two Power Sales Contract”).
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Station Two Operation Agreement

We operate Station Two in accordance with the Station Two Operation Agreement. The Station
Two Operation Agreement provides that we will provide, as an independent contractor, all operating
personnel, materials, supplies and technical services for the operation of Station Two. It also provides for
the allocation of certain costs of operation and maintenance between Station Two and our Reid Plant
which shares some common facilities with Station Two. The Station Two Operation Agreement provides
that we prepare an operating budget, including both capital and operating expenditures, for Station Two
which is subject to the approval of the City of Henderson. Such budget then becomes the basis for
monthly payments by the City of Henderson to us, with an annual reconciliation of such budgeted
expenditures and the actual annual expenditures for Station Two. The Station Two Operation Agreement
obligates us to maintain property and liability insurance with respect to Station Two and to operate and
maintain Station Two in accordance with standards and specifications equal to those provided by the
National Electric Safety Code of the United States Bureau of Standards and well as those required by any
regulatory authority having jurisdiction. Each party’s obligations under the Station Two Operation
Agreement are subject to the occurrence of “uncontrollable force” (e.g., events not within control of either
party and which by exercise of due diligence and foresight could not reasonably be avoided). The
obligations of the City of Henderson under the Station Two Operation Agreement are payable solely from
the revenues of the City’s electric utility system and do not constitute a general obligation of the City of
Henderson. The City of Henderson has covenanted in the Station Two Operation Agreement that it will,
subject to any necessary regulatory body approvals, maintain rates for service by its electric system
sufficient to pay the costs of ownership, proper operation and maintenance of Station Two. The rates for
electric service charged by the City of Henderson are not subject to any regulatory body approval. The
term of the Station Two Operation Agreement extends for the operating life of Station Two.

Station Two Power Sales Contract

We purchase a portion of the power and energy produced by Station Two in accordance with a
Power Sales Contract between the City of Henderson and us (the “Station Two Power Sales Contract”).
The Station Two Power Sales Contract provides for the allocation of the capacity of Station Two between
the City of Henderson and us based upon the City’s determination of its needs to serve its retail
customers. The Station Two Power Sales Contract requires the City of Henderson to give us a rolling five
years’ advance notice of the allocation of capacity between the City of Henderson and us, but changes of
up to 5 MW in the City’s allocation are permitted on a yearly basis to serve new commercial or industrial
customers of the City. The Station Two Power Sales Contract limits the ability of the City of Henderson
to add commercial or industrial customers in excess of 30 MW each to its system if to do so would
require the withdrawal of existing capacity from Station Two or any other generating facilities on the
City’s existing electrical system. The Station Two Power Sales Contract also permits the City of
Henderson to utilize up to a total of 25 MW of capacity from capacity otherwise allocated to us from
Station Two for “economic development loads” consisting of new customers on the City’s system or
certain expansions of capacity by an existing customer. Our right to take our reserved portion of the
capacity of Station Two is subject to the City of Henderson’s prior right to take its allocated capacity.
Thus, in the event of an outage or curtailment of the output of Station Two, the City’s right to the output
has a priority. Each party is entitled to all the energy from Station Two associated with its reserved
capacity, subject to our right to “Excess Henderson Energy” described below. The current capacity
allocations of the City of Henderson and us are 32% and 68%, respectively.

We and the City of Henderson share capacity costs for Station Two in accordance with our
respective allocated capacities. These capacity costs include the costs of operation, maintenance,
administration and general expenses for Station Two as well as any amounts paid or payable to us under
the terms of the Station Two Operation Agreement. We and the City of Henderson are each responsible
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for providing our respective portions of the fuel consumed by Station Two based on our respective uses of
electric energy from Station Two.

The obligations of each party are subject to “uncontrollable force”, having the same definition as
in the Station Two Operation Agreement. However, our obligation to make payments for our allocated
capacity of Station Two is not excused for any reason including the occurrence of “uncontrollable force”.

The Station Two Power Sales Agreement permits the City of Henderson to terminate that
Agreement on 30 days’ notice for our failure to make any payment properly owing under the Station Two
Power Sales Contract and, in such event, to make sales to others of power generated by Station Two and
allocated to us on 5 days’ notice to us and to apply the proceeds of such sales to the capacity charges we
owe.

In accordance with the Station Two Power Sales Contract, we and the City of Henderson have
established separate operation and maintenance funds in the amounts of $400,000 and $100,000,
respectively, to fund expenditures for operation and maintenance for Station Two, such expenditures to be
made from such funds in proportion to the then effective allocation of Station Two capacity between us
and the City of Henderson. In accordance with the Station Two Power Sales Contract, we have agreed to
fund up to $1.05 million to fund our portion of major renewals or replacements to the Station Two
required on an emergency basis.

The term of the Station Two Power Sales Contract extends through the end of the economic
operating life of Station Two.

Excess Henderson Energy

The Station Two Power Sales Contract also provides that, to the extent the City of Henderson
does not take the full amount of energy associated with its reserved capacity from Station Two (such
excess, “Excess Henderson Energy”), we may take and utilize all such energy for a price of $1.50 per
MWh plus the cost of all fuel, reagent and sludge disposal costs associated with such Excess Henderson
Energy. Furthermore, the Station Two Power Sales Contract precludes the City of Henderson from
offering Excess Henderson Energy to a third party without first offering us the opportunity to purchase in
accordance with the preceding sentence. Representatives of the City of Henderson have alleged that the
Station Two Power Sales Contract permits the City to schedule and take energy from its allocated
capacity of Station Two for sales by it to third parties without offering such energy to us. (See
“LITIGATION - Litigation with HMP&L under Station Two Power Sales Contract”).

SEPA Contract

In addition to our generation resources, we fulfill our power supply responsibilities to our
Members with their allocations from SEPA. We normally use entitlement under the SEPA Contract for
peaking. However, as a result of problems with certain dams on the Cumberland River hydro system, our
capacity entitlement has been suspended and we currently are receiving only energy. Generally, we must
schedule and accept 1,500 hours of the contracted 178 MW each fiscal year ending June 30. The
maximum amount scheduled in any month shall not exceed 240 hours and the minimum amount
scheduled in any month shall not be less than 60 hours. The fee arrangement for generation is a take-or-
pay contract, currently we pay a fixed monthly charge in the amount of approximately $280,937 and
$12.67 per MWh for energy. These charges will continue until the dam work is completed and the SEPA
Contract is restored to full service. The SEPA contract cannot be terminated prior to June 30, 2017, albeit
subject to congressional authority.
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Transmission

We operate and maintain our transmission facilities and provide transmission services to our
Members and Non-Members pursuant to our OATT. As of December 31, 2009, we had in service 827
miles of 69 kilovolt (“kV”) transmission lines, 14 miles of 138 kV transmission lines, 353 miles of 161
kV transmission lines, 68 miles of 345 kV transmission lines, and related station land and equipment. We
also own 22 substations. We have completed three of the seven system improvements identified as phase
two transmission projects. We have construction work orders in progress for two of the remaining four
projects and will begin pursuit of the final two projects very soon. All phase two transmission projects
are scheduled for completion on or before the end of the third quarter of 2011. Our available transfer
capability for exporting power off system is approximately 912 MW prior to the completion of any phase
two transmission improvements. The current firm transmission capability is sufficient to allow us to
export all available excess generation capacity plus an amount equal to the peak demand of the larger
Smelter on our system. With the completion of the phase two projects in 2011, our export capability will
be increased to approximately 1380 MW, which will provide the capability to export all of the peak
demand for both Smelters.

Contingency Reserve Obligation

We are currently in the process of joining and preparing to integrate our transmission system with
Midwest Independent Transmission System Operator, Inc. (“Midwest [SO”), which operates the
centralized energy and ancillary services markets in the Midwestern region and administers open access
transmission service over the transmission facilities owned by Midwest ISO members. We seek to join
Midwest ISO principally to enable us to satisfy the “Contingency Reserve” standard of the NERC
reliability standard. That standard is set by NERC, approved by FERC and enforced by the SERC
Reliability Corporation, one of NERC’s regional entities with responsibility for enforcing the mandatory
reliability standards. Our compliance with the NERC Contingency Reserve standard is both an
operational necessity and a legal requirement. Under federal law, violations of NERC’s Contingency
Reserve standard may result in substantial penalties, including potential fines up to $1 million per day per
violation. We anticipate that our integration with Midwest ISO will be complete by September 2010. We
do not expect any material adverse effect on revenues from that integration.

We previously satisfied the NERC Contingency Reserve standard through membership in certain
reserve sharing arrangements, most recently with the Midwest Contingency Reserve Sharing Group
(“MCRSG”). The MCRSG arrangements expired December 31, 2009. Upon awareness that the MCRSG
would terminate, we began to investigate ways to preserve the MCRSG or find alternate means to satisfy
the NERC Contingency Reserve standard. At that time we were not operating our generating assets, but
were negotiating and implementing a transaction to terminate or “unwind” a series of agreements entered
into in 1998 with subsidiaries or affiliates of E.ON and thereby, regain control of our generating units.
The Unwind was approved by the KPSC on March 6, 2009. See “BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC
CORPORATION — Bankruptcy and Subsequent Operation,” “—Unwind of LG&E Arrangements and
Termination of Leveraged Lease Transactions” and “—Summary of Major Provisions of Unwind.”

Following the closing of the Unwind, the options available to us to satisfy the NERC
Contingency Reserve standard upon the termination of the MCRSG at year end narrowed as a result of
legal impediments, cost constraints and a lack of sufficient implementation time. Without alternative
feasible options available, on November 20, 2009, our Board of Directors approved joining the Midwest
ISO to insure that we would be in compliance with the NERC Contingency Reserve standard on
January 1, 2010. Pending full participation in the Midwest ISO, we will satisfy the NERC Contingency
Reserve standard under Attachment RR of the Midwest ISO’s FERC-approved Open Access
Transmission, Energy and Operating Reserve Markets Tariff (“MISO Tariff”).
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SERC Investigation

We are currently the subject of a preliminary inquiry and non-public investigation initiated by
SERC in February 2009. The staff from NERC and FERC are also participating in the investigation.
Aside from one minor instance, which has been disclosed to SERC, we believe that we have been, and
are, in compliance with all reliability standards and requirements. However, penalties for violations of
reliability standards can be substantial. At this time the investigation is still in its preliminary stages and
we cannot estimate the amount or range of potential liability, if any.

Approvals for Midwest ISO Membership

On February 1, 2010, we filed an application with the KPSC for authority to transfer functional
control of our transmission system to Midwest ISO to be effective September 1, 2010. For this transfer to
occur on schedule, all required consents and approvals must be obtained before August 1, 2010. In
addition to the authority required from the KPSC to join Midwest ISO, we must also obtain the consent of
two of our creditors: the United States of America acting through RUS and CoBank.

Our first full year of participation in Midwest ISO will be 2011. When the KPSC approves our
joining Midwest ISO, that approval will allow all prudently incurred expenses to be recovered in rates.
We may seek approval of new rates from the KPSC a few months earlier than previously planned once we
receive KPSC’s approval to join Midwest ISO.

Interconnections

We have several interconnections between our transmission system and those of other power
suppliers. These interconnections permit mutual support in emergencies, decrease overall transmission
losses, facilitate the arrangement of electric power and energy sales and minimize the duplication of
transmission lines. We currently have interconnection agreements with seven power suppliers: HMP&L,
Midwest ISO, Southern Illinois Power Cooperative, Hoosier Energy Rural Electric Cooperative, and
Southern Indiana Gas and Electric Company — Vectren, E.ON U.S., Kentucky Utilities Company and
Louisville Gas and Electric Company (“LG&E”), and TVA. However, we cannot purchase power from
TVA due to restrictions on TVA’s authority to sell power outside of its service area fixed by statute. An
agreement with TV A provides transmission service by TVA to enable us to interchange power and energy
with four utilities located in the southern United States.

In addition to interconnections with neighboring transmission systems, we also have received
several requests from independent power producers that may determine to locate within our balancing
area and interconnect new generators to the transmission system. We have developed certain
interconnection procedures and guidelines which we use when generators request interconnection service
without a concurrent request for transmission service. Upon our joining Midwest ISO, independent
power producers may apply through Midwest ISO to connect to our transmission facilities. Upon
receiving an application, Midwest ISO will work with us to study the impacts of such interconnection and
to identify the cost of accommodating the interconnection. The allocation of costs will be determined
under the MISO Tariff. Interconnections will be effectuated through a standard-form, three-way
interconnection agreement among us, Midwest ISO and the independent power producer seeking use of
our transmission service.

Open Access Transmission Tariff

We voluntarily agreed to comply with FERC Order No. 888 by filing the OATT with FERC. The
OATT also has been filed with the KPSC, and the KPSC has determined to assert jurisdiction over it to
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the extent FERC does not exert such jurisdiction. FERC Order No. 888 requires utilities regulated by
FERC to offer third parties access to, and terms for the use of, their transmission systems on a basis
comparable to the access and terms under which such transmission system owners provide transmission
service to themselves. FERC Order No. 888 permits such utilities to deny transmission service to a utility
which does not have a comparable open access transmission tariff. Although we are not subject to FERC
Order No. 888, Big Rivers may require reciprocal access to other utilities’ transmission systems in the
future in order to meet future obligations to the Members or sell power off-system. To ensure such
access, we prepared our OATT consistent with the form of OATT required of FERC-regulated utilities.
See “RATE AND ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATIONS — Order No. 888 and Successor Orders” for a
discussion of the background of, and proceedings relating to, FERC Order No. 888. We filed the OATT
with FERC on May 29, 1998 and subsequently received a letter order from FERC dated September 18,
1998 finding that our OATT met the requirements for reciprocity. On April 22, 2009, we proposed
updates to our OATT. FERC issued an order on September 17, 2009, directing certain changes to that
proposal. We filed a revised updated OATT on December 16, 2009, and on January 6, 2010, FERC
published notice of our proposed updated open access transmission tariff inviting public comments. No
comments were filed during the comment period. FERC has not yet acted on the December 16 filing, and
FERC is not subject to any deadline for acting on the filing.

Pursuant to the OATT, we will provide firm and non-firm transmission service and network
services on our transmission system to parties desiring to purchase available transmission capacity on our
transmission system. We will maintain the OASIS on which we post transmission capacity available
between certain points of delivery and certain points of receipt on our system. Parties taking service
under the OATT reserve transmission capacity on the OASIS on either a firm or non-firm basis for
varying periods of time, with requests for longer periods of time taking precedence over those for shorter
periods, and with firm service taking precedence over non-firm service. In operating the OASIS, we are
subject to certain standards of conduct that prevent our employees in the transmission function from
communicating with employees engaging in wholesale sales functions. As part of our OATT, we have
implemented certain guidelines for interconnection by generators that seek to interconnect to our
transmission system without a concurrent request for transmission services. These generator
interconnection procedures are posted on our OASIS.

Upon the effective date of our joining the Midwest ISO, use of our transmission facilities will be
governed by the MISO Tariff. We will provide the Midwest ISO with our revenue requirement for use in
establishing the rate for transmission services under the MISO Tariff, but our revenue requirement will
not be directly reviewed by FERC. As a Midwest ISO transmission owner, we also will participate in the
Midwest ISO transmission planning process, and will be responsible for investments in transmission
projects assigned to us in accordance with that process. It is impossible to predict what impact our
participation in Midwest ISO will have on our operations. At present, we plan for our own transmission
needs and participate in regional transmission planning with TVA. Participation in the Midwest ISO
planning process will increase the scope of our regional planning process and will subject us to decisions
by the Midwest ISO and, ultimately, FERC, concerning allocations of costs for meeting regional
transmission needs. Finally, we will be subject to the Midwest ISO reserve requirements established
pursuant to Module E of the MISO Tariff.

MANAGEMENT

We are governed by a Board of Directors comprised of six persons. Each Member has two
directors on the Board of Directors. Each director is elected by a majority vote of the delegates at the
annual membership meeting in September. Each Member designates one delegate to represent it at the
annual membership meeting. At least one of the two directors from each Member must be, at the time of
their election, a director of such Member. Each term is for a three year period, ending the later of
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September 1 or the annual meeting date, and staggered such that two directors from different Members
are elected each year.

The following are our principal management personnel with a brief summary of their
qualifications:

Mark A. Bailey, President and Chief Executive Officer, received a Bachelor of Science in
Electrical Engineering from Ohio Northern University in 1974, and a Master of Science in Management
from the Massachusetts Institute of Technology in 1988. He was employed by American Electric Power
Company (“AEP”) for nearly 30 years, beginning as an Electrical Engineer in 1974. Mr. Bailey was
employed as Vice President of AEP subsidiary Indiana Michigan Power Company until AEP’s
reorganization in 1996, when he became Director-Regions with American Electric Power Service
Corporation (“AEPSC”), also a subsidiary of AEP. He was employed as Vice President of Transmission
Asset Management for AEPSC from June 2000 until his employment as President and Chief Executive
Officer (“CEO”) with Kenergy Corp. in 2004. Mr. Bailey was employed as Executive Vice President and
Chief Operating Officer beginning in June 2007 until being elected by the Board of Directors to his
current position in October 2008.

C. William Blackburn, Senior Vice President Financial & Energy Services and Chief
Financial Officer, graduated from Murray State University with a Bachelor of Science in Business and
Mathematics in 1972. Mr. Blackburn is a Certified Management Accountant. He has been employed
with Big Rivers since 1977. He served in various accounting, finance, and power supply positions
including Vice President of Financial Services and Interim Vice President of Power Supply from 1997
through November 2005, prior to assuming his current position in February 2009.

Robert W. Berry, Vice President of Production, graduated from the University of Kentucky
Community College system with an Associate degree in Mechanical Engineering Technology and Mid-
Continent University with a Bachelor of Science in Business Management. He was employed by Big
Rivers from 1981 to 1998 and served in various maintenance positions such as Superintendent of
Maintenance and Maintenance Manager. In 1998 he was employed by Western Kentucky Energy and
served in various positions such as Maintenance Manager, Plant Manager and General Manager until the
Unwind transaction closed in July 2009, at which time he assumed his current position.

David G. Crockett, Vice President of System Operations, graduated from the University of
Kentucky with a Bachelor of Science in Electrical Engineering in 1972. He has been employed with Big
Rivers since 1972. He served in various engineering positions before assuming the responsibility of
Manager of Energy Control in 1998. Mr. Crockett assumed his current position as Vice President System
Operations in 2006.

James V. Haner, Vice President of Administrative Services, graduated from the University of
Kentucky with a Bachelor of Science in Accounting in 1970. He has been employed with Big Rivers
since 1972. He served in various accounting and finance capacities prior to transferring to administrative
services in 1991. He assumed duties as Manager Human Resources in 1998. Mr. Haner assumed his
current position of Vice President Administrative Services in 2005.

Mark A. Hite, Vice President of Accounting, graduated from the University of Evansville with a
Bachelor of Science in Accounting in 1980 and a Master of Business Administration in 1985. He is a
licensed CPA. Mr. Hite has been employed with Big Rivers since 1983, and has served in various
accounting and finance capacities prior to assuming his current position of Vice President of Accounting.
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Albert M. Yockey, Vice President of Governmental Relations & Enterprise Risk Management,
graduated from the University of Pittsburgh with a Bachelor of Science in Electrical Engineering in 1972,
a Master of Science from Lehigh University in 1979, and a Juris Doctor from Capital University Law
School in 1994. He is a registered Professional Engineer in Pennsylvania and a licensed attorney in Ohio.
Mr. Yockey was employed in operation and planning positions with Pennsylvania Power and Light Co.
from 1972 through 1985. He was employed in planning, regulatory, and compliance positions with
American Electric Power Company from 1985 until February 2008. Mr. Yockey joined Big Rivers as
Vice President of Enterprise Risk Management and Strategic Planning in 2008 and assumed his current
position in July 2009.

The following are the Directors of Big Rivers with a brief summary of their qualifications:

William C. Denton, Chair of the Board, graduated from the University of Evansville with a
Bachelor of Liberal Studies. He is the President of the Mortgage Network of America. Mr. Denton
represents Kenergy and has served on our board since April 1995. His term expires September 2010 and
he is subject to re-election.

James Sills, M.D., Vice Chair of the Board, graduated from Western Kentucky State University
with a Bachelor of Chemistry and Biology and the University of Louisville Medical School. He is a
retired family physician. Dr. Sills represents Meade County RECC and has served on our board since
March 1995. His term expires September 2011 and he is subject to re-election.

Paul Edd Butler, Director, graduated from Breckinridge County High School and then attended
Western Kentucky University and Spencerian College. For 31 years, Mr. Butler was a postmaster for the
United States Postal Service, Harned, Kentucky. He is now retired. Mr. Butler represents Meade County
RECC and has served on our board since July 2002. His term expires September 2012 and he is subject
to re-election.

Lee Bearden, Secretary Treasurer, graduated from Lone Oak High School and attended West
Kentucky Community College. He is the Vice President of Community Financial Services Bank. Mr.
Bearden represents Jackson Purchase and has served on our board since September 1998. His term
expires September 2012 and he is subject to re-election.

Larry Elder, Director, graduated from Owensboro Catholic High School, attended two years of
college at Brescia College and four years of apprenticeship training at Owensboro Technical School. He
is the former President of Dynalectric of Kentucky and is now retired. Mr. Elder represents Kenergy and
has served on our board since June 2006. His term expires September 2010 and he is subject to re-
election.

Wayne Elliott, Director, graduated from Lone Oak High School and is currently taking college
classes. He is a farmer. Mr. Elliott represents Jackson Purchase and has served on our board since
September 2007. His term expires September 2010 and he is subject to re-election.

We have 598 full-time employees. The International Brotherhood of Electrical Workers, Local
1701, represents 348 of Big Rivers’ generation and transmission operating employees. Our contracts with
this union expire on September 14, 2012, and October 14, 2012, respectively. We believe that our
relations with labor are good.
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LITIGATION
Litigation Involving the County

No litigation is pending or, to our knowledge or to the knowledge of the County (with respect to
litigation pertaining to it and the Bonds to be issued by it), threatened in any court, questioning our
official existence, the official existence of the County, or the validity of the Bonds, or to restrain or enjoin
the issuance or delivery of any of the Bonds or the power of the County to pledge revenues and assets to
pay the Bonds.

Litigation with HMP&L under Station Two Power Sales Contract

The Station Two Power Sales Contract also provides that, to the extent the City of Henderson
does not take the full amount of energy associated with its reserved capacity from Station Two for the
residents of the City of Henderson (such excess, “Excess Henderson Energy”), we may take and utilize all
such energy for a price of $1.50 per MWh plus the cost of all fuel, reagent and sludge disposal costs
associated with such Excess Henderson Energy. Furthermore, the Station Two Power Sales Contract
precludes the City of Henderson from offering Excess Henderson Energy to a third party without first
offering us the opportunity to purchase in accordance with the preceding sentence. Representatives of the
City of Henderson have alleged that the Station Two Power Sales Contract permits the City to schedule
and take energy from its allocated capacity of Station Two for sales by it to third parties without offering
such energy to us at the $1.50 MWh price. We disagree with this assertion. Pursuant to an
indemnification agreement executed in connection with the Unwind (the “Station Two Indemnity
Agreement”), WKEC has agreed to indemnify us, with certain limits, against economic harm to us
through 2023 resulting from the City of Henderson’s interpretation of the Station Two Power Sales
Contract being sustained by a court or other appropriate administrative or judicial tribunal. The
obligations of WKEC under the Station Two Indemnification Agreement have been guaranteed by E.ON
U.S. LLC. On July 31, 2009, we filed a petition in the Henderson Circuit Court of the Commonwealth of
Kentucky, Civil Action No. 09-CI-00693, requesting an order pursuant to the Federal Arbitration Act,
9US.C. § 2 and 4 and Kentucky Revised States 417.060(1) referring the dispute over the Excess
Henderson Energy to arbitration. In an Order entered December 17, 2009, the Henderson Circuit Court
ruled that the question of our entitlement to Excess Henderson Energy was one for which we are entitled
to compel arbitration in accordance with the Station Two Power Sales Contract. By order dated
February 10, 2010, the Court denied the City of Henderson’s motion to alter, amend or vacate the Court’s
December 18, 2009 order. The City appealed that order and on February 12, 2010, the Court entered
another order finding that the Court had jurisdiction to enforce the arbitration process and that the
arbitration should proceed despite the City’s appeal.

DESCRIPTION OF THE BONDS
General

The Bonds will be issued in the aggregate principal amount set forth on the front cover of this
Offering Statement, will be dated their date of delivery and will mature on July 15, 2031. We will pay
interest on the Bonds at the annual rate of 6.00 percent (computed on the basis of a 360-day year of
twelve 30-day months), from the date of delivery or from the most recent date to which interest has been
paid or provided for, payable in arrears on January 15 and July 15 of each year, commencing January 15,
2011 (each such date is referred to herein as an “Interest Payment Date”). On each Interest Payment
Date, interest will be paid to the person in whose name the Bonds are registered at the close of business
on the fifteenth (15th) day prior to the applicable Interest Payment Date. If any Interest Payment Date
falls on a day which is a legal holiday or a day on which banking institutions in the city in which is
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located the principal office of the Trustee is authorized by law to remain closed, interest will be paid on
the next succeeding day which is not a legal holiday or a day on which such banking institutions are
authorized to be closed, with interest accruing only to the originally scheduled Interest Payment Date.

The Bonds will be issued in the form of fully registered Bonds without coupons in minimum
denominations of $5,000 and integral multiples thereof. The Bonds will be registered in the name of
Cede & Co., as nominee of The Depository Trust Company (“DTC”), pursuant to DTC’s Book-Entry
Only System. Principal of and interest on the Bonds will be payable, and the transfer of interests in the
Bonds will be effected, through the facilities of DTC, as described under “BOOK-ENTRY-ONLY
SYSTEM PROCEDURES” below. The Bonds may be transferred only upon the records of the Trustee,
as Registrar, kept for that purpose at the principal corporate trust office of the Trustee. The Registrar will
not be required to make any exchange or transfer of Bonds during the fifteen days (i) immediately
preceding an Interest Payment Date or, (ii) in the case of any proposed redemption of Bonds, immediately
preceding the date of the mailing of notice of such redemption. The Registrar will also not be required to
make any transfer or exchange of any Bonds called for redemption.

U.S. Bank National Association is the Trustee, Paying Agent and Registrar for the Bonds.
Redemption of Bonds
Optional Redemption

The Bonds are subject to redemption in whole or in part (and if less than all of the Bonds are to
be redeemed, by lot in such manner as shall be determined by the Trustee) prior to maturity at any time on
or after July 15, 2020 by the County, upon the exercise by us of our option to prepay all or a part of the
unpaid balance of the Note, at a redemption price of 100 percent of the principal amount thereof, together
with interest accrued thereon to the date fixed for redemption.

Notice of Redemption

Notice of redemption will be given by first-class mail by the Trustee at least thirty (30) days prior
to the redemption date to each Holder of such Bonds which are to be redeemed, in whole or in part, at the
addresses shown on the registration books of the County maintained by the Trustee, as Registrar. Failure
to give notice of redemption by mail, or any defect in such notice, will not affect the validity of the
proceedings for the redemption of such Bonds.

If at the time of mailing of notice of an optional redemption we have not deposited with the
Trustee moneys sufficient to redeem all of the Bonds called for redemption, then the notice of optional
redemption given by the Trustee will so state and will further state that the redemption of such Bonds is
conditional upon our providing, or causing to be provided, to the Trustee, by 12:00 noon, New York City
time on the redemption date, funds sufficient to effect such redemption, and such Bonds will not be
redeemed unless such funds are deposited.

For so long as a book-entry only system is in effect with respect to the Bonds, the Trustee will
mail notices of redemption only to The Depository Trust Company, New York, New York (“DTC”) or its
successor. Any failure of DTC to convey such notice to any DTC participants, any failure of DTC
participants to convey such notice to any Indirect Participants or any failure of DTC participants or
Indirect Participants to convey such notice to any Beneficial Owner will not affect the validity of the
redemption of Bonds. See “BOOK-ENTRY-ONLY SYSTEM PROCEDURES.”
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BOOK-ENTRY-ONLY SYSTEM PROCEDURES

The Bonds will be available only in book entry form. DTC will act as the initial securities
depository for the Bonds. The Bonds will be issued as fully-registered securities registered in the name of
Cede & Co. (DTC’s partnership nominee) or such other name as may be requested by an authorized
representative of DTC. One fully-registered bond certificate will be issued for the Bonds, in the
aggregate principal amount thereof, and will be deposited with DTC.

DTC, the world’s largest depository, is a limited-purpose trust company organized under the New
York Banking Law, a “banking organization” within the meaning of the New York Banking Law, a
member of the Federal Reserve System, a “clearing corporation” within the meaning of the New York
Uniform Commercial Code, and a “clearing agency” registered pursuant to the provisions of Section 17A
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. DTC holds and provides asset servicing for over 3.5 million
issues of U.S. and non-U.S. equity issues, corporate and municipal debt issues, and money market
instruments from over 110 countries that DTC’s participants (“Direct Participants”) deposit with DTC.
DTC also facilitates the post-trade settlement among Direct Participants of sales and other securities
transactions in deposited securities, through electronic computerized book entry transfers and pledges
between Direct Participants’ accounts. This eliminates the need for physical movement of securities
certificates. Direct Participants include both U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers, banks,
trust companies, clearing corporations, and certain other organizations. DTC is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of The Depository Trust & Clearing Corporation (“DTCC”). DTCC is the holding company
for DTC, National Securities Clearing Corporation and Fixed Income Clearing Corporation, all of which
are registered clearing agencies. DTCC is owned by the users of its regulated subsidiaries. Access to the
DTC system is also available to others such as both U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers,
banks, trust companies, and clearing corporations that clear through or maintain a custodial relationship
with a Direct Participant, either directly or indirectly (“Indirect Participants”). DTC has Standard &
Poor’s highest rating of “AAA.” The DTC Rules applicable to its Participants are on file with the
Securities and Exchange Commission. More information about DTC can be found at www.dtce.com and

www.dtc.org.

Purchases of the Bonds under the DTC system must be made by or through Direct Participants,
which will receive a credit for the Bonds on DTC’s records. The ownership interest of each actual
purchaser of the Bonds (a “Beneficial Owner”) is in turn to be recorded on the Direct and Indirect
Participants’ records. Beneficial Owners will not receive written confirmation from DTC of their
purchase. Beneficial Owners are, however, expected to receive written confirmations providing details of
the transaction, as well as periodic statements of their holdings, from the Direct or Indirect Participant
through which the Beneficial Owner entered into the transaction. Transfers of ownership interests in the
Bonds are to be accomplished by entries made on the books of Direct and Indirect Participants acting on
behalf of Beneficial Owners. Beneficial Owners will not receive certificates representing their ownership
interests in the Bonds, except in the event that use of the book entry system for the Bonds is discontinued.

To facilitate subsequent transfers, all the Bonds deposited by Direct Participants with DTC are
registered in the name of DTC’s partnership nominee, Cede & Co. or such other name as may be
requested by an authorized representative of DTC. The deposit of the Bonds with DTC and their
registration in the name of Cede & Co. or such other DTC nominee do not effect any change in beneficial
ownership. DTC has no knowledge of the actual Beneficial Owners of the Bonds; DTC’s records reflect
only the identity of the Direct Participants to whose accounts such Bonds are credited, which may or may
not be the Beneficial Owners. The Direct and Indirect Participants will remain responsible for keeping
account of their holdings on behalf of their customers.
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Conveyance of notices and other communications by DTC to Direct Participants, by Direct
Participants to Indirect Participants, and by Direct Participants and Indirect Participants to Beneficial
Owners will be governed by arrangements among them, subject to any statutory or regulatory
requirements as may be in effect from time to time. BENEFICIAL OWNERS SHOULD MAKE
APPROPRIATE ARRANGEMENTS WITH THEIR BROKER OR DEALER TO RECEIVE NOTICES
(INCLUDING NOTICES OF REDEMPTION) AND OTHER INFORMATION REGARDING THE
BONDS THAT MAY BE SO CONVEYED TO DIRECT PARTICIPANTS AND INDIRECT
PARTICIPANTS.

Redemption notices shall be sent to DTC. If less than all of the Bonds are being redeemed,
DTC’s practice is to determine by lot amount of the interest of each Direct Participant in the Bonds to be
redeemed.

Neither DTC nor Cede & Co. (nor any other DTC nominee) will consent or vote with respect to
the Bonds unless authorized by a Direct Participant in accordance with DTC’s Procedures. Under its
usual procedures, DTC mails an Omnibus Proxy to the issuer as soon as possible after the record date.
The Omnibus Proxy assigns Cede & Co.’s consenting or voting rights to those Direct Participants to
whose accounts the Bonds are credited on the record date (identified in a listing attached to the Omnibus
Proxy).

Except as described below, neither DTC nor Cede & Co. will take any action to enforce
covenants with respect to any security registered in the name of Cede & Co. Under its current
procedures, on the written instructions of a Direct Participant, DTC will cause Cede & Co. to sign a
demand to exercise bondholder rights as record holder of the quantity of securities specified in the Direct
Participant’s instructions, and not as record holder of all the securities of that issue registered in the name
of Cede & Co. Also, in accordance with DTC’s current procedures, all factual representations to be made
by Cede & Co. to the County, the Trustee or any other party must be made to DTC and Cede & Co. by
the Direct Participant in its instructions to DTC.

For so long as the Bonds are issued in book-entry form through the facilities of DTC, any
Beneficial Owner desiring to cause us or the Trustee to comply with any of its obligations with respect to
the Bonds must make arrangements with the Direct Participant or Indirect Participant through whom such
Beneficial Owner’s ownership interest in the Bonds is recorded in order for the Direct Participant in
whose DTC account such ownership interest is recorded to make the instructions to DTC described
above.

NEITHER WE NOR THE TRUSTEE NOR THE UNDERWRITER (OTHER THAN IN ITS
CAPACITY, IF ANY, AS A DIRECT PARTICIPANT OR AN INDIRECT PARTICIPANT) WILL
HAVE ANY OBLIGATION TO THE DIRECT PARTICIPANTS OR THE INDIRECT
PARTICIPANTS OR THE PERSONS FOR WHOM THEY ACT AS NOMINEES WITH RESPECT TO
DTC’S PROCEDURES OR ANY PROCEDURES OR ARRANGEMENTS BETWEEN DIRECT
PARTICIPANTS, INDIRECT PARTICIPANTS AND THE PERSONS FOR WHOM THEY ACT
RELATING TO THE MAKING OF ANY DEMAND BY CEDE & CO. AS THE REGISTERED
OWNER OF THE BONDS, THE ADHERENCE TO SUCH PROCEDURES OR ARRANGEMENTS
OR THE EFFECTIVENESS OF ANY ACTION TAKEN PURSUANT TO SUCH PROCEDURES OR
ARRANGEMENTS.

Principal and interest payments and redemption proceeds on the Bonds will be made to Cede &
Co., or such other nominee as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC. DTC’s practice
is to credit Direct Participants’ accounts, upon DTC’s receipt of funds and corresponding detail
information from us or the Trustee, on payable date in accordance with their respective holdings shown
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on DTC’s records. Payments by Participants to Beneficial Owners will be governed by standing
instructions and customary practices, as is the case with securities held for the accounts of customers in
bearer form or registered in “street name,” and will be the responsibility of such Participant and not of
DTC, the Trustee or us, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time
to time. Payment of principal, interest and redemption proceeds to Cede & Co. (or such other nominee as
may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC) is the responsibility of us or the Trustee,
disbursement of such payments to Direct Participants will be the responsibility of DTC, and disbursement
of such payments to the Beneficial Owners will be the responsibility of Direct and Indirect Participants.

NEITHER US NOR THE TRUSTEE WILL HAVE ANY RESPONSIBILITY OR
OBLIGATION TO PARTICIPANTS, BENEFICIAL OWNERS OR OTHER NOMINEES OF SUCH
BENEFICIAL OWNERS FOR (1) SENDING TRANSACTION STATEMENTS; (2) MAINTAINING,
SUPERVISING OR REVIEWING, OR THE ACCURACY OF, ANY RECORDS MAINTAINED BY
DTC OR ANY PARTICIPANT OR OTHER NOMINEES OF SUCH BENEFICIAL OWNERS;
(3) PAYMENT OR THE TIMELINESS OF PAYMENT BY DTC TO ANY PARTICIPANT, OR BY
ANY PARTICIPANT OR OTHER NOMINEES OF BENEFICIAL OWNERS TO ANY BENEFICIAL
OWNER, OF ANY AMOUNT DUE IN RESPECT OF THE PRINCIPAL OF OR REDEMPTION
PREMIUM, IF ANY, INTEREST OR PURCHASE PRICE ON THE BONDS; (4) DELIVERY OR
TIMELY DELIVERY BY DTC TO ANY PARTICIPANT, OR BY ANY PARTICIPANT OR OTHER
NOMINEES OF BENEFICIAL OWNERS TO ANY BENEFICIAL OWNERS, OF ANY NOTICE
(INCLUDING NOTICE OF REDEMPTION) OR OTHER COMMUNICATION WHICH IS
REQUIRED OR PERMITTED UNDER THE TERMS OF THE RESOLUTION TO BE GIVEN TO
HOLDERS OR OWNERS OF THE BONDS; (5) THE SELECTION OF THE BENEFICIAL OWNERS
TO RECEIVE PAYMENT IN THE EVENT OF ANY PARTIAL REDEMPTION OF THE BONDS; OR
(6) ANY ACTION TAKEN BY DTC OR ITS NOMINEE AS THE REGISTERED OWNER OF THE
BONDS.

So long as Cede & Co. is the registered owner of the Bonds, as nominee for DTC, references in
this Offering Statement to the bondholders, holders or registered owners of the Bonds shall mean
Cede & Co., as aforesaid, and shall not mean the Beneficial Owners of the Bonds.

When reference is made to any action which is required or permitted to be taken by the Beneficial
Owners, such reference shall only relate to those permitted to act (by statute, regulation or otherwise) on
behalf of such Beneficial Owners for such purposes. When notices are given, they shall be sent by us or
the Trustee to DTC only.

As long as the book-entry system is used for the Bonds, we and the Trustee will give any notices
required to be given to holders of the Bonds only to DTC. Any failure of DTC to advise any Direct
Participant, or of any Direct Participant to notify any Indirect Participant, or of any Direct Participant or
Indirect Participant to notify any Beneficial Owner, of any such notice and its content or effect will not
affect the validity of the action premised on such notice.

NEITHER US NOR THE TRUSTEE WILL HAVE ANY RESPONSIBILITY OR
OBLIGATION TO SUCH DIRECT PARTICIPANTS, OR THE PERSONS FOR WHOM THEY ACT
AS NOMINEES, WITH RESPECT TO THE PAYMENTS TO OR THE PROVIDING OF NOTICE
FOR THE DIRECT PARTICIPANTS, THE INDIRECT PARTICIPANTS, OR THE BENEFICIAL
OWNERS OF THE BONDS.

For every transfer and exchange of a beneficial ownership interest in the Bonds, the Beneficial

Owner may be charged a sum sufficient to cover any tax, fee or other governmental charge, that may be
imposed in relation thereto.
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Discontinuation of the Book-Entry Only System. DTC may discontinue providing its services as
depository with respect to the Bonds at any time by giving reasonable notice to the County or the Trustee.
In addition, if the County determines that (i) DTC is unable to discharge its responsibilities with respect
to the Bonds, or (ii) continuation of the system of book-entry-only transfers through DTC is not in the
County’s best interests or in the best interests of the Beneficial Owners of the Bonds, the County may
thereupon terminate the services of DTC with respect to the Bonds. Upon the resignation of DTC or
determination by the County that DTC is unable to discharge its responsibilities, the County may, within
90 days, appoint a successor depository. If no such successor is appointed or the County determines to
discontinue the book-entry-only system, Bond certificates relating to such Bonds will be printed and
delivered. Transfers and exchanges of the Bonds shall thereafter be made as described under the caption
“DESCRIPTION OF THE BONDS — General.”

If the book-entry-only system is discontinued with respect to any of the Bonds, the persons to
whom Bond certificates relating to any such Bonds are delivered will be treated as “Holders” for all
purposes of the Bond Indenture, including without limitation the payment of principal or redemption price
of, and interest on, the Bonds, the redemption of Bonds and the giving to us or the Trustee of any notice,
consent, request or demand pursuant to the Bond Indenture for any purpose whatsoever. In such event,
principal or redemption price of and interest on, the Bonds will be payable as described under the caption
“DESCRIPTION OF THE BONDS — General.”

The information in this section concerning DTC and DTC’s book-entry only system has been
obtained from sources that we believe to be reliable. No representation is made herein by us or the
Underwriter as to the accuracy, completeness or adequacy of such information, or as to the absence of
material adverse changes in such information subsequent to the date of this Offering Statement.

UNDERWRITING

Goldman, Sachs & Co. (the “Underwriter”), has agreed, subject to certain conditions (including
the execution of a continuing disclosure agreements described below) to purchase the Bonds from the
County. In consideration of such purchase, we have agreed to pay the Underwriter a fee of $941,505.50.
The Underwriter will be obligated to purchase all of the Bonds if any of such Bonds are purchased. The
Bonds may be offered and sold to certain dealers (including the Underwriter and other dealers depositing
such Bonds into investment trusts) at prices lower than such public offering prices, and such public
offering prices may be changed, from time to time, by the Underwriter. Goldman, Sachs & Co. and its
affiliates have engaged and may engage in other transactions with and perform services for us from time
to time in the ordinary course of business.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE

To assist the Underwriter in complying with SEC Rule 15¢2-12(b)(5) under the Exchange Act,
we have authorized the execution and delivery of a Continuing Disclosure Agreement with respect to the
Bonds for the benefit of the beneficial owners of the Bonds (the “Continuing Disclosure Agreement”).
Under the Continuing Disclosure Agreement, we will be obligated to provide certain financial
information and operating data, financial statements, notice of certain events if material, and certain other
notices to the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board, or any other entity authorized or designated by the
SEC in the future to receive such information, and such obligations will be enforceable, as described
therein. The entry into the Continuing Disclosure Agreement by us is a condition precedent to the
obligation of the Underwriter to purchase the Bonds. The proposed form of our Continuing Disclosure
Agreement is attached hereto as APPENDIX H.
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Our failure to observe or perform any of the obligations under the Continuing Disclosure
Agreement will not be deemed an Event of Default under the Mortgage Indenture or the Bond Indenture.
If we fail to comply with any provision of the Continuing Disclosure Agreement, any registered owner or
beneficial owner of the Bonds may take such actions as may be necessary and appropriate, including
seeking mandamus or specific performance by court order, to cause us to comply with our obligations
under the Continuing Disclosure Agreement. However, our Continuing Disclosure Agreement provides
that no registered owner or beneficial owner of the Bonds will have the right to challenge the content or
the adequacy of the information contained in any annual report or any notice of a material event by
judicial proceedings unless the registered owners or beneficial owners representing at least 25% in
aggregate principal amount of the Bonds then outstanding join in such proceedings.

TAX MATTERS

In the opinion of Orrick, Herrington & Sutcliffe LLP, Bond Counsel, based on an analysis of
existing laws, regulations, rulings and court decisions, and assuming, among other matters, the accuracy
of certain representations and compliance with certain covenants, interest on the Bonds is excluded from
gross income for federal income tax purposes under Section 103 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954, as
amended (the “1954 Code”) and Title XIII of the Tax Reform Act of 1986, except that Bond Counsel
expresses no opinion as to the status of interest on any Bond for federal income tax purposes during any
period that such Bond is held by a “substantial user” of facilities financed or refinanced with the proceeds
of the Bonds or by a “related person” within the meaning of Section 103(b)(13) of the 1954 Code. Bond
Counsel is of the further opinion that interest on the Bonds is not a specific preference item for purposes
of the federal individual or corporate alternative minimum taxes, although Bond Counsel observes that
such interest is included in adjusted current earnings in federal corporate alternative minimum taxable
income. Interest on the Bonds is exempt from all present Kentucky personal and corporate income taxes.
A complete copy of the proposed opinion of Bond Counsel is set forth as APPENDIX F hereto.

Title XIII of the Tax Reform Act of 1986 and Section 103 of the 1954 Code impose various
restrictions, conditions and requirements relating to the exclusion from gross income for federal income
tax purposes of interest on obligations such as the Bonds. We and the County have made representations
related to certain of these requirements and have covenanted to comply with certain restrictions designed
to assure that interest on the Bonds will not be included in federal gross income. Inaccuracy of these
representations or failure to comply with these covenants may result in interest on the Bonds being
included in gross income for federal income tax purposes, possibly from the date of issuance of the
Bonds. The opinion of Bond Counsel assumes the accuracy of these representations and compliance with
these covenants. Bond Counsel has not undertaken to determine (or to inform any person) whether any
actions taken (or not taken) or events occurring (or not occurring) after the date of issuance of the Bonds
may adversely affect the tax status of interest on the Bonds. Accordingly, the opinion of Bond Counsel is
not intended to, and may not, be relied upon in connection with any such actions, events or matters.

Although Bond Counsel expects to render an opinion that interest on the Bonds is excluded from
gross income for federal income tax purposes and is exempt from all present Kentucky personal and
corporate income taxes, the ownership or disposition of, or the accrual or receipt of interest on, the Bonds
may otherwise affect the tax liability of the holder of the Bonds. The nature and extent of these other tax
consequences will depend upon the particular tax status of the holder of the Bonds or its other items of
income or deduction. Bond Counsel expresses no opinion regarding any such other tax consequences.

Future legislative proposals, if enacted into law, clarification of the 1954 Code or the 1986 Act,
or court decisions may cause interest on the Bonds to be subject, directly or indirectly, to federal income
taxation or to be subject to or exempted from state income taxation, or otherwise prevent Beneficial
Owners from realizing the full current benefit of the tax status of such interest. The introduction or
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enactment of any such future legislative proposals, clarification of the 1954 Code or the 1986 Act or court
decisions may also affect the market price for, or marketability of, the Bonds. Prospective purchasers of
the Bonds should consult their own tax advisers regarding any pending or proposed federal or state tax
legislation, regulations or litigation, as to which Bond Counsel expresses no opinion.

The opinion of Bond Counsel is based on current legal authority, covers certain matters not
directly addressed by such authorities, and represents Bond Counsel’s judgment as to the proper treatment
of the Bonds for federal income tax purposes. It is not binding on the IRS or the courts. Furthermore,
Bond Counsel cannot give and has not given any opinion or assurance about the future activities of the
County or Big Rivers, or about the effect of future changes in the 1954 Code, the 1986 Act, the applicable
regulations, the interpretation thereof or the enforcement thereof by the IRS. We and the County have
covenanted and agreed for the benefit of Beneficial Owners of the Bonds, however, not directly or
indirectly to use or permit the use (to the extent within its control) of proceeds of the Bonds or other
funds, or take or omit to take any action, if and to the extent such use, or the taking or omission to take
such action, would cause interest on the Bonds to be subject to federal income tax by reason of Section
103 of the 1954 Code or Title XIII of the 1986 Act, and any applicable regulations promulgated
thereunder.

Bond Counsel’s engagement with respect to the Bonds ends with the issuance of the Bonds, and
unless separately engaged, Bond Counsel is not obligated to defend the County or the Beneficial Owners
regarding the tax exempt status of the Bonds in the event of an audit examination by the IRS. Under
current procedures, parties other than the County, Big Rivers and their appointed counsel, including the
Beneficial Owners, would have little, if any, right to participate in the audit examination process.
Moreover, because achieving judicial review in connection with an audit examination of tax exempt
bonds is difficult, obtaining an independent review of IRS positions with which the County or Big Rivers
legitimately disagree may not be practicable. Any action of the IRS, including but not limited to selection
of the Bonds for audit, or the course or result of such audit, or an audit of bonds presenting similar tax
issues may affect the market price for, or the marketability of, the Bonds, and may cause us, the County
or the Beneficial Owners to incur significant expense.

RATINGS

The Bonds are rated “Baal”, “BBB-” and “BBB-" by Moody’s, S&P and Fitch, respectively.
The respective ratings by Fitch, Moody’s and S&P of the Bonds reflect only the views of such
organization and any desired explanation of the significance of such ratings and any outlooks or other
statements given by the rating agencies with respect thereto should be obtained from the rating agency
furnishing the same, at the following addresses: Fitch Ratings, One State Street Plaza, New York, New
York 10004; Moody’s Investors Service, Inc., 7 World Trade Center, 250 Greenwich Street, New York,
New York 10007; and Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services, 55 Water Street, New York, New York
10041. Generally, a rating agency bases its rating and outlook (if any) on the information and materials
furnished to it on investigations, studies and assumptions of its own. There is no assurance such ratings
for the Bonds will continue for any given period of time or that any of such ratings will not be revised
downward or withdraw entirely by any of the rating agencies, if, in the judgment of such rating agency or
agencies, circumstances so warrant. Any such downward revision or withdrawal of such ratings may
have an adverse effect on the market price of the Bonds.

AVAILABLE INFORMATION
Brief descriptions of the County, the Bonds, the Financing Agreement, the Bond Indenture, the

Note and the Mortgage Indenture and information about us, including our financial statements, are
included in this Offering Statement. Such descriptions do not purport to be comprehensive or definitive.

63



All references herein to the Financing Agreement, the Bond Indenture, the Note and the Mortgage
Indenture are qualified in their entirety by reference to such documents, copies of which are on file at our
principal office or the principal office of the Trustee, and are available upon request. References herein to
the Bonds are qualified in their entirety by reference to the forms thereof included in the Bond Indenture
and the information with respect thereto included in the aforementioned documents.

Any statements made in this Offering Statement involving matters of opinion or of estimates,
whether or not so expressly stated, are set forth as such and not as representations of fact, and no
representation is made that any of the estimates will be realized.

APPROVAL OF LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

All of the legal proceedings in connection with the authorization and issuance of the Bonds and
their validity are subject to the approving opinion of Orrick, Herrington & Sutcliffe LLP, Bond Counsel.
A complete copy of the proposed form of Bond Counsel opinion is contained in APPENDIX G hereto.
Certain legal matters are subject to the approval of Sutherland Asbill & Brennan LLP, Counsel to the
Underwriter. Certain legal matters will be passed upon for us by Sullivan, Mountjoy, Stainback & Miller,
P.S.C., Owensboro, Kentucky, its General Counsel. Certain legal matters will be passed upon for the
County by Greg Hill, Esq., Counsel to the County.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS
Our financial statements as of December 31, 2009 and 2008 and for each of the three years in the

period ended December 31, 2009, included in APPENDIX A to this Offering Statement have been
audited by Deloitte & Touche LLP, independent auditors, as stated in their report appearing herein.
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APPENDIX A

YEAR END FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Deloitte.

EIT S Wacker Didus
Chicago, 1L B060D6-4301
158

Telr «1 31} 486 1000
Faw: +1 312 4B5 1486

snaes dkinitte com

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

To the Board of Directors of
Big Rivers Electric Corparation:

We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of Big Rivers Electric Corporation (the "Company”)
as of December 31, 2008 and 2008, and the related statements of operations, equities (deficit), and cash
flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2009. These financial statements are
the responsibility of the Company's management. Qur responsibility is 1o express an opinion on these
financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United

States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards reguire that we
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are
free of material misstatement. An audit includes consideration of internal control over financial reporting
as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but net for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectivenass of the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit alsc includes examining, on a test basis,
avidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of Big Rivers Electric Corparation as of December 31, 2008 and 2008, and the results of
its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2008, in
confarmity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued a report dated March 26, 2010,
on our consideration of Big Rivers Electric Carporation's internal control over financial reporting and our
tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements
and other matters. The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control
over financial reparting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on
the internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit
performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards and should be read in conjunction with
this report in considering the results of our audit.

Del A LT orude-cvr

March 26, 2010

WAprrabeer o

Deloitte Touchs Tokmatiu



Balance Sheets

As of December 31, 2009 and 2008 — (Dollars in thousands)

Assets
UTILITY PLANT - Net
FESTRICTED INVESTMENTS - Member rate mitigation
OTHER DLCPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS — At cost

CURRENT ASSETS:
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable
Fuel inventory
Non-fuel inventory
Frepaid expenses

Total cu